# H.S.V. de Snoo & H.L. Wietsma (Eds.) Contributions to Mathematics and Statistics

Essays in honor of Seppo Hassi

ACTA WASAENSIA 462



Vaasan yliopisto

H.S.V. de Snoo Bernoulli Institute for Mathematics, Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence University of Groningen The Netherlands h.s.v.de.snoo@rug.nl

H.L. Wietsma School of Technology and Innovation Department of Mathematics and Statistics University of Vaasa Finland rwietsma@uwasa.fi

PUBLISHER University of Vaasa School of Technology and Innovation P.O. Box 700 FI-65101 Vaasa Finland

ISBN 978-952-476-959-4 (print) 978-952-476-960-0 (online)

http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-476-960-0

ISSN 0355-2667 (Acta Wasaensia 462, print) 2323-9123 (Acta Wasaensia 462, online)



SEPPO HASSI

#### FOREWORD

With this Festschrift we celebrate the sixtieth birthday of our friend and colleague Professor Seppo Hassi of the University of Vaasa. It consists of papers written by colleagues outside Vaasa, who have been coauthors of Seppo, as well as by colleagues from Vaasa. Although many friends and colleagues have known and worked with Seppo for a long time, quite a few people answered in disbelief "What? Seppo 60?" when first approached about this project.

This collection of essays shows our appreciation of Seppo as a friend and as a colleague. From early on, his main activities have been in the branches of mathematics, known as operator theory and spectral theory, although his interests are much broader. Almost all of the included essays reflect these interests. Unfortunately, due to the consequences of the global pandemic some contributions could not be submitted in time to be part of our collection.

It is our pleasure to thank all the authors, both for contributing their work to this volume and for their readiness to respond to our questions and suggestions. Furthermore, we are grateful to Heinz Langer, Kenneth Nordström, Seppo Pynnönen, and Franek Szafraniec for answering our queries concerning several points about the past and present of the person to whom this volume is dedicated. Finally, our thanks go to the staff at the University of Vaasa, in particular to Riikka Kalmi, for their efficient production of this collection.

Groningen and Vaasa, April 2021

Henk de Snoo and Rudi Wietsma

#### SEPPO HASSI, 60 YEARS

Seppo Ortamo Hassi was born on July 2, 1961, in Hyvinkää in southern Finland. He received his secondary school education in Pori, located on the western coast of Finland, and in 1980 he went to the University of Helsinki to be a student in mathematics. There Seppo obtained his master's degree in 1984. He would stay at the university and eventually in 1985 became an assistant in the Department of Statistics (which was located at Yliopistonkatu, while the Department of Mathematics was located at Alexanterinkatu, a geographical gap).

The leading people in the statistics department were Hannu Niemi (a student of Louhivaara, whom we will meet below) and Seppo Mustonen. Mustonen somehow awakened Seppo's interest in singular values and canonical representations of operators. This eventually led to the dissertation *A singular value decomposition of matrices in a space with an indefinite scalar product*, with Ilppo Simo Louhivaara (1927 - 2008)<sup>†</sup> as adviser. This thesis in mathematics was approved by the University of Helsinki on January 31, 1991, at the time that Seppo served in the Finnish army (between August 1990 and April 1991). The opponent at the defence was Heinz Langer (originally from Dresden); Langer had first visited Louhivaara in Jyväskylä in 1969 and had been a frequent guest ever since.

Prior to finishing his dissertation, Seppo had been invited to participate in the *Schur Analysis* meeting (October 16 - October 20, 1989) at the Karl Marx Universität in Leipzig, Deutsche Demokratische Republik, organized by Bernd Kirstein and Bernd Fritzsche. This seminar brought together many people from East and West. It took place in the middle of the peace-ful protests against the communist regime that had been going on in Leipzig for some time. Loudspeakers in empty streets would advise the public not to follow the protesting crowds: "They are misguided." On November 9, shortly after the conference, the Berlin wall came down. At the beginning of the conference it turned out that Heinz Langer had left the country and at its closing it was announced that the great mathematician Mark Grigorievich Kreĭn (1907-1989) had died. One of the people present from the East was Yury L'vovich Smul'yan (1927-1990), whose work played an important role in Seppo's dissertation and in his later articles.

With the dissertation completed, Seppo started some joint work with his colleague Kenneth Nordström, who was also an assistant in the Department of Statistics. Their interest focussed on antitonicity properties of operators and projections in indefinite inner product spaces. In the meantime Heinz Langer had obtained a professorship at the Technische Universität Wien in 1991. He invited Seppo to spend some weeks in Vienna in 1992 at the same time that Henk de Snoo from Groningen was also visiting. During that period Langer's Dutch and Finnish visitors started to work together, which led to many mutual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Louhivaara had been one of the many students of Rolf Herman Nevanlinna (1895-1980). He was also interested in extension theory and indefinite metrics, like his contemporary fellow students Yrjö Kilpi (1924-2010) and Erkki Pesonen (1930-2006). Louhivaara had been a professor of mathematics at the universities in Helsinki and Jyväskylä, before moving to the Freie Universität Berlin.

visits to Holland and Finland over the years, up till the present day. It was during a number of subsequent conferences in or visits to Vienna, Pula, Timisoara, Warsaw, Krakow, and Budapest that it was possible to meet old and new acquaintances and lay foundations for future work. It is appropriate to mention in this context Michael Kaltenbäck, Harald Woracek, Henrik Winkler, Andreas Fleige, Franek Szafraniec, Zoltán Sebestyén (thanks to Jan Stochel), Jean-Philippe Labrousse, and last, but not least, Yury Arlinskiĭ, Vladimir Derkach, and Mark Malamud. A sabbatical visit to Groningen and Berlin in the academic year 2000-2001 made it possible to meet the group around Karl-Heinz Förster of the Technische Universität Berlin, which consisted of Peter Jonas and Peter's students Carsten Trunk and Jussi Behrndt. Peter Jonas was from East Berlin and had come to the Technische Universität via Ilppo Simo Louhivaara at the Freie Universität. Seppo's visit led to fruitful contacts; also the later December conferences in Berlin were very productive.

Seppo would remain at the Department of Statistics in Helsinki until 2001; in the meantime he had been formally named docent at the Department of Mathematics of the same university. In November-December 2000 there had been a longer visit to Manfred Möller at the University of Witwatersrand in South Africa and it was there that Seppo found out that the University of Vaasa was interested in his person. He obtained a professorship at that university in the spring of 2001. Seppo settled down in Vaasa during the summer and took up the usual teaching and administrative tasks. In the following years the number of coworkers increased with, for instance, Annemarie Luger, Adrian Sandovici, Sergey Belyi, Eduard Tsekanovskiĭ, and Sergii Kużel. As a consequence there has been a regular stream of visitors (all of whom think with a certain melancholy of the old wooden guestrooms of the University of Vaasa). In May 2003 Seppo was the organizer of an Operator Theory Symposium and, a little later, in 2005 he was one of the organizers of the Algorithmic Information Theory Conference, see Acta Wasaensia 124, 2005. Moreover, Seppo was one of the organizers of the conferences "Boundary relations" and "Operator realizations of analytic functions" at the Lorentz Center in Leiden in 2009 and 2013, respectively.

The main mathematical interest of Seppo circles around the topics of spectral theory, boundary value problems for differential equations, operator theory and its applications in analysis, mathematical physics, and system theory. This keeps him going with great dedication. In particular, right from the beginning Seppo looked into situations involving indefinite inner product spaces and this interest also led to several doctoral students, Rudi Wietsma, Dmytro Baidiuk, and Lassi Lilleberg, writing a dissertation on this topic under his direction. Being a rather prolific writer himself, he is furthermore an editor for a number of mathematical journals.

When Seppo first arrived in Vaasa he belonged to the Department of Mathematics and Statistics. As the century progresses, so does the university. Seppo now belongs to the School of Technology and Innovations, where he is the leader of the Mathematics and Statistics Research Group. He is also head of the Doctoral Programme in Technical Sciences. Moreover, there are duties beyond Vaasa. For many years Seppo has been involved with the nationwide entrance exam for Technical Sciences and Architecture studies of the member universities in Finland. And then there is the Academy of Finland: for some years now Seppo has been a member of its Research Council for Natural Sciences and Engineering, and a member of its steering group. All these things coming his way are done with his usual attention to detail.

Those who deal with Seppo, either as colleagues or as students, know that he provides a listening ear and is ready to help whenever needed. And those who are fortunate enough to work with him recognize his quiet determination. Uninterrupted, he can sit behind his desk for hours, like a sphinx – lost in thought (so we assume). But when he returns back to real life, you know that something is going to happen.

On behalf of all his many friends, whether in Vaasa or elsewhere in the world, we congratulate Seppo on reaching his sixtieth birthday and we wish him, together with his wife Merja and their son Leo, good health and happiness. May there be many more productive years to come!

#### CONTENTS

FOREWORD	V
SEPPO HASSI, 60 YEARS V	/11
CONGRUENCE OF SELFADJOINT OPERATORS AND TRANSFORMATIONS OF OPERATOR-VALUED NEVANLINNA FUNCTIONS Yury Arlinskiĭ	1
A CLASS OF SINGULAR PERTURBATIONS OF THE DIRAC OPERATOR: BOUNDARY TRIPLETS AND WEYL FUNCTIONS Jussi Behrndt, Markus Holzmann, Christian Stelzer, and Georg Stenzel 1	15
THE ORIGINAL WEYL-TITCHMARSH FUNCTIONS AND SECTORIAL SCHRÖDINGER L-SYSTEMS Sergey Belyi and Eduard Tsekanovskiĭ	37
$\mathcal{PT}$ -SYMMETRIC HAMILTONIANS AS COUPLINGS OF DUAL PAIRS Volodymyr Derkach, Philipp Schmitz, and Carsten Trunk	55
POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE EXAMPLES FOR THE RIESZ BASISPROPERTY OF INDEFINITE STURM-LIOUVILLE PROBLEMSAndreas Fleige6	39
ON PARSEVAL J-FRAMES Alan Kamuda and Sergii Kużel 7	77
IDEMPOTENT RELATIONS, SEMI-PROJECTIONS, AND GENERALIZED INVERSES Jean-Philippe Labrousse, Adrian Sandovici, Henk de Snoo, and Henrik Winkler	37
LIPSCHITZ PROPERTY OF EIGENVALUES AND EIGENVECTORS OF $2 \times 2$ DIRAC-TYPE OPERATORS Anton Lunyov and Mark Malamud11	11

COMPLETENESS AND MINIMALITY OF EIGENFUNCTIONS AND ASSOCIATED FUNCTIONS OF ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS
PARTIALLY OVERLAPPING EVENT WINDOWS AND TESTING CUMULATIVE ABNORMAL RETURNS IN FINANCIAL EVENT STUDIES Seppo Pynnönen
ON THE KREĬN-VON NEUMANN AND FRIEDRICHS EXTENSION OF POSITIVE OPERATORS <i>Zoltán Sebestyén and Zsigmond Tarcsay</i> 165
THE CHARACTERIZATION OF BROWNIAN MOTION AS AN ISOTROPIC I.I.DCOMPONENT LÉVY PROCESS <i>Tommi Sottinen</i>
THE ROLE OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS IN THE UNIVERSITY OF VAASA; THE FIRST FIVE DECADES <i>Ilkka Virtanen</i>

#### CONGRUENCE OF SELFADJOINT OPERATORS AND TRANSFORMATIONS OF OPERATOR-VALUED NEVANLINNA FUNCTIONS

Yury Arlinskiĭ

Dedicated to my colleague and friend Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his sixtieth birthday

#### 1 Introduction

The Banach space of all continuous linear operators acting between Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  is denoted by  $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{K})$  and by  $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{H})$  if  $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{H}$ . Likewise, the group of all invertible operators in  $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is denoted by  $\mathbf{GB}(\mathcal{H})$ . Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a Hilbert space. Recall that a  $\mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ -valued function M is called a *Nevanlinna function* (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020) (alternatively, an *R-function* (Allen & Narcowich, 1976; Derkach & Malamud, 2017; Kac & Kreĭn, 1968; Shmul'yan, 1971), a *Herglotz function* (Gesztesy & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2000), or a *Herglotz-Nevanlinna function* (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011; Arlinskiĭ & Klotz, 2010)) if it is holomorphic outside the real axis, symmetric  $M(\lambda)^* = M(\bar{\lambda})$ , and satisfies the inequality  $\operatorname{Im} \lambda \operatorname{Im} M(\lambda) \geq 0$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

The class of Nevanlinna functions is often denoted by  $\mathcal{R}[\mathfrak{N}]$ . A function  $M \in \mathcal{R}[\mathfrak{N}]$  admits the integral representation

$$M(\lambda) = A + B\lambda + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \frac{1}{t - \lambda} - \frac{t}{t^2 + 1} \right) d\Sigma(t), \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\Sigma(t)}{t^2 + 1} \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N}), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \backslash \mathbb{R},$$
(1.1)

where  $A = A^* \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N}), 0 \le B = B^* \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ , the  $\mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ -valued function  $\Sigma(\cdot)$  is nondecreasing and  $\Sigma(t) = \Sigma(t-0)$ , see (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020; Derkach & Malamud, 2017; Kac & Kreĭn, 1968; Shmul'yan, 1971). The integral is uniformly convergent in the strong topology; cf. (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020; Brodskiĭ, 1969; Kac & Kreĭn, 1968).

It follows from (1.1) that

$$B = \operatorname{s-lim}_{y\uparrow\infty} \frac{M(iy)}{y} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Im} M(iy) = B \, y + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{y}{t^2 + y^2} \, d\Sigma(t).$$

This implies that  $\lim_{y\to\infty} y \operatorname{Im} M(iy)$  exists in the strong resolvent sense as a selfadjoint relation; see, e.g., (Behrndt, et al., 2010). This limit is a bounded selfadjoint operator if and only if B = 0 and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} d\Sigma(t) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ , in which case s- $\lim_{y\to\infty} y \operatorname{Im} M(iy) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\Sigma(t)$ . In this case one can rewrite the integral representation (1.1) in the form

$$M(\lambda) = E + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{t - \lambda} d\Sigma(t), \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\Sigma(t) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N}), \tag{1.2}$$

where  $E = \lim_{y \to \infty} M(iy)$  in  $\mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

The class of  $\mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ -valued Nevanlinna functions M with the integral representation (1.2) for which E = 0 is denoted by  $\mathcal{R}_0[\mathfrak{N}]$ . In this paper we consider the following subclasses of the class  $\mathcal{R}_0[\mathfrak{N}]$ .

**Definition 1.1.** Let M belong to the class  $\mathcal{R}_0[\mathfrak{N}]$ . Then M is said to belong to  $\mathcal{N}[\mathfrak{N}]$  if

$$\operatorname{s-lim}_{y \to \infty} iy M(iy) = -I_{\mathfrak{N}}.$$

Moreover, M is said to belong to  $\mathbf{N}^0_{\mathfrak{N}}$  if  $M \in \mathcal{N}[\mathfrak{N}]$  and M is holomorphic at infinity.

If A is a selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{N}$  is a subspace (closed linear manifold) of  $\mathfrak{H}$ , then the compressed resolvent  $M(\lambda)$ , defined as

$$M(\lambda) = P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}, \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A),$$
(1.3)

belongs to the class  $\mathcal{N}[\mathfrak{N}]$ . Moreover, M as in (1.3) belongs to the class  $\mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^0 \subseteq \mathcal{N}[\mathfrak{N}]$  if and only if the selfadjoint operator A is bounded. Throughout this paper the representation of  $M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ in the form (1.3) is called a *realization of the function* M. Note that the function M in (1.3) is often called the *compressed resolvent*,  $\mathfrak{N}$ -*resolvent*, *Weyl function*, or *m*-*function*; see (Berezansky, 1968; Gesztesy & Simon, 1997). Here, and throughout the paper, the notation  $T \upharpoonright \mathcal{N}$  denotes the restriction of a linear operator T to the set  $\mathcal{N} \subset \text{dom } T$  and  $P_{\mathfrak{L}}$  denotes the orthogonal projection onto a subspace  $\mathfrak{L}$  in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{N} \oplus \mathfrak{K}$  be a decomposition of a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , then a selfadjoint operator  $A \in \mathfrak{H}$  is called *minimal with respect to*  $\mathfrak{N}$ , or  $\mathfrak{N}$ *-minimal*, if

$$\mathfrak{H} = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \left\{ \mathfrak{N} + (A - \lambda I)^{-1} \mathfrak{N} : \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

The next theorem follows from (Brodskiĭ, 1969: Theorem 4.8) and Naĭmark's dilation theorem (Brodskiĭ, 1969: Theorem 1, Appendix I); see (Arlinskiĭ, Hassi & de Snoo, 2006) and (Arlinskiĭ & Klotz, 2010) for the case  $M \in \mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{M}}^{0}$ .

**Theorem 1.2.** The following assertions are valid:

- (1) If  $M \in \mathcal{N}[\mathfrak{N}]$ , then there exist a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  containing  $\mathfrak{N}$  as a subspace and a selfadjoint operator A in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , such that A is  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal and  $M(\lambda)$  is of the form (1.3) for  $\lambda$  in the domain of M. If  $M \in \mathbb{N}^{0}_{\mathfrak{N}}$ , then the selfadjoint operator A is bounded.
- (2) If  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are selfadjoint operators in the Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{H}_2$ , respectively,  $\mathfrak{N}$  is a common subspace of  $\mathfrak{H}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{H}_2$ ,  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal, and

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A_1 - \lambda I_{\mathfrak{H}_1})^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = M(\lambda) = P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A_2 - \lambda I_{\mathfrak{H}_2})^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \backslash \mathbb{R},$$

then there exists a unitary operator U mapping  $\mathfrak{H}_1$  onto  $\mathfrak{H}_2$  such that

$$U \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = I_{\mathfrak{N}}$$
 and  $UA_1 = A_2U_2$ 

The following linear transformations  $\omega$  of the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  will play an important role in this paper. Let

$$\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C},\tag{1.4}$$

where  $a \in \mathbb{R}_+, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $\omega$  has the property

$$\omega(\mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}, \qquad \omega(\mathbb{C}_{-}) = \mathbb{C}_{-}, \qquad \omega(\mathbb{C}_{+}) = \mathbb{C}_{+}.$$

Note that if  $\omega_1(\lambda) = a_1\lambda + b_1$  and  $\omega_2(\lambda) = a_2\lambda + b_2$ , then

$$\omega_1 \circ \omega_2(\lambda) := \omega_1(\omega_2(\lambda)) = a_1 a_2 \lambda + a_1 b_2 + b_1. \tag{1.5}$$

Hence, these transformations form a group with respect to composition. The inverse transformation  $\omega^{[-1]}$  corresponding to  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b$  is

$$\omega^{[-1]}(\lambda) = a^{-1}\lambda - ba^{-1}.$$
(1.6)

This group is denoted by  $\mathfrak{G}$ . For  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b \in \mathfrak{G}$  we define  $a_{\omega} := a$ . It follows from (1.5) that

$$a_{\omega_1 \circ \omega_2} = a_{\omega_2 \circ \omega_1} = a_{\omega_1} a_{\omega_2}$$

Hence, the function  $\mathfrak{G} \ni \omega \mapsto a_{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}_+$  is a character on the group  $\mathfrak{G}$ .

For a function  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b \in \mathfrak{G}$  define the following transformations  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  on  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ :

$$M(\lambda) \mapsto \mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)(\lambda) := a_{\omega}M(\lambda) \left(I + (\lambda - \omega(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1}.$$
(1.7)

The properties of this transformation are discussed in the theorem below. For this theorem also recall that two linear operators X and Y in  $\mathcal{H}$  are said to be *congruent*, if there exists  $U \in \mathbf{GB}(\mathcal{H})$  such that

$$Y = U^* X U;$$

see, e.g., (Patel, 1983). In the case of unbounded X and Y, the above equality means that

dom  $Y = U^{-1}$  dom X and  $YU^{-1}f = U^*Xf$ , for all  $f \in \text{dom } X$ .

The main goal of this paper is to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.3.** For the transformations  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  defined in (1.7), where  $\omega$  is given by (1.4), the following assertions are valid:

- (1) For each  $\omega \in \mathfrak{G}$  the transformation  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  is well-defined and maps  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  into  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ , and  $\mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{0}$  into  $\mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{0}$ .
- (2) The set  $\{\mathcal{G}_{\omega} : \omega \in \mathfrak{G}\}$  is a group with respect to composition:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{\omega_2}(\mathcal{G}_{\omega_1}(M)) &= \mathcal{G}_{\omega_1 \circ \omega_2}(M), & \omega_1, \omega_2 \in \mathfrak{G}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{\omega}^{-1}(M) &= \mathcal{G}_{\omega^{[-1]}}(M), & \omega \in \mathfrak{G}, \ M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N}). \end{aligned}$$

In particular, for each  $\omega \in \mathfrak{G}$  the transformation  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  maps  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  bijectively onto  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ , and  $\mathbf{N}^{0}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  bijectively onto  $\mathbf{N}^{0}_{\mathfrak{M}}$ .

(3) If A is a  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal realization of  $M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  and if  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b \in \mathfrak{G}$ , then any minimal realization of the function  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)$  is congruent to  $A-bP_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . Moreover, if  $\omega(\lambda) = \lambda + b, b \neq 0$ , then any minimal realization of the function  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)$  is unitarily equivalent to  $A-bP_{\mathfrak{N}}$ .

Note that the transformations

$$\mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{0} \ni M(\lambda) \mapsto M_{B}(\lambda) := M(\lambda) \left( I_{\mathfrak{N}} + BM(\lambda) \right)^{-1} \in \mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{0}, \qquad B = B^{*} \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N}),$$

have been considered in Arlinskiĭ, Hassi & de Snoo (2006) and Arlinskiĭ & Klotz (2010). The transformations

$$\mathcal{R}[\mathfrak{N}] \ni m(\lambda) \mapsto \frac{m(\lambda) + t}{1 - tm(\lambda)} \in \mathcal{R}[\mathfrak{N}], \qquad t \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\},$$

of scalar Nevanlinna functions and their connections with selfadjoint extensions of symmetric operators with deficiency indices (1, 1) have been studied in Behrndt, Hassi, de Snoo, Wietsma & Winkler (2013). Other transformations of Nevanlinna functions, or Nevanlinna families, and their fixed points have been examined in Arlinskii (2017; 2020) and Arlinskii & Hassi (2019).

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we study properties of congruent operators; in particular, it is shown that congruence preserves the deficiency indices of densely defined closed symmetric operators. In Section 3 we define and examine special transformations of linear operators, which are used in Section 4 in the proof of Theorem 1.3.

#### 2 Properties of congruent operators

Proposition 2.1. The following assertions are valid:

- (1) If the closed densely defined operators X and Y are congruent, then the adjoint operators  $X^*$  and  $Y^*$  are congruent.
- (2) Congruence preserves the notions densely defined, closed, maximal dissipative, maximal accumulative, and selfadjoint.
- (3) If the closed densely defined symmetric operators X and Y are congruent, then the deficiency indices of X and Y coincide.

*Proof.* (1) If X and Y are densely defined and  $Y = U^*XU$ , then

$$Y^* = U^* X^* U,$$
 (2.1)

as easily follows.

(2) Let  $Y = U^* X U$ ,  $U \in \mathbf{GB}(\mathcal{H})$ . Then  $(\operatorname{dom} Y)^{\perp} = U^* (\operatorname{dom} X)^{\perp}$  and it follows that X and Y are both densely defined or non-densely defined.

Next let X be a closed operator and suppose that  $\{f_n\}$  and  $\{U^*XUf_n\}$  are Cauchy sequences. Then, due to assumption  $U \in \mathbf{GB}(\mathcal{H})$ , it follows that  $\{Uf_n\}$  and  $\{XUf_n\}$  are Cauchy sequences. Since X is closed, we get that  $g = \lim_{n \to \infty} Uf_n \in \text{dom } X$  and  $Xg = \lim_{n \to \infty} Uf_n$ . Hence

$$U^{-1}g = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n \in \operatorname{dom} Y \quad \text{and} \quad YU^{-1}g = U^*XU(U^{-1}g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} U^*XUf_n.$$

Thus, Y is closed.

The equality  $(Yf, f) = (XUf, Uf), f \in \text{dom } Y$ , yields that congruence preserves the notions Hermitian, dissipative, and accumulative. Thanks to (2.1) congruence preserves selfadjointness. Finally, it is well-known that X is maximal dissipative if and only if X is dissipative and  $X^*$  is accumulative. Hence, we conclude that congruence also preserves the notions maximal dissipative and maximal accumulative.

(3) Suppose that X is a closed densely defined symmetric operator whose deficiency indices are  $(n_+(X), n_-(X))$ . Consider a maximal dissipative extension  $\tilde{X}$  of X. Then for any  $\lambda$ ,  $\text{Im } \lambda < 0$ , the following direct decomposition of dom  $X^*$  holds:

dom 
$$X^* = \operatorname{dom} \dot{X} + \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X).$$
 (2.2)

Here  $\mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X) = \ker(X^* - \lambda I)$  is the defect subspace of X corresponding to  $\lambda$ . In particular, if  $h \in \operatorname{dom} X^*$ , then there exists  $\tilde{h} \in \operatorname{dom} \tilde{X}$  and  $\varphi_{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X)$  such that

$$h = \tilde{h} + \varphi_{\lambda}$$
 and  $X^* h = \tilde{X}\tilde{h} + \lambda\varphi_{\lambda}.$  (2.3)

Next we will describe the defect subspace  $\mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y)$  for the symmetric operator Y congruent to X:

$$Y = U^* X U.$$

For this purpose, set  $\tilde{Y} = U^* \tilde{X} U$ . Then  $\tilde{Y}$  is a maximal dissipative extension of Y, see part (2) of this proposition. Hence, from the equality

$$\widetilde{Y} - \lambda I = U^* \widetilde{X} U - \lambda I = (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1}) U_s$$

it follows that the operator  $(U^*\widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1}$  exists, is bounded, is defined on the whole  $\mathfrak{H}$  for  $\operatorname{Im} \lambda < 0$ , and maps  $\mathfrak{H}$  onto dom  $\widetilde{X}$ .

Let  $f_{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y)$ . Then

$$0 = (Y^* - \lambda I)f_{\lambda} = (U^*X^* - \lambda U^{-1})Uf_{\lambda}.$$
(2.4)

As  $h_{\lambda} := U f_{\lambda}$  belongs to dom  $X^*$ , (2.2)-(2.3) imply that the following decomposition holds

$$h_{\lambda} = h_{\widetilde{X}} + \varphi_{\lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad X^* h_{\lambda} = \widetilde{X} h_{\widetilde{X}} + \lambda \varphi_{\lambda}, \qquad h_{\widetilde{X}} \in \text{dom } \widetilde{X}, \, \varphi_{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X).$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} (Y^* - \lambda I)f_{\lambda} &= (U^* X^* U - \lambda I)f_{\lambda} \\ &= (U^* X^* - \lambda U^{-1})Uf_{\lambda} \\ &= (U^* X^* - \lambda U^{-1})h_{\lambda} \\ &= U^* X^* h_{\lambda} - \lambda U^{-1}h_{\lambda} \\ &= U^* (\widetilde{X}h_{\widetilde{X}} + \lambda \varphi_{\lambda}) - \lambda U^{-1}(h_{\widetilde{X}} + \varphi_{\lambda}) \\ &= (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})h_{\widetilde{X}} + \lambda (U^* - U^{-1})\varphi_{\lambda}. \end{split}$$

Combining the preceding result with (2.4) yields

$$h_{\widetilde{X}} = \lambda (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1} (U^{-1} - U^*) \varphi_{\lambda}.$$

Hence,

$$h_{\lambda} = \left(I + \lambda (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1} (U^{-1} - U^*)\right) \varphi_{\lambda},$$
  
$$f_{\lambda} = U^{-1} \left(I + \lambda (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1} (U^{-1} - U^*)\right) \varphi_{\lambda}.$$

Thus,  $\mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y) \subseteq U^{-1}\left(I + \lambda(U^*\widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1}(U^{-1} - U^*)\right)\mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X)$ . One can verify that the converse inclusion is also true. Therefore

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y) = U^{-1} \left( I + \lambda (U^* \widetilde{X} - \lambda U^{-1})^{-1} (U^{-1} - U^*) \right) \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X).$$

This equality yields that  $\dim \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y) = \dim \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X)$ ,  $\operatorname{Im} \lambda < 0$ . Similarly, using the decomposition

dom 
$$X^* = \operatorname{dom} \widetilde{X}^* + \mathfrak{N}_{\overline{\lambda}}, \qquad \operatorname{Im} \lambda < 0,$$

we obtain the equality  $\dim \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(Y) = \dim \mathfrak{N}_{\lambda}(X)$ . Consequently, the deficiency indices of Y are given by  $(n_{+}(X), n_{-}(X))$ .

#### 3 Special transformations of operators

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be an infinite-dimensional separable complex Hilbert space, let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a subspace of  $\mathfrak{H}$ , and set  $\mathfrak{N}^{\perp} := \mathfrak{H} \ominus \mathfrak{N}$ . For  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$  define the operator  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{H})$  as follows

$$\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} := P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + i \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} = I - \frac{\overline{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}.$$
(3.1)

It is clear from the first equality in (3.1) that  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{U}_{i\bar{z},\mathfrak{N}} = P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} - P_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . Moreover, it follows from the second equality in (3.1) that ran  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} = \mathfrak{H}$  and that  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} \in \mathbf{GB}(\mathfrak{H})$ ; in fact, one has

$$\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} = I - \frac{i\bar{z}}{\mathrm{Im}\,z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} = \mathcal{U}_{-iz,\mathfrak{N}}.$$
(3.2)

Hence, one also sees immediately that

$$\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^* = \mathcal{U}_{\bar{z},\mathfrak{N}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} = \mathcal{U}_{i\bar{z},\mathfrak{N}}.$$
 (3.3)

Observe that

$$\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^* \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} = \left(I - \frac{z}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) \left(I - \frac{\bar{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) = I + \frac{|z|^2 - 2(\operatorname{Re} z)^2}{(\operatorname{Re} z)^2} P_{\mathfrak{N}},\tag{3.4}$$

so that  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} \in \mathbf{GB}(\mathfrak{H})$  is unitary if and only if  $(\operatorname{Re} z)^2 = (\operatorname{Im} z)^2$ .

For  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$  we define the transformation  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$  on the set of all linear operators A in  $\mathfrak{H}$  as follows

dom 
$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} \operatorname{dom} A,$$
  
 $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)f = \left(A + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \bar{z}I)\right) \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1}f, \quad f \in \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A).$ 
(3.5)

**Lemma 3.1.** Let A be an operator and let  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$ . Then the operator  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  satisfies

$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \left( A - \frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \right) \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1},$$
(3.6)

*i.e.*,  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is congruent to the operator  $A - (|z|^2/\operatorname{Re} z)P_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . Moreover, if  $|\operatorname{Im} z| = |\operatorname{Re} z|$ , then  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is unitarily equivalent to the operator  $A - (|z|^2/\operatorname{Re} z)P_{\mathfrak{N}}$ .

*Proof.* It follows from (3.1) that

$$A + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \bar{z}I) = \left(I + i\frac{z}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) A + i\frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}$$
$$= \mathcal{U}_{i\overline{z},\mathfrak{N}}A + \mathcal{U}_{i\overline{z},\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}i\frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}$$
$$= \mathcal{U}_{i\overline{z},\mathfrak{N}}\left[A + \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}i\frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right] = \mathcal{U}_{i\overline{z},\mathfrak{N}}\left(A - \frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right).$$

Consequently, the first statement about the congruence now follows from the definition of  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  and (3.3). The last statement follows from the identity (3.4).

It is clear from the definition in (3.5), that

$$(\operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A))^{\perp} = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1}(\operatorname{dom} A)^{\perp}.$$

Thus, the operator  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is densely defined if and only if the operator A is densely defined. Furthermore, the domain of dom  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is closed if and only if dom A is closed.

The next corollary collects the basic properties of the transformation  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$ .

**Corollary 3.2.** The transformation  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$  in (3.5) possesses the following properties:

- (1) dom  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) \cap \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(B) = \{0\}$  if and only if dom  $A \cap \operatorname{dom} B = \{0\}$ .
- (2) The operator  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is bounded or closed if and only if A is bounded or closed, respectively.
- (3) The operator  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is symmetric, dissipative, or accumulative if and only if A is symmetric, dissipative, or accumulative, respectively. Moreover, maximality with respect to these properties is preserved and selfadjointness is also preserved.
- (4) The following relation holds

$$(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A))^* = \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A^*).$$

(5) The following identities hold

dom 
$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) \cap \mathfrak{N}^{\perp} =$$
dom  $A \cap \mathfrak{N}^{\perp}$  and  $P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}}\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}^{\perp} = P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}}A \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}^{\perp}$ 

(6) If A is a closed densely defined symmetric operator, then the deficiency indices of  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  coincide with the deficiency indices of A.

*Proof.* (1) Due to the identity

dom 
$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) \cap \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(B) = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(\operatorname{dom} A \cap \operatorname{dom} B),$$

we obtain the equivalence

dom 
$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) \cap \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(B) = \{0\} \iff \operatorname{dom} A \cap \operatorname{dom} B = \{0\}.$$

(2) – (5) These statements follow from Lemma 3.1, because  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is congruent to the operator  $A(z,\mathfrak{N})$  given by (3.6), and  $A(z,\mathfrak{N})$  is the additive perturbation of A by the bounded selfadjoint operator  $(|z|^2/\text{Re} z)P_{\mathfrak{N}}$ .

(6) It is well known that the additive perturbation of a symmetric operator by a bounded selfadjoint operator preserves deficiency indices, see, e.g., (Akhiezer & Glazman, 1981).  $\Box$ 

Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a subspace of the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . For a linear operator A in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$  we define the transform  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  of A by

$$\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) := P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \zeta_z(\lambda)I)(A - \lambda I)^{-1},$$
(3.7)

where  $\zeta_z(\lambda)$  is defined by

$$\zeta_z(\lambda) := \lambda \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right)^2 + \frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z}.$$
(3.8)

From the definition in (3.7) it is clear that  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{H})$ , since  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ . Note that with respect to the orthogonal decomposition  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{N}^{\perp} \oplus \mathfrak{N}$  one has

$$\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} & 0\\ \mathcal{A}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) & \mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \end{pmatrix} : \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{N}^{\perp}\\ \mathfrak{N} \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{N}^{\perp}\\ \mathfrak{N} \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.9)

where  $\mathcal{A}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  are defined by

$$\mathcal{A}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) := P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}^{\perp}, \qquad \mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) := P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N},$$

so that  $\mathcal{A}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N}^{\perp},\mathfrak{N})$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{N})$ . In particular, it is useful to observe that the compression  $P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}$  has the form

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} \left( I + (\lambda - \zeta_z(\lambda)) P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A-\lambda)^{-1} \right),$$
(3.10)

cf. (3.7). The properties of the transform  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  and its compression  $\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  to  $\mathfrak{N}$  are stated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.** Let A be a linear operator in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , let  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$ , and let  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  be defined as in (3.5). Let  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$  and let the transformation  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  of A be defined as in (3.7). Then the following identity holds

$$\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) - \lambda I = \mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)(A-\lambda I)U_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1}, \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A).$$
(3.11)

Consequently, for  $\lambda \in \rho(A)$  the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\lambda \in \rho(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A));$
- (ii) the operator  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  belongs to **GB**( $\mathfrak{H}$ );
- (iii) the operator  $P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}$  belongs to  $\mathbf{GB}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

Moreover, for  $\lambda \in \rho(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)) \cap \rho(A)$ , one has

$$(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) - \lambda I)^{-1} = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)^{-1},$$
(3.12)

while the compression of  $(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) - \lambda I)^{-1}$  to  $\mathfrak{N}$  is given by

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}$$

$$= \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right)^{2} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \left(I_{\mathfrak{N}} + (\lambda - \zeta_{z}(\lambda))P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}\right)^{-1}. \quad (3.13)$$

In particular, if the operator A is a maximal dissipative, maximal accumulative, or selfadjoint in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , then (3.12) and (3.13) hold for each proper subspace  $\mathfrak{N}$ , for each  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$ , and for each  $\lambda$  in  $\mathbb{C}_-$ ,  $\mathbb{C}_+$ , or  $\mathbb{C}_- \cup \mathbb{C}_+$ , respectively.

*Proof.* Let  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$ . It follows from dom  $\widehat{A} = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$  dom A that any  $\widehat{f} \in \text{dom } \widehat{A}$  is of the form  $\widehat{f} = U_{z,\mathfrak{N}}f_A$  with a unique  $f_A \in \text{dom } A$  and conversely. From (3.5) one therefore sees that for all  $\widehat{f} \in \text{dom } \widehat{A}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} (\widehat{A} - \lambda I)\widehat{f} &= \left(A + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \bar{z}I)\right) f_A - \lambda \left(I - \frac{\bar{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) f_A \\ &= (A - \lambda)f_A + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \bar{z}I)f_A + \lambda \frac{\bar{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}f_A \\ &= (A - \lambda I)f_A + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)f_A + \left(\frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z}(\lambda - \bar{z}) + \lambda \frac{\bar{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right) P_{\mathfrak{N}}f_A \\ &= \left(I + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} + \left(\frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z}(\lambda - \bar{z}) + \lambda \frac{\bar{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right) P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)f_A. \end{aligned}$$

By writing  $I = P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + P_{\mathfrak{N}}$ , we see that the first factor in the right-hand side of the last term is given by

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + \left(I + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z}\right) P_{\mathfrak{N}} + i \frac{\lambda \operatorname{Re} z^2 - |z|^2 \operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Re} z \operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} (A - \lambda)^{-1}$$
  
=  $P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \left[A - \lambda + \frac{\lambda \operatorname{Re} z^2 - |z|^2 \operatorname{Re} z}{(\operatorname{Re} z)^2}\right] (A - \lambda)^{-1}$   
=  $P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} (A - \zeta_z(\lambda)) (A - \lambda)^{-1} = \mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A, \lambda),$ 

where the following identities were used

$$I + \frac{iz}{\operatorname{Im} z} = i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} \quad \text{and} \quad \zeta_z(\lambda) = \lambda - \frac{\lambda \operatorname{Re} z^2 - |z|^2 \operatorname{Re} z}{(\operatorname{Re} z)^2}.$$

Therefore, (3.11) has been shown.

(i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii) This equivalence follows from (3.11).

(ii) 
$$\Leftrightarrow$$
 (iii) This equivalence follows from (3.9) and (3.11).

The resolvent formula (3.12) follows from (3.11). In order to see (3.13), first observe from (3.1) and (3.10) that

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} = i \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z} \left( I + (\lambda - \zeta_z(\lambda)) P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda)^{-1} \right)^{-1}.$$

Therefore, it is seen as a consequence of (3.9) and (3.12) that

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}\left(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)-\lambda I\right)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A-\lambda)^{-1}\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = P_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A-\lambda)^{-1}\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1}(\lambda)$$
$$= \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right)^{2} P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A-\lambda)^{-1}\left(I+(\lambda-\zeta_{z}(\lambda))P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A-\lambda)^{-1}\right)^{-1},$$

which gives (3.13).

Next let A be a maximal dissipative operator. Then by Proposition 3.2 the operator  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is maximal dissipative too. Therefore the open lower half-plane  $\mathbb{C}_{-}$  belongs to the resolvent set of A and  $\widehat{A}$ . As has been proven above, the operators  $\mathcal{T}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  belong to  $\mathbf{GB}(\mathfrak{H})$  and  $\mathbf{GB}(\mathfrak{N})$ , respectively for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{-}$ . Hence the identities (3.12) and (3.13) are valid for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{-}$ . The proofs of the statements for a maximal accumulative or selfadjoint operator A can be established in a similar way.

**Corollary 3.4.** Let A be a selfadjoint operator in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a subspace of  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then A is  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal if and only if  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal.

*Proof.* It follows from (3.9) and (3.11), and from the invertibility of  $\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)$  in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , that

$$(\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A) - \lambda I)^{-1} = \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda)^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} & 0\\ -\mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)^{-1}\mathcal{A}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda) & \mathcal{B}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}(A,\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Thanks to the invertibility of  $\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$  in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , the statement is clear from the above identity.

**Lemma 3.5.** Let A be an operator in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and let  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{z_2,\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{F}_{z_1,\mathfrak{N}}(A)) &= \left(P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} - \frac{\operatorname{Re} z_1 \operatorname{Re} z_2}{\operatorname{Im} z_1 \operatorname{Im} z_2} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) \\ &\times \left(A - \left(\frac{|z_1|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z_1} + \frac{|z_2|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z_2} \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z_1}{\operatorname{Re} z_1}\right)^2\right) P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right) \left(P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} - \frac{\operatorname{Re} z_1 \operatorname{Re} z_2}{\operatorname{Im} z_1 \operatorname{Im} z_2} P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the operator  $\mathcal{F}_{z_2,\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{F}_{z_1,\mathfrak{N}}(A))$  is congruent to the operator

$$A - \left(\frac{|z_1|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z_1} + \frac{|z_2|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z_2} \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z_1}{\operatorname{Re} z_1}\right)^2\right) P_{\mathfrak{N}}.$$

*Proof.* Let A be a linear operator, then it follows from (3.6) that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{F}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}(A)) &= \mathcal{F}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}(\widehat{A}_{1}) = \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \left( \widehat{A}_{1} - \frac{|z_{2}|^{2}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{2}} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \right) \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} \\ &= \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \left( \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \left( A - \frac{|z_{1}|^{2}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{1}} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \right) \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} - \frac{|z_{2}|^{2}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{2}} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \right) \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} \\ &= \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1} \left( A - \frac{|z_{1}|^{2}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{1}} P_{\mathfrak{N}} - \frac{|z_{2}|^{2}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{2}} \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}^{*} P_{\mathfrak{N}} \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}} \right) \mathcal{U}_{z_{1},\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} \mathcal{U}_{z_{2},\mathfrak{N}}^{-1}, \end{aligned}$$

which, thanks to (3.2) and (3.3), gives the required result.

One can easily verify the identity

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu(z),\mathfrak{N}} \circ \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} = \mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}} \circ \mathcal{F}_{\mu(z),\mathfrak{N}} = \mathrm{id},$$

where id is the identity transformation on the set of all linear operators in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and the function  $\mu(z)$  is defined as

$$\mu(z) := iz \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} = -\operatorname{Re} z + i \frac{(\operatorname{Re} z)^2}{\operatorname{Im} z} = z + i \frac{z^2}{\operatorname{Im} z}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R}).$$

**Remark 3.6.** Let S be a closed densely defined symmetric operator in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , let  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$ , and let  $\mathfrak{N}_z = \ker(S^* - zI) \neq \{0\}$  be the deficiency subspace of S corresponding to z. Define the associated operators  $U_S(z)$  by

$$U_S(z) := \mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}_z} = P_{\mathfrak{N}_z^{\perp}} + i \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}_z} = I - \frac{\overline{z}}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}_z}.$$

Then the symmetric operator

$$S(z) = \mathcal{U}_S(z)^{*-1} \left( S - \frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}_z} \right) \mathcal{U}_S(z)^{-1}$$

has been studied in Arlinskiĭ (2021) and it was established that S(z) preserves various properties of S. When the deficiency indices of S are equal, then a bijection of the set of all selfadjoint extensions of S onto the set of all selfadjoint extensions of S(z) was established.

#### 4 Proof of Theorem 1.3

This section provides a proof of Theorem 1.3. It is based on the general constructions in Section 3, which are applied under the assumption that the underlying operator is selfadjoint.

(1) Let  $M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  be arbitrary. Then by Theorem 1.2 there exists a selfadjoint operator A in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , containing  $\mathfrak{N}$  as a subspace, realizing M as follows

$$M(\lambda) = P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(4.1)$$

Let the transformation  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b \in \mathfrak{G}$ , where  $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and  $b \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , be arbitrary, cf. (1.4). Then define  $z_{\omega} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (\mathbb{R} \cup i\mathbb{R})$  as

$$z_{\omega} := \frac{b}{1+a} + i\frac{\sqrt{a}b}{1+a} \tag{4.2}$$

so that  $\zeta_{z_{\omega}}(\lambda) = \omega(\lambda)$ , see (3.8). Note that, conversely, *a* and *b* in (4.2) can be expressed in terms of  $z_{\omega}$  as

$$a = \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z_{\omega}}{\operatorname{Re} z_{\omega}}\right)^2$$
 and  $b = \frac{|z_{\omega}|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z_{\omega}}$ . (4.3)

For the selfadjoint operator A in (4.1) let  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z_{\omega},\mathfrak{N}}(A)$ , where  $z_{\omega}$  is given by (4.2) and  $\mathcal{F}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}$  is the transformation defined in (3.5). Then  $\widehat{A}$  is selfadjoint by Corollary 3.2, and Theorem 3.3 implies that for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ 

$$P_{\mathfrak{N}}(\widehat{A} - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N} = \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{\operatorname{Re} z}\right)^2 P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \left(I_{\mathfrak{N}} + (\lambda - \zeta_{z_{\omega}}(\lambda))P_{\mathfrak{N}}(A - \lambda I)^{-1} \upharpoonright \mathfrak{N}\right)^{-1}$$
$$= a_{\omega}M(\lambda) \left(I + (\lambda - \omega(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1}$$
$$= \mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)(\lambda),$$
(4.4)

see (4.1), (4.3), and (1.7). Now the representation (4.4) for  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)$  shows that it belongs to the class  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ , since it is the compression of the resolvent of the selfadjoint operator  $\widehat{A}$ . If the representing operator A is additionally assumed to be bounded, then Corollary 3.2 implies that also  $\widehat{A}$  is bounded and, hence,  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M) \in \mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{0}$ .

(2) Let  $\omega_k(\lambda) = a_k \lambda + b_k \in \mathfrak{G}$  be arbitrary, for k = 1, 2. Then one observes

$$\omega_1 \circ \omega_2(\lambda) = \omega_1(\lambda) - a_{\omega_1}(\lambda - \omega_2(\lambda)), \tag{4.5}$$

cf. (1.5). For  $M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  we have by (1) that  $M_{\omega_1} := \mathcal{G}_{\omega_1}(M) \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Therefore, observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{\omega_2}(\mathcal{G}_{\omega_1}(M))(\lambda) &= \mathcal{G}_{\omega_2}(M_{\omega_1})(\lambda) = a_{\omega_2}M_{\omega_1}(\lambda)\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_2(\lambda))M_{\omega_1}(\lambda)\right)^{-1} \\ &= a_{\omega_1}a_{\omega_2}M(\lambda)\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left[I + (\lambda - \omega_2(\lambda))a_{\omega_1}M(\lambda)\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1}\right]^{-1} \\ &= a_{\omega_1}a_{\omega_2}M(\lambda)\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1}\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right) \\ &\times \left[\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right) + a_{\omega_1}(\lambda - \omega_2(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right]^{-1} \\ &= a_{\omega_1}a_{\omega_2}M(\lambda)\left[I + (\lambda - \omega_1(\lambda) + a_{\omega_1}(\lambda - \omega_2(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right]^{-1} \\ &= a_{\omega_1 \omega_2}M(\lambda)\left(I + (\lambda - \omega_1 \circ \omega_2(\lambda))M(\lambda)\right)^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_{\omega_1 \circ \omega_2}(M)(\lambda), \end{aligned}$$

where the penultimate identity follows thanks to (4.5). This shows that the first identity in Theorem 1.3 (2) holds. That identity implies the second identity in view of (1.5) and (1.6).

Let  $\widehat{M} \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  be arbitrary. Then by the above composition result  $M := \mathcal{G}_{\omega^{[-1]}}(\widehat{M}) \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ and  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M) = \widehat{M}$ , showing that  $\mathcal{G}$  is surjective. Likewise, if  $M_1, M_2 \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  satisfy the equality  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M_1) = \mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M_2)$ , then composing the preceding equality with  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega^{[-1]}}$  yields that  $M_1 = M_2$ . Thus  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  is bijective on the set  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ . The bijectivity of  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}$  restricted to the set  $\mathbf{N}_{\mathfrak{N}}^0$  can be established in exactly the same manner. (3) Let A be a  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal realization of  $M \in \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{N})$  and let  $\omega(\lambda) = a\lambda + b \in \mathfrak{G}$  be arbitrary. Moreover, define  $z_w$  as in (4.2) and let  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z_\omega,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$ . Then the identity (4.4) holds. Lemma 3.1 now yields that the operator  $\widehat{A} = \mathcal{F}_{z_\omega,\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is congruent to the operator

$$A(z,\mathfrak{N}) = A - \frac{|z|^2}{\operatorname{Re} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} = A - bP_{\mathfrak{N}},$$

see also (4.2) and (4.3), via

$$\mathcal{U}_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{-1} = P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} - i \frac{\operatorname{Re} z}{\operatorname{Im} z} P_{\mathfrak{N}} = P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} - i \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} P_{\mathfrak{N}}.$$

Moreover, the operator A is  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal if and only if the operator  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z_{\omega},\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal, see Corollary 3.4. Finally, recall that by Theorem 1.2 (2) any  $\mathfrak{N}$ -minimal realization of  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega}(M)$  is unitary equivalent to  $\widehat{A} = \mathcal{F}_{z_{\omega},\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  and, hence, is congruent to  $A - bP_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . This establishes the first part of this assertion.

Next assume that  $\omega(\lambda) = \lambda + b$ . If  $z_{\omega}$  is such that  $\zeta_{z_{\omega}}(\lambda) = \omega(\lambda)$ , then equation (4.3) implies that  $(\operatorname{Re} z)^2 = (\operatorname{Im} z)^2$ . Therefore (3.3) yields that the operator  $U_{z,\mathfrak{N}}^{*-1}$  is equal to  $P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}} + iP_{\mathfrak{N}}$  and, hence, is unitary. Consequently, Lemma 3.1 shows that  $\widehat{A} := \mathcal{F}_{z_{\omega},\mathfrak{N}}(A)$  is unitary equivalent to  $A - bP_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . This establishes the second part of the assertion by Theorem 1.2 (2).

**Remark 4.1.** The composition formula  $\mathcal{G}_{\omega_2} \circ \mathcal{G}_{\omega_1} = \mathcal{G}_{\omega_1 \circ \omega_2}$  in Theorem 1.3 has a counterpart for the operator representations. With the transformations

$$\omega_1(\lambda) = a_1\lambda + b_1$$
 and  $\omega_2(\lambda) = a_2\lambda + b_2$ ,

define the corresponding parameters

$$z_1 = \frac{b_1}{1+a_1} + i \frac{\sqrt{a_1}b_1}{1+a_1} \quad \text{and} \quad z_2 = \frac{b_2}{1+a_2} + i \frac{\sqrt{a_2}b_2}{1+a_2},$$

cf. (4.2). Then the composition of  $\mathcal{F}_{z_2,\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{F}_{z_1,\mathfrak{N}}(A))$  in Lemma 3.5 is given in terms of  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  by

$$\left(P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}}-\frac{1}{\sqrt{a_1a_2}}P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right)\left(A-(a_1b_2+b_1)P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right)\left(P_{\mathfrak{N}^{\perp}}-\frac{1}{\sqrt{a_1a_2}}P_{\mathfrak{N}}\right).$$

Note that  $a_1b_2 + b_1$  is the constant term of the composition  $\omega_1 \circ \omega_2$ , see (1.5).

#### References

Akhiezer, N.I. & Glazman, I.M. (1981). *Theory of Linear Operators in Hilbert Space*. Monographs and Studies in Mathematics, vol. 9, 10. Boston, Mass.: Pitman.

Allen, G.D. & Narcowich, F.J. (1976). R-operators. I. Representation theory and applications. *Indi*ana Univ. Math. J. 25, 945–963.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu.M. (2017). Transformations of Nevanlinna operator-functions and their fixed points. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology* 23, 212–230.

Arlinskii, Yu.M. (2020). Compressed resolvents, Schur functions, Nevanlinna families and their transformations. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 14, paper 63, 59 pp.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu.M. (2021). Cloning of symmetric operators. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 15, paper 8, 42 pp.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu., Belyi, S. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2011). *Conservative Realizations of Herglotz-Nevanlinna Functions*. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 217. Basel: Birkhäuser.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu. & Hassi, S. (2019). Holomorphic operator valued functions generated by passive selfadjoint systems. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 272, 1–42.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu.M., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2006). *Q*-functions of quasi-selfadjoint contractions. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 163, 23–54.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu. & Klotz, L. (2010). Weyl functions of bounded quasi-selfadjoint operators and block operator Jacobi matrices. *Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged)* 76, 585–626.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S., de Snoo, H. & Wietsma, R. (2010). Monotone convergence theorems for semibounded operators and forms with applications. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 140, 927–951.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H. (2020). *Boundary Value Problems, Weyl Functions, and Differential Operators*. Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 108. Cham: Birkhäuser.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S., de Snoo, H., Wietsma, R. & Winkler, H. (2013). Linear fractional transformations of Nevanlinna functions associated with a nonnegative operator. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 7, 331–362.

Berezansky, Yu.M. (1968). *Expansions in Eigenfunctions of Selfadjoint Operators*. Providence, R.I.: Amer. Math. Soc.

Brodskiĭ, M.S. (1969). *Triangular and Jordan Representations of Linear Operators*. Moscow: Nauka. (In Russian. English translation: Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 32 (1971). Providence, R.I.: Amer. Math. Soc.)

Derkach, V.A. & Malamud, M.M. (2017). *Extension Theory of Symmetric Operators and Boundary Value Problems*. Proceedings of Institute of Mathematics of NAS of Ukraine, vol. 104. (In Russian.)

Gesztesy, F. & Simon, B. (1997). *m*-functions and inverse spectral analysis for finite and semi-finite Jacobi matrices. *J. Anal. Math.* 73, 267–297.

Gesztesy, F. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E.R. (2000). On matrix-valued Herglotz functions. *Math. Nachr.* 218, 61–138.

Kac, I.S. & Krein, M.G. (1968). *R*-functions – analytic functions mapping the upper halfplane into itself. Supplement to the Russian edition of F.V. Atkinson, *Discrete and Continuous Boundary Problems*, Mir, Moscow 1968. (In Russian. English translation: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 103 (1974), 1–18.)

Patel, S.M. (1983). On congruency of operators. Publ. Inst. Math., Nouv. Ser. 33, 169-171.

Shmul'yan, Yu.L. (1971). The operator *R*-functions. *Sibirsk. Mat. Z.* 12, 442–451. (In Russian. English translation: Sib. Math. J. 12 (1971), 315–322.)

Stuttgart, Germany *E-mail address*: yury.arlinskii@gmail.com

### A CLASS OF SINGULAR PERTURBATIONS OF THE DIRAC OPERATOR: BOUNDARY TRIPLETS AND WEYL FUNCTIONS

Jussi Behrndt, Markus Holzmann, Christian Stelzer, and Georg Stenzel

Dedicated to our friend and colleague Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday!

#### 1 Introduction

Singular perturbations of self-adjoint operators play an important role in the description of idealized quantum systems, where a localized short-range potential is often replaced by a more singular model potential. More precisely, assume that  $A_0$  is a self-adjoint differential operator in an  $L^2$ -Hilbert space which is viewed as the Hamiltonian of an unperturbed quantum system and suppose that V is some potential such that the formal sum  $A_V = A_0 + V$  describes the quantum system under investigation. Standard operator theory techniques ensure that for potentials V belonging to certain function spaces the perturbed operator  $A_V$  is again self-adjoint; we refer the reader to the monographs of Reed & Simon (1972; 1975; 1979; 1978) or Kato (1995). However, a detailed spectral analysis of  $A_V$  is typically very difficult, and for this reason the potential V is often replaced by an idealized perturbation term of  $\delta$ -type, which is then regarded as an approximation of the real model, see (Behrndt et al., 2017; Exner, 2008). On the one hand, this procedure may simplify the spectral analysis considerably, see (Albeverio et al., 2005; Behrndt, Langer & Lotoreichik, 2013; Brasche et al., 1994; Holzmann & Unger, 2020), but, on the other hand, it may lead to new technical difficulties in the mathematically rigorous definition of the Hamiltonian itself.

In the case that  $A_0$  is the Laplacian in an  $L^2$ -space and the  $\delta$ -potential is supported on hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (e.g., curves in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , or surfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ) the standard quadratic form approach is useful. Roughly speaking, the perturbed operator  $A_{\tau} = A_0 + \tau \delta_{\Sigma}$  is in this situation viewed as the self-adjoint operator corresponding to the form

$$\mathfrak{a}[f,g] = (\nabla f, \nabla g)_{L^2} + \int_{\Sigma} \tau f|_{\Sigma} \overline{g|_{\Sigma}} \, dx, \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $(\nabla f, \nabla g)_{L^2}$  is the quadratic form defined on the Sobolev space  $H^1$  associated with the Laplacian, and the singular perturbation is encoded in the additive form perturbation with  $\Sigma$  denoting the support of the  $\delta$ -distribution,  $\tau$  is some real (position dependent) coefficient, and  $f|_{\Sigma}$  and  $g|_{\Sigma}$  denote the traces of the Sobolev space functions f and g, respectively, defined in an appropriate way. Of course, one has to impose certain assumptions on the support  $\Sigma$  of the  $\delta$ -potential and the coefficient  $\tau$  to ensure that  $\mathfrak{a}$  in (1.1) is a densely defined closed semibounded form (which then gives rise to a self-adjoint operator  $A_{\tau}$ ); we refer to (Brasche et al., 1994; Exner, 2008; Exner & Kovarik, 2015; Herczyński, 1989; Stollmann & Voigt, 1996) for a detailed treatment and further references. A different approach to the operator  $A_{\tau}$  is via extension theory techniques in general, and boundary triplet methods in particular, see the recent monograph (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020) and (Derkach, Hassi & Malamud, 2020; Derkach et al., 2000; 2006; 2009; 2012; Derkach, Hassi & de Snoo, 2001; 2003) by Seppo Hassi and his coauthors for an extensive treatment of boundary triplets and further developments. For the case of point interactions it is well known what type of transmission or jump conditions the functions in the domain of  $A_{\tau}$  satisfy; cf. (Albeverio et al., 2005) for a comprehensive treatment of point interactions. In the case that the  $\delta$ -distribution is supported on a hypersurface we refer to (Behrndt, Langer & Lotoreichik, 2013), where quasi boundary triplets were used for the first time to define  $A_{\tau}$  as a self-adjoint restriction of a Laplacian that is decoupled along the support  $\Sigma$ . As in the case of point interactions, also in the multi-dimensional setting one ends up with transmission and jump conditions for the functions in the domain of  $A_{\tau}$  along the support  $\Sigma$  of the  $\delta$ -distribution, see also (Behrndt et al., 2020; 2018; Mantile, Posilicano & Sini, 2016). In conclusion, for the case that  $A_0$  is the Laplacian (or some more general semibounded Schrödinger operator) nowadays one may efficiently apply form techniques or boundary triplet methods to define and study the perturbed operator  $A_{\tau}$ ; depending on the particular problem under consideration one method may prove more useful than the other.

Now assume that the unperturbed operator  $A_0$  is the Dirac operator instead of the Laplacian or the Schrödinger operator. While the Dirac operator describes a similar physical system as the Laplace operator including relativistic effects (see Section 3 for more details), the mathematical situation is entirely different: The free Dirac operator  $A_0$  is not semibounded from below and, hence, standard quadratic form methods are not applicable. Therefore, it is most natural to try to apply boundary triplet techniques, since these methods do not require any type of semiboundedness of the operators under consideration. In fact, Dirac operators with singular interactions supported on points and spheres were already treated with direct methods in (Albeverio et al., 2005; Dittrich, Exner & Šeba, 1989; Gesztesy & Šeba, 1987), but for more general supports of the singular potential only recently a series of papers was published (Arrizabalaga, Mas & Vega, 2014; 2015; 2016), which in turn led to our publications (Behrndt et al., 2018; Behrndt & Holzmann, 2020; Behrndt, Holzmann & Mas, 2020; Behrndt et al., 2020) employing the quasi boundary triplet technique. We also emphasize the recent papers (Behrndt et al., 2019; 2020; Holzmann, Ourmières-Bonafos & Pankrashkin, 2018; Mas & Pizzichillo, 2018; Ourmières-Bonafos & Vega, 2018; Pankrashkin & Richard, 2014) where closely related techniques were used to study Dirac operators with  $\delta$ -shell interactions.

The main objective of this note is to provide boundary triplets for Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar interactions supported on a point in the one-dimensional case, and supported on curves and surfaces in the two- and three-dimensional situation. This operator is formally given by

$$A_{\tau} = A_0 + \tau \alpha_0 \delta_{\Sigma},$$

where  $\alpha_0$  is a Dirac matrix defined in Section 3, and  $\tau \alpha_0 \delta_{\Sigma}$  describes the Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -shell interaction supported on  $\Sigma$ . The one-dimensional setting with a single point interaction is particularly easy to treat and we discuss in Section 4 a possible choice of an ordinary boundary triplet, which was also used in Pankrashkin & Richard (2014). We compute the corresponding  $\gamma$ -field and Weyl function, and give an expression for the resolvent of the singularly perturbed one-dimensional Dirac operator. In the multi-dimensional setting one observes typical analytic difficulties with trace maps and integration by parts formulas on maximal operator domains, similar to the case of the Laplacian or more general elliptic operators; cf. (Behrndt & Langer, 2007; 2012). It is convenient to extend the notion of ordinary boundary triplet in such a way that these analytic difficulties can be circumvented. As in the case of symmetric second order elliptic operators, the concepts of quasi boundary triplets and generalized boundary triplets are useful and fit in this setting very well. In the present manuscript we allow some flexibility in the domain of the boundary maps and obtain a family of quasi boundary triplets that reduce to a generalized boundary triplet in the limit case, where the parameter describing regularity of the operator domain is minimal; cf. Theorem 5.3. As in the one-dimensional situation, we provide the corresponding  $\gamma$ -fields and Weyl functions, we discuss the self-adjointness of the operator  $A_{\tau}$ , and list some of its spectral properties. An interesting issue in the multi-dimensional

setting is the regularity of the support  $\Sigma$  of the Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -perturbation: From  $C^2$ -curves and hypersurfaces treated earlier in Arrizabalaga, Mas & Vega (2014; 2015); Behrndt et al. (2018; 2019); Behrndt & Holzmann (2020); Ourmières-Bonafos & Vega (2018) and piecewise  $C^2$ -curves studied in Pizzichillo & Van Den Bosch (2019), we make a substantial step towards more rough supports and discuss in Theorem 5.4 the case that  $\Sigma$  is the boundary of a bounded Lipschitz domain.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we briefly recall some basic definitions and abstract facts about ordinary, generalized, and quasi boundary triplets. Section 3 is devoted to regular Dirac operators: We collect some required notations, state the well-known properties of the unperturbed Dirac operator  $A_0$ , and shortly describe the physical interpretation of the objects of interest. In Section 4 we study the one-dimensional case, provide an ordinary boundary triplet suitable to treat singular perturbations of the free Dirac operator in  $\mathbb{R}$ , and investigate Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -point interactions. Finally, Section 5 is devoted to the multi-dimensional case. We construct a family of quasi boundary triplets that are suitable to prove the self-adjointness of Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -shell interactions supported on arbitrary closed compact Lipschitz smooth hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

#### 2 Ordinary, generalized, and quasi boundary triplets

In this section we briefly recall basic definitions of ordinary and generalized boundary triplets, quasi boundary triplets, and some related techniques in extension and spectral theory of symmetric and self-adjoint operators in Hilbert spaces. The concepts will be presented such that they can be applied directly to Dirac operators with singular interactions in the next sections. We refer the reader to (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020; Behrndt & Langer, 2007; 2012; Brüning, Geyler & Pankrashkin, 2008; Derkach & Malamud, 1991; 1995; Gorbachuk & Gorbachuk, 1991) for more details on boundary triplet techniques. Throughout this section  $\mathcal{H}$  denotes a complex Hilbert space with inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathcal{H}}$  and S is a densely defined closed symmetric operator with adjoint S<sup>\*</sup>.

**Definition 2.1.** Let T be a linear operator in  $\mathcal{H}$  such that  $\overline{T} = S^*$ . A triplet  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  consisting of a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{G}$  and linear mappings  $\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1 : \text{dom } T \to \mathcal{G}$  is called a *quasi boundary triplet* for  $S^*$  if it has the following properties:

(i) For all  $f, g \in \text{dom } T$  the abstract Green's identity

$$(Tf,g)_{\mathcal{H}} - (f,Tg)_{\mathcal{H}} = (\Gamma_1 f, \Gamma_0 g)_{\mathcal{G}} - (\Gamma_0 f, \Gamma_1 g)_{\mathcal{G}}$$

is true.

- (ii) The range of  $\Gamma = (\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1)^\top$  is dense in  $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$ .
- (iii) The restriction  $A_0 := T \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0$  is a self-adjoint operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

If (i) and (iii) hold, and the mapping  $\Gamma_0$ : dom  $T \to \mathcal{G}$  is surjective, then  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is called a *generalized boundary triplet*; if (i) and (iii) hold, and the mapping

$$\Gamma = (\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1)^\top : \text{dom } T \to \mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$$

is surjective, then  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is called an *ordinary boundary triplet*.

Note that the above (non-standard) definition of generalized and ordinary boundary triplets is equivalent to the usual one given in, e.g., (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020; Brüning, Geyler & Pankrashkin, 2008; Derkach & Malamud, 1991; 1995; Gorbachuk & Gorbachuk, 1991), see (Behrndt & Langer, 2007: Corollary 3.2 & Corollary 3.7). In particular, if  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is an ordinary boundary triplet, then  $T = S^*$ . Note that a quasi boundary triplet, generalized boundary triplet, or ordinary boundary triplet for  $S^*$  exists if and only if the defect numbers dim ker $(S^* \pm i)$  coincide, i.e., if and only if S admits self-adjoint extensions in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Moreover, the operator T in Definition 2.1 is in general not unique.

Next, we recall the definition of the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function associated with the quasi boundary triplet  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$ . These mappings will allow us to describe spectral properties of self-adjoint extensions of S. With  $A_0 = T \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0$  the direct sum decomposition

dom 
$$T = \text{dom } A_0 \dotplus \ker(T - \lambda) = \ker \Gamma_0 \dotplus \ker(T - \lambda), \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A_0),$$
 (2.1)

holds. The definition of the  $\gamma$ -field and Weyl function for quasi boundary triplets is in accordance with the definition for ordinary and generalized boundary triplets in Derkach & Malamud (1991; 1995).

**Definition 2.2.** Assume that T is a linear operator in  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying  $\overline{T} = S^*$  and let  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  be a quasi boundary triplet for  $S^*$ . Then the corresponding  $\gamma$ -field  $\gamma$  and Weyl function M are defined by

$$\rho(A_0) \ni \lambda \mapsto \gamma(\lambda) := \left(\Gamma_0 \upharpoonright \ker(T - \lambda)\right)^{-1}$$

and

$$\rho(A_0) \ni \lambda \mapsto M(\lambda) := \Gamma_1 \big( \Gamma_0 \upharpoonright \ker(T - \lambda) \big)^{-1},$$

respectively.

From (2.1) we see that the  $\gamma$ -field is well defined and that ran  $\gamma(\lambda) = \ker(T - \lambda)$  holds for all  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$ . Moreover, dom  $\gamma(\lambda) = \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_0$  is dense in  $\mathcal{G}$  by Definition 2.1. With the help of the abstract Green's identity in Definition 2.1 (i) one verifies that

$$\gamma(\lambda)^* = \Gamma_1(A_0 - \overline{\lambda})^{-1}, \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A_0).$$
(2.2)

Thus  $\gamma(\lambda)^*$  is a bounded and everywhere defined operator from  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{G}$ . Therefore,  $\gamma(\lambda)$  is a, in general not everywhere defined, bounded operator; cf. (Behrndt & Langer, 2007: Proposition 2.6) or (Behrndt & Langer, 2012: Proposition 6.13). If  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is a generalized or ordinary boundary triplet, then  $\gamma(\lambda)$  is automatically bounded and everywhere defined.

Next, we state some useful properties of the Weyl function M corresponding to the quasi boundary triplet  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$ ; see, e.g., (Behrndt & Langer, 2007: Proposition 2.6) for proofs of these statements. For any  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$  the operator  $M(\lambda)$  is densely defined in  $\mathcal{G}$  with dom  $M(\lambda) = \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_0$ and  $\operatorname{ran} M(\lambda) \subset \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_1$ . Moreover, for all  $\lambda, \mu \in \rho(A_0)$  and  $\varphi \in \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_0$  one has

$$M(\lambda)\varphi - M(\mu)^*\varphi = (\lambda - \overline{\mu})\gamma(\mu)^*\gamma(\lambda)\varphi.$$
(2.3)

Therefore, we see that  $M(\lambda) \subset M(\overline{\lambda})^*$  for any  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$  and hence  $M(\lambda)$  is a closable, but, in general, unbounded linear operator in  $\mathcal{G}$ . If  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is a generalized or ordinary boundary triplet, then  $M(\lambda)$  is bounded and everywhere defined.

In the main part of this paper we are going to use ordinary boundary triplets, generalized boundary triplets, quasi boundary triplets, and their Weyl functions to define and study self-adjoint extensions of the underlying symmetry S. Let again T be a linear operator in  $\mathcal{H}$  such that  $\overline{T} = S^*$ , let  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  be a quasi boundary triplet for  $S^*$ , and let  $\vartheta$  be a linear operator in  $\mathcal{G}$ . Then we define the extension  $A_\vartheta$  of S by

$$A_{\vartheta} := T \restriction \ker(\Gamma_1 - \vartheta \Gamma_0), \tag{2.4}$$

i.e.,  $f \in \text{dom } T$  belongs to dom  $A_{\vartheta}$  if and only if f satisfies  $\Gamma_1 f = \vartheta \Gamma_0 f$ . If  $\vartheta$  is a symmetric operator in  $\mathcal{G}$ , then Green's identity implies

$$(A_{\vartheta}f,g)_{\mathcal{H}} - (f,A_{\vartheta}g)_{\mathcal{H}} = (\vartheta\Gamma_0 f,\Gamma_0 g)_{\mathcal{G}} - (\Gamma_0 f,\vartheta\Gamma_0 g)_{\mathcal{G}} = 0$$

$$(2.5)$$

for all  $f, g \in \text{dom } A_{\vartheta}$  and, hence, the extension  $A_{\vartheta}$  is symmetric in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

Of course, one is mostly interested in the self-adjointness of  $A_{\vartheta}$ . If  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is an ordinary boundary triplet, then the situation is simple: Here one has a one-to-one correspondence between self-adjoint realizations  $A_{\vartheta}$  as in (2.4) and self-adjoint operators and relations  $\vartheta$  in  $\mathcal{G}$ . In particular, if  $\vartheta$  is a self-adjoint operator in  $\mathcal{G}$ , then  $A_{\vartheta}$  is self-adjoint in  $\mathcal{H}$ , see, e.g., (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020: Theorem 2.1.3) for more details.

If  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is a generalized or a quasi boundary triplet, then the self-adjointness of  $\vartheta$  does, in general, not imply the self-adjointness of  $A_\vartheta$ , or vice versa. However, the following theorem, where we also state an abstract version of the Birman-Schwinger principle and a Krein type resolvent formula for canonical extensions  $A_\vartheta$ , will allow us to give conditions for the self-adjointness of  $A_\vartheta$ ; for the proof we refer to (Behrndt & Langer, 2007: Theorem 2.8) or (Behrndt & Langer, 2012: Theorem 6.16).

**Theorem 2.3.** Let T be a linear operator in  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying  $\overline{T} = S^*$ , let  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  be a quasi boundary triplet for  $S^*$  with  $A_0 = T \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0$ , and denote the associated  $\gamma$ -field and Weyl function by  $\gamma$  and M, respectively. Let  $A_\vartheta$  be the extension of S associated with an operator  $\vartheta$  in  $\mathcal{G}$  as in (2.4). Then the following statements hold for all  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$ :

(i)  $\lambda \in \sigma_{p}(A_{\vartheta})$  if and only if  $0 \in \sigma_{p}(\vartheta - M(\lambda))$ . Moreover,

 $\ker(A_{\vartheta} - \lambda) = \big\{\gamma(\lambda)\varphi : \varphi \in \ker(\vartheta - M(\lambda))\big\}.$ 

(ii) If  $\lambda \notin \sigma_{\mathbf{p}}(A_{\vartheta})$ , then  $g \in \operatorname{ran}(A_{\vartheta} - \lambda)$  if and only if  $\gamma(\overline{\lambda})^* g \in \operatorname{ran}(\vartheta - M(\lambda))$ .

(iii) If  $\lambda \notin \sigma_{p}(A_{\vartheta})$ , then

$$(A_{\vartheta} - \lambda)^{-1}g = (A_0 - \lambda)^{-1}g + \gamma(\lambda)(\vartheta - M(\lambda))^{-1}\gamma(\overline{\lambda})^*g$$

holds for all  $g \in \operatorname{ran}(A_{\vartheta} - \lambda)$ .

Assertion (ii) of the previous theorem shows how the self-adjointness of an extension  $A_{\vartheta}$  can be proven if  $\{\mathcal{G}, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is a generalized or a quasi boundary triplet. If  $\vartheta$  is symmetric in  $\mathcal{G}$ , then  $A_{\vartheta}$  is symmetric in  $\mathcal{H}$  by (2.5), and hence  $A_{\vartheta}$  is self-adjoint if, in addition, ran  $(A_{\vartheta} \mp i) = \mathcal{H}$ . According to Theorem 2.3 (ii) the latter is the case if ran  $\gamma(\mp i)^* \subset \operatorname{ran}(\vartheta - M(\pm i))$ .

#### 3 Some facts about Dirac operators

In this section, a brief introduction to Dirac operators will be presented. These operators correspond to the right-hand side of the Dirac equation. The free Dirac equation was derived by P. Dirac when linearising the relativistic energy-momentum relationship

$$E^2 = \sum_{j=1}^d p_j^2 + m^2,$$
(3.1)

where E denotes the energy and  $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_d)$  denotes the momentum. Here, and in the subsequent sections, d is the space dimension and m > 0 is the mass of the particle. Furthermore, the speed of light c and Planck's constant  $\hbar$  are set to 1 for simplicity. This can always be realized by a suitable choice of units. The usual linearization approach, as it is carried out for instance in Thaller (1992), corresponds to

$$\left(E - \sum_{j=1}^{d} \alpha_j p_j - m\alpha_0\right) \left(E + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \alpha_j p_j + m\alpha_0\right) = 0$$
(3.2)

with matrices  $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$ , where  $N = 2^{[(d+1)/2]}$  and  $[\cdot]$  is the Gauss bracket. For the cases relevant to us we have N = 2 for  $d \in \{1, 2\}$  and N = 4 for d = 3. A comparison of (3.2) with the energymomentum relationship (3.1) shows that the matrices  $\alpha_j$  must be chosen such that they satisfy the anti-commutation relations

$$\alpha_k \alpha_j + \alpha_j \alpha_k = 2\delta_{kj} I_N \quad \text{for all} \quad k, j \in \{0, 1, \dots, d\},\tag{3.3}$$

where  $I_n$  denotes the  $n \times n$ -identity matrix. For  $d \in \{1, 2\}$  the matrices  $\alpha_j$  can be chosen as the Pauli spin matrices

$$\alpha_1 = \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha_2 = \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \alpha_0 = \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and for d = 3 as the so-called Dirac matrices

$$\alpha_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_j \\ \sigma_j & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha_0 = \begin{pmatrix} I_2 & 0 \\ 0 & -I_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

If one now applies the usual substitution rules  $i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$  and  $-i\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$  for E and  $p_j$  in one of the factors in (3.2), one obtains the free Dirac equation

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Psi = \left(-i\sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + m\alpha_0\right)\Psi,$$

which describes a particle with spin 1/2, such as an electron, that moves in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Here, and in the following, we use for  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  the formal notations

$$\alpha \cdot x := \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j x_j \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha \cdot \nabla := \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}.$$

As in the case of the Schrödinger equation, one now defines the free Dirac operator as the right-hand side of the free Dirac equation by

$$A_0 f := (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0) f, \qquad \text{dom } A_0 = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N).$$
(3.4)

With the help of the Fourier transform it is not difficult to verify that  $A_0$  is self-adjoint in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  with purely essential spectrum

$$\sigma(A_0) = (-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty); \tag{3.5}$$

cf. (Thaller, 1992) or (Weidmann, 2003). From a physical point of view there are possible energy states of the system that are negative and these energies are not bounded from below. This led to the discovery of anti-particles, as, e.g., in the case of the electron, the positron.

To derive an explicit representation of the resolvent  $(A_0 - \lambda)^{-1}$  for  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$ , one uses that (3.3) implies the relation

$$(A_0 - \lambda)(A_0 + \lambda) = \left(-\Delta + m^2 - \lambda^2\right) I_{N_2}$$

where  $-\Delta$  is the free Laplace operator defined on dom  $(-\Delta) = H^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . This implies

$$(A_0 - \lambda)^{-1} = \left( -i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0 + \lambda I_N \right) (-\Delta + m^2 - \lambda^2)^{-1} I_N.$$
(3.6)

Using the well-known form of the resolvent of  $-\Delta$ , one finds that  $(A_0 - \lambda)^{-1}$  is an integral operator in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . In order to describe its integral kernel  $G_{\lambda,d}(x-y)$ , we write  $K_j$  for the modified Bessel functions of the second kind and

$$k(\lambda) = \sqrt{\lambda^2 - m^2}$$
 and  $\zeta(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda + m}{k(\lambda)} = \frac{\lambda + m}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 - m^2}};$  (3.7)

here  $\sqrt{z}$  is chosen for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, \infty)$  such that  $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{z} > 0$ . For  $d \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  the integral kernel  $G_{\lambda, d}$  is explicitly given by

$$G_{\lambda,1}(x) = \frac{i}{2} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|} \begin{pmatrix} \zeta(\lambda) & \operatorname{sgn}(x) \\ \operatorname{sgn}(x) & \zeta(\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$
  

$$G_{\lambda,2}(x) = \frac{k(\lambda)}{2\pi} K_1 \left( -ik(\lambda)|x| \right) \frac{\sigma \cdot x}{|x|} + \frac{1}{2\pi} K_0 \left( -ik(\lambda)|x| \right) \left( \lambda I_2 + m\sigma_3 \right), \qquad (3.8)$$
  

$$G_{\lambda,3}(x) = \left( \lambda I_4 + m\alpha_0 + (1 - ik(\lambda)|x|) \frac{i(\alpha \cdot x)}{|x|^2} \right) \frac{1}{4\pi |x|} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|};$$

cf. (Albeverio et al., 2005; Behrndt et al., 2020; Thaller, 1992; Weidmann, 2003).

Next, we consider external potential fields in which the particle moves. Since we are studying relativistic effects, these potentials must be invariant under Lorentz transformations. For a given scalar potential  $\Phi_s$  the quantity  $V = \Phi_s \alpha_0$  is Lorentz invariant as shown in Thaller (1992). This motivates the following formal ansatz for the Dirac operator corresponding to a relativistic quantum particle with spin 1/2 moving in an external field consisting of a scalar potential  $\Phi_s$ :

$$A = A_0 + \Phi_s \alpha_0.$$

Of particular interest are strongly localized fields, i.e., fields that only have an effect in a small neighborhood of a set  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  with measure 0. An example of a field of this kind is the quark

confinement inside a nucleon in the form of the MIT bag model. To describe these strongly localized fields it is often a useful simplification to replace them by  $\delta$ -potentials which are supported on  $\Sigma$ . In the following we consider a Lorentz scalar potential which is strongly localized in a neighborhood of the hypersurface  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and approximate it by a  $\delta$ -potential supported on  $\Sigma$ . Applying the formal ansatz above for the Dirac operator yields the formal expression

$$A_{\tau} = A_0 + \tau \alpha_0 \delta_{\Sigma} \tag{3.9}$$

with interaction strength  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . In the following sections, this operator will be defined in a mathematically rigorous way and its properties will be studied. Recall from (3.5) that the free Dirac operator  $A_0$  is not bounded from below and hence the usual form approach to construct self-adjoint realizations with singular perturbations is not applicable.

## 4 One-dimensional Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar $\delta$ -point interactions

In this section, one-dimensional Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -interactions supported on  $\Sigma = \{0\}$  will be investigated. The following results are well known, see for instance (Pankrashkin & Richard, 2014), but are presented here for the sake of completeness. In particular, the methods used and the results obtained in the discussion will serve as a motivation for the analysis of two- and three-dimensional Dirac operators in the following section.

As already mentioned in the previous section, it is well known that the free Dirac operator

$$A_0 f = -i\sigma_1 \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} f + m\sigma_3 f, \quad \mathrm{dom} \ A_0 = H^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{C}^2),$$

is self-adjoint in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{C}^2)$ . In accordance with (3.9), Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -interactions will now be considered, which are represented by the formal expression

$$A_{\tau} = A_0 + \tau \sigma_3 \delta_{\Sigma}. \tag{4.1}$$

Here  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  corresponds to the constant interaction strength. Following the usual construction of self-adjoint realizations of the expression above as in Albeverio et al. (2005), one first defines the symmetric operator

$$Sf := -i\sigma_1 \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} f + m\sigma_3 f,$$
  
dom  $S := H_0^1 \left( (0, \infty); \mathbb{C}^2 \right) \oplus H_0^1 ((-\infty, 0); \mathbb{C}^2).$ 

It can be shown that the adjoint operator  $S^*$  acts in the same way as S, but has the larger domain

dom 
$$S^* = H^1((0,\infty); \mathbb{C}^2) \oplus H^1((-\infty,0); \mathbb{C}^2).$$

In the next step, self-adjoint extensions of S are defined by restricting  $S^*$  to a suitable domain of definition. This domain is characterized by imposing certain coupling conditions on  $\Sigma = \{0\}$ , which are found by a formal integration of the expression (4.1). In the present case the coupling conditions

for a spinor  $f = (f_1, f_2)$  have the form

$$i (f_2(0+) - f_2(0-)) = \frac{\tau}{2} (f_1(0+) + f_1(0-)),$$
  

$$i (f_1(0+) - f_1(0-)) = -\frac{\tau}{2} (f_2(0+) + f_2(0-)).$$
(4.2)

Next, we define the two linear mappings  $\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1 : \text{dom } S^* \to \mathbb{C}^2$  by the assignments

$$\Gamma_0 f := -i \begin{pmatrix} f_2(0+) - f_2(0-) \\ f_1(0+) - f_1(0-) \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma_1 f := \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} f_1(0+) + f_1(0-) \\ f_2(0+) + f_2(0-) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.3)

Using these boundary maps one obtains the equivalent representation

$$\Gamma_0 f + \tau \sigma_3 \Gamma_1 f = 0, \qquad f \in \text{dom } S^*,$$

of the coupling conditions in (4.2).

**Proposition 4.1.** The triplet  $\{\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma_0, \Gamma_1\}$  is an ordinary boundary triplet for  $S^*$ .

*Proof.* Integration by parts and a straightforward computation shows that the abstract Green's identity in Definition 2.1 is valid. If one defines the function

$$f(x) = \frac{i}{2} \binom{c_2}{c_1} \operatorname{sgn}(x) e^{-|x|} + \binom{c_3}{c_4} e^{-|x|}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

for a given vector  $(c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4) \in \mathbb{C}^4$ , then  $f \in \text{dom } S^*$  and the surjectivity of the mapping  $(\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1)^\top$ : dom  $S^* \to \mathbb{C}^4$  follows. This shows (ii) in Definition 2.1. Finally, to show that Definition 2.1 (iii) holds, notice that the restriction  $A_0 = S^* \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0$  corresponds to the free Dirac operator. Hence, it follows that the triplet is an ordinary boundary triplet.

Using the ordinary boundary triplet from Proposition 4.1, one can now define the operator

$$A_{\tau} = S^* \upharpoonright \ker(\Gamma_0 + \tau \sigma_3 \Gamma_1),$$

which is interpreted as the realization of the formal expression (4.1) on the basis of the coupling conditions (4.2). Due to  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  it follows immediately that  $A_{\tau}$  is a self-adjoint operator in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{C}^2)$ ; see the discussion before Theorem 2.3 with  $\vartheta = -\tau^{-1}\sigma_3$ , which is self-adjoint.

Next we derive an explicit resolvent formula for  $A_{\tau}$  and characterize its spectrum. For this purpose, the first step is to determine the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function of the ordinary boundary triplet from Proposition 4.1. To simplify the presentation, we first define the two functions

$$f_1(x) := \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \zeta(\lambda) \\ \operatorname{sgn}(x) \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|} \quad \text{and} \quad f_2(x) := \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{sgn}(x) \\ \zeta(\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|}$$

with  $k(\lambda)$  and  $\zeta(\lambda)$  defined as in (3.7). Note that these functions form a basis of ker $(S^* - \lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$  and are mapped to the basis vectors (1, 0) and (0, 1) of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  by  $\Gamma_0$ . A simple computation now shows that the  $\gamma$ -field is given by

$$\left[\gamma(\lambda)\left(\begin{array}{c}\xi_1\\\xi_2\end{array}\right)\right](x) = \xi_1 f_1(x) + \xi_2 f_2(x) = \frac{i}{2} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|} \left(\begin{array}{c}\zeta(\lambda) & \operatorname{sgn}(x)\\\operatorname{sgn}(x) & \zeta(\lambda)^{-1}\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c}\xi_1\\\xi_2\end{array}\right)$$

for  $(\xi_1,\xi_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , while the Weyl function corresponds to the matrix

$$M(\lambda) = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \zeta(\lambda) & 0\\ 0 & \zeta(\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that the x-dependent part in the representation of the  $\gamma$ -field corresponds to the Green's function of the free Dirac operator. This will remain valid also in the multi-dimensional considerations in the next section.

Using the above representations of the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function the next result follows from Theorem 2.3.

**Proposition 4.2.** For all  $\lambda \in \rho(A_{\tau}) \cap \rho(A_0)$  and  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{C}^2)$  the resolvent formula

$$(A_{\tau} - \lambda)^{-1} f(x) = (A_0 - \lambda)^{-1} f(x) + \frac{\tau}{2(2 + i\tau\zeta(\lambda))} \left( \begin{pmatrix} \zeta(\lambda) \\ -\operatorname{sgn}(\cdot) \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|\cdot|}, \overline{f} \right)_{L^2(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{C}^2)} \begin{pmatrix} \zeta(\lambda) \\ \operatorname{sgn}(x) \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|} - \frac{\tau\zeta(\lambda)}{2(2\zeta(\lambda) - i\tau)} \left( \begin{pmatrix} -\operatorname{sgn}(\cdot) \\ \zeta(\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|\cdot|}, \overline{f} \right)_{L^2(\mathbb{R};\mathbb{C}^2)} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{sgn}(x) \\ \zeta(\lambda)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} e^{ik(\lambda)|x|}$$

is valid for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Furthermore, the spectrum of  $A_{\tau}$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{\mathrm{ess}}(A_{\tau}) &= (-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty), \\ \sigma_{\mathrm{disc}}(A_{\tau}) &= \begin{cases} \emptyset, & \text{if } \tau \ge 0, \\ \left\{ \pm m \frac{4 - \tau^2}{4 + \tau^2} \right\}, & \text{if } \tau < 0. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Proof. From Theorem 2.3 (iii) the representation

$$(A_{\tau} - \lambda)^{-1} f = (A_0 - \lambda)^{-1} f - \gamma(\lambda) \tau \sigma_3 (I + \tau M(\lambda) \sigma_3)^{-1} \gamma(\overline{\lambda})^* f$$

follows for all  $\lambda \in \rho(A_{\tau}) \cap \rho(A_0)$ . After a simple calculation, using the above expressions for the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function, one obtains the claimed resolvent representation for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{C}^2)$ . The statement about the essential spectrum follows from the fact that both  $A_{\tau}$  and  $A_0$  are self-adjoint extensions of the operator S, which has the finite defect indices (2, 2). It remains to show the claim about the discrete spectrum. Notice first that

$$\sigma_{\rm disc}(A_{\tau}) \subseteq (-m,m) \subseteq \rho(A_0).$$

Thus, it follows from Theorem 2.3 (i) that  $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{disc}}(A_{\tau})$  if and only if  $0 \in \sigma(I + \tau M(\lambda)\sigma_3)$ . The eigenvalues of this matrix can be determined in an elementary way and one obtains the defining equations

$$2 + i\tau\zeta(\lambda) = 0$$
 or  $2\zeta(\lambda) - i\tau = 0$ .

If the first equality holds, then there exist an eigenvalue if and only if  $\tau < 0$  (due to the choice of the complex square root in (3.7)). This eigenvalue is then given by

$$\lambda_1 = m \frac{4 - \tau^2}{4 + \tau^2}.$$

If the second equation holds, then a similar reasoning yields the eigenvalue  $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1$ .
# 5 Boundary triplets for two- and three-dimensional Dirac operators with singular interactions

In this section we use boundary mappings similar to those in Section 4 to construct boundary triplets for Dirac operators with  $\delta$ -shell interactions in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . However, by translating the boundary mappings in (4.3) directly to the higher-dimensional setting one obtains a generalized or quasi boundary triplet instead of an ordinary boundary triplet. Before we can introduce the boundary triplets, some preliminaries related to function spaces and trace theorems are needed. For smooth surfaces similar boundary triplets and Sobolev spaces were used in (Behrndt et al., 2018; 2019; Behrndt & Holzmann, 2020; Holzmann, Ourmières-Bonafos & Pankrashkin, 2018) and (Behrndt et al., 2020; Benguria et al., 2017; Ourmières-Bonafos & Vega, 2018), respectively; it is one of the main goals of this note to extend these constructions to closed Lipschitz smooth hypersurfaces. As an application we prove that Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -shell interactions supported on general compact Lipschitz hypersurfaces are self-adjoint.

#### 5.1 Sobolev spaces for Dirac operators and related trace theorems

As in Section 3 the space dimension is denoted by  $d \in \{2, 3\}$  while  $N := 2^{[(d+1)/2]}$ , where  $[\cdot]$  is the Gauss bracket. Consequently, we have N = 2 for d = 2 and N = 4 for d = 3. Let  $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_d$  be the d + 1 anti-commuting  $\mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$ -valued Dirac matrices defined in Section 3.

Throughout this subsection let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded or unbounded Lipschitz domain with compact boundary and denote by  $\nu$  the unit normal vector field at  $\partial \Omega$ . For  $s \in [0, 1]$  we define the space

$$H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N) := \left\{ f \in H^s(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N) : (\alpha \cdot \nabla) f \in L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N) \right\},\$$

where the derivatives are understood in the distributional sense and  $H^s(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is the standard  $L^2$ based Sobolev space of order s of  $\mathbb{C}^N$ -valued functions, and we endow it with the norm

$$\|f\|_{H^{s}_{\alpha}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{2} := \|f\|_{H^{s}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{2} + \|(\alpha \cdot \nabla)f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^{N})}^{2}.$$

One can show with standard techniques that  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is a Hilbert space and that  $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is dense in  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ ; cf. (Benguria et al., 2017: Lemma 2.1), (Behrndt & Holzmann, 2020: Lemma 3.2), or (Ourmières-Bonafos & Vega, 2018: Proposition 2.12) for similar arguments. Moreover, with the help of the Fourier transform one sees that  $H^s_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  for any  $s \in [0, 1]$ . In the following lemma we state a trace theorem for  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$  when  $s \geq \frac{1}{2}$ .

**Lemma 5.1.** For  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  the map  $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{C}^N) \ni f \mapsto f|_{\partial\Omega}$  extends to a unique continuous operator  $\gamma_D : H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^{s-1/2}(\partial\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ .

*Proof.* For  $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  the claim follows from the classical trace theorem (McLean, 2000: Theorem 3.38), as  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is continuously embedded in  $H^s(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . For  $s = \frac{1}{2}$  we consider for  $s_1, s_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  the Hilbert space

$$H^{s_1,s_2}_{\Delta}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N) := \left\{ f \in H^{s_1}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N) : -\Delta f \in H^{s_2}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N) \right\}$$
(5.1)

endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|^2_{H^{s_1,s_2}_{\Delta}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N)} := \|f\|^2_{H^{s_1}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N)} + \|\Delta f\|^2_{H^{s_2}(\Omega;\mathbb{C}^N)}.$$

It follows from Gesztesy & Mitrea (2011: Lemma 3.1) that there exists a continuous trace map from  $H^{1/2,-1}_{\Delta}(\Omega)$  to  $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ . Since (3.3) implies  $(\alpha \cdot \nabla)^2 = -\Delta$  in the distributional sense,  $H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is continuously embedded in  $H^{1/2,-1}_{\Delta}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . This yields the claim also for  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ .

Using Lemma 5.1 as well as the fact that  $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is dense in  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , one can show for all  $f, g \in H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^N)$ ,  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ , the following integration by parts formula

$$\int_{\Omega} i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) f \cdot \overline{g} \, dx = \int_{\partial \Omega} i(\alpha \cdot \nu) f \cdot \overline{g} \, d\sigma + \int_{\Omega} f \cdot \overline{i(\alpha \cdot \nabla)g} \, dx.$$
(5.2)

In the construction of boundary triplets for Dirac operators with singular interactions some families of integral operators related to the fundamental solution  $G_{\lambda,d}$  given in (3.8) are required. Assume that  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a closed bounded Lipschitz hypersurface and that  $\Omega_+$  is the bounded Lipschitz domain with  $\partial \Omega_+ = \Sigma$ , let  $\nu$  be the unit normal vector field at  $\Sigma$  pointing outwards of  $\Omega_+$ , and let  $\Omega_- := \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \overline{\Omega_+}$ . We introduce the potential operator  $\Phi_{\lambda} : L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  for  $\lambda \notin (-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty)$  by

$$\Phi_{\lambda}\varphi(x) := \int_{\Sigma} G_{\lambda,d}(x-y)\varphi(y) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(y), \qquad \varphi \in L^{2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^{N}), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \Sigma,$$
(5.3)

and the strongly singular boundary integral operator  $C_{\lambda} : L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  by the following limit

$$\mathcal{C}_{\lambda}\varphi(x) := \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{\Sigma \backslash B(x,\varepsilon)} G_{\lambda,d}(x-y)\varphi(y) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(y), \qquad \varphi \in L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \ x \in \Sigma,$$
(5.4)

where  $B(x, \varepsilon)$  is the ball of radius  $\varepsilon$  centered at x. Both operators  $\Phi_{\lambda}$  and  $C_{\lambda}$  are well defined and bounded, see (Arrizabalaga, Mas & Vega, 2014: Lemma 3.3) and the references there. Moreover, for  $\lambda \in (-m, m)$  the operator  $C_{\lambda}$  is self-adjoint in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . In the next lemma we improve the mapping properties for  $\Phi_{\lambda}$ .

**Lemma 5.2.** For any  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0)$  the operator  $\Phi_{\lambda}$  gives rise to a bounded map

$$\Phi_{\lambda}: L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

*Proof.* Let  $SL(\mu) = (-\Delta - \mu)^{-1} \gamma'_D$  be the single layer potential for  $-\Delta - \mu$ , where  $\gamma'_D$  is the dual of the Dirichlet trace operator. Using that (3.3) implies  $(\alpha \cdot \nabla)^2 = \Delta$  in the distributional sense one gets

$$\Phi_{\lambda} = \left( -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + m\alpha_0 + \lambda I_N \right) \mathbf{SL} (\lambda^2 - m^2) I_N,$$

see also (3.6). Since

$$\operatorname{SL}(\lambda^2 - m^2) : L^2(\Sigma) \to H^{3/2,0}_{\Delta}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma)$$

is bounded, where  $H^{3/2,0}_{\Delta}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma)$  is defined by (5.1) (this follows, e.g., from (Gesztesy & Mitrea, 2009: Equation (2.127))), the claimed result follows.

Finally, we note that for  $\varphi \in L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  the trace of  $\Phi_\lambda \varphi$ , which is well defined by Lemmas 5.1 and Lemma 5.2, is given by

$$\gamma_D^{\pm} \Phi_\lambda \varphi = \mp \frac{i}{2} (\alpha \cdot \nu) \varphi + \mathcal{C}_\lambda \varphi, \tag{5.5}$$

where  $\gamma_D^{\pm}$  denotes the trace operator for  $\Omega_{\pm}$ ; this can be shown in the same way as in (Arrizabalaga, Mas & Vega, 2014: Lemma 3.3) or (Behrndt et al., 2020: Proposition 3.4).

## 5.2 Quasi boundary triplets and generalized boundary triplets for Dirac operators with singular interactions

In this subsection we follow ideas from Section 4 and introduce a family of quasi boundary triplets for Dirac operators; similar constructions can also be found in Behrndt et al. (2018) and Behrndt & Holzmann (2020). Let  $\Omega_+ \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain and set  $\Omega_- := \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \overline{\Omega_+}$ ,  $\Sigma := \partial \Omega_+ = \partial \Omega_-$ . We denote by  $\nu$  the unit normal vector field at  $\Sigma$  that is pointing outwards of  $\Omega_+$ . In the following we will often denote the restriction of a function f defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  onto  $\Omega_{\pm}$  by  $f_{\pm}$ .

We introduce for  $s \in [0, 1]$  the operators  $T^{(s)}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  by

$$T^{(s)}f := (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0)f_+ \oplus (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0)f_-,$$
  
dom  $T^{(s)} := H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega_+; \mathbb{C}^N) \oplus H^s_{\alpha}(\Omega_-; \mathbb{C}^N),$ 

and  $S := T^{(s)} \upharpoonright H_0^1(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , which is given more explicitly by

$$Sf = (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0)f, \qquad \text{dom } S = H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

The operator S is densely defined, closed, and symmetric. Using standard arguments and distributional derivatives one verifies that

$$S^* = T^{(0)}$$
 and  $(T^{(0)})^* = S$ .

Next, we introduce for  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  the mappings  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}, \Gamma_1^{(s)} : \text{dom } T^{(s)} \to L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  by

$$\Gamma_0^{(s)} f := i(\alpha \cdot \nu)(f_+|_{\Sigma} - f_-|_{\Sigma}) \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma_1^{(s)} f := \frac{1}{2}(f_+|_{\Sigma} + f_-|_{\Sigma}), \tag{5.6}$$

and note that  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}$  and  $\Gamma_1^{(s)}$  are well defined due to Lemma 5.1. In order to characterize the range of  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}$ , we introduce the space

$$H^s_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) := \left\{ \varphi \in L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) : (\alpha \cdot \nu) \varphi \in H^s(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \right\}$$

where  $H^s(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  denotes the standard Sobolev space on  $\Sigma$  of  $\mathbb{C}^N$ -valued functions. If  $\Sigma$  is  $C^{1,s+\varepsilon}$ smooth for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ , then  $H^s_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) = H^s(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , cf. (Behrndt, Holzmann & Mas, 2020: Lemma A.2).

In the following theorem we show that the mappings  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}$  and  $\Gamma_1^{(s)}$  in (5.6) give rise to a quasi boundary triplet for  $S^*$  and we compute the associated  $\gamma$ -field and Weyl function. Recall that  $A_0$ is the free Dirac operator defined in (3.4), and that  $\Phi_{\lambda}$  and  $C_{\lambda}$  are the mappings introduced in (5.3) and (5.4), respectively. **Theorem 5.3.** Let  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ . Then the following statements hold:

(i) The triplet  $\{L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \Gamma_0^{(s)}, \Gamma_1^{(s)}\}$  is a quasi boundary triplet for  $S^* = \overline{T^{(s)}}$  such that  $T^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)} = A_0$ , and one has

$$\operatorname{ran} \, \Gamma_0^{(s)} = H_\alpha^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$
(5.7)

In particular,  $\left\{L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \Gamma_0^{(1/2)}, \Gamma_1^{(1/2)}\right\}$  is a generalized boundary triplet.

(ii) For  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0) = \mathbb{C} \setminus ((-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty))$  the values  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)$  of the  $\gamma$ -field are given by

$$\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda) = \Phi_{\lambda} \upharpoonright H^{s-1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

Each  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)$  is a densely defined bounded operator from  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and an everywhere defined bounded operator from  $H^{s-1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  to  $H^s_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . Moreover,

$$\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^* : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

is compact.

(iii) For  $\lambda \in \rho(A_0) = \mathbb{C} \setminus ((-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty))$  the values  $M^{(s)}(\lambda)$  of the Weyl function are given by

$$M^{(s)}(\lambda) = \mathcal{C}_{\lambda} \upharpoonright H^{s-1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Each  $M^{(s)}(\lambda)$  is a densely defined bounded operator in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and a bounded everywhere defined operator from  $H^{s-1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  to  $H^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  be fixed. First, we show that  $\{L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \Gamma_0^{(s)}, \Gamma_1^{(s)}\}$  is a quasi boundary triplet. For this we note that  $\overline{T^{(s)}} = T^{(0)} = S^*$ , as  $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{\pm}}; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is dense in  $H^0_{\alpha}(\Omega_{\pm}; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , while the norm in  $H^0_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and the graph norm induced by  $T^{(0)}$  are equivalent. Next, we verify that Green's identity in Definition 2.1 (i) is fulfilled. For this let

$$f = f_+ \oplus f_-, \ g = g_+ \oplus g_- \in \text{dom } T^{(s)} = H^s_\alpha(\Omega_+; \mathbb{C}^N) \oplus H^s_\alpha(\Omega_-; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Then integration by parts (5.2) applied in  $\Omega_{\pm}$  yields

$$\left( \left( -i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0 \right) f_{\pm}, g_{\pm} \right)_{L^2(\Omega_{\pm};\mathbb{C}^N)} - \left( f_{\pm}, \left( -i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0 \right) g_{\pm} \right)_{L^2(\Omega_{\pm};\mathbb{C}^N)} \\ = \pm \left( -i(\alpha \cdot \nu) f_{\pm} |_{\Sigma}, g_{\pm} |_{\Sigma} \right)_{L^2(\Sigma:\mathbb{C}^N)},$$

where it is used that  $-\nu$  is the normal vector field pointing outwards of  $\Omega_-$ . By adding these two formulas for  $\Omega_+$  and  $\Omega_-$  one arrives at Green's identity.

Next, we show that  $T^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)} = A_0$ . As the free Dirac operator  $A_0$  is self-adjoint, this shows that  $T^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)}$  is self-adjoint. The inclusion  $A_0 \subset T^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)}$  is clear. To verify the converse inclusion, let  $f \in \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)}$ . Then Green's identity yields for any  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ 

$$\left(f, -i(\alpha \cdot \nabla)\varphi\right)_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d;\mathbb{C}^N)} = \left((T^{(s)} - m\alpha_0)f, \varphi\right)_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d;\mathbb{C}^N)}.$$
(5.8)

Hence,  $(\alpha \cdot \nabla) f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , which shows  $f \in H^s_\alpha(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) = \text{dom } A_0$ . Therefore, we conclude that  $T^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)} = A_0$  holds. It remains to prove that ran  $(\Gamma_0^{(s)}, \Gamma_1^{(s)})$  is dense in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \times L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . For this, we prove

$$\operatorname{ran}\left(\Gamma_{0}^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_{1}^{(s)}\right) = H_{\alpha}^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^{N})$$
(5.9)

and

$$\operatorname{can}\left(\Gamma_{1}^{(s)} \upharpoonright \ker \Gamma_{0}^{(s)}\right) = H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^{N}).$$
(5.10)

To establish the inclusion " $\subset$ " in (5.9) we note first that any function  $f \in \ker \Gamma_1^{(s)}$  satisfies the equality  $f_+|_{\Sigma} = -f_-|_{\Sigma}$ . One can show as in (5.8) that  $f_+ \oplus (-f_-) \in H^s_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and thus,  $f \in H^1(\Omega_+; \mathbb{C}^N) \oplus H^1(\Omega_-; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . Therefore, the definition of  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}$  yields the claimed inclusion. For the converse inclusion " $\supset$ " let  $\varphi \in H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . Choose  $f_{\pm} \in H^1(\Omega_{\pm}; \mathbb{C}^N)$  such that  $f_{\pm}|_{\Sigma} = \mp \frac{i}{2}(\alpha \cdot \nu)\varphi$ . Then  $f \in \ker \Gamma_1^{(s)}$  and  $\Gamma_0^{(s)}f = \varphi$ . Since this can be done for all functions  $\varphi \in H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , we have shown (5.9).

To verify (5.10) note that the inclusion " $\subset$ " follows from ker  $\Gamma_0^{(s)} = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and the definition of  $\Gamma_1^{(s)}$ . For the converse inclusion " $\supset$ " let  $\varphi \in H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . Choose  $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  such that  $f|_{\Sigma} = \varphi$ . Then  $f \in \ker \Gamma_0^{(s)}$  and  $\Gamma_1^{(s)} f = \varphi$ . Since this can be done for all  $\varphi \in H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , we have verified (5.10). Hence, we have shown that  $\{L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \Gamma_0^{(s)}, \Gamma_1^{(s)}\}$  is indeed a quasi boundary triplet for all  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ . Thus, except for formula (5.7), assertion (i) has been shown. Equation (5.7) will be proved together with items (ii) and (iii).

Next, we show that  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^*$  is compact for all s. For this purpose, recall that formula (2.2) implies that  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^* = \Gamma_1^{(s)}(A_0 - \overline{\lambda})^{-1}$ . Since  $(A_0 - \overline{\lambda})^{-1} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is bounded, we see that  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^*$  is actually independent of s and, furthermore, that

$$\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^* : L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

is also bounded. Since  $H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  is compactly embedded in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , the claimed compactness of  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda)^*$  follows.

The remaining assertions will be proved in three steps for various values of  $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ .

Step 1 for  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ . Consider for  $\varphi \in L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  the function  $f_{\lambda} := \Phi_{\lambda}\varphi$ , see (5.3). Then one has  $f_{\lambda} \in H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) = \text{dom } T^{(1/2)}$  by Lemma 5.2, and by (5.5) we get  $\Gamma_0^{(1/2)} f_{\lambda} = \varphi$ . Therefore, ran  $\Gamma_0^{(1/2)} = L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , which is (5.7) for  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ . Moreover, as  $G_{\lambda,d}$  in (3.8) is a fundamental solution for the Dirac equation, the definition of  $\Phi_{\lambda}$  shows that

$$(T^{(1/2)} - \lambda) f_{\lambda} = 0$$
 in  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma$ .

Consequently,  $\gamma^{(1/2)}(\lambda) = \Phi_{\lambda}$ . Finally, using the definition of  $\Gamma_1^{(1/2)}$  and (5.5), it follows that  $M^{(1/2)}(\lambda) = C_{\lambda}$  and thus,  $M^{(1/2)}(\lambda)$  is bounded in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . This shows all claims for  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ .

Step 2 for s = 1. First note that dom  $T^{(1)} = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , the definition of  $\Gamma_0^{(1)}$ , and (5.9) imply ran  $\Gamma_0^{(1)} = H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . As  $\{L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N), \Gamma_0^{(1)}, \Gamma_1^{(1)}\}$  is a restriction of the triplet for  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ , we deduce from the already shown results that

$$\gamma^{(1)}(\lambda) = \gamma^{(1/2)}(\lambda) \upharpoonright \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_0^{(1)} = \Phi_\lambda \upharpoonright H_\alpha^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

and

$$M^{(1)}(\lambda) = M^{(1/2)}(\lambda) \upharpoonright \operatorname{ran} \Gamma_0^{(1)} = \mathcal{C}_{\lambda} \upharpoonright H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

Using the closed graph theorem and the fact that  $H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  are boundedly embedded in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , respectively, one gets that

$$\gamma^{(1)}(\lambda): \mathrm{ran}\ \Gamma^{(1)}_0 = H^{1/2}_\alpha(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to \mathrm{dom}\ T^{(1)} = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

is bounded as well. The mapping properties of the trace map yield that also

$$M^{(1)}(\lambda): \operatorname{ran}\, \Gamma_0^{(1)} = H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to \operatorname{ran}\, \Gamma_1^{(1)} = H^{1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

is bounded. Hence, all claimed statements for s = 1 have been shown.

Step 3 for  $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ . First we note that an interpolation argument shows that

$$\Phi_{\lambda}: H^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^s_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) = \text{dom } T^{(s)}$$

is bounded. Together with (5.5) this implies that ran  $\Gamma_0^{(s)} = H_\alpha^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ , i.e., (5.7), holds for  $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ . Hence, we have  $\gamma^{(s)}(\lambda) = \Phi_\lambda \upharpoonright H_\alpha^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and the trace theorem shows that

$$M^{(s)}(\lambda) = \Gamma_1^{(s)} \gamma^{(s)}(\lambda) : H^{s-1/2}_{\alpha}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) \to H^{s-1/2}(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$$

is bounded. Thus, all claims are proved.

In the next theorem we study the self-adjointness of a Dirac operator  $A_{\tau}$  with a Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -shell interaction of strength  $\tau \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , which is formally given by  $-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0 + \tau \alpha_0 \delta_{\Sigma}$ . In a similar way as in (4.2) we define the operator  $A_{\tau}$  by

$$A_{\tau} := T^{(1/2)} \upharpoonright \ker \left( \Gamma_0^{(1/2)} + \tau \alpha_0 \Gamma_1^{(1/2)} \right).$$

The operator  $A_{\tau}$  is given more explicitly by

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\tau}f &= (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0)f_+ \oplus (-i(\alpha \cdot \nabla) + m\alpha_0)f_-,\\ \text{dom } A_{\tau} &= \left\{ f \in H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N) : i(\alpha \cdot \nu)(f_+|_{\Sigma} - f_-|_{\Sigma}) + \frac{\tau}{2}\alpha_0(f_+|_{\Sigma} + f_-|_{\Sigma}) = 0 \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

This operator was investigated under various assumptions in Behrndt et al. (2019; 2020); Holzmann, Ourmières-Bonafos & Pankrashkin (2018); Pizzichillo & Van Den Bosch (2019). In the following theorem it is shown, for the first time, that  $A_{\tau}$  is self-adjoint when the interaction support  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is an arbitrary closed bounded Lipschitz smooth hypersurface.

**Theorem 5.4.** For any  $\tau \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  the operator  $A_{\tau}$  is self-adjoint in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  and the following statements hold:

(i) For  $\lambda \in \rho(A_{\tau})$  the resolvent of  $A_{\tau}$  is given by

$$(A_{\tau} - \lambda)^{-1} = (A_0 - \lambda)^{-1} - \Phi_{\lambda} \left(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\lambda}\right)^{-1} \Phi_{\overline{\lambda}}^*.$$

- (ii)  $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(A_{\tau}) = \sigma_{\text{ess}}(A_0) = (-\infty, -m] \cup [m, \infty).$
- (iii)  $\sigma_{\text{disc}}(A_{\tau})$  is finite and  $\lambda \in \sigma_{\text{disc}}(A_{\tau})$  if and only if  $0 \in \sigma_{p}(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_{0} + C_{\lambda})$ .

**Remark 5.5.** By Theorem 5.4 the operator  $A_{\tau}$  is self-adjoint defined on a subset of

$$H^{1/2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N).$$

If  $\Sigma$  is a smooth hypersurface, then it is known that  $A_{\tau}$  is self-adjoint and

dom 
$$A_{\tau} \subset H^1(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N),$$

see (Behrndt et al., 2020; Holzmann, Ourmières-Bonafos & Pankrashkin, 2018). However, for more general Lipschitz smooth hypersurfaces this smoothness in the operator domain can not be expected, as was shown explicitly in (Le Treust & Ourmières-Bonafos, 2018: Remark 1.9) in the two-dimensional setting for polygonal domains.

*Proof of Theorem 5.4.* In order to show the self-adjointness of  $A_{\tau}$ , it suffices, according to Theorem 2.3 and the discussion following it, to verify that

$$\operatorname{ran}\left(\Gamma_{1}^{(1/2)}(A_{0}\pm i)^{-1}\right) = H^{1/2}(\Sigma;\mathbb{C}^{N}) \subset \operatorname{ran}\left(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_{0} + M_{\pm i}^{(1/2)}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{ran}\left(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_{0} + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i}\right).$$
(5.11)

In order to see this, we prove that  $\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + C_{\pm i}$  is bijective in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . First, we note that  $\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + C_{\pm i}$  is injective, as otherwise the symmetric operator  $A_{\tau}$  would have the non-real eigenvalue  $\pm i$  by Theorem 2.3. Next, by (2.3) we have that

$$\mathcal{C}_{\pm i} = M^{(1/2)}(\pm i) = M^{(1/2)}(0) \pm i\gamma^{(1/2)}(0)^*\gamma^{(1/2)}(\pm i) = \mathcal{C}_0 + \mathcal{K}_{\pm i}$$

and note that  $\mathcal{K}_{\pm i} = \pm i \gamma^{(1/2)}(0)^* \gamma^{(1/2)}(\pm i)$  is compact in  $L^2(\Sigma; \mathbb{C}^N)$  due to Theorem 5.3 (ii). Next, we compute

$$\left(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{\tau^2}I_N + \mathcal{C}_0^2 + \frac{1}{\tau}\left(\alpha_0\mathcal{C}_{\pm i} + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i}\alpha_0\right) + \mathcal{K}_{\pm i}^2 + \mathcal{C}_0\mathcal{K}_{\pm i} + \mathcal{K}_{\pm i}\mathcal{C}_0.$$

Since  $C_0$  is self-adjoint, the operator  $\frac{1}{\tau^2}I_N + C_0^2$  is a strictly positive self-adjoint operator and, hence, it is a Fredholm operator with index zero. Next, due to the anti-commutation relation (3.3) it is not difficult to see that

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \left( \alpha_0 \mathcal{C}_{\pm i} + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i} \alpha_0 \right) = \frac{1}{\tau} (2m \pm 2i\alpha_0) \mathcal{S}(-m^2 - 1),$$

where  $S(\nu)$  is the single layer boundary integral operator for  $-\Delta - \nu$ . According to (Holzmann & Unger, 2020: Lemma 3.4) the latter operator is compact. Since also  $\mathcal{K}_{\pm i}$  is compact, we conclude that  $(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i})^2$  must be a Fredholm operator with index zero. Since  $\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i}$  is injective, we conclude that  $(\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i})^2$  is also injective and hence, as it has Fredholm index zero, it must be surjective. Therefore  $\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + \mathcal{C}_{\pm i}$  is also bijective. This shows that (5.11) holds and thus,  $A_{\tau}$  is self-adjoint.

Next, by Theorem 2.3 the claimed resolvent formula in (i) holds for  $\lambda = \pm i$ . The map  $\frac{1}{\tau}\alpha_0 + C_{\pm i}$  is bijective and, hence, boundedly invertible. This, the mapping properties of  $\Phi_{\pm i}$  and  $\Phi_{\pm i}^*$  from Theorem 5.3, and Kreĭn's resolvent formula imply assertion (ii). The resolvent formula in item (i) for  $\lambda \in \rho(A_{\tau})$  is now a direct consequence of Theorem 2.3. The fact that  $\sigma_{\text{disc}}(A_{\tau})$  is finite can be

shown in the same way as in (Behrndt et al., 2020: Proposition 3.8), while the Birman-Schwinger principle in (iii) follows again directly from Theorem 2.3 and the representation of  $M^{(1/2)}(\lambda)$  from Theorem 5.3.

### References

Albeverio, S., Gesztesy, F., Høegh-Krohn, R. & Holden, H. (2005). *Solvable Models in Quantum Mechanics*. Second edition. Providence, RI: AMS Chelsea Publishing. (With an appendix by P. Exner.)

Arrizabalaga, N., Mas, A. & Vega, L. (2014). Shell interactions for Dirac operators. J. Math. Pures Appl. 102, 617–639.

Arrizabalaga, N., Mas, A. & Vega, L. (2015). Shell interactions for Dirac operators: on the point spectrum and the confinement. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 47, 1044–1069.

Arrizabalaga, N., Mas, A. & Vega, L. (2016). An isoperimetric-type inequality for electrostatic shell interactions for Dirac operators. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 344, 483–505.

Behrndt, J., Exner, P., Holzmann, M. & Lotoreichik, V. (2017). Approximation of Schrödinger operators with  $\delta$ -interactions supported on hypersurfaces. *Math. Nachr.* 290, 1215–1248.

Behrndt, J., Exner, P., Holzmann, M. & Lotoreichik, V. (2018). On the spectral properties of Dirac operators with electrostatic  $\delta$ -shell interactions. *J. Math. Pures Appl.* 111, 47–78.

Behrndt, J., Exner, P., Holzmann, M. & Lotoreichik, V. (2019). On Dirac operators in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with electrostatic and Lorentz scalar  $\delta$ -shell interactions. *Quantum Stud. Math. Found.* 6, 295–314.

Behrndt, J., Exner, P., Holzmann, M. & Lotoreichik, V. (2020). The Landau Hamiltonian with  $\delta$ -potentials supported on curves. *Rev. Math. Phys.* 32, 2050010, 51 pp.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2020). *Boundary Value Problems, Weyl Functions, and Differential Operators*. Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 108. Cham: Birkhäuser.

Behrndt, J. & Holzmann, M. (2020). On Dirac operators with electrostatic  $\delta$ -shell interactions of critical strength. J. Spectral Theory 10, 147–184.

Behrndt, J., Holzmann, M., Mantile, A. & Posilicano, A. (2020). Limiting absorption principle and scattering matrix for Dirac operators with  $\delta$ -shell interactions. *J. Math. Phys.* 61, 033504, 16 pp.

Behrndt, J., Holzmann, M. & Mas, A. (2020). Self-adjoint Dirac operators on domains in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Ann. Henri Poincaré 21, 2681–2735.

Behrndt, J., Holzmann, M., Ourmieres-Bonafos, T. & Pankrashkin, K. (2020). Two-dimensional Dirac operators with singular interactions supported on closed curves. *J. Funct. Anal.* 279, 108700, 47 pp.

Behrndt, J. & Langer, M. (2007). Boundary value problems for elliptic partial differential operators on bounded domains. *J. Funct. Anal.* 243, 536–565.

Behrndt, J. & Langer, M. (2012). Elliptic operators, Dirichlet-to-Neumann maps and quasi boundary triples. In *Operator Methods for Boundary Value Problems*. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 404, 121–160. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.

Behrndt, J., Langer, M. & Lotoreichik, V. (2013). Schrödinger operators with  $\delta$  and  $\delta'$ -potentials supported on hypersurfaces. *Ann. Henri Poincaré* 14, 385–423.

Behrndt, J., Langer, M., Lotoreichik, V. & Rohleder, J. (2018). Spectral enclosures for non-selfadjoint extensions of symmetric operators. *J. Functional Analysis* 275, 1808–1888.

Benguria, R.D., Fournais, S., Stockmeyer, E. & Van Den Bosch, H. (2017). Self-adjointness of two-dimensional Dirac operators on domains. *Ann. Henri Poincaré* 18, 1371–1383.

Brasche, J., Exner, P., Kuperin, Yu.A. & Šeba, P. (1994). Schrödinger operators with singular interactions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 184, 112–139.

Brüning, J., Geyler, V. & Pankrashkin, K. (2008). Spectra of self-adjoint extensions and applications to solvable Schrödinger operators. *Rev. Math. Phys.* 20, 1–70.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S. & Malamud, M.M. (2020). Generalized boundary triples, I. Some classes of isometric and unitary boundary pairs and realization problems for subclasses of Nevanlinna functions. *Math. Nachr.* 293, 1278–1327.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S., Malamud, M.M. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2000). Generalized resolvents of symmetric operators and admissibility. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology* 6, 24–55.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S., Malamud, M.M. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2006). Boundary relations and their Weyl families. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 358, 5351–5400.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S., Malamud, M.M. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2009). Boundary relations and generalized resolvents of symmetric operators. *Russ. J. Math. Phys.* 16, 17–60.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S., Malamud, M.M. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2012). Boundary triplets and Weyl functions. Recent developments. In *Operator Methods for Boundary Value Problems*. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 404, 161–220. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2001). Operator models associated with singular perturbations. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology* 7, 1–21.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2003). Singular perturbations of self-adjoint operators. *Math. Phys. Anal. Geom.* 6, 349–384.

Derkach, V.A. & Malamud, M.M. (1991). Generalized resolvents and the boundary value problems for Hermitian operators with gaps. *J. Funct. Anal.* 95, 1–95.

Derkach, V.A. & Malamud, M.M. (1995). The extension theory of Hermitian operators and the moment problem. *J. Math. Sci.* 73, 141–242.

Dittrich, J., Exner, P. & Šeba, P. (1989). Dirac operators with a spherically symmetric  $\delta$ -shell interaction. J. Math. Phys. 30, 2875–2882.

Exner, P. (2008). Leaky quantum graphs: a review. In *Analysis on Graphs and its Applications*. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 77, 523–564. Providence, RI: Amer. Math. Soc.

Exner, P. & Kovarik, H. (2015). *Quantum Waveguides*. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics. Cham: Springer.

Gesztesy, F. & Mitrea, M. (2009). Robin-to-Robin maps and Krein-type resolvent formulas for Schrödinger operators on bounded Lipschitz domains. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 191, 81–113.

Gesztesy, F. & Mitrea, M. (2011). A description of all self-adjoint extensions of the Laplacian and Kreĭn-type resolvent formulas on non-smooth domains. *J. Anal. Math.* 113, 53–172.

Gesztesy, F. & Šeba, P. (1987). New analytically solvable models of relativistic point interactions. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 13, 345–358.

Gorbachuk, V.I. & Gorbachuk, M.L. (1991). *Boundary Value Problems for Operator Differential Equations*. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series), vol. 48. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers Group. (Translated and revised from the 1984 Russian original.)

Herczyński, J. (1989). On Schrödinger operators with distributional potentials. J. Operator Theory 21, 273–295.

Holzmann, M., Ourmières-Bonafos, T. & Pankrashkin, K. (2018). Dirac operators with Lorentz scalar shell interactions. *Rev. Math. Phys.* 30, 1850013, 46 pp.

Holzmann, M. & Unger, G. (2020). Boundary integral formulations of eigenvalue problems for elliptic differential operators with singular interactions and their numerical approximation by boundary element methods. *Oper. Matrices* 14, 555–599.

Kato, T. (1995). *Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators*. Classics in Mathematics. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. (Reprint of the 1980 edition.)

Le Treust, L. & Ourmières-Bonafos, T. (2018). Self-adjointness of Dirac operators with infinite mass boundary conditions in sectors. *Ann. Henri Poincaré* 19, 1465–1487.

Mantile, A., Posilicano, A. & Sini, M. (2016). Self-adjoint elliptic operators with boundary conditions on not closed hypersurfaces. *J. Differential Equations* 261, 1–55.

Mas, A. & Pizzichillo, F. (2018). Klein's paradox and the relativistic  $\delta$ -shell interaction in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Anal. & PDE 11, 705–744.

McLean, W. (2000). *Strongly Elliptic Systems and Boundary Integral Equations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ourmières-Bonafos, T. & Vega, L. (2018). A strategy for self-adjointness of Dirac operators: application to the MIT bag model and  $\delta$ -shell interactions. *Publ. Mat.* 62, 397–437.

Pankrashkin, K. & Richard, S. (2014). One-dimensional Dirac operators with zero-range interactions: spectral, scattering, and topological results. *J. Math. Phys.* 55, 062305, 17 pp.

Pizzichillo, F. & Van Den Bosch, H. (2019). Self-adjointness of two dimensional Dirac operators on corner domains. *arXiv*:1902.05010.

Reed, M. & Simon, B. (1972). *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics I. Functional Analysis*. New York-London: Academic Press.

Reed, M. & Simon, B. (1975). *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II. Fourier Analysis, Self-adjointness*. New York-London: Academic Press.

Reed, M. & Simon, B. (1979). *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics III. Scattering Theory*. New York-London: Academic Press.

Reed, M. & Simon, B. (1978). *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics IV. Analysis of Operators*. New York-London: Academic Press.

Stollmann, P. & Voigt, J. (1996). Perturbation of Dirichlet forms by measures. *Potential Anal.* 5, 109–138.

Thaller, B. (1992). The Dirac Equation. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Weidmann, J. (2003). *Lineare Operatoren in Hilberträumen. Teil II*. Anwendungen. Mathematische Leitfäden. Stuttgart: B. G. Teubner. (In German.)

Institut für Angewandte Mathematik, Technische Universität Graz, Steyrergasse 30, 8010 Graz, Austria *E-mail address*: behrndt@tugraz.at, holzmann@math.tugraz.at, christian.stelzer09@gmail.at, and gstenzel@math.tugraz.at

#### THE ORIGINAL WEYL-TITCHMARSH FUNCTIONS AND SECTORIAL SCHRÖDINGER L-SYSTEMS

#### Sergey Belyi and Eduard Tsekanovskii

Dedicated with great pleasure to Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

#### 1 Introduction

This paper is part of an ongoing project studying the realizations of the original Weyl-Titchmarsh function  $m_{\infty}(z)$  and its linear-fractional transformation  $m_{\alpha}(z)$  associated with a Schrödinger operator in  $L_2[\ell, +\infty)$ . In this project the Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  and  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$  as well as  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  and  $1/m_{\alpha}(z)$  are being realized as impedance functions of L-systems with a dissipative Schrödinger main operator  $T_h$ , Im h > 0. For the sake of brevity we will refer to these L-systems as *Schrödinger L-systems*. The formal definition, exposition, and discussion of general and Schrödinger L-systems are presented in Sections 2 and 4. We capitalize on the fact that all Schrödinger L-systems  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  form a two-parametric family whose members are uniquely defined by a real-valued parameter  $\mu$  and a complex boundary value h of the main dissipative operator.

The focus of this paper is on the case when the realizing Schrödinger L-systems are based on a non-negative symmetric Schrödinger operator with deficiency indices (1, 1) that has an accretive state-space operator. It is known that in this case the impedance functions of such L-systems are Stieltjes functions, see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). Here we study the situation when the realizing Schrödinger L-systems are also sectorial and the Weyl-Titchmarsh functions  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  fall into *sectorial* classes  $S^{\beta}$  and  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  of Stieltjes functions that are discussed in detail in Section 3. Section 5 provides us with the general realization results (obtained in Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021)) for the functions  $-m_{\infty}(z)$ ,  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$ , and  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$ . It is shown that  $-m_{\infty}(z)$ ,  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$ , and  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  can be realized as impedance functions of Schrödinger L-systems  $\Theta_{0,i}$ ,  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$ , and  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$ , respectively.

The main results of the paper are contained in Section 6. There we apply the realization theorems from Section 5 to Schrödinger L-systems that are based on a non-negative symmetric Schrödinger operator to obtain additional properties. Utilizing the results presented in Section 4, we derive some new features of Schrödinger L-systems  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  whose impedance functions fall into particular sectorial classes  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  with  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  explicitly described. The results are given in terms of the parameter  $\alpha$  that appears in the definition of the function  $m_{\alpha}(z)$ . Moreover, the knowledge of the limit value  $m_{\infty}(-0)$  and the value of  $\alpha$  allow us to find the angle of sectoriality of the main and state-space operators of the realizing L-system. This, in turn, leads to connections to Kato's problem about sectorial extensions of sectorial forms.

The paper is concluded with an example that illustrates the main results and concepts. The present work is a further development of the theory of open physical systems conceived by M. Livšic (1966).

#### 2 Preliminaries

For a pair of Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  we denote by  $[\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2]$  the set of all bounded linear operators from  $\mathcal{H}_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . Let  $\dot{A}$  be a closed, densely defined, symmetric operator in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  with inner product (f, g), where  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$ . Any non-symmetric operator T in  $\mathcal{H}$  such that  $\dot{A} \subset T \subset \dot{A}^*$ will be called a *quasi-self-adjoint extension* of  $\dot{A}$ .

Consider the rigged Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_+ \subset \mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{H}_-$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_+ = \operatorname{dom} \dot{A}^*$  and

$$(f,g)_{+} = (f,g) + (\dot{A}^*f, \dot{A}^*g), \qquad f,g \in \text{dom } A^*,$$

see (Berezansky, 1968; Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be the *Riesz-Berezansky* operator  $\mathcal{R}$  from  $\mathcal{H}_-$  onto  $\mathcal{H}_+$  such that  $(f,g) = (f,\mathcal{R}g)_+$  and  $||\mathcal{R}g||_+ = ||g||_-$ , where  $f \in \mathcal{H}_+$ ,  $g \in \mathcal{H}_-$ , see (Berezansky, 1968; Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). Identifying the space conjugate to  $\mathcal{H}_\pm$  with  $\mathcal{H}_\pm$ , we get that if  $\mathbb{A} \in [\mathcal{H}_+, \mathcal{H}_-]$ , then  $\mathbb{A}^* \in [\mathcal{H}_+, \mathcal{H}_-]$ . An operator  $\mathbb{A} \in [\mathcal{H}_+, \mathcal{H}_-]$  is called a *self-adjoint bi-extension* of a symmetric operator  $\dot{A}$  if  $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{A}^*$  and  $\mathbb{A} \supset \dot{A}$ . Let  $\mathbb{A}$  be a self-adjoint bi-extension of  $\dot{A}$  and let the operator  $\hat{A}$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  be defined as follows

dom 
$$\hat{A} = \{ f \in \mathcal{H}_+ : \mathbb{A}f \in \mathcal{H} \}, \qquad \hat{A} = \mathbb{A} \upharpoonright \operatorname{dom} \hat{A}.$$

Then the operator  $\hat{A}$  is called a *quasi-kernel* of a self-adjoint bi-extension  $\mathbb{A}$ , see (Tsekanovskiĭ & Šmuljan, 1977) and (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Section 2.1). A self-adjoint bi-extension  $\mathbb{A}$  of a symmetric operator  $\hat{A}$  is called *t-self-adjoint* if its quasi-kernel  $\hat{A}$  is a self-adjoint operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Definition 4.3.1). An operator  $\mathbb{A} \in [\mathcal{H}_+, \mathcal{H}_-]$  is called a *quasi-self-adjoint bi-extension* of an operator T if  $\mathbb{A} \supset T \supset \hat{A}$  and  $\mathbb{A}^* \supset T^* \supset \hat{A}$ .

We will be mostly interested in the following type of quasi-self-adjoint bi-extensions. Let T be a quasi-self-adjoint extension of  $\dot{A}$  with nonempty resolvent set  $\rho(T)$ . A quasi-self-adjoint biextension  $\mathbb{A}$  of an operator T is called a (\*)-*extension* of T if Re  $\mathbb{A}$  is a t-self-adjoint bi-extension of  $\dot{A}$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Definition 3.3.5). In what follows we assume that  $\dot{A}$  has deficiency indices (1, 1). In this case it is known that every quasi-self-adjoint extension T of  $\dot{A}$  admits (\*)-extensions, see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). The description of all (\*)extensions via the Riesz-Berezansky operator  $\mathcal{R}$  can be found in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011: Section 4.3).

Recall that a linear operator T in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is called *nonnegative*, *accretive*, or *dissipative* if  $(Tf, f) \ge 0$ , Re  $(Tf, f) \ge 0$ , or Im  $(Tf, f) \ge 0$  for all  $f \in \text{dom } T$  respectively, see (Kato, 1966). An accretive operator T is called  $\beta$ -sectorial if there exists a value  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  such that

$$(\cot \beta)|\operatorname{Im}(Tf, f)| \le \operatorname{Re}(Tf, f), \quad f \in \operatorname{dom} T,$$
(2.1)

see (Kato, 1966). We say that the angle of sectoriality  $\beta$  is *exact* for a  $\beta$ -sectorial operator T if

$$\tan \beta = \sup_{f \in \operatorname{dom} T} \frac{|\operatorname{Im} (Tf, f)|}{\operatorname{Re} (Tf, f)}.$$

An accretive operator is called *extremal accretive* if it is not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$ . A (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}$  of T is called *accretive* if  $\operatorname{Re}(\mathbb{A}f, f) \geq 0$  for all  $f \in \mathcal{H}_+$ . This is equivalent to the real part  $\operatorname{Re} \mathbb{A} = (\mathbb{A} + \mathbb{A}^*)/2$  being a nonnegative t-self-adjoint bi-extension of  $\dot{A}$ .

The following definition is a "lite" version of the definition of an L-system given for a scattering L-system with a one-dimensional input-output space. It is tailored to the case when the symmetric operator of an L-system has deficiency indices (1, 1). The general definition of an L-system can be found in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011: Definition 6.3.4), see also (Belyi et al., 2006) for a non-canonical version.

Definition 2.1. An array

$$\Theta = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A} & K & 1\\ \mathcal{H}_{+} \subset \mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{H}_{-} & \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.2)

is called an L-system if:

- (1) T is a dissipative quasi-self-adjoint extension of a symmetric operator A with deficiency indices (1, 1);
- (2)  $\mathbb{A}$  is a (\*)-extension of *T*;
- (3) Im  $\mathbb{A} = KK^*$ , where  $K \in [\mathbb{C}, \mathcal{H}_-]$  and  $K^* \in [\mathcal{H}_+, \mathbb{C}]$ .

The operators T and  $\mathbb{A}$  in the above definition are called the *main* and *state-space operator*, respectively, of the L-system  $\Theta$ , and K is called a *channel operator*. It is easy to see that the operator  $\mathbb{A}$  of the system (2.2) is such that  $\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{A} = (\cdot, \chi)\chi$ ,  $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_-$  and pick  $Kc = c \cdot \chi$ ,  $c \in \mathbb{C}$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). The L-system  $\Theta$  in (2.2) is called *minimal* if the operator  $\dot{A}$  is a prime operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., if there does not exist a non-trivial reducing invariant subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  on which it induces a self-adjoint operator. Minimal L-systems of the form (2.2) with a one-dimensional input-output space were also considered in Belyi, Makarov & Tsekanovskiĭ (2015).

We associate with an L-system  $\Theta$  the function

$$W_{\Theta}(z) = I - 2iK^*(\mathbb{A} - zI)^{-1}K, \qquad z \in \rho(T),$$

which is called the *transfer function* of the L-system  $\Theta$ . We also consider the function

$$V_{\Theta}(z) = K^* (\operatorname{Re} \mathbb{A} - zI)^{-1} K, \qquad (2.3)$$

which is called the *impedance function* of an L-system  $\Theta$  of the form (2.2). The transfer function  $W_{\Theta}(z)$  of the L-system  $\Theta$  and the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$  of the form (2.3) are connected by the following relations valid for Im  $z \neq 0$  and  $z \in \rho(T)$ :

$$V_{\Theta}(z) = i[W_{\Theta}(z) + I]^{-1}[W_{\Theta}(z) - I],$$
  
$$W_{\Theta}(z) = (I + iV_{\Theta}(z))^{-1}(I - iV_{\Theta}(z)).$$

An L-system  $\Theta$  of the form (2.2) is called an *accretive L-system* if its state-space operator  $\mathbb{A}$  is accretive, that is  $\operatorname{Re}(\mathbb{A}f, f) \geq 0$  for all  $f \in \mathcal{H}_+$ , see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2008; Dovzhenko & Tsekanovskiĭ, 1990). An accretive L-system is called *sectorial* if the operator  $\mathbb{A}$  is sectorial, i.e., if it satisfies (2.1) for some  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  and all  $f \in \mathcal{H}_+$ .

#### 3 Sectorial classes and their realizations

A scalar function V(z) is called a *Herglotz-Nevanlinna function* if it is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , symmetric with respect to the real axis, i.e.,  $V(z)^* = V(\overline{z})$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , and satisfies the positivity condition  $\operatorname{Im} V(z) \ge 0$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ . The class of all Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions that can be realized as impedance functions of L-systems and connections with Weyl-Titchmarsh functions can be found in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011), Belyi, Makarov & Tsekanovskiĭ (2015), Derkach, Malamud & Tsekanovskiĭ (1989), Gesztesy & Tsekanovskiĭ (2000), and references therein. The following definition can be found in Kac & Krein (1974): a scalar Herglotz-Nevanlinna function V(z) is a *Stieltjes function* if it is holomorphic in  $\operatorname{Ext}[0, +\infty)$  and

$$\frac{\operatorname{Im}\left[zV(z)\right]}{\operatorname{Im}z} \ge 0.$$

It is known that a Stieltjes function V(z) admits the following integral representation

$$V(z) = \gamma + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dG(t)}{t-z},$$
(3.1)

where  $\gamma \geq 0$  and G(t) is a non-decreasing function on  $[0, +\infty)$  with  $\int_0^\infty \frac{dG(t)}{1+t} < \infty$ , see (Kac & Krein, 1974). We are going to focus on the *class*  $S_0(R)$  of scalar Stieltjes functions such that the measure G(t) in the representation (3.1) is of unbounded variation, see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2008; Dovzhenko & Tsekanovskiĭ, 1990; Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). It was shown in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011), see also (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2008), that such a function V(z) can be realized as the impedance function of an accretive L-system  $\Theta$  of the form (2.2) with a densely defined symmetric operator if and only if it belongs to the class  $S_0(R)$ .

Now we are going to consider sectorial subclasses of scalar Stieltjes functions introduced in Alpay & Tsekanovskiĭ (2000). Let  $\beta \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ . The sectorial subclass  $S^{\beta}$  of Stieltjes functions consists of all scalar functions V(z) for which

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{z_k V(z_k) - \bar{z}_l V(\bar{z}_l)}{z_k - \bar{z}_l} - (\cot \beta) V(\bar{z}_l) V(z_k) \right] h_k \bar{h}_l \ge 0,$$

for arbitrary sequences of complex numbers  $\{z_k\}$ ,  $\text{Im } z_k > 0$ , and  $\{h_k\}$ . For  $0 < \beta_1 < \beta_2 < \frac{\pi}{2}$ , we have

$$S^{\beta_1} \subset S^{\beta_2} \subset S,$$

where S denotes the class of all Stieltjes functions (which corresponds to the case  $\beta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ ). Let  $\Theta$  be a minimal L-system of the form (2.2) with a densely defined non-negative symmetric operator  $\dot{A}$ . Then the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$  defined by (2.3) belongs to the class  $S^{\beta}$  if and only if the operator A of the L-system  $\Theta$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial, see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011).

Let  $0 \leq \beta_1 < \frac{\pi}{2}$ ,  $0 < \beta_2 \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$ , and  $\beta_1 \leq \beta_2$ . We say that a scalar Stieltjes function V(z) belongs to the class  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  if

$$\tan \beta_1 = \lim_{x \to -\infty} V(x) \quad \text{and} \quad \tan \beta_2 = \lim_{x \to -0} V(x).$$

The following connection between the classes  $S^{\beta}$  and  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  can be found in Arlinskii, Belyi &

Tsekanovskii (2011). Let  $\Theta$  be an L-system of the form (2.2) with a densely defined non-negative symmetric operator  $\dot{A}$  with deficiency numbers (1, 1) and let  $\mathbb{A}$  be a  $\beta$ -sectorial (\*)-extension of T, then the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$ , defined by (2.3), belongs to the class  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$ ,  $\tan \beta_2 \leq \tan \beta$ . Moreover, the main operator T is  $(\beta_2 - \beta_1)$ -sectorial with the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta_2 - \beta_1$ . In the case when  $\beta$  is the exact angle of sectoriality of the operator T we have that  $V_{\Theta}(z) \in S^{0,\beta}$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). It also follows that, under this set of assumptions, the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$  is such that  $\gamma = 0$  in the representation (3.1).

Now let  $\Theta$  be an L-system of the form (2.2), where  $\mathbb{A}$  is a (\*)-extension of T and A is a closed densely defined non-negative symmetric operator with deficiency numbers (1, 1). It was proved in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011) that if the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$  belongs to the class  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  and  $\beta_2 \neq \pi/2$ , then  $\mathbb{A}$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial, where

$$\tan\beta = \tan\beta_2 + 2\sqrt{\tan\beta_1(\tan\beta_2 - \tan\beta_1)}.$$

Let  $\Theta$  be an L-system satisfying the above conditions. Then the operator  $\mathbb{A}$  is a  $\beta$ -sectorial (\*)extension of a  $\beta$ -sectorial operator T with the exact angle  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  if and only if  $V_{\Theta}(z) \in S^{0,\beta}$ , see Arlinskii, Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2011). Moreover, the angle  $\beta$  is determined by the formula

$$\tan\beta = \int_0^\infty \frac{dG(t)}{t},$$

where G(t) is the measure from integral representation (3.1) of  $V_{\Theta}(z)$ .

## 4 L-systems with Schrödinger operator and their impedance functions

Let  $\mathcal{H} = L_2[\ell, +\infty)$ ,  $\ell \ge 0$ , and let l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y, where q is a real locally summable function on  $[\ell, +\infty)$ . Suppose that the symmetric operator

$$\begin{cases} \dot{A}y = -y'' + q(x)y, \\ y(\ell) = y'(\ell) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

has deficiency indices (1,1). Let  $D^*$  be the set of functions y for which y and y' are locally absolutely continuous, and  $l(y) \in L_2[\ell, +\infty)$ . Provide the space  $\mathcal{H}_+ = \text{dom } \dot{A}^* = D^*$  with the scalar product

$$(y,z)_+ = \int_{\ell}^{\infty} \left( y(x)\overline{z(x)} + l(y)\overline{l(z)} \right) dx, \qquad y,z \in D^*$$

Let  $\mathcal{H}_+ \subset L_2[\ell, +\infty) \subset \mathcal{H}_-$  be the corresponding triplet of Hilbert spaces. Consider the operators

$$\begin{cases} T_h y = l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y, \\ hy(\ell) - y'(\ell) = 0, \end{cases} \text{ and } \begin{cases} T_h^* y = l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y, \\ \overline{h}y(\ell) - y'(\ell) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

where Im h > 0. Let  $\dot{A}$  be a symmetric operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1,1) generated by the differential expression l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y. Moreover, let  $\varphi_k(x, \lambda)$ , k = 1, 2, be

the solutions of the following Cauchy problems:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} l(\varphi_1) = \lambda \varphi_1, \\ \varphi_1(\ell, \lambda) = 0, \\ \varphi'_1(\ell, \lambda) = 1, \end{array} \right. \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{ \begin{array}{l} l(\varphi_2) = \lambda \varphi_2, \\ \varphi_2(\ell, \lambda) = -1, \\ \varphi'_2(\ell, \lambda) = 0. \end{array} \right.$$

It is well known that there exists a function  $m_{\infty}(\lambda)$  introduced by H. Weyl (1909; 1910) for which

$$\varphi(x,\lambda) = \varphi_2(x,\lambda) + m_\infty(\lambda)\varphi_1(x,\lambda)$$

belongs to  $L_2[\ell, +\infty)$ , see (Naimark, 1968; Levitan, 1987). The function  $m_{\infty}(\lambda)$  is not a Herglotz-Nevanlinna function, but  $-m_{\infty}(\lambda)$  and  $1/m_{\infty}(\lambda)$  are.

Now we shall construct an L-system based on a non-self-adjoint Schrödinger operator  $T_h$  with Im h > 0. It was shown in Arlinskii & Tsekanovskii (2004) and Arlinskii, Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2011) that the set of all (\*)-extensions of a non-self-adjoint Schrödinger operator  $T_h$  of the form (4.2) in  $L_2[\ell, +\infty)$  can be represented in the form

$$A_{\mu,h} y = -y'' + q(x)y - \frac{1}{\mu - h} [y'(\ell) - hy(\ell)] [\mu \delta(x - \ell) + \delta'(x - \ell)],$$

$$A_{\mu,h}^* y = -y'' + q(x)y - \frac{1}{\mu - \overline{h}} [y'(\ell) - \overline{h}y(\ell)] [\mu \delta(x - \ell) + \delta'(x - \ell)].$$
(4.3)

Moreover, the formulas (4.3) establish a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all (\*)extensions of a Schrödinger operator  $T_h$  of the form (4.2) and all  $\mu \in [-\infty, +\infty]$ . One can easily check that the (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}$  in (4.3) of the non-self-adjoint dissipative Schrödinger operator  $T_h$ , Im h > 0, of the form (4.2) satisfies the condition

$$\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{A}_{\mu,h} = \frac{\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h} - \mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}^*}{2i} = (\cdot, g_{\mu,h})g_{\mu,h}, \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$g_{\mu,h} = \frac{(\mathrm{Im}\,h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|\mu-h|} \left[ \mu \delta(x-\ell) + \delta'(x-\ell) \right].$$
(4.5)

Here  $\delta(x - \ell)$  and  $\delta'(x - \ell)$  are the delta-function and its derivative at the point  $\ell$ , respectively. Furthermore,

$$(y, g_{\mu,h}) = \frac{(\operatorname{Im} h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|\mu - h|} [\mu y(\ell) - y'(\ell)],$$

where  $y \in \mathcal{H}_+$ ,  $g \in \mathcal{H}_-$ , and  $\mathcal{H}_+ \subset L_2[\ell, +\infty) \subset \mathcal{H}_-$  is the triplet of Hilbert spaces discussed above.

It was also shown in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011) that the quasi-kernel  $\hat{A}_{\xi}$  of  $\operatorname{Re} \mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  is given by

$$\begin{cases} \hat{A}_{\xi}y = -y'' + q(x)y, \\ y'(\ell) = \xi y(\ell), \end{cases} \quad \text{where} \quad \xi = \frac{\mu \operatorname{Re} h - |h|^2}{\mu - \operatorname{Re} h}.$$
(4.6)

Let  $E = \mathbb{C}$  and  $K_{\mu,h}c = cg_{\mu,h}$ , where  $c \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then it is clear that

$$K_{\mu,h}^* y = (y, g_{\mu,h}), \qquad y \in \mathcal{H}_+,$$
(4.7)

and Im  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h} = K_{\mu,h} K_{\mu,h}^*$ , see (4.4). Therefore the array

$$\Theta_{\mu,h} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}_{\mu,h} & K_{\mu,h} & 1\\ \mathcal{H}_{+} \subset L_{2}[\ell, +\infty) \subset \mathcal{H}_{-} & \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.8)

is an L-system with the main operator  $T_h$ , Im h > 0, of the form (4.2), the state-space operator  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  of the form (4.3), and with the channel operator  $K_{\mu,h}$  of the form (4.7). It was established in Arlinskiĭ & Tsekanovskiĭ (2004) and Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011) that the transfer and impedance functions of  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  are

$$W_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = \frac{\mu - h}{\mu - \overline{h}} \frac{m_{\infty}(z) + \overline{h}}{m_{\infty}(z) + h}$$

and

$$V_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = \frac{(m_{\infty}(z) + \mu) \operatorname{Im} h}{(\mu - \operatorname{Re} h) m_{\infty}(z) + \mu \operatorname{Re} h - |h|^2},$$

respectively. It was shown in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011: Section 10.2) that if the parameters  $\mu$  and  $\xi$  are related as in (4.6), then the two L-systems  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  and  $\Theta_{\xi,h}$  of the form (4.8) have the following properties

$$W_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = -W_{\Theta_{\xi,h}}(z), \qquad V_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = -\frac{1}{V_{\Theta_{\xi,h}}(z)}, \qquad \text{with} \quad \xi = \frac{\mu \operatorname{Re} h - |h|^2}{\mu - \operatorname{Re} h}.$$

## 5 Realizations of $-m_{\infty}(z)$ , $1/m_{\infty}(z)$ , and $m_{\alpha}(z)$

It is known that the original Weyl-Titchmarsh function  $m_{\infty}(z)$  has the property that  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  is a Herglotz-Nevanlinna function, see (Levitan, 1987; Naimark, 1968). The question whether  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  can be realized as the impedance function of a Schrödinger L-system is answered in the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.1** (Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021)). Let  $\dot{A}$  be a symmetric Schrödinger operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1, 1) in  $\mathcal{H} = L^2[\ell, \infty)$ . If  $m_{\infty}(z)$  is the Weyl-Titchmarsh function of  $\dot{A}$ , then the Herglotz-Nevanlinna function  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  can be realized as the impedance function of a Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  of the form (4.8) with  $\mu = 0$  and h = i.

Conversely, let  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  be a Schrödinger L-system of the form (4.8) with the symmetric operator A such that  $V_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = -m_{\infty}(z)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Then the parameters  $\mu$  and h defining  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  are given by  $\mu = 0$  and h = i.

A similar result was proved for the function  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$ .

**Theorem 5.2** (Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021)). Let  $\dot{A}$  be a symmetric Schrödinger operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1, 1) in  $\mathcal{H} = L^2[\ell, \infty)$ . If  $m_{\infty}(z)$  is the Weyl-Titchmarsh function of  $\dot{A}$ , then the Herglotz-Nevanlinna function  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$  can be realized as the impedance function of a Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  of the form (4.8) with  $\mu = \infty$  and h = i.

Conversely, let  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  be a Schrödinger L-system of the form (4.8) with the symmetric operator A such that  $V_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(z)}$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Then the parameters  $\mu$  and h defining  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  are given by  $\mu = \infty$  and h = i.

We note that both L-systems  $\Theta_{0,i}$  and  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$ , obtained in Theorems 5.1 and 5.2, share the same main operator

$$\begin{cases} T_i y = -y'' + q(x)y, \\ y'(\ell) = i y(\ell). \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

Now we recall the definition of the Weyl-Titchmarsh functions  $m_{\alpha}(z)$ . Let A be a symmetric operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1,1) generated by the differential expression l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y. Moreover, let  $\varphi_{\alpha}(x, z)$  and  $\theta_{\alpha}(x, z)$  be the solutions of the following Cauchy problems:

$$\begin{cases} l(\varphi_{\alpha}) = z\varphi_{\alpha}, \\ \varphi_{\alpha}(\ell, z) = \sin \alpha, \\ \varphi_{\alpha}'(\ell, z) = -\cos \alpha, \end{cases} \text{ and } \begin{cases} l(\theta_{\alpha}) = z\theta_{\alpha}, \\ \theta_{\alpha}(\ell, z) = \cos \alpha, \\ \theta_{\alpha}'(\ell, z) = \sin \alpha. \end{cases}$$

Then it is known that there exists a function  $m_{\alpha}(z)$ , analytic in  $\mathbb{C}_{\pm}$ , for which

$$\psi(x,z) = \theta_{\alpha}(x,z) + m_{\alpha}(z)\varphi_{\alpha}(x,z)$$
(5.2)

belongs to  $L_2[\ell, +\infty)$ , see (Danielyan, 1990; Naimark, 1968; Titchmarsh, 1962). It is easy to see that if  $\alpha = \pi$ , then  $m_{\pi}(z) = m_{\infty}(z)$ . The functions  $m_{\alpha}(z)$  and  $m_{\infty}(z)$  are connected by

$$m_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{\sin \alpha + m_{\infty}(z) \cos \alpha}{\cos \alpha - m_{\infty}(z) \sin \alpha},$$
(5.3)

see (Danielyan, 1990; Titchmarsh, 1962). We know that for any real  $\alpha$  the function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  is a Herglotz-Nevanlinna function, see (Naimark, 1968; Titchmarsh, 1962). Also, modifying (5.3) slightly, we obtain

$$-m_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{\sin \alpha + m_{\infty}(z) \cos \alpha}{-\cos \alpha + m_{\infty}(z) \sin \alpha} = \frac{\cos \alpha + \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(z)} \sin \alpha}{\sin \alpha - \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(z)} \cos \alpha}.$$
(5.4)

The following realization theorem for the Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  is similar to Theorem 5.1.

**Theorem 5.3** (Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021)). Let  $\dot{A}$  be a symmetric Schrödinger operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1, 1) in  $\mathcal{H} = L^2[\ell, \infty)$ . If  $m_{\alpha}(z)$  is the function of  $\dot{A}$  described in (5.2), then the Herglotz-Nevanlinna function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  can be realized as the impedance function of a Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  of the form (4.8) with

$$\mu = \tan \alpha \quad and \quad h = i. \tag{5.5}$$

Conversely, let  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  be a Schrödinger L-system of the form (4.8) with the symmetric operator  $\dot{A}$  such that

$$V_{\Theta_{\mu,h}}(z) = -m_{\alpha}(z),$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Then the parameters  $\mu$  and h defining  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  are given by (5.5).

In case  $\alpha = \pi$  we obtain  $\mu_{\alpha} = 0$ ,  $m_{\pi}(z) = m_{\infty}(z)$ , and the realizing Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{0,i}$ is described in Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021: Section 5). In case  $\alpha = \pi/2$ , then we obtain  $\mu_{\alpha} = \infty$ ,  $-m_{\alpha}(z) = 1/m_{\infty}(z)$ , and the realizing Schrödinger L-system is  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$ , see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2021: Section 5). Assuming that  $\alpha \in (0, \pi]$  and neither  $\alpha = \pi$  nor  $\alpha = \pi/2$ , we give the description of a Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{\mu_{\alpha},i}$  realizing  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  as follows:

$$\Theta_{\tan\alpha,i} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}_{\tan\alpha,i} & K_{\tan\alpha,i} & 1\\ \mathcal{H}_{+} \subset L_{2}[\ell, +\infty) \subset \mathcal{H}_{-} & \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.6)

where

$$\mathbb{A}_{\tan\alpha,i} y = l(y) - \frac{1}{\tan\alpha - i} [y'(\ell) - iy(\ell)] [(\tan\alpha)\delta(x-\ell) + \delta'(x-\ell)],$$

$$\mathbb{A}^*_{\tan\alpha,i} y = l(y) - \frac{1}{\tan\alpha + i} [y'(\ell) + iy(\ell)] [(\tan\alpha)\delta(x-\ell) + \delta'(x-\ell)],$$
(5.7)

and  $K_{\tan \alpha,i} c = c g_{\tan \alpha,i}, c \in \mathbb{C}$ , with

$$g_{\tan \alpha,i} = (\tan \alpha)\delta(x-\ell) + \delta'(x-\ell).$$

Also,

$$V_{\Theta_{\tan\alpha,i}}(z) = -m_{\alpha}(z),$$
  
$$W_{\Theta_{\tan\alpha,i}}(z) = \frac{\tan\alpha - i}{\tan\alpha + i} \cdot \frac{m_{\infty}(z) - i}{m_{\infty}(z) + i} = (-e^{2\alpha i}) \frac{m_{\infty}(z) - i}{m_{\infty}(z) + i}$$

The realization theorem for the Herglotz-Nevanlinna function  $1/m_{\alpha}(z)$  is similar to Theorem 5.2 and can be found in Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021).

## 6 Non-negative Schrödinger operators and sectorial L-systems

Now let us assume that  $\hat{A}$  is a densely defined non-negative symmetric operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1,1) generated by the differential expression l(y) = -y'' + q(x)y.

**Theorem 6.1** (Tsekanovskiĭ (1980; 1981; 1987)). Let  $\dot{A}$  be a nonnegative symmetric Schrödinger operator of the form (4.1) with deficiency indices (1,1) in  $\mathcal{H} = L^2[\ell, \infty)$  and let the operator  $T_h$  be given by (4.2). Then the following statements hold:

- (1) the operator A has more than one non-negative self-adjoint extension, i.e., the Friedrichs extension  $A_F$  and the Kreĭn-von Neumann extension  $A_K$  do not coincide, if and only if  $m_{\infty}(-0) < \infty$ ;
- (2) the operator  $T_h$ ,  $h = \bar{h}$ , coincides with the Kreĭn-von Neumann extension  $A_K$  if and only if  $h = -m_{\infty}(-0)$ ;
- (3) the operator  $T_h$  is accretive if and only if  $\operatorname{Re} h \ge -m_{\infty}(-0)$ ;
- (4) the operator  $T_h$ ,  $h \neq \bar{h}$ , is  $\beta$ -sectorial if and only if  $\operatorname{Re} h > -m_{\infty}(-0)$ ;
- (5) the operator  $T_h$ ,  $h \neq \bar{h}$ , is accretive, but not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  if and only if  $\operatorname{Re} h = -m_{\infty}(-0)$ ;
- (6) if the operator  $T_h$ , Im h > 0, is  $\beta$ -sectorial, then the exact angle  $\beta$  can be calculated via

$$\tan \beta = \frac{\operatorname{Im} h}{\operatorname{Re} h + m_{\infty}(-0)}.$$
(6.1)

For the remainder of this paper we assume that  $m_{\infty}(-0) < \infty$ . Then, according to Theorem 6.1 above, the operator  $T_h$ , Im h > 0, is accretive and/or sectorial, see also (Arlinskiĭ & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2009; Tsekanovskiĭ, 1980; 1992). It was shown in Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2011) that if  $T_h$ , Im h > 0, is an accretive Schrödinger operator of the form (4.2), then for all real  $\mu$  satisfying the following inequality

$$\mu \ge \frac{(\operatorname{Im} h)^2}{m_{\infty}(-0) + \operatorname{Re} h} + \operatorname{Re} h, \tag{6.2}$$

the formulas (4.3) define the set of all accretive (\*)-extensions  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  of the operator  $T_h$ . Moreover, an accretive (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  of a sectorial operator  $T_h$  with exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  also preserves the same exact angle of sectoriality if and only if  $\mu = +\infty$  in (4.3), see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2019: Theorem 3). Also,  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  is an accretive (\*)-extension of  $T_h$  that is not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  if and only if in (4.3)

$$\mu = \frac{(\operatorname{Im} h)^2}{m_{\infty}(-0) + \operatorname{Re} h} + \operatorname{Re} h,$$
(6.3)

see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2019: Theorem 4). An accretive operator  $T_h$  has a unique accretive (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\infty,h}$  if and only if  $\operatorname{Re} h = -m_{\infty}(-0)$ . Then this unique (\*)-extension has the form

$$A_{\infty,h}y = -y'' + q(x)y + [hy(\ell) - y'(\ell)] \,\delta(x - \ell),$$
  

$$A_{\infty,h}^* y = -y'' + q(x)y + [\overline{h}y(\ell) - y'(\ell)] \,\delta(x - \ell).$$
(6.4)

Now consider the functions  $m_{\alpha}(z)$  described by (5.2)-(5.3) and associated with the non-negative operator  $\dot{A}$  above. The parameter  $\alpha$  in the definition of  $m_{\alpha}(z)$  affects the L-system realizing  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$ as follows: if the non-negative symmetric Schrödinger operator satisfies  $m_{\infty}(-0) \ge 0$ , then the L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha, i}$  of the form (5.6) realizing the function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  is accretive if and only if

$$\tan \alpha \ge (m_{\infty}(-0))^{-1},$$
(6.5)

see (Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2021: Theorem 6.3). Note that if  $m_{\infty}(-0) = 0$  in (6.5), then  $\alpha = \pi/2$ and  $-m_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(z) = 1/m_{\infty}(z)$ . Also, from Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021: Theorem 6.2) we know that if  $m_{\infty}(-0) \ge 0$ , then  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$  is realized by an accretive system  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$ .

Having established criteria for an L-system realizing  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  to be accretive, we can look into more of its properties. There are two choices for an accretive L-system  $\Theta_{\tan\alpha,i}$ : it is either (1) *accretive sectorial* or (2) *accretive extremal*. In the case (1) the operator  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan\alpha,i}$  of the form (5.7) is  $\beta_1$ sectorial with some angle of sectoriality  $\beta_1$  that can only exceed the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta$  of  $T_i$ . In the case (2) the state-space operator  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan\alpha,i}$  is extremal (not sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$ ) and is a (\*)-extension of  $T_i$  that itself can be either  $\beta$ -sectorial or extremal. These possibilities were described in detail in Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021: Theorem 6.4). In particular, it was shown that for the accretive L-system  $\Theta_{\tan\alpha,i}$  realizing the function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  the following is true:

- (1) If  $m_{\infty}(-0) = 0$ , then there exists only one accretive L-system  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$  realizing  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$ . This L-system is extremal and its main operator  $T_i$  is extremal as well.
- (2) If  $m_{\infty}(-0) > 0$ , then  $T_i$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial for  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  and
  - (a) if  $\tan \alpha = 1/m_{\infty}(-0)$ , then  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is extremal;
  - (b) if  $\frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)} < \tan \alpha < +\infty$ , then  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha, i}$  is  $\beta_1$ -sectorial with  $\beta_1 > \beta$ ;
  - (c) if  $\tan \alpha = +\infty$ , then  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial.



**Figure 1.** Accretive L-systems  $\Theta_{\mu,i}$ .

Figure 1 above describes the dependence of the properties of L-systems realizing  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  on the value of  $\mu$  and, hence, on  $\alpha$ . The bold part of the real line depicts values of  $\mu = \tan \alpha$  that produce accretive L-systems  $\Theta_{\mu,i}$ .

Additional analytic properties of the functions  $-m_{\infty}(z)$ ,  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$ , and  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  were described in Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021: Theorem 6.5). It was proved there that under the current set of assumptions we have:

- (1) The function  $1/m_{\infty}(z)$  is a Stieltjes function if and only if  $m_{\infty}(-0) \ge 0$ .
- (2) The function  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  is never a Stieltjes function.<sup>†</sup>
- (3) The function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  given by (5.3) is a Stieltjes function if and only if

$$0 < \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)} \le \tan \alpha.$$

As the case that the realizing L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is accretive maximal does not require any further elaboration, we will now restrict ourselves to the case when it is accretive sectorial. To begin with, let  $\Theta$  be an L-system of the form (4.8), where  $\mathbb{A}$  is a (\*)-extension (4.3) of the accretive Schrödinger operator  $T_h$ . Here we summarize and list some known facts about possible accretivity and sectoriality of  $\Theta$ :

- The operator  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  of  $\Theta_{\mu,h}$  is accretive if and only if (6.2) holds, see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011).
- If an accretive operator  $T_h$ ,  $\operatorname{Im} h > 0$ , is  $\beta$ -sectorial, then (6.1) holds, see Theorem 5.1. Conversely, if  $\operatorname{Im} h > 0$  and  $\operatorname{Re} h > -m_{\infty}(-0)$ , then the operator  $T_h$  of the form (4.2) is  $\beta$ -sectorial and  $\beta$  is given by (6.1).
- The operator  $T_h$  is accretive but not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  if and only if the equality  $\operatorname{Re} h = -m_{\infty}(-0)$  holds.
- If Θ<sub>μ,h</sub> is such that μ = +∞, then V<sub>Θ∞,h</sub>(z) belongs to the class S<sup>0,β</sup>. In the case when μ ≠ +∞ we have V<sub>Θ<sub>μ,h</sub>(z) ∈ S<sup>β<sub>1</sub>,β<sub>2</sub></sup>, see (Belyi, 2011).
  </sub>
- The operator A<sub>µ,h</sub> is a β-sectorial (\*)-extension of the operator T<sub>h</sub> (with the same angle of sectoriality) if and only if µ = +∞ in (4.3), see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011; Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>It will be shown in an forthcoming paper that if  $m_{\infty}(-0) \ge 0$ , then the function  $-m_{\infty}(z)$  is actually an inverse Stieltjes function.

- If the operator  $T_h$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial with the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta$ , then it admits only one  $\beta$ -sectorial (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  with the same angle of sectoriality  $\beta$ . Consequently,  $\mu = +\infty$  and  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h} = \mathbb{A}_{\infty,h}$  has the form (6.4).
- A (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  of the operator  $T_h$  is accretive but not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  if and only if the value of  $\mu$  in (4.3) is defined by (6.3).

Note that it follows from the above that any  $\beta$ -sectorial operator  $T_h$  with the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$  admits only one accretive (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\mu,h}$  that is not  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$ . This extension takes the form (4.3) with  $\mu$  given by (6.3).

Now let us consider a function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  and a Schrödinger L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  of the form (5.6) that realizes it. According to Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021: Theorem 6.4 & Theorem 6.5) this L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is sectorial if and only if

$$\tan \alpha > \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}.\tag{6.6}$$

Furthermore, if the L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is assumed to be  $\beta$ -sectorial, then its impedance function  $V_{\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}}(z) = -m_{\alpha}(z)$  belongs to  $S^{\beta}$ . The following theorem provides more refined properties of  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  for this case.

**Theorem 6.2.** Let  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  be the accretive L-system of the form (5.6) realizing the function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$ associated with the non-negative operator  $\dot{A}$ , and let  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha,i}$  be a  $\beta$ -sectorial (\*)-extension of  $T_i$ defined by (5.1). Then the function  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  belongs to the class  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$ , where  $\tan \beta_2 \leq \tan \beta$ , and

$$\tan \beta_1 = \cot \alpha \quad and \quad \tan \beta_2 = \frac{\tan \alpha + m_\infty(-0)}{(\tan \alpha)m_\infty(-0) - 1}.$$
(6.7)

Moreover, the operator  $T_i$  is  $(\beta_2 - \beta_1)$ -sectorial with the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta_2 - \beta_1$ .

*Proof.* First recall from (5.3) that

$$-m_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{\sin \alpha + m_{\infty}(z) \cos \alpha}{-\cos \alpha + m_{\infty}(z) \sin \alpha} = \frac{\tan \alpha + m_{\infty}(z)}{(\tan \alpha)m_{\infty}(z) - 1}.$$
(6.8)

Since  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha, i}$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial, (6.6) holds and its impedance function  $V_{\Theta_{\tan \alpha, i}}(z) = -m_{\alpha}(z)$  belongs to  $S^{\beta}$  and to  $S^{\beta_1, \beta_2}$ . In order to prove (6.7), pass to the limits in (6.8)

$$\tan \beta_1 = \lim_{x \to -\infty} (-m_\alpha(x)) = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{\frac{\tan \alpha}{m_\infty(x)} + 1}{\tan \alpha - \frac{1}{m_\infty(x)}} = \cot \alpha,$$

where we used  $\lim_{x\to-\infty} m_{\infty}(x) = +\infty$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Section 10.3), and top  $\alpha + m_{\infty}(x)$ 

$$\tan \beta_2 = \lim_{x \to -0} (-m_\alpha(x)) = \frac{\tan \alpha + m_\infty(-0)}{(\tan \alpha)m_\infty(-0) - 1}.$$

In order to show the rest, we apply (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Theorem 9.8.4): if A is a  $\beta$ -sectorial (\*)-extension of a main operator T of an L-system  $\Theta$ , then the impedance function  $V_{\Theta}(z)$  belongs to the class  $S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$ ,  $\tan \beta_2 \leq \tan \beta$ , and T is  $(\beta_2 - \beta_1)$ -sectorial with the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta_2 - \beta_1$ . It can also be checked directly that (6.7) (under condition (6.6)) implies  $0 < \beta_2 - \beta_1 < \pi/2$  and, hence, the definition of  $(\beta_2 - \beta_1)$ -sectoriality applies correctly.

Now we state and prove the following.

**Theorem 6.3.** Let  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha, i}$  be an accretive L-system of the form (5.6) that realizes  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$ , where  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha, i}$  is a (\*)-extension of a  $\theta$ -sectorial operator  $T_i$  with exact angle of sectoriality  $\theta$ . Moreover, let  $\alpha_* \in (\arctan\left(\frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}\right), \frac{\pi}{2})$  be a fixed value that defines  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha_*, i}$  via (4.3), and assume that  $-m_{\alpha}(z) \in S^{\beta_1, \beta_2}$ . Then a (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha, i}$  of  $T_i$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial for any  $\alpha \in [\alpha_*, \pi/2)$  with

$$\tan \beta = \tan \beta_1 + 2\sqrt{\tan \beta_1 \tan \beta_2}, \qquad \tan \beta > \tan \theta.$$
(6.9)

Moreover, if  $\alpha = \pi/2$ , then

$$\beta = \beta_2 - \beta_1 = \theta = \arctan\left(\frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}\right)$$

*Proof.* First note that the conditions imply that  $\tan \alpha_* \in (\frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}, +\infty)$ . Thus, according to Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021: Theorem 6.4; part 2(c)) a (\*)-extension  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is  $\beta$ -sectorial for some  $\beta \in (0, \pi/2)$ . Then we can apply Theorem 6.2 to confirm that  $-m_{\alpha}(z) \in S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$ , where  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  are described by (6.7). The equality in (6.9) follows from Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2019: Theorem 8) applied to the L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  with  $\mu = \tan \alpha$ , see also (Arlinskii, Belyi & Tsekanovskii, 2011: Theorem 9.8.7). Since  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha,i}$  is a  $\beta$ -sectorial extension of a  $\theta$ -sectorial operator  $T_i$ , we have  $\tan \beta \geq \tan \theta$  with equality possible only when  $\mu = \tan \alpha = \infty$ , see (Arlinskii, Belyi & Tsekanovskii, 2011; Belyi & Tsekanovskii, 2019). Since we chose  $\alpha \in [\alpha_*, \pi/2)$ , it follows that  $\tan \alpha \neq \infty$  and, hence,  $\tan \beta > \tan \theta$ , which confirms the second part of (6.9).

If we assume that  $\alpha = \pi/2$ , then  $-m_{\alpha}(z) = 1/m_{\infty}(z)$  is realized by the L-system  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$  (see Theorem 5.2) that preserves the angle of sectoriality of its main operator  $T_i$ , see (Belyi & Tsekanovskii, 2021: Theorem 6.4) and Figure 1. Therefore,  $\beta = \theta$ . If we combine this fact with  $-m_{\alpha}(z) \in S^{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  and apply Theorem 6.2 we also obtain that  $\beta = \beta_2 - \beta_1$ . Finally, since  $T_i$  is  $\theta$ -sectorial, (6.1) yields  $\tan \theta = \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}$ .



**Figure 2.** Angle of sectoriality  $\beta$ . Here  $\alpha_0 = \arctan\left(\frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)}\right)$ .

Note that Theorem 6.3 provides us with a value  $\beta$  which serves as a universal angle of sectoriality for the entire indexed family of (\*)-extensions  $\mathbb{A}_{\tan \alpha,i}$  of the form (5.6) as depicted in Figure 2. That figure clearly shows that if  $\alpha = \pi/2$ , then  $\tan \beta = \tan \theta$ .

### 7 Example

We conclude this paper with a simple illustration. Consider the differential expression with the Bessel potential

$$l_{\nu} = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \frac{\nu^2 - 1/4}{x^2}, \qquad x \in [1, \infty),$$

in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H} = L^2[1,\infty)$  and assume that  $\nu > 0$ . The minimal symmetric operator  $\dot{A}$  in

$$\begin{cases} \dot{A} y = -y'' + \frac{\nu^2 - 1/4}{x^2} y, \\ y(1) = y'(1) = 0, \end{cases}$$

has defect numbers (1, 1). Let  $\nu = 3/2$ . It is known that in this case

$$m_{\infty}(z) = -\frac{iz - \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{z} - \frac{3}{2}i}{\sqrt{z} + i} - \frac{1}{2} = \frac{\sqrt{z} - iz + i}{\sqrt{z} + i} = 1 - \frac{iz}{\sqrt{z} + i}$$

and  $m_{\infty}(-0) = 1$ , see (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011). The minimal symmetric operator then becomes

$$\begin{cases} \dot{A}y = -y'' + \frac{2}{x^2}y, \\ y(1) = y'(1) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(7.1)

The main operator  $T_h$  of the form (4.2) is written for h = i as

$$\begin{cases} T_i y = -y'' + \frac{2}{x^2}y, \\ y'(1) = i y(1). \end{cases}$$
(7.2)

It will be shared by the whole family of L-systems realizing the functions  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  described by (5.2)-(5.3). This operator is accretive and  $\beta$ -sectorial due to  $\operatorname{Re} h = 0 > -m_{\infty}(-0) = -1$ . Its exact angle of sectoriality is given by

$$\tan \beta = \frac{\operatorname{Im} h}{\operatorname{Re} h + m_{\infty}(-0)} = \frac{1}{0+1} = 1 \quad \text{or} \quad \beta = \frac{\pi}{4},$$

see (6.1). A family of L-systems  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  of the form (5.6) that realizes  $-m_{\alpha}(z)$  described by (5.2)–(5.4) as

$$-m_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{(\sqrt{z} - iz + i)\cos\alpha + (\sqrt{z} + i)\sin\alpha}{(\sqrt{z} - iz + i)\sin\alpha - (\sqrt{z} + i)\cos\alpha}$$

was constructed in Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021). According to Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021: Theorem 6.3) the L-systems  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  in (5.6) are accretive if

$$1 = \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(-0)} \le \tan \alpha < +\infty.$$

Using Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021: Theorem 6.4; part (2c)), we get that the realizing L-system  $\Theta_{\tan \alpha,i}$  in (5.6) preserves the angle of sectoriality and becomes  $\frac{\pi}{4}$ -sectorial if  $\mu = \tan \alpha = +\infty$  or  $\alpha = \pi/2$ . Therefore the L-system

$$\Theta_{\infty,i} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} & K_{\infty,i} & 1\\ \mathcal{H}_+ \subset L_2[1,+\infty) \subset \mathcal{H}_- & \mathbb{C} \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y = -y'' + \frac{2}{x^2}y - [y'(1) - iy(1)]\delta(x-1),$$
  
$$\mathbb{A}_{\infty,i}^* y = -y'' + \frac{2}{x^2}y - [y'(1) + iy(1)]\delta(x-1),$$

and  $K_{\infty,i}c = cg_{\infty,i}, c \in \mathbb{C}$ , with  $g_{\infty,i} = \delta(x-1)$ , realizes  $-m_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(z) = 1/m_{\infty}(z)$ . Furthermore,

$$V_{\Theta_{\infty,i}}(z) = -m_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(z) = \frac{1}{m_{\infty}(z)} = \frac{\sqrt{z}+i}{\sqrt{z}-iz+i},$$

$$W_{\Theta_{\infty,i}}(z) = (-e^{\pi i})\frac{m_{\infty}(z)-i}{m_{\infty}(z)+i} = \frac{(1-i)\sqrt{z}-iz+1+i}{(1+i)\sqrt{z}-iz-1+i}.$$
(7.3)

This L-system  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$  is clearly accretive according to Belyi & Tsekanovskii (2021: Theorem 6.2), which can also be independently confirmed by direct evaluation

$$(\operatorname{Re} \mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y, y) = \|y'(x)\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\|y(x)/x\|_{L^2}^2 \ge 0.$$

Moreover, according to Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ (2021: Theorem 6.4), see also (Arlinskiĭ, Belyi & Tsekanovskiĭ, 2011: Theorem 9.8.7), the L-system  $\Theta_{\infty,i}$  is  $\frac{\pi}{4}$ -sectorial. Taking into account that  $(\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y, y) = |y(1)|^2$ , see formula (4.5), we obtain inequality (2.1) with  $\beta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ , that is  $(\operatorname{Re} \mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y, y) \ge |(\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y, y)|$ , or

$$||y'(x)||_{L^2}^2 + 2||y(x)/x||_{L^2}^2 \ge |y(1)|^2.$$

In addition, we have shown that the  $\beta$ -sectorial form  $(T_i y, y)$  defined on dom  $T_i$  can be extended to the  $\beta$ -sectorial form  $(\mathbb{A}_{\infty,i} y, y)$  defined on  $\mathcal{H}_+ = \text{dom } \dot{A}^*$ , see (7.1)–(7.2), having the exact angle of sectoriality  $\beta = \pi/4$  (i.e., exact for both forms). A general problem of extending sectorial sesquilinear forms to sectorial ones was mentioned by T. Kato (1966). It can be easily seen that the function  $-m_{\frac{\pi}{2}}(z)$  in (7.3) belongs to the sectorial class  $S^{0,\frac{\pi}{4}}$  of Stieltjes functions.

#### References

Alpay, D. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2000). Interpolation theory in sectorial Stieltjes classes and explicit system solutions. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 314, 91–136.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu., Belyi, S. & Tsekanovskiĭ E. (2011). *Conservative Realizations of Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions*. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 217. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag.

Arlinskiĭ, Yu. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2004). Linear systems with Schrödinger operators and their transfer functions. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 149, 47–77.

Arlinskii, Yu. & Tsekanovskii, E. (2009). M. Krein's research on semi-bounded operators, its contemporary developments, and applications. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 190, 65–112.

Belyi, S. (2012). Sectorial Stieltjes functions and their realizations by L-systems with Schrödinger operator. *Math. Nachr.* 285, 1729–1740.

Belyi, S., Hassi, S., de Snoo, H.S.V. & Tsekanovskii, E. (2006). A general realization theorem for matrix-valued Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 419, 331–358.

Belyi, S., Makarov, K.A. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2015). Conservative L-systems and the Livšic function. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology* 21, 104–133.

Belyi, S. & Tsekanovskii, E. (2008). Stieltjes like functions and inverse problems for systems with Schrödinger operator. *Oper. Matrices* 2, 265–296.

Belyi, S. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2019). On sectorial L-systems with Schrödinger operator. *Differential Equations, Mathematical Physics, and Applications. Selim Grigorievich Krein Centennial, CONM* 734, 59-76.

Belyi, S. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2021). On realization of the original Weyl-Titchmarsh functions by Schrödinger L-systems. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 15, paper 11, 36 pp.

Berezansky, Yu. (1968). *Expansion in Eigenfunctions of Self-adjoint Operators*. Transl. Math. Monographs vol. 17. Providence: AMS.

Danielyan, A.A. & Levitan, B.M. (1990). On the asymptotic behaviour of the Titchmarsh-Weyl m-function. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.* 54, 469–479. (In Russian.)

Derkach, V., Malamud, M.M. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1989). Sectorial extensions of positive operators. *Ukrainian Mat. J.* 41, 151–158. (In Russian.)

Dovzhenko, I. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1990). Classes of Stieltjes operator-functions and their conservative realizations. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 311, 18–22.

Gesztesy, F. & Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (2000). On matrix-valued Herglotz functions. *Math. Nachr.* 218, 61–138.

Kac, I.S. & Krein, M.G. (1974). *R*-functions – analytic functions mapping the upper halfplane into itself. *Amer. Math. Soc. Transl.* 2, 103, 1–18.

Kato, T. (1966). Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Levitan, B.M. (1987). Inverse Sturm-Liouville problems. Zeist: VSP.

Livšic, M.S. (1966). Operators, Oscillations, Waves. Moscow: Nauka.

Naimark, M.A. (1968). Linear Differential Operators II. New York: F. Ungar Publ.

Titchmarsh, E.C. (1962). *Eigenfunction Expansions Associated with Second-Order Differential Equations. Part I*, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1980). Non-self-adjoint accretive extensions of positive operators and theorems of Friedrichs-Krein-Phillips. *Funct. Anal. Appl.* 14, 156–157.

Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1981). Friedrichs and Krein extensions of positive operators and holomorphic contraction semigroups. *Funct. Anal. Appl.* 15, 308–309.

Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1987). Characteristic function and sectorial boundary value problems. *Research on geometry and math. analysis, Proceedings of Mathematical Institute, Novosibirsk* 7, 180–194.

Tsekanovskiĭ, E. (1992). Accretive extensions and problems on Stieltjes operator-valued functions relations. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 59, 328–347.

Tsekanovskiĭ, E. & Šmuljan, Yu.L. (1977). The theory of bi-extensions of operators on rigged Hilbert spaces. Unbounded operator colligations and characteristic functions. *Russ. Math. Surv.* 32, 73–131.

Weyl, H. (1909). Über gewöhnliche lineare Differentialgleichugen mit singulären Stellen und ihre Eigenfunktionen. *Nachr. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen*, 37–63.

Weyl, H. (1910). Über gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen mit Singularitäten und die zugehörigen Entwicklungen willkürlicher Funktionen. *Math. Ann.* 68, 220–269.

Department of Mathematics, Troy University, Troy, AL 36082, USA *E-mail address*: sbelyi@troy.edu

Department of Mathematics, Niagara University, Lewiston, NY 14109, USA *E-mail address*: tsekanov@niagara.edu

## $\mathcal{PT}\text{-}\mathsf{SYMMETRIC}$ HAMILTONIANS AS COUPLINGS OF DUAL PAIRS

#### Volodymyr Derkach, Philipp Schmitz, and Carsten Trunk

Dedicated to our friend and colleague Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

#### 1 Introduction

In the seminal paper (Bender & Boettcher, 1998) a new view of quantum mechanics was proposed. This new view differs from the old one in that the restriction on the Hamiltonian to be Hermitian is relaxed: now the Hamiltonian is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric. Here  $\mathcal{P}$  is parity and  $\mathcal{T}$  is time reversal. Since 1998,  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric Hamiltonians have been analyzed intensively by many authors. In Mostafazadeh (2002)  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetry was embedded into the more general mathematical framework of pseudo-Hermiticity or, what is the same, self-adjoint operators in Kreĭn spaces, see (Langer & Tretter, 2004; Azizov & Trunk, 2012; Hassi & Kuzhel, 2013; Leben & Trunk, 2019). For a general introduction to  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric quantum mechanics we refer to the overview paper of Mostafazadeh (2010) and to the books of Moiseyev (2011) and Bender (2019).

A prominent class consists of the  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric Hamiltonians

$$H := \frac{1}{2}p^2 - (iz)^{N+2},$$

where N is a positive integer, see (Bender, Brody & Jones, 2002). The associated eigenvalue problem is defined on a contour  $\Gamma$  in the complex plane which is contained in a specific area in the complex plane, the so-called Stokes wedges, see (Bender & Boettcher, 1998),

$$-y''(z) - (iz)^{N+2}y(z) = \lambda y(z), \quad z \in \Gamma,$$
(1.1)

where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  is the eigenvalue parameter. Recall that a *Stokes wedge*  $S_k$ , k = 0, ..., N + 3, is an open sector in the plane with vertex zero,

$$S_k := \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} : -\frac{N+2}{2N+8}\pi + \frac{2k-2}{4+N}\pi < \arg(z) < -\frac{N+2}{2N+8}\pi + \frac{2k}{4+N}\pi \right\},\$$

see (Bender et al., 2006). The boundary of  $S_k$  consists of two rays from the origin, the so-called *Stokes lines*.  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetry forces  $\Gamma$  to lie in two Stokes wedges, which are symmetric with respect to the imaginary axis.

In Mostafazadeh (2005) the contour  $\Gamma$  in equation (1.1) was parameterized by a real parameter. In Bender et al. (2006) and in Jones & Mateo (2006) this approach was extended to different parameterizations and contours. Here we choose, for simplicity,  $\Gamma$  to be a wedge-shaped contour,

$$\Gamma := \{ x e^{i\phi \operatorname{sgn} x} : x \in \mathbb{R} \},$$
(1.2)

for some angle  $\phi \in (-\pi/2, \pi/2)$ , see Figure 1.



**Figure 1.** The complex contour  $\Gamma$ .

Let  $z : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  parameterize  $\Gamma$  via  $z(x) := xe^{i\phi \operatorname{sgn} x}$ . Then y solves (1.1) for  $z \neq 0$  if and only if the pair of functions  $u_+$  and  $u_-$ , given by  $u_{\pm}(x) := y(z(x)), x \in \mathbb{R}_{\pm}$ , solves

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-}[u_{-}] = \lambda u_{-}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}_{-}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_{+}[u_{+}] = \lambda u_{+}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}_{+}, \tag{1.3}$$

where the differential expressions  $a_{\pm}$  are given by

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}[u_{\pm}] = -e^{\pm 2i\phi}u_{\pm}'' - (ix)^{N+2}e^{\pm i(N+2)\phi}u_{\pm}.$$
(1.4)

In what follows we assume that  $\Gamma$  lies in Stokes wedges and then, by Leben & Trunk (2019), the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  are in the limit-point case at  $\pm \infty$  according to the classification in Brown et al. (1999), which is a refinement of the classification in Sims (1957). We mention, that the limit-circle case can be treated in a similar way as in Azizov & Trunk (2010; 2012).

The theory of  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetry claims that the main object, the Hamiltonian, commutes under the joint action of the parity  $\mathcal{P}$  and the time reversal  $\mathcal{T}$ ,

$$(\mathcal{P}f)(x) := f(-x), \qquad (\mathcal{T}f)(x) := \overline{f(x)}. \tag{1.5}$$

The time reversal  $\mathcal{T}$  applied to the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  gives rise to new differential expressions  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm} = \mathcal{T}\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}\mathcal{T}$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}_{\pm}$ 

$$\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}[v_{\pm}] = -e^{\pm 2i\phi}v_{\pm}'' - (-ix)^{N+2}e^{\mp i(N+2)\phi}v_{\pm}.$$
(1.6)

In Section 3 we introduce the minimal operators  $A_{\pm}$  and  $B_{\pm}$  associated with  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ and show that

$$\langle A_{\pm}f,g\rangle_{\pm} = \langle f,B_{\pm}g\rangle_{\pm}, \quad \text{for all } f \in \text{dom } A_{\pm}, g \in \text{dom } B_{\pm}.$$
 (1.7)

Here  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\pm}$  stands for the usual inner products in the Hilbert spaces  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ . Condition (1.7) shows that the pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  form dual pairs, see Section 2.1 for details. An extension theory for dual pairs based on the boundary triple technique was developed by Malamud & Mogilevskiĭ (2002). This is a generalization of the boundary triple approach to the extension theory of symmetric operators which was developed by Calkin (1939); Kočhubeĭ (1975); Gorbachuk & Gorbachuk (1991); Derkach & Malamud (1991), and others. For recent developments of the method of boundary triples and its application to the extension theory of differential operators, see the monographs by Derkach & Malamud (2017) and by Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo (2020).

Following this approach, we construct in Theorem 3.1 boundary triples for dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$ and  $(A_-, B_-)$ . As our interest is focused on the Hamiltonian in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and not on the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$ , which are defined on the semi-axes, we extend the coupling method for symmetric operators from Derkach et al. (2000) to the case of dual pairs and create a new dual pair (A, B) of operators defined on  $\mathbb{R}$ . This dual pair (A, B) is called the coupling of the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$ , see Theorem 2.5 and Definition 2.6 below.

We show that the operator  $\mathcal{PT}$  intertwines the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{PT}A_+ = A_-\mathcal{PT}$$
 and  $\mathcal{PT}B_+ = B_-\mathcal{PT}$ 

Due to our construction of the coupling, these relations imply that the operator A is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric

$$\mathcal{PTA} = A\mathcal{PT}.$$

Moreover, the operator A turns out to be  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric in the Kreĭn space  $(\mathfrak{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$  with the fundamental symmetry  $\mathcal{P}$  in  $\mathfrak{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . In Leben & Trunk (2019) it was shown that the extension  $H_0$  of A, defined as a restriction of the adjoint  $A^+$  to the domain

dom 
$$H_0 = \{ u_+ \oplus u_- \in \text{dom } A^+ : u_+(0) - u_-(0) = e^{-2i\phi} u'_+(0) - e^{2i\phi} u'_-(0) = 0 \},\$$

is a  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint operator in the Kreĭn space  $(\mathfrak{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$ . Here  $A^+$  stands for the adjoint with respect to the Kreĭn space inner product  $[\cdot, \cdot]$ . In Theorem 3.2 below, which is the main result of this note, we find a one-parameter family  $\{H_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}}$  of  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint extensions of A in the Kreĭn space  $(\mathfrak{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$  with domain

dom 
$$H_{\alpha} = \left\{ u_{+} \oplus u_{-} \in \text{dom } A^{+} : u_{+}(0) - u_{-}(0) = 0, e^{-2i\phi}u'_{+}(0) - e^{2i\phi}u'_{-}(0) = \alpha u_{+}(0) \right\}.$$

Theorem 3.2 is based on the abstract construction of the coupling (A, B) of two dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  in Theorem 2.5 and the description of all  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint extensions of A given in Theorem 2.14.

Summing up, the results presented here promote the use of boundary triple techniques for dual pairs and techniques from Sturm–Liouville theory for complex potentials in the study of  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric quantum mechanics. This is in line with Leben & Trunk (2019) and it is, to some extent, a surprise that in the physical literature the techniques presented here were never exploited. It is the aim of this paper to recall those techniques and, hence, provide a mathematically sound setting of the (nowadays) classical Bender–Boettcher-theory.

### 2 Coupling of dual pairs and parity

In this section we recall known facts about dual pairs of linear operators, their boundary triples and corresponding Weyl functions, and coupling from Malamud & Mogilevskiĭ (2002). However, our notations differ slightly from that paper; we mainly follow the notations of Baidiuk, Derkach & Hassi (2021).

Moreover, throughout this paper we use the following notations. By  $\mathbb{R}_+$  and  $\mathbb{R}_-$  we denote the set of all positive and negative reals, respectively. For  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\overline{z}$  denotes the complex conjugate of z. All operators in this paper are densely defined linear operators in some Hilbert spaces. For such operators T, we use the common notation dom T, ran T, and ker T for the domain, the range, and the null-space, respectively, of T. Moreover, as usual,  $\rho(T)$ ,  $\sigma(T)$ , and  $\sigma_p(T)$  stand for the resolvent set, the spectrum, and the point spectrum, respectively, of T. The inner product in a Hilbert space is usually denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  and the adjoint of the operator T by  $T^*$ . The set of all bounded and everywhere defined operators in a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H})$ .

#### 2.1 Dual pairs of linear operators and Weyl functions

**Definition 2.1.** A pair (A, B) of densely defined closed linear operators A and B in a Hilbert space  $(\mathfrak{H}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  is called a *dual pair*, if

$$\langle Af, g \rangle - \langle f, Bg \rangle = 0$$
 for all  $f \in \text{dom } A, g \in \text{dom } B.$  (2.1)

The equality (2.1) means that

$$A \subset B^*$$
 and  $B \subset A^*$ .

Clearly, if (A, B) is a dual pair, then (B, A) is also a dual pair.

**Definition 2.2.** Let (A, B) be a dual pair in a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , let  $\mathcal{H}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_2$  be auxiliary Hilbert spaces, and let

$$\Gamma^{B} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{1}^{B} \\ \Gamma_{2}^{B} \end{pmatrix} : \text{dom } B^{*} \to \mathcal{H}_{1} \times \mathcal{H}_{2} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma^{A} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{1}^{A} \\ \Gamma_{2}^{A} \end{pmatrix} : \text{dom } A^{*} \to \mathcal{H}_{1} \times \mathcal{H}_{2}$$
(2.2)

be linear operators. Then the triple  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  is called a *boundary triple for the dual pair* (A, B) if:

- (1) the mappings  $\Gamma^B$  and  $\Gamma^A$  in (2.2) are surjective;
- (2) the following identity holds for every  $f \in \text{dom } B^*$ ,  $g \in \text{dom } A^*$ ,

$$\langle B^*f,g\rangle - \langle f,A^*g\rangle = \langle \Gamma_1^Bf,\Gamma_1^Ag\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} - \langle \Gamma_2^Bf,\Gamma_2^Ag\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2}.$$

It is easily seen that if a triple  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  is a boundary triple for a dual pair (A, B), then the following identity also holds

$$\langle A^*g, f \rangle - \langle g, B^*f \rangle = \langle \Gamma_2^A g, \Gamma_2^B f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2} - \langle \Gamma_1^A g, \Gamma_1^B f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1}, \quad f \in \text{dom } B^*, g \in \text{dom } A^*, \quad (2.3)$$

and, hence, the triple

$$(\mathcal{H}_2 \times \mathcal{H}_1, (\Gamma^B)^T, (\Gamma^A)^T) := \left(\mathcal{H}_2 \times \mathcal{H}_1, \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_2^B \\ \Gamma_1^B \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_2^A \\ \Gamma_1^A \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
(2.4)

is a boundary triple for the dual pair (B, A). The boundary triple (2.4) is called *transposed* with respect to the boundary triple  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$ .

A linear operator  $\widetilde{A}$  is called a *proper extension* of a dual pair (A, B) if

$$A \subset \widetilde{A} \subset B^*.$$

The proper extension  $A_2$  of A is defined as the restriction of  $B^*$  to the set

dom 
$$A_2 = \{ f \in \text{dom } B^* : \Gamma_2^B f = 0 \}.$$
 (2.5)

Similarly, the proper extension  $B_1$  of B is defined as the restriction of  $A^*$  to the set

dom 
$$B_1 = \{ f \in \text{dom } A^* : \Gamma_1^A f = 0 \}.$$
 (2.6)

For every  $z \in \rho(A_2)$  the following decomposition holds

dom 
$$B^* = \text{dom } A_2 \dotplus \mathfrak{N}_z(B^*)$$
, where  $\mathfrak{N}_z(B^*) := \ker (B^* - zI)$ ,

and, consequently, the mapping  $\Gamma_2^B|_{\mathfrak{N}_z(B^*)} : \mathfrak{N}_z(B^*) \to \mathcal{H}_2$  is boundedly invertible, see (Malamud & Mogilevskiĭ, 2002) for details. In a similar way, for every  $z \in \rho(B_1)$  the following decomposition holds

dom 
$$A^* = \text{dom } B_1 \dotplus \mathfrak{N}_z(A^*)$$
, where  $\mathfrak{N}_z(A^*) := \ker (A^* - zI)$ 

and, hence, the mapping  $\Gamma_1^A|_{\mathfrak{N}_z(A^*)} : \mathfrak{N}_z(A^*) \to \mathcal{H}_1$  is boundedly invertible for  $z \in \rho(B_1)$ .

Moreover, in light of (2.3), (2.5), and (2.6), one has that  $B_1 = A_2^*$  and, hence, in particular the following identity holds

$$\rho(B_1) = \overline{\rho(A_2)}.$$

Definition 2.3. The operator functions

$$\gamma(z) := (\Gamma_2^B|_{\mathfrak{N}_z(B^*)})^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad M(z) := \Gamma_1^B (\Gamma_2^B|_{\mathfrak{N}_z(B^*)})^{-1}, \qquad z \in \rho(A_2),$$

are called the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function, respectively, of the dual pair (A, B), corresponding to the boundary triple  $\Pi = (\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$ .

Clearly, the operator functions

$$\gamma^{T}(z) := (\Gamma_{1}^{A}|_{\mathfrak{N}_{z}(A^{*})})^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad M^{T}(z) := \Gamma_{2}^{A}(\Gamma_{1}^{A}|_{\mathfrak{N}_{z}(A^{*})})^{-1}, \qquad z \in \rho(B_{1}),$$

are the  $\gamma$ -field and the Weyl function, respectively, of the dual pair (B, A), corresponding to the transposed boundary triple  $(\mathcal{H}_2 \times \mathcal{H}_1, (\Gamma^B)^T, (\Gamma^A)^T)$ , cf. (2.4). Notice that

$$M^T(z) = M(\overline{z})^*, \qquad z \in \rho(B_1) = \overline{\rho(A_2)}.$$

Let  $\Theta$  be a linear relation from  $\mathcal{H}_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , i.e., a subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2$ , see, e.g., Arens (1961). Consider the restriction  $A_{\Theta}$  of  $B^*$  to the subspace

dom 
$$A_{\Theta} = \{ f \in \text{dom } B^* : \Gamma^B f \in \Theta \}.$$

The following statement describes some spectral properties of the extension  $A_{\Theta}$ .

**Lemma 2.4.** Let (A, B) be a dual pair in a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , let  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  be a boundary triple for the dual pair (A, B), let M be the corresponding Weyl function, let  $\Theta$  be a linear relation from  $\mathcal{H}_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , and let  $z \in \rho(A_2)$ . Then the following statements hold:

(i)  $A_{\Theta}^*$  is the restriction of  $A^*$  to

dom 
$$A_{\Theta}^* = \{ f \in \text{dom } A^* : \Gamma^A f \in \Theta^* \}.$$

(ii)  $z \in \sigma_p(A_{\Theta})$  if and only if  $0 \in \sigma_p(I_{\mathcal{H}_2} - \Theta M(z))$ . In this case

$$\ker (A_{\Theta} - zI) = \gamma(z) \ker (I_{\mathcal{H}_2} - \Theta M(z)).$$

(iii)  $z \in \rho(A_{\Theta})$  if and only if  $0 \in \rho(I_{\mathcal{H}_2} - \Theta M(z))$ .

#### 2.2 Coupling of dual pairs

**Theorem 2.5.** Let  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  be dual pairs in Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_+$  and  $\mathfrak{H}_-$ , respectively, let  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^{A_{\pm}}, \Gamma^{B_{\pm}})$  be a boundary triple for the dual pair  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$ , and let  $M_{\pm}$  be the corresponding Weyl function. Denote by  $A^*$  and  $B^*$  the restrictions of the operators  $A^*_+ \oplus A^*_-$  and  $B^*_+ \oplus B^*_-$  to the domains

dom 
$$A^* = \{g_+ \oplus g_- : g_\pm \in \text{dom } A^*_\pm, \Gamma_1^{A_+} g_+ = \Gamma_1^{A_-} g_-\}$$
 (2.7)

and

dom 
$$B^* = \{ f_+ \oplus f_- : f_\pm \in \text{dom } B^*_\pm, \, \Gamma_2^{B_+} f_+ = \Gamma_2^{B_-} f_- \},$$
 (2.8)

respectively. Then the following statements hold:

(i) The operators A := (A\*)\* and B := (B\*)\* are restrictions of the operators B\* and A\*, respectively, to the domains

dom  $A = \{f_+ \oplus f_- : f_\pm \in \text{dom } B_\pm^*, \Gamma_2^{B_+} f_+ = \Gamma_2^{B_-} f_- = \Gamma_1^{B_+} f_+ + \Gamma_1^{B_-} f_- = 0\},$  (2.9) dom  $B = \{g_+ \oplus g_- : g_\pm \in \text{dom } A_\pm^*, \Gamma_1^{A_+} g_+ = \Gamma_1^{A_-} g_- = \Gamma_2^{A_+} g_+ + \Gamma_2^{A_-} g_- = 0\},$  (2.10) and (A, B) is a dual pair in  $\mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_-.$ 

(ii) The triple  $\Pi = (\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  with

$$\Gamma^{A}g = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{1}^{A_{+}}g_{+} \\ \Gamma_{2}^{A_{+}}g_{+} + \Gamma_{2}^{A_{-}}g_{-} \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \Gamma^{B}f = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{1}^{B_{+}}f_{+} + \Gamma_{1}^{B_{-}}f_{-} \\ \Gamma_{2}^{B_{+}}f_{+} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f \in \text{dom } B^{*},$$

is a boundary triple for the dual pair (A, B).

(iii) The Weyl function M(z) corresponding to the boundary triple  $\Pi = (\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  is given by

$$M(z) = M_{+}(z) + M_{-}(z), \qquad z \in \rho(A_{2}),$$
(2.11)

where  $A_2$  is defined by (2.5).

*Proof.* The proof of this theorem consists of three parts: (i) and (ii) are established in (a) and (b), and (iii) is proven in (c).
(a) Let  $f = f_+ \oplus f_- \in \text{dom}(B^*_+ \oplus B^*_-), g = g_+ \oplus g_- \in \text{dom}(A^*_+ \oplus A^*_-)$ . Then it follows from the equalities

$$\langle B_{+}^{*}f_{+}, g_{+} \rangle - \langle f_{+}, A_{+}^{*}g_{+} \rangle = \langle \Gamma_{1}^{B_{+}}f_{+}, \Gamma_{1}^{A_{+}}g_{+} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} - \langle \Gamma_{2}^{B_{+}}f_{+}, \Gamma_{2}^{A_{+}}g_{+} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{2}}, \langle B_{-}^{*}f_{-}, g_{-} \rangle - \langle f_{-}, A_{-}^{*}g_{-} \rangle = \langle \Gamma_{1}^{B_{-}}f_{-}, \Gamma_{1}^{A_{-}}g_{-} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} - \langle \Gamma_{2}^{B_{-}}f_{-}, \Gamma_{2}^{A_{-}}g_{-} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{2}},$$

that

$$\langle (B_{+}^{*} \oplus B_{-}^{*})f,g \rangle - \langle f, (A_{+}^{*} \oplus A_{-}^{*})g \rangle = \langle \Gamma_{1}^{B_{+}}f_{+}, \Gamma_{1}^{A_{+}}g_{+} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} - \langle \Gamma_{2}^{B_{+}}f_{+}, \Gamma_{2}^{A_{+}}g_{+} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{2}} + \langle \Gamma_{1}^{B_{-}}f_{-}, \Gamma_{1}^{A_{-}}g_{-} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{1}} - \langle \Gamma_{2}^{B_{-}}f_{-}, \Gamma_{2}^{A_{-}}g_{-} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{2}}.$$

$$(2.12)$$

The equality (2.9) follows from (2.12) since the mappings  $\Gamma^{A_{\pm}} : \text{dom } A_{\pm}^* \to \mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2$  are surjective. Similarly, (2.10) follows from (2.12) since the mappings  $\Gamma^{B_{\pm}} : \text{dom } B_{\pm}^* \to \mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2$  are surjective.

(b) Next, for  $f \in \text{dom } B^*$  and  $g \in \text{dom } A^*$  the equation (2.12) takes the form

$$\langle B^*f,g\rangle - \langle f,(A^*)g\rangle = \langle \Gamma_1^{B_+}f_+ + \Gamma_1^{B_-}f_-, \Gamma_1^{A_+}g_+ \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} - \langle \Gamma_2^{B_+}f_+, \Gamma_2^{A_+}g_+ + \Gamma_2^{A_-}g_- \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2}.$$

This proves that (A, B) is a dual pair in  $\mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_-$  and that (ii) holds.

(c) It follows from (2.8) that the  $\gamma$ -field of (A, B) corresponding to the boundary triple  $\Pi$  takes the form

$$\gamma(z) = \gamma_+(z) \oplus \gamma_-(z),$$

where  $\gamma_{\pm}(z)$  are  $\gamma$ -fields of  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$  corresponding to the boundary triples  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^{A_{\pm}}, \Gamma^{B_{\pm}})$ . Now formula (2.11) follows from the definition of the Weyl function, see Definition 2.3.

**Definition 2.6.** The dual pair (A, B) constructed in (2.9) and (2.10) is called the *coupling of the dual pairs*  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  relative to the triples

$$(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^{A_+}, \Gamma^{B_+})$$
 and  $(\mathcal{H}_1 \times \mathcal{H}_2, \Gamma^{A_-}, \Gamma^{B_-}).$ 

#### 2.3 Real dual pairs and real boundary triples

Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a *conjugation* (time reversal) operator in a Hilbert space  $(\mathfrak{H}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{T}$  is antilinear,  $\mathcal{T}^2 = I_{\mathfrak{H}}$ , and

$$\langle \mathcal{T}f, \mathcal{T}g \rangle = \langle g, f \rangle \text{ for all } f, g \in \mathfrak{H}$$

In what follows, we suppose that  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  coincide:  $\mathcal{H}_1 = \mathcal{H}_2 = \mathcal{H}$ .

**Definition 2.7.** Let  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $j_{\mathcal{H}}$  be conjugations in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ , respectively. A dual pair (A, B) in  $\mathfrak{H}$  is called  $\mathcal{T}$ -real if

$$\mathcal{T} \operatorname{dom} A = \operatorname{dom} B \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{T} A = B\mathcal{T}.$$
 (2.13)

A boundary triple  $(\mathcal{H}^2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  for (A, B) is called  $(j_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real if

$$j_{\mathcal{H}}\Gamma_1^B = \Gamma_2^A \mathcal{T}$$
 and  $j_{\mathcal{H}}\Gamma_2^B = \Gamma_1^A \mathcal{T}$ .

Observe that the conditions (2.13) are clearly equivalent to

$$\mathcal{T} \operatorname{dom} A^* = \operatorname{dom} B^*$$
 and  $\mathcal{T} A^* = B^* \mathcal{T}$ .

**Lemma 2.8.** Let (A, B) be a  $\mathcal{T}$ -real dual pair and let  $(\mathcal{H}^2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  be a  $(j_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real boundary triple for (A, B). Then the corresponding Weyl function M(z) satisfies the condition

$$M(z) = j_{\mathcal{H}} M(z)^* j_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad z \in \rho(A_2)$$

In what follows we consider a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  decomposed into an orthogonal sum

$$\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_- \tag{2.14}$$

of two subspaces  $\mathfrak{H}_{\pm}$  with conjugations  $\mathcal{T}_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H}_{\pm})$ . Then the orthogonal sum

$$\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_+ \oplus \mathcal{T}_- \tag{2.15}$$

is a conjugation in *H*.

**Theorem 2.9.** Let a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and a conjugation  $\mathcal{T}$  in  $\mathfrak{H}$  be such that (2.14) and (2.15) hold. Moreover, let  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$  be  $\mathcal{T}_{\pm}$ -real dual pairs in the Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_{\pm}$ . Finally, with  $j_{\mathcal{H}}$  a conjugation in  $\mathcal{H}$ , let  $(\mathcal{H}^2, \Gamma^{A_{\pm}}, \Gamma^{B_{\pm}})$  be  $(j_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real boundary triples for  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$ , and let

$$A_0 := A_+ \oplus A_- \quad and \qquad B_0 := B_+ \oplus B_-.$$

Then the following statements hold:

(i) The dual pair  $(A_0, B_0)$  is  $\mathcal{T}$ -real and the boundary triple  $((\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H})^2, \Gamma^{A_0}, \Gamma^{B_0})$  with

$$\Gamma^{A_0} = \Gamma^{A_+} \oplus \Gamma^{A_-}$$
 and  $\Gamma^{B_0} = \Gamma^{B_+} \oplus \Gamma^{B_-}$ 

is  $(j_{\mathcal{H}\oplus\mathcal{H}},\mathcal{T})$ -real, where  $j_{\mathcal{H}\oplus\mathcal{H}} := j_{\mathcal{H}} \oplus j_{\mathcal{H}}$ .

- (ii) The coupling (A, B) of the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$ , constructed in (2.9) and (2.10) is  $\mathcal{T}$ -real.
- (iii) The boundary triple  $(\mathcal{H}^2, \Gamma^A, \Gamma^B)$  from Theorem 2.5 is  $(j_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real.

#### 2.4 Parity and *P*-selfadjoint operators

**Definition 2.10.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_{\pm}$  be Hilbert spaces and  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_{+} \oplus \mathfrak{H}_{-}$ . An operator  $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H})$  will be called an (abstract) *parity* operator if

$$\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}^*, \quad \mathcal{P}^2 = I_{\mathfrak{H}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{P}\mathfrak{H}_{\pm} = \mathfrak{H}_{\mp}.$$

Now consider a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_-$  with a parity operator  $\mathcal{P}$  and a conjugation  $\mathcal{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H})$ , such that

$$\mathcal{TP} = \mathcal{PT} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{T\mathfrak{H}}_{\pm} = \mathfrak{H}_{\pm}.$$
 (2.16)

The conditions (2.16) mean that the operator  $\mathcal{T}$  admits the representation as an orthogonal sum  $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_+ \oplus \mathcal{T}_-$  of two conjugations  $\mathcal{T}_+$  and  $\mathcal{T}_-$  in Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_+$  and  $\mathfrak{H}_-$ , respectively.

**Lemma 2.11.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a parity operator in  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_-$  and let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a conjugation in  $\mathfrak{H}$  such that (2.16) holds. Let  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$  be  $\mathcal{T}_{\pm}$ -real dual pairs in the Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_{\pm}$ , such that

$$\mathcal{P}A_+ = B_-\mathcal{P} \quad and \quad \mathcal{P}B_+ = A_-\mathcal{P}.$$
 (2.17)

Then the following statements hold:

(i)  $\mathcal{PT} \operatorname{dom} A_+ = \operatorname{dom} A_-, \mathcal{PT} \operatorname{dom} B_+ = \operatorname{dom} B_-, and$ 

$$\mathcal{PT}A_+ = A_-\mathcal{PT}, \qquad \mathcal{PT}B_+ = B_-\mathcal{PT};$$
 (2.18)

(ii)  $\mathcal{P} \operatorname{dom} A^*_+ = \operatorname{dom} B^*_-$ ,  $\mathcal{P} \operatorname{dom} B^*_+ = \operatorname{dom} A^*_-$ , and

$$\mathcal{P}A_+^* = B_-^*\mathcal{P}, \qquad \mathcal{P}B_+^* = A_-^*\mathcal{P}.$$

*Proof.* (i) Since the dual pairs  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$  are real with respect to  $\mathcal{T}_{\pm}$ , one has

$$\mathcal{T}_{+}A_{+} = B_{+}\mathcal{T}_{+}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_{-}A_{-} = B_{-}\mathcal{T}_{-}.$$
 (2.19)

Let  $f_+ \in \text{dom } A_+$ . Then by (2.19)  $\mathcal{T}f_+ \in \text{dom } B_+$  and  $B_+\mathcal{T}f_+ = \mathcal{T}A_+f_+$ . Next by (2.17)

$$\mathcal{PT}f_+ \in \operatorname{dom} A_-$$
 and  $A_-\mathcal{PT}f_+ = \mathcal{P}B_+\mathcal{T}f_+ = \mathcal{PT}A_+f_+$ 

The proofs of the inclusion  $\mathcal{PT} \operatorname{dom} A_{-} \subseteq \operatorname{dom} A_{+}$  and of the second equality in (2.18) are similar.

(ii) Applying  $\mathcal{P}$  to the left and right of the equalities in (2.17) and using the identity  $\mathcal{P}^2 = I_{\mathfrak{H}}$  yields  $A_+\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}B_-$  and  $B_+\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}A_-$ . From these identities the assertions in (ii) are immediate.

**Definition 2.12.** A closed linear operator A in  $\mathfrak{H}$  is said to be  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric if for all  $f \in \text{dom } A$  we have

$$\mathcal{PT}f \in \text{dom } A \text{ and } \mathcal{PT}Af = A\mathcal{PT}f.$$

Consider the Krein space  $(\mathfrak{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$  with an indefinite inner product given by

$$[f,g] := \langle \mathcal{P}f,g\rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}.\tag{2.20}$$

For the definition of a Kreĭn space we refer to the books of Azizov & Iokhvidov (1989) and Bognar (1974). Recall that a densely defined linear operator A in  $\mathfrak{H}$  is called  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric if

$$[Af,g] = [f,Ag]$$
 for all  $f, g \in \text{dom } A$ .

Denote by  $A^+$  the adjoint operator in  $(\mathfrak{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$ , i.e.,  $A^+ = \mathcal{P}A^*\mathcal{P}$ . For a  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric operator A one has  $A \subseteq A^+$ . The operator A is called  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint if  $A = A^+$ . The following definition of a boundary triple for the  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric operator A was presented in Derkach (1995).

**Definition 2.13.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be an auxiliary Hilbert space and let  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  be linear operators from dom  $A^+$  to  $\mathcal{H}$ . The triple  $(\mathcal{H}, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2)$  is called a *boundary triple for the*  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric operator A if the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) the mapping 
$$\Gamma := \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 from dom  $A^+$  to  $\mathcal{H}^2$  is surjective;

(ii) the following identity holds for every  $f, g \in \text{dom } A^+$ 

$$[A^+f,g] - [f,A^+g] = \langle \Gamma_1 f, \Gamma_2 g \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} - \langle \Gamma_2 f, \Gamma_1 g \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

In the next theorem we show that the coupling operator A is  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric, and describe the set of all  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint and  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric extensions of the operator A.

**Theorem 2.14.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a parity operator in  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{H}_-$ , let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a conjugation in  $\mathfrak{H}$  such that (2.16) holds, and let  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$  be  $\mathcal{T}_{\pm}$ -real dual pairs in the Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_{\pm}$  such that (2.17) holds. With  $j_{\mathcal{H}}$  a conjugation in  $\mathcal{H}$ , let  $(\mathcal{H}^2, \Gamma^{A_{\pm}}, \Gamma^{B_{\pm}})$  be  $(j_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real boundary triples for  $(A_{\pm}, B_{\pm})$ , such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1^{B_+} \\ \Gamma_2^{B_+} \end{pmatrix} f_+ = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_2^{A_-} \\ \Gamma_1^{A_-} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{P}f_+ \quad and \quad \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1^{B_-} \\ \Gamma_2^{B_-} \end{pmatrix} f_- = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_2^{A_+} \\ \Gamma_1^{A_+} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{P}f_-, \quad f_\pm \in \text{dom } B_\pm^*.$$
(2.21)

Moreover, let (A, B) be the coupling of the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  given by (2.9), (2.10), and let  $\Theta$  be a linear relation in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then the following statements hold:

- (i) The operator A is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric,  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric, and  $A^+ = B^*$ .
- (ii) The triple  $(\mathcal{H}, \Gamma_1^B, \Gamma_2^B)$  is a boundary triple for the  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric operator A.
- (iii) The extension  $A_{\Theta}$  of the operator A, given by

dom 
$$A_{\Theta} = \left\{ f \in \text{dom } B^* : \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1 f \\ \Gamma_2 f \end{pmatrix} \in \Theta \right\}, \quad A_{\Theta} = B^*|_{\text{dom } A_{\Theta}},$$

is  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint if and only if  $\Theta = \Theta^*$ .

(iv)  $A_{\Theta}$  is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric if and only if  $\Theta = j_{\mathcal{H}} \Theta j_{\mathcal{H}}$ .

## 3 *PT*-symmetric Hamiltonians

Here we return to the investigation of the non-Hermitian  $\mathcal{PT}$ -invariant Hamiltonians presented in the introduction, that is, we study equation (1.1) on the wedge shaped contour  $\Gamma$ , cf. (1.2). By substituting  $z(x) := xe^{i\phi \operatorname{sgn} x}$  into (1.1) one obtains the two differential expressions given by (1.3) and (1.4). Assume that the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  in (1.4) are in the limit point case at  $\pm \infty$ . As presented in Section 1, this is the case if and only if the angle  $\phi$  of the wedge satisfies

$$\phi \neq -\frac{N+2}{2N+8}\pi + \frac{2k}{4+N}\pi$$
 for  $k = 0, \dots, N+3.$  (3.1)

Then by Leben & Trunk (2019: Lemma 1) the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$  in (1.6) are also in the limit point case at  $\pm \infty$ . Define the operators  $A_{\pm}$  and  $B_{\pm}$  associated with  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$  as

$$A_{\pm}f_{\pm} := \mathfrak{a}_{\pm}[f_{\pm}] \quad \text{and} \quad B_{\pm}g_{\pm} := \mathfrak{b}_{\pm}[g_{\pm}] \quad \text{for } f_{\pm} \in \text{dom } A_{\pm}, \ g_{\pm} \in \text{dom } B_{\pm}$$

respectively, with the domains

dom 
$$A_{\pm} := \{ u_{\pm} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) : \mathfrak{a}_{\pm}[u_{\pm}] \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), u'_{\pm} \in AC_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), u_{\pm}(0_{\pm}) = u'_{\pm}(0_{\pm}) = 0 \},$$
  
dom  $B_{\pm} := \{ v_{\pm} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) : \mathfrak{b}_{\pm}[v_{\pm}] \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), v'_{\pm} \in AC_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), v_{\pm}(0_{\pm}) = v'_{\pm}(0_{\pm}) = 0 \}.$ 

These operators are in some sense the minimal operators. It follows from Leben & Trunk (2019: Proposition 1 & Theorem 3) that the (maximal) operators  $A_{\pm}^*$  and  $B_{\pm}^*$  are generated by differential expressions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$  where the roles of  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$  are switched in the sense that the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{a}_{\pm}$  are now related to  $B_{\pm}^*$  and the differential expressions  $\mathfrak{b}_{\pm}$  are related to  $A_{\pm}^*$ :

$$B_{\pm}^*f_{\pm} := \mathfrak{a}_{\pm}[f_{\pm}] \quad \text{and} \quad A_{\pm}^*g_{\pm} := \mathfrak{b}_{\pm}[g_{\pm}] \quad \text{for } f_{\pm} \in \text{dom } B_{\pm}^*, \ g_{\pm} \in \text{dom } A_{\pm}^*,$$

with

dom 
$$B_{\pm}^* := \{ u_{\pm} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) : \mathfrak{a}_{\pm}[u_{\pm}] \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), u'_{\pm} \in AC_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) \},$$
  
dom  $A_{\pm}^* := \{ v_{\pm} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) : \mathfrak{b}_{\pm}[v_{\pm}] \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}), v'_{\pm} \in AC_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}) \}.$ 

**Theorem 3.1.** The pairs  $(A_-, B_-)$  and  $(A_+, B_+)$  are dual pairs. The triple  $(\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma^{A_+}, \Gamma^{B_+})$ ,

$$\Gamma^{B_{+}}u_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-2i\phi}u'_{+}(0) \\ u_{+}(0) \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \Gamma^{A_{+}}v_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{+}(0) \\ e^{2i\phi}v'_{+}(0) \end{pmatrix}, \quad u_{+} \in \text{dom } B^{*}_{+},$$

is a boundary triple for the dual pair  $(A_+, B_+)$ . The triple  $(\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma^{A_-}, \Gamma^{B_-})$ ,

$$\Gamma^{B_{-}}u_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} -e^{2i\phi}u'_{-}(0) \\ u_{-}(0) \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \Gamma^{A_{-}}v_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{-}(0) \\ -e^{-2i\phi}v'_{-}(0) \end{pmatrix}, \quad u_{-} \in \operatorname{dom} B^{*}_{-},$$

is a boundary triple for the dual pair  $(A_-, B_-)$ .

Proof. Integration by parts and (Leben & Trunk, 2019: Proposition 1) show

$$\langle A_{\pm}u_{\pm}, v_{\pm} \rangle = \langle u_{\pm}, B_{\pm}v_{\pm} \rangle, \qquad u_{\pm} \in \text{dom } A_{\pm}, v_{\pm} \in \text{dom } B_{\pm}.$$

This proves the first statement. It follows from (Leben & Trunk, 2019: Proposition 1) that for  $u_+ \in \text{dom } B_+^*$  and  $v_+ \in \text{dom } A_+^*$ 

$$\begin{split} \langle B_{+}^{*}u_{+}, v_{+}\rangle - \langle u_{+}, A_{+}^{*}v_{+}\rangle &= -e^{-2i\phi} \int_{0}^{\infty} u_{+}''(x)\overline{v_{+}(x)} \, dx + e^{-2i\phi} \int_{0}^{\infty} u_{+}(x)\overline{v_{+}''(x)} \, dx \\ &= e^{-2i\phi}(u_{+}'(0)\overline{v_{+}(0)} - u_{+}(0)\overline{v_{+}'(0)}). \end{split}$$

Hence,  $(\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma^{A_+}, \Gamma^{B_+})$  is a boundary triple for the dual pair  $(A_+, B_+)$ . The statement for the dual pair  $(A_-, B_-)$  is shown in the same way.

Recall that the coupling (A, B) of the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  consists of a pair of operators  $A = (B_+^* \oplus B_-^*)|_{\text{dom } A}$  and  $B = (A_+^* \oplus A_-^*)|_{\text{dom } B}$  with the domains

dom  $A = \{u_+ \oplus u_- : u_\pm \in \text{dom } B^*_\pm, u_+(0) = u_-(0) = e^{-2i\phi}u'_+(0) - e^{2i\phi}u'_-(0) = 0\},$  (3.2) dom  $B = \{u_+ \oplus u_- : u_\pm \in \text{dom } A^*_\pm, u_+(0) = u_-(0) = e^{2i\phi}u'_+(0) - e^{-2i\phi}u'_-(0) = 0\},$  (3.3)

see Theorem 2.5.

We define the parity  $\mathcal{P}$  and time reversal  $\mathcal{T}$  as in (1.5). The parity  $\mathcal{P}$  gives rise to a new inner product  $[\cdot, \cdot] = \langle \mathcal{P} \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  (see also (2.20)), which was considered in many papers, we mention only (Mostafazadeh, 2010). It is easy to see that the parity  $\mathcal{P}$  and the time reversal  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfy (2.16), where  $\mathfrak{H}_{\pm} := L^2(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ . Due to Theorem 2.14, the operator A is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric in the Kreĭn space  $(L^2(\mathbb{R}), [\cdot, \cdot]) = (L^2(\mathbb{R}_-) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), [\cdot, \cdot])$ . The (Kreĭn space) adjoint  $A^+$  of Acoincides with  $B^* = (B^*_+ \oplus B^*_-)|_{\text{dom } B^*}$ , where

dom 
$$B^* = \{u_+ \oplus u_- : u_\pm \in \text{dom } B^*_+, u_+(0) = u_-(0)\}.$$

An application of Theorem 2.14 gives a one-parameter family  $\{H_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}}$  of  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint extensions of A in the Kreĭn space  $(L^2(\mathbb{R}), [\cdot, \cdot])$ . This is the main result of this note.

**Theorem 3.2.** Let the angle  $\phi$  satisfies (3.1) and let A be the coupling operator constructed in (3.2). *Then the following statements are true:* 

(i) A boundary triple  $(\mathbb{C}, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2)$  for the  $\mathcal{P}$ -symmetric operator A is given by

 $\Gamma_1 u = e^{-2i\phi} u'_+(0) - e^{2i\phi} u'_-(0)$  and  $\Gamma_2 u = u_+(0)$ ,  $u = u_+ \oplus u_- \in \text{dom } B^*$ .

(ii) The extension  $H_{\alpha}$  of the operator A, defined as a restriction of  $A^+$  to the domain

dom 
$$H_{\alpha} = \left\{ u_{+} \oplus u_{-} \in \text{dom } B^{*} : e^{-2i\phi} u'_{+}(0) - e^{2i\phi} u'_{-}(0) = \alpha u_{+}(0) \right\},$$

*is*  $\mathcal{P}$ *-selfadjoint if and only if*  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ *.* 

(iii)  $H_{\alpha}$  is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric if and only if  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* By construction the dual pairs  $(A_+, B_+)$  and  $(A_-, B_-)$  are  $\mathcal{T}_\pm$ -real and the parity operator  $\mathcal{P}$  intertwines the operators  $A_+$ ,  $B_-$  and  $A_-$ ,  $B_+$ , that is, (2.17) holds. Moreover, the boundary triples  $(\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma^{A_+}, \Gamma^{B_+})$  and  $(\mathbb{C}^2, \Gamma^{A_-}, \Gamma^{B_-})$  are also  $(j_{\mathbb{C}}, \mathcal{T})$ -real and satisfy the condition (2.21). Here  $j_{\mathbb{C}}$  stands for the usual complex conjugation in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Hence, all assumptions in Theorem 2.14 are satisfied and the statements in Theorem 3.2 follow directly from Theorem 2.14.

In Leben & Trunk (2019) only the extension for the parameter value  $\alpha = 0$  was considered. More precisely, there it was shown that  $H_0$  is an extension of A with domain

dom 
$$H_0 = \{u_+ \oplus u_- : u_\pm \in \text{dom } B_\pm^*, u_+(0) - u_-(0) = e^{-2i\phi} u_+'(0) - e^{2i\phi} u_-'(0) = 0\}$$

which is  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric and  $\mathcal{P}$ -selfadjoint. The family  $H_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , of extensions obtained in Theorem 3.2 is in some sense an analogue of the  $\delta$ -interaction for the differential operation  $\mathfrak{a}$ .

**Acknowledgements:** The research of V.D. was supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG), grant TR 903/22-1. The research of Ph.S. has been supported by DFG, grant TR 903/19-2.

### References

Arens, R. (1961). Operational calculus of linear relations. Pacific J. Math. 11, 9-23.

Azizov, T.Ya. & Iokhvidov, I.S. (1989). *Linear Operators in Spaces with an Indefinite Metric*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

Azizov, T.Ya. & Trunk, C. (2010). On domains of  $\mathcal{PT}$  symmetric operators related to  $-y''(x) + (-1)^n x^{2n} y(x)$ . J. Phys. A 43, 175303.

Azizov, T.Ya. & Trunk, C. (2012).  $\mathcal{PT}$  symmetric, Hermitian and  $\mathcal{P}$ -self-adjoint operators related to potentials in  $\mathcal{PT}$  quantum mechanics. *J. Math. Phys.* 53, 012109, 18 pp.

Baidiuk, D., Derkach, V. & Hassi, S. (2021). Unitary boundary pairs for isometric operators in Pontryagin spaces and generalized coresolvents. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 15, paper 32, 52 pp.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H. (2020). *Boundary Value Problems, Weyl Functions, and Differential Operators*. Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 108. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag.

Bender, C.M. (2019). *PT Symmetry: In Quantum and Classical Physics*. Hackensack, NJ: World Scientific Publishing. (With contributions from P.E. Dorey, C. Dunning, A. Fring, D.W. Hook, H.F. Jones, S. Kuzhel, G. Levai, and R. Tateo.)

Bender, C.M. & Boettcher, S. (1998). Real spectra in non-Hermitian Hamiltonians having  $\mathcal{PT}$  symmetry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 80, 5243–5246.

Bender, C.M., Brody, D.C., Chen, J.-H., Jones, H.F., Milton, K.A. & Ogilvie, M.C. (2006). Equivalence of a complex  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric quartic Hamiltonian and a Hermitian quartic Hamiltonian with an anomaly. *Phys. Rev. D* 74, 025016.

Bender, C.M., Brody, D.C. & Jones, H.F. (2002). Complex extension of quantum mechanics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 89, 270401, 4 pp.

Bognar, J. (1974). Indefinite Inner Product Spaces. Berlin: Springer.

Brown, B.M., McCormack, D.K.R., Evans, W.D. & Plum, M. (1999). On the spectrum of secondorder differential operators with complex coefficients. *R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 455, 1235–1257.

Calkin, J.W. (1939). Abstract symmetric boundary conditions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 45, 369-442.

Derkach, V. (1995). On Weyl function and generalized resolvents of a Hermitian operator in a Krein space. *Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory* 23, 387–415.

Derkach, V.A., Hassi, S., Malamud, M.M. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2000). Generalized resolvents of symmetric operators and admissibility. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology* 6, 24–55.

Derkach, V.A. & Malamud, M.M. (1991). Generalized resolvents and the boundary value problems for Hermitian operators with gaps. *J. Funct. Anal.* 95, 1–95.

Derkach, V. & Malamud, M.M. (2017). *Extension Theory of Symmetric Operators and Boundary Value Problems*. Proceedings of Institute of Mathematics of NAS of Ukraine, vol. 104.

Gorbachuk, V.I. & Gorbachuk, M.L. (1991). *Boundary Value Problems for Operator Differential Equations*. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series), vol. 48. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers Group. (Translated and revised from the 1984 Russian original.)

Hassi, S. & Kuzhel, S. (2013). On *J*-self-adjoint operators with stable *C*-symmetries. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 143, 141–167.

Jones, H.F. & Mateo, J. (2006). Equivalent Hermitian Hamiltonian for the non-Hermitian  $-x^4$  potential. *Phys. Rev. D* 73, 085002, 4 pp.

Kočhubeĭ, A.N. (1975). Extentions of symmetric operators and of symmetric binary relations. *Mat. Zametki* 17, 41–48. (In Russian.)

Langer, H. & Tretter, C. (2004). A Krein space approach to *PT*-symmetry. *Czechoslovak J. Phys.* 54, 1113–1120.

Leben, F. & Trunk, C. (2019). Operator-based approach to  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric problems on a wedge-shaped contour. *Quantum Stud. Math. Found.* 6, 315–333.

Malamud, M.M. & Mogilevskiĭ, V.I. (2002). Kreĭn type formula for canonical resolvents of dual pairs of operators. *Methods Funct. Anal. Topol.* 8, 72–100.

Moiseyev, N. (2011). *Non-Hermitian Quantum Mechanics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Mostafazadeh, A. (2002). Pseudo-Hermiticity versus *PT* symmetry: the necessary condition for the reality of the spectrum of a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian. *J. Math. Phys.* 43, 205–214.

Mostafazadeh, A. (2005). Pseudo-Hermitian description of PT-symmetric systems defined on a complex contour. *J. Phys. A* 38, 3213–3234.

Mostafazadeh, A. (2010). Pseudo-Hermitian representation of quantum mechanics. *Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys.* 7, 1191–1306.

Sims, A.R. (1957). Secondary conditions for linear differential operators of the second order. J. Math. Mech. 6, 247–285.

Institut für Mathematik, Technische Universität Ilmenau, Postfach 100565, D-98684 Ilmenau, Germany *E-mail address*: volodymyr.derkach@tu-ilmenau.de, philipp.schmitz@tu-ilmenau.de, and carsten.trunk@tu-ilmenau.de

## POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE EXAMPLES FOR THE RIESZ BASIS PROPERTY OF INDEFINITE STURM-LIOUVILLE PROBLEMS

## Andreas Fleige

Dedicated to Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

## 1 Introduction

We consider the indefinite Sturm-Liouville eigenvalue problem

$$-f'' = \lambda r f$$
 on  $[-1,1]$ ,

with a weight function r changing its sign at 0. It is known that, depending on the behavior of r and on the type of the imposed self-adjoint boundary conditions, the so-called Riesz basis property of the eigenfunctions in the Hilbert space  $L^2_{|r|}[-1, 1]$  can be valid or not. More precisely, let  $r \in L^1[-1, 1]$ be a real function with a single so-called *turning point*, i.e., with a sign change, at 0, say

$$r(x) < 0$$
 a.e. on  $[-1, 0)$ ,  $r(x) > 0$  a.e. on  $(0, 1]$ .

Due to the sign change of r we cannot expect that the eigenfunctions of the corresponding Sturm-Liouville eigenvalue problem with self-adjoint boundary conditions form an orthonormal basis in the Hilbert space  $L^2_{|r|}[-1, 1]$  with the inner product

$$(f,g) = \int_{-1}^{1} f\bar{g}|r| \, dx, \qquad f,g \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1].$$

However, the eigenfunctions may form a *Riesz basis* in this space, i.e., an orthonormal basis with respect to some inner product equivalent to  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . In this case, we say that the eigenvalue problem has the *Riesz basis property*.

This Riesz basis property has been intensively studied during the last decades, see the overview paper (Fleige, 2015). It was first observed by Binding and Ćurgus (2004) that the type of the boundary conditions plays an important role. In fact, for the same weight function r, the eigenvalue problem with Dirichlet boundary conditions

$$-f'' = \lambda r f$$
 on  $[-1, 1], \quad f(-1) = f(1) = 0,$  (1.1)

can have the Riesz basis property, while the eigenvalue problem with antiperiodic boundary conditions

$$-f'' = \lambda r f$$
 on  $[-1,1],$   $f(-1) + f(1) = 0,$   $f'(-1) + f'(1) = 0.$  (1.2)

does not have the Riesz basis property, This result was sharpened in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013: Theorem 4.10). Under a certain oddness condition a necessary and sufficient criterion on the weight function r was presented for the Riesz basis property of an eigenvalue problem with quite general boundary conditions. In case of the eigenvalue problem (1.1) this criterion only involves the

behavior of r at the turning point, whereas in case of the eigenvalue problem (1.2) also the boundary comes into play, see Theorem 2.4 below. In some sense the paper (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013) was the endpoint of a number of papers improving the conditions for the Riesz basis property, at least for the case of a regular differential expression, e.g., (Ćurgus & Langer, 1989; Parfenov, 2003; 2005; Pyatkov, 2005). Note that further developments were mainly concerned with singular differential expressions and criteria involving the Titchmarsh-Weyl function, see e.g., (Kostenko, 2013; Ćurgus, Derkach & Trunk, 2020).

The present paper can be regarded as a certain addition to Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013). The main intention is a presentation of examples for the validity and non-validity of the Riesz basis property of eigenvalue problems (1.1) and (1.2), illustrating the different arguments for various settings.

Finally, an outline of the paper is given. In Section 2 we recall some conditions concerning the weight function r appearing in the eigenvalue problems (1.1) and (1.2) from the paper (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013; Parfenov, 2003; 2005; Pyatkov, 2005). In Section 3 all possible, positive and negative, cases are obtained by certain modifications of the same "bad" weight function. Nevertheless, on the left of the turning point this "bad" weight always remains unchanged. Note that for the proof of these examples also a new result had to be added to the general theory in Section 2.

# 2 Some known conditions and a slight extension of these results

First of all, it should be mentioned that for the eigenvalue problems (1.1) and (1.2) there cannot appear any root functions except the eigenfunctions. This follows, for example, by means of Krein space methods. To see this let  $A_D$  and  $A_a$  denote the operators in  $L^2_{|r|}[-1, 1]$  associated with (1.1) and (1.2). Thus, in other words,  $A_D f = -\frac{1}{r} f''$ , when f belongs to dom  $A_D$ , defined by

dom 
$$A_D = \left\{ f \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1] : \frac{1}{r} f'' \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1], \ f(-1) = f(1) = 0 \right\},$$

and, likewise,  $A_a f = -\frac{1}{r} f''$ , when f belongs to dom  $A_a$ , defined by

dom 
$$A_a = \{f \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1]: \frac{1}{r}f'' \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1], f(-1) + f(1) = 0, f'(-1) + f'(1) = 0\}.$$

Here is the above mentioned observation concerning the eigenvalue problems (1.1) and (1.2). Lemma 2.1. Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and assume that  $f \in \text{dom } A_D^2$  and  $g \in \text{dom } A_a^2$  satisfy

$$(A_D - \lambda)^2 f = 0$$
 and  $(A_a - \lambda)^2 g = 0.$ 

Then f and g already satisfy

$$(A_D - \lambda)f = 0$$
 and  $(A_a - \lambda)g = 0.$ 

*Proof.* Note that  $L^2_{|r|}[-1,1]$  is a Kreĭn space with the inner product

$$[f,g] = \int_{-1}^{1} f\bar{g}r \, dx, \qquad f,g \in L^2_{|r|}[-1,1],$$

and that  $A_D$  and  $A_a$  are self-adjoint and definitizable operators in this space; see (Ćurgus & Langer, 1989). Furthermore, observe that the operator  $A_D$  is nonnegative, since

$$[A_D f, f] = -\int_{-1}^{1} f'' \bar{f} \, dx = \int_{-1}^{1} |f'|^2 \, dx \ge 0, \qquad f \in \text{dom } A_D,$$

due to the boundary conditions. Likewise, one sees that  $A_a$  is nonnegative. Therefore, in both cases,  $p(\lambda) = \lambda$  is a definitizing polynomial. By (Langer, 1982: Proposition II, 2.1) a Jordan chain of length at least 2 can only appear for the zeros of the definitizing polynomial, i.e., for  $\lambda = 0$ . However,  $\lambda = 0$  is neither an eigenvalue for  $A_D$  nor for  $A_a$ .

Note that the situation sketched in Lemma 2.1 is different in the case of periodic boundary conditions; see (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Example 4.12).

For convenience we now recall some definitions and known results about the Riesz basis property which will be used in the subsequent examples. We start with some properties from the theory of regularly varying functions studied at 0 rather than at  $\infty$ , see, e.g., (Bingham, Goldie & Teugels, 1987; Kostenko, 2013; Ćurgus, Derkach & Trunk, 2020). Let *I* be a nondecreasing function defined on [0, b] with b > 0 such that

$$I(x) > 0, \quad x \in (0, b], \qquad 0 = I(0) = \lim_{x \searrow 0} I(x).$$
 (2.1)

Then the function I is said to be *slowly varying* if

$$\lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{I(tx)}{I(x)} = 1, \qquad \text{for all } t > 0,$$

and is said to be positively increasing if

$$\limsup_{x \searrow 0} \frac{I(t_0 x)}{I(x)} < 1, \qquad \text{for some } t_0 \in (0, 1).$$

Of course, these properties exclude each other: a slowly varying function cannot be positively increasing, and vice versa. Below, these properties will be checked for the functions

$$I_0^+(x) := \int_0^x r \, dt \quad \text{and} \quad I_1^-(x) := \int_{1-x}^1 r \, dt, \qquad x \in [0,1],$$
(2.2)

obviously satisfying (2.1). Furthermore, some local oddness conditions on the weight function will be used. A function r is called *locally odd at the turning point* if there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the restriction of r to  $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$  is odd. Similarly, a function r is called *locally odd at the boundary* if there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that r(-1 + x) = -r(1 - x) for a.a.  $x \in (0, \varepsilon)$ .

The following result, here formulated in the terminology of positively increasing functions as in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013: Corollary 3.6), goes back to Parfenov (2003; 2005).

Theorem 2.2 (Parfenov (2003; 2005)). The following statements hold:

- (i) If  $I_0^+$  is positively increasing, then the eigenvalue problem (1.1) has the Riesz basis property.
- (ii) If r is locally odd at the turning point, then the eigenvalue problem (1.1) has the Riesz basis property if and only if  $I_0^+$  is positively increasing.

#### 72 Acta Wasaensia

Originally, (ii) was formulated for the stronger case of odd weights. However, Pyatkov (2005: Theorem 4.2) observed that only the local behaviour at the turning point is relevant for the Riesz basis property of (1.1). Next we recall another aspect of Pyatkov's result (Pyatkov, 2005: Theorem 4.2), again in the terminology of positively increasing functions as in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013: Theorem 4.1).

**Theorem 2.3** (Pyatkov (2005)). If  $I_1^-$  is positively increasing, then the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property if and only if the eigenvalue problem (1.1) has the Riesz basis property.

This result was improved in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013: Theorem 4.10) in the case when certain oddness conditions are satisfied.

**Theorem 2.4** (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013)). If r is locally odd at the turning point and at the boundary, then the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property if and only if  $I_0^+$  and  $I_1^-$  are both positively increasing.

Note that originally the last two results were formulated in a more general setting and they are now applied in the present situation. Finally, we present a slight extension of these results, which will be proved in a similar way as (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Theorem 4.10).

**Theorem 2.5.** If r is locally odd at the boundary, then the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property if and only if the eigenvalue problem (1.1) has the Riesz basis property and  $I_1^-$  is positively increasing.

*Proof.* By (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Lemma 4.7) the Riesz basis property of (1.2) is equivalent to the Riesz basis property of the shifted problem

$$-f'' = \lambda \widetilde{r} f \quad \text{on} \quad [\widetilde{a}, \widetilde{b}], \qquad f(\widetilde{a}) + f(\widetilde{b}) = 0, \quad f'(\widetilde{a}) + f'(\widetilde{b}) = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

in  $L^2_{|\tilde{r}|}[\tilde{a},\tilde{b}]$ , where  $\tilde{a} := -1 - \varepsilon$  and  $\tilde{b} := 1 - \varepsilon$  for some  $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ . Here the weight function  $\tilde{r}$  is given by

$$\widetilde{r}(x) := \begin{cases} r(x+2), & x \in [\widetilde{a}, -1), \\ r(x), & x \in [-1, \widetilde{b}]. \end{cases}$$

This function has two turning points, i.e., sign changes, at 0 and at -1. Thus we can apply (Pyatkov, 2005: Theorem 4.2) (using a criterion for an even number of turning points, see also (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Theorem 4.1)) and obtain the equivalence of the Riesz basis property of (2.3) to the Riesz basis properties of two local problems with  $\tilde{r}$  on  $[-\delta, \delta]$  and  $\tilde{r}$  on  $[-1 - \delta, -1 + \delta]$ , both with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Here,  $\delta \in (0, \varepsilon)$  can be chosen arbitrarily. By assumption, the weight  $\tilde{r}$  is locally odd at the turning point -1; i.e.,  $\tilde{r}(-1 - x) = -\tilde{r}(-1 + x)$  for a.a. x in a neighborhood of 0. Therefore, by Parfenov's result, see Theorem 2.2 (ii), the Riesz basis property for the problem on  $[-1 - \delta, -1 + \delta]$  is equivalent to the condition that the function

$$\int_{-1-x}^{-1} \widetilde{r} \, dt = I_1^-(x)$$

is positively increasing. Furthermore, again by (Pyatkov, 2005: Theorem 4.2), the Riesz basis property for the problem on  $[-\delta, \delta]$  is equivalent to the Riesz basis property of (1.1).

Note that the arguments above also apply in a more general setting: Theorem 2.5 remains true with (1.2) replaced by the eigenvalue problem

$$-f'' + qf = \lambda rf, \qquad e^{it}f(-1) = f(1), \quad f'(-1) = e^{-it}f'(1) + df(-1),$$

with a real potential  $q \in L^1[-1, 1]$ ,  $t \in [0, 2\pi)$ , and  $d \in \mathbb{R}$ , see also the proof of (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Proposition 4.9). However, in this case there may appear a Jordan chain as in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013: Example 4.12). Therefore, as in Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko (2013), for the Riesz basis property not only eigenfunctions but also root functions must be allowed.

## 3 Examples

We start with an example which combines the negative properties of (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Example 3.17) (going back to (Parfenov, 2003)) and (Ćurgus, Fleige & Kostenko, 2013: Example 4.12 (ii)). It is worse than each of these examples in the sense that the Riesz basis criteria at the turning point and at the boundary are both violated simultaneously.

#### 3.1 A weight with "bad" behavior at the turning point and at the boundary

First, consider the functions  $r_0$  and  $r_1$  belonging to  $L^1[-1, 1]$  defined as

$$r_0(x) := \frac{1}{x(1 - \log|x|)^2}$$
 and  $r_1(x) := \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(x)}{(1 - |x|)(1 - \log(1 - |x|))^2},$  (3.1)

for  $x \in (-1, 1) \setminus \{0\}$ . Furthermore, define the function r as

$$r := r_0 + r_1. (3.2)$$

**Lemma 3.1.** For the weight function r from (3.2), the functions  $I_0^+$  and  $I_1^-$ , as defined in (2.2), coincide:  $I_0^+ = I_1^-$ . Moreover, this function  $I_0^+ = I_1^-$  is slowly varying.

*Proof.* First, note that for  $x \in (0, 1)$  we have that  $r_1(x) = r_0(1 - x)$  and, hence,

$$I_1^{-}(x) = \int_{1-x}^1 (r_0 + r_1) \, dt = \int_0^x (r_0(1-s) + r_1(1-s)) \, ds = \int_0^x (r_1(s) + r_0(s)) \, ds = I_0^+(x).$$

Now, observe that for t > 0 the following limits exist

$$\lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{t r_0(tx)}{r_0(x)} = \lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{(1 - \log x)^2}{(1 - \log x - \log t)^2} = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{t r_1(tx)}{r_0(x)} = 0.$$

In order to see that  $I_0^+$  is slowly varying use l'Hôpital's rule:

$$\lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{I_0^+(tx)}{I_0^+(x)} = \lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{t(r_0(tx) + r_1(tx))}{r_0(x) + r_1(x)} = \lim_{x \searrow 0} \frac{t(\frac{r_0(tx)}{r_0(x)} + \frac{r_1(tx)}{r_0(x)})}{1 + \frac{r_1(x)}{r_0(x)}} = 1.$$

Since r is odd here, we can now conclude the following result from Lemma 3.1, Theorem 2.2 (ii), and Theorem 2.4.

**Proposition 3.2.** For the weight function r as in (3.2) neither the eigenvalue problem (1.1) nor the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property.

In the following we "smoothen" the weight function in (3.2) in some sense.

#### 3.2 "Relaxing" the weight on the right of the turning point

Using again the functions  $r_0$  and  $r_1$  from (3.1), we now consider the weight function

$$r(x) := \begin{cases} 1, & x \in [c,d], \\ r_0(x) + r_1(x), & x \in [-1,1] \setminus [c,d], \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

for some numbers  $0 \le c < d \le 1$ . Obviously, this weight is not odd any more, but it is locally odd at the turning point if c > 0, and locally odd at the boundary if d < 1.

Lemma 3.3. Let the weight function r be given by (3.3). Then the following statements hold:

- (i) If 0 < c < d < 1, then the functions  $I_0^+$  and  $I_1^-$  are slowly varying.
- (ii) If 0 < c < d = 1, then  $I_0^+$  is slowly varying and  $I_1^-$  is positively increasing.
- (iii) If 0 = c < d < 1, then  $I_0^+$  is positively increasing and  $I_1^-$  is slowly varying.
- (iv) If c = 0 and d = 1, then the functions  $I_0^+$  and  $I_1^-$  are positively increasing.

*Proof.* In some cases the functions  $I_0^+$  and  $I_1^-$  coincide locally at 0 with the corresponding function in Lemma 3.1. In these cases the functions are slowly varying by Lemma 3.1. In all other cases these functions are linear near 0 and, hence, positively increasing.

Finally, the theorems from Section 2 lead to the following three different Riesz basis results in the four cases of Lemma 3.3.

**Proposition 3.4.** Let the weight function r be given by (3.3). Then the following statements hold:

- (i) If 0 < c < d < 1, then neither the eigenvalue problem (1.1) nor the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property.
- (ii) If 0 < c < d = 1, then neither the eigenvalue problem (1.1) nor the eigenvalue problem (1.2) has the Riesz basis property.
- (iii) If 0 = c < d < 1, then the eigenvalue problem (1.1) has the Riesz basis property but the eigenvalue problem (1.2) does not.
- (iv) If c = 0 and d = 1, then both eigenvalue problems (1.1) and (1.2) have the Riesz basis property.

*Proof.* As in Proposition 3.2, statement (i) follows from Theorem 2.2 (ii) and Theorem 2.4, since r is in this case locally odd at the turning point and at the boundary. Similarly, we obtain statement (ii) for problem (1.1) from Theorem 2.2 (ii), and then also for problem (1.2) from Theorem 2.3. (Note that here we cannot apply Theorem 2.4, since r is no longer locally odd at the boundary.) Statement (iii) follows from Theorem 2.2 (i) and Theorem 2.5. Here, we use the fact that r is in this case locally odd at the boundary. Finally, statement (iv) can be obtained from Theorem 2.2 (i) and Theorem 2.3.

## References

Binding, P. & Ćurgus, B. (2004). A counterexample in Sturm-Liouville completeness theory. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 134, 244-248.

Bingham, N.H., Goldie, C.M. & Teugels, J.I. (1987). *Regular Variation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ćurgus, B., Derkach, V. & Trunk, C. (2020). Indefinite Sturm–Liouville operators in polar form. *arXiv*:2101.00104v1.

Ćurgus, B., Fleige, A. & Kostenko, A. (2013). The Riesz basis property of an indefinite Sturm-Liouville problem with non-separated boundary conditions. *Integral Equations Operator Theory* 77, 533–557.

Ćurgus, B. & Langer, H. (1989). A Krein space approach to symmetric ordinary differential operators with an indefinite weight function. *J. Differential Equations* 79, 31–61.

Fleige, A. (2015). The critical point infinity associated with indefinite Sturm-Liouville problems. In *Operator Theory*, 395–429. Basel: Springer.

Kostenko, A. (2013). The similarity problem for indefinite Sturm–Liouville operators and the HELP inequality. *Adv. Math.* 246, 368–413.

Langer, H. (1982). Spectral functions of definitizable operators in Krein spaces. In: *Functional Analysis*. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 948, 1–46. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

Parfenov, A.I. (2003). On an embedding criterion for interpolation spaces and application to indefinite spectral problems. *Siberian Math. J.* 44, 638–644.

Parfenov, A.I. (2005). The Ćurgus condition in indefinite Sturm–Liouville problems. *Siberian Adv. Math.* 15, 68–103.

Pyatkov, S.G. (2005). Some properties of eigenfunctions and associated functions of indefinite Sturm-Liouville problems. In *Nonclassical Problems of Mathematical Physics*. Novosibirsk. Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, 240–251. (In Russian.)

Baroper Schulstrasse 27 a, D-44225 Dortmund, Germany *E-mail address*: fleige.andreas@gmx.de

## **ON PARSEVAL J-FRAMES**

#### Alan Kamuda and Sergii Kużel

This paper is dedicated to Seppo Hassi, to whom we would like to send our warmest wishes for his 60th birthday. All the best!

## 1 Introduction

Frame theory finds many applications in engineering, applied mathematics, and computer sciences. It turns out to be useful because of its properties, which are unavailable for bases, e.g., non-unique decompositions. For instance, frames have been shown to be useful in signal processing applications when noisy channels are involved, because a frame allows one to reconstruct vectors (signals) even if some of the frame coefficients are missing (or corrupted), see, e.g., (Christensen, 2016; Heil, 2011; Mallat, 1999).

Usually, frames are defined in a Hilbert space setting. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space with an inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  and let  $\mathbb{J}$  be the index set (countable or finite). Then a set of vectors

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} = \{\varphi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$$

is called a *frame* for  $\mathcal{H}$  if there exist constants (frame bounds)  $0 < A \leq B < \infty$  such that

$$A\|f\|^2 \le \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} |(f,\varphi_j)|^2 \le B\|f\|^2, \qquad f \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(1.1)

Furthermore, the set  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is called a *Parseval frame* if the inequalities (1.1) hold for the constants A = B = 1.

A frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\psi} = \{\psi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  satisfying the condition

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} (f, \psi_j) \varphi_j, \qquad f \in \mathcal{H},$$
(1.2)

is called a *dual frame* of  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$ . In general, dual frames are not determined uniquely and their proper choice (i.e., one that fits the specific problem well) is of great importance. A description of dual frames based on the Naimark dilation theorem is discussed in Kamuda & Kużel (2020).

Each Parseval frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is dual to itself and the reconstruction formula (1.2) can be simplified

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} (f, \varphi_j) \varphi_j, \qquad f \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(1.3)

There are several advantages in considering frames in the setting of Kreĭn spaces, instead of Hilbert spaces. For example, noise can be extracted from the signal in an easy way. Indeed, consider a signal with two dominants (e.g., given by high and low frequency signals). Let the projection P in  $\mathcal{H}$  be an ideal low pass filter and let the projection I - P in  $\mathcal{H}$  be an ideal high pass filter. A signal (vector)  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ , for which the equality  $||P\varphi|| = ||(I - P)\varphi||$  holds, is considered as a noise. In other words,

 $\varphi$  is considered to be a noise if its high frequency level is equal to its low frequency level. From a practical perspective, it is convenient to fix  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and to say that  $\varphi$  is considered to be a noise if

$$\left| \|P\varphi\|^2 - \|(I-P)\varphi\|^2 \right| < \varepsilon.$$

Every difference between the norms for  $\varphi$  below  $\varepsilon$  implies that  $\varphi$  is a noise. From a Hilbert space view, one has to look at the decomposition  $\varphi = P\varphi + (I - P)\varphi$ . Hence, it is necessary to consider two frames  $\{P\varphi\} \cup \{(I - P)\varphi\}$ . From a Krein space perspective one can, using P, introduce a fundamental symmetry

$$J = P - (I - P) = 2P - I,$$

and define an indefinite inner product

$$[f,g] = (Jf,g) = (Pf,Pg) - ((I-P)f,(I-Pg)), \qquad f,g \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Thus  $\varphi$  is considered as a noise when  $|[\varphi, \varphi]| < \varepsilon$  (for a fixed  $\varepsilon$ ). For more details about this example, we encourage the reader to look at Giribet et al. (2012: Section 3).

In the present paper, we extend the concept of Parseval frames to the setting of Krein spaces, combining the simplicity of the reconstruction formula (1.3) with the additional possibilities for the reduction of noises offered by Krein spaces. In the last few years, several papers devoted to the development of frame theory in Krein space have been published, e.g., (Acosta-Humánez, Esmeral & Ferrer, 2015; Escobar, Esmeral & Ferrer, 2016; Esmeral, Ferrer & Wagner, 2015; Esmeral, Ferrer & Lora, 2016; Giribet et al., 2012; Giribet, Maestripieri & Martínez Pería, 2018). A review of the definitions for frames in Krein spaces is given in Kamuda & Kużel (2019).

Our definition of Parseval *J*-frames is based on the concept of dual quasi-maximal subspaces introduced in Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja (2019) and discussed in Section 2. In Section 3 we define Parseval *J*-frames and establish their principal properties. In Section 4 we show that eigenfunctions of the harmonic oscillator  $H = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + x^2 + 2iax$ , associated with a  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric potential, constitute a Parseval *J*-frame, where *J* is the space parity operator.

## 2 Dual quasi-maximal subspaces

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space with inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  and let J be a non-trivial fundamental symmetry, i.e.,  $J = J^*$ ,  $J^2 = I$ , and  $J \neq \pm I$ . The space  $\mathcal{H}$  endowed with the indefinite inner product (indefinite metric)

$$[f,g] = (Jf,g), \qquad f,g \in \mathcal{H},$$

is called a *Kreĭn space;* it will be denoted by  $(\mathcal{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$ . All of the following topological notions are considered in the Hilbert space topology.

A closed subspace  $\mathcal{L}$  of the Kreĭn space  $(\mathcal{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$  is called *neutral, negative, or positive* if all nonzero elements  $f \in \mathcal{L}$  are, respectively, neutral [f, f] = 0, negative [f, f] < 0, or positive [f, f] > 0. A subspace  $\mathcal{L}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$  is called *definite* if it is either positive or negative. Subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$  are called *dual* if  $\mathcal{L}_{+}$  is positive,  $\mathcal{L}_{-}$  is negative, and they are orthogonal with respect to the indefinite metric (*J-orthogonal*), the latter meaning that  $[f_{+}, f_{-}] = 0$  for all  $f_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}$ .

In each of the above mentioned classes we can define maximal subspaces. For instance, a closed positive subspace  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}$  is called *maximal positive* if  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}$  is not a proper subspace of a positive subspace in the Krein space  $(\mathcal{H}, [\cdot, \cdot])$ . Similarly, subspaces  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  are called *dual maximal definite* if they are dual,  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  is maximal positive, and  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  is maximal negative.

The pair of subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_{+} = \ker (I - J)$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{-} = \ker (I + J)$  in the fundamental decomposition of the Kreĭn space

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{+} \left[ \oplus \right] \mathcal{H}_{-} \tag{2.1}$$

is an example of dual maximal definite subspaces; the brackets in (2.1) mean that  $\mathcal{H}_{\pm}$  are orthogonal with respect to  $[\cdot, \cdot]$ .

The next result follows from (Albeverio & Kuzhel, 2015; Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja, 2019).

**Lemma 2.1.** The subspaces  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  are dual maximal definite if and only if there exists a self-adjoint operator Q in  $\mathcal{H}$  that anticommutes with J, i.e.,

$$QJf = -JQf, \qquad f \in \mathcal{D}(Q),$$

such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{+}^{\max} = (I + \tanh Q/2)\mathcal{H}_{+} \quad and \quad \mathcal{L}_{-}^{\max} = (I + \tanh Q/2)\mathcal{H}_{-}.$$
 (2.2)

The self-adjoint strong contraction  $\tanh Q/2$  in (2.2) anticommutes with J and it characterizes the "deviation" of the dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{H}_{\pm}$ . By a *strong contraction* we mean an operator T such that ||Tf|| < ||f|| for nonzero f.

In view of Lemma 2.1, a self-adjoint operator Q can be considered as a parameter describing all possible pairs of dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$ . This fact allows one to associate with  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  a new Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ , which is determined as the completion of the direct sum

$$\mathcal{D}_{\max} = \mathcal{L}_{+}^{\max} \left[ \dot{+} \right] \mathcal{L}_{-}^{\max} \tag{2.3}$$

with respect to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{-Q} = \sqrt{(\cdot, \cdot)}$ , generated by the inner product

$$(f,g)_{-Q} = (e^{-Q}f,g), \qquad f,g \in \mathcal{D}_{\max}.$$

If Q is bounded, then  $\mathcal{D}_{\max} = \mathcal{H}$ , the space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$  coincides with  $\mathcal{H}$  (as the set of elements), and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{-Q}$  is equivalent to the initial inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ .

Let  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  be a pair of dual definite subspaces such that their J-orthogonal sum

$$\mathcal{L}_{+}\left[\dot{+}\right]\mathcal{L}_{-} \tag{2.4}$$

is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Due to the Phillips result (Phillips, 1961: Theorem 2.1), the pair  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  can be extended to dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$ . In general, this extension is not determined uniquely, see (Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja, 2019; Langer, 1970).

**Definition 2.2.** The dual definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  are called *quasi-maximal* if their direct sum (2.4) is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$  and there exists extensions  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm} \to \mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  to dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  such that (2.4) is a dense set in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$  associated with  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$ .

The next technical result was proved in Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja (2019: Lemma 4.7).

**Lemma 2.3.** Let  $\mathcal{L}_+$  and  $\mathcal{L}_-$  be a pair of dual definite subspaces and let  $\mathcal{L}_+^{\max}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_-^{\max}$  be their extensions to the dual maximal definite subspaces, respectively. Moreover, let  $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_+ \oplus \mathcal{M}_-$  be a subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ , where  $\mathcal{M}_\pm$  determine  $\mathcal{L}_\pm \subset \mathcal{L}_\pm^{\max}$  in (2.2), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{L}_{+} = (I + \tanh Q/2)\mathcal{M}_{+}, \quad \mathcal{L}_{-} = (I + \tanh Q/2)\mathcal{M}_{-}, \quad \mathcal{M}_{+} \subset \mathcal{H}_{+}, \quad \mathcal{M}_{-} \subset \mathcal{H}_{-}.$$
(2.5)

Then the direct sum (2.4) is dense in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ , constructed by  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$ , if and only if

$$\mathcal{R}(\cosh^{-1}Q/2) \cap (\mathcal{H} \ominus \mathcal{M}) = \{0\}.$$

The direct sum (2.4) allows one to define the operator

$$Sf = S(f_+ + f_-) = Jf_+ - Jf_-, \qquad f_\pm \in \mathcal{L}_\pm.$$

with the domain  $\mathcal{D}(S) = \mathcal{L}_+ [\dot{+}] \mathcal{L}_-$ . It follows from (Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja, 2019) that S is a densely defined symmetric operator in  $\mathcal{H}$  and

$$(S(f_+ + f_-), f_+ + f_-) = [f_+, f_+] - [f_-, f_-] > 0$$

Similarly, the direct sum (2.3) of dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  determines a positive selfadjoint operator

$$Af = A(f_{+} + f_{-}) = Jf_{+} - Jf_{-}, \quad f_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}, \quad \mathcal{D}(A) = \mathcal{D}_{\max},$$
 (2.6)

which is an extension of S when the pair  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  is an extension of  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$ , see (Albeverio & Kuzhel, 2015; Kamuda, Kuzhel & Sudilovskaja, 2019).

From the construction it follows that  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm} = (I \pm JS)\mathcal{D}(S)$ . Therefore, S determines the subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  and one can expect that the quasi-maximality of  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  can be characterized in terms of self-adjoint extensions of S. For this reason, we recall from Arlinskii et al. (2001) that a nonnegative self-adjoint extension A of S is called *an extremal extension* if

$$\inf_{f \in \mathcal{D}(S)} \left( A(\phi - f), (\phi - f) \right) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \phi \in \mathcal{D}(A).$$
(2.7)

The Friedrichs extension and the Kreĭn-von Neumann extension are examples of extremal extensions of S.

**Theorem 2.4.** The dual definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  are quasi-maximal if and only if there exists an extremal extension  $A = e^{-Q}$  of S, where Q anticommutes with J.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  be quasi-maximal subspaces and let  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  be the corresponding dual maximal definite subspaces as in Definition 2.2. Due to Lemma 2.1, the spaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  are defined by (2.2). Therefore, vectors  $f_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  have the form  $f_{\pm} = (I + \tanh Q/2)x_{\pm}$ , with  $x_{\pm} \in \mathcal{H}_{\pm}$ , and the operator A defined by (2.6) acts as follows:

$$A(f_{+} + f_{-}) = (I - \tanh Q/2)x_{+} + (I - \tanh Q/2)x_{-} = e^{-Q}(f_{+} + f_{-}).$$
(2.8)

Here we used the relations  $Jx_{\pm} = \pm x_{\pm}$ ,  $e^{-Q}(I + \tanh Q/2) = I - \tanh Q/2$ , and the fact that  $\tanh Q/2$  anticommutes with J. Therefore  $A = e^{-Q}$  is a self-adjoint extension of S. Now we

should prove that A is an extremal extension. To do that, we rewrite (2.7) with the use of  $\|\cdot\|_{-Q}$ ,

$$\inf_{f \in \mathcal{D}(S)} \left( A(\phi - f), (\phi - f) \right) = \inf_{f \in \mathcal{D}(S)} \|\phi - f\|_{-Q}^2 = 0 \quad \text{for all } \phi \in \mathcal{D}(e^{-Q}).$$

and take into account that  $\mathcal{D}(S)$  is dense in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ .

The converse statement is obvious: the required dual maximal definite subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max}$  in Definition 2.2 are determined by the formula  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}^{\max} = (I \pm JA)\mathcal{D}(A)$ , where  $A = e^{-Q}$  and Q anticommutes with J.

## 3 Parseval *J*-frames

**Definition 3.1.** A set of vectors  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} = \{\varphi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  is called a *Parseval J-frame* if there exists a pair of dual quasi-maximal subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  such that each vector  $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  belongs either to  $\mathcal{L}_+$  or  $\mathcal{L}_-$ , and

$$|[f_{\pm}, f_{\pm}]| = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} |[f_{\pm}, \varphi_j]|^2 \quad \text{for all } f_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}.$$
(3.1)

**Theorem 3.2.** For each Parseval *J*-frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  there exists a self-adjoint operator Q which anticommutes with J, such that  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is a Parseval frame in a new Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ .

*Proof.* Each Parseval *J*-frame is associated with certain dual quasi-maximal subspaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$ . According to Definition 2.2, there exists a self-adjoint operator Q which anticommutes with J and which is such that the direct sum  $\mathcal{L}_{+} + \mathcal{L}_{-}$  is dense in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ . In view of (2.6) and (2.8),

$$e^{-Q}f = e^{-Q}(f_+ + f_-) = Jf_+ - Jf_-, \qquad f_\pm \in \mathcal{L}_\pm^{\max}.$$

This means that the subspaces  $\mathcal{L}^{\max}_{\pm}$  are orthogonal with respect to the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{-Q}$  of  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ . Moreover,

$$||f_{\pm}||_{-Q}^{2} = |[f_{\pm}, f_{\pm}]|, \quad (f_{\pm}, g_{\pm})_{-Q} = \pm [f_{\pm}, g_{\pm}], \quad f_{\pm}, g_{\pm} \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}.$$
(3.2)

Taking these relations into account, we rewrite (3.1) as

$$||f||_{-Q}^{2} = ||f_{+}||_{-Q}^{2} + ||f_{-}||_{-Q}^{2} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} |(f_{\pm}, \varphi_{j})_{-Q}|^{2}$$
(3.3)

for  $f = f_+ + f_- \in \mathcal{L}_+ [\dot{+}] \mathcal{L}_-$ . The relation (3.3) is extended to all  $f \in \mathcal{H}_{-Q}$  with the use of (Christensen, 2016: Lemma 5.1.7).

By Theorem 3.2 every Parseval *J*-frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  turns out to be a Parseval frame in a suitably chosen Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$  and the following reconstruction formula holds

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} (f, \varphi_j)_{-Q} \varphi_j, \qquad f \in \mathcal{H}_{-Q},$$
(3.4)

see (1.3), where the series converges in  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ . Assuming that  $f = f_+ + f_- \in \mathcal{L}_+ [\dot{+}] \mathcal{L}_-$  and using

the second relation in (3.2) we obtain

$$(f,\varphi_j)_{-Q} = (f_+,\varphi_j)_{-Q} = [f_+,\varphi_j] = [f,\varphi_j], \qquad \varphi_j \in \mathcal{L}_+; \\ (f,\varphi_j)_{-Q} = (f_-,\varphi_j)_{-Q} = -[f_-,\varphi_j] = -[f,\varphi_j], \qquad \varphi_j \in \mathcal{L}_-.$$

Therefore, for  $f \in \mathcal{L}_+ [\dot{+}] \mathcal{L}_-$ , the series (3.4) takes the form

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} \, \delta_j[f, \varphi_j] \varphi_j, \qquad \delta_j = \operatorname{sgn}([\varphi_j, \varphi_j]).$$

The obtained relation leads to the conclusion that

$$[f,f] = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} \delta_j |[f,\varphi_j]|^2.$$

As was mentioned above, one of the characteristic properties of J-frames is the possibility to interpret the signal f as a noise if its indefinite metric [f, f] is close to 0. Given that fact, a Parseval J-frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  turns out to be useful. The above formula allows one to extract vectors f, which represent a noise by evaluation of the indefinite metric coefficients  $[f, \varphi_j]$ . The next statement shows that Parseval J-frames can be easily constructed.

**Theorem 3.3.** Let  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} = \{\varphi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  be a complete set in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is a Parseval J-frame.
- (ii) There exist a, not necessarily bounded, self-adjoint operator Q in  $\mathcal{H}$ , which anticommutes with J, and a Parseval frame  $\mathcal{F}_e = \{e_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  consisting of eigenfunctions of the operator J, i.e.,  $Je_j = e_j$  or  $Je_j = -e_j$ , such that

$$\varphi_j = e^{Q/2} e_j, \qquad j \in \mathbb{J}. \tag{3.5}$$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) In view of Theorem 3.2, there exists a self-adjoint operator Q in  $\mathcal{H}$  that anticommutes with J and  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is a Parseval frame in the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ . Setting  $f \in \mathcal{D}(e^{-Q/2}) \subset \mathcal{H}_{-Q}$  in (3.4) and taking into account that  $\varphi_j \in \mathfrak{L}_+[\dot{+}] \mathfrak{L}_- \subset \mathcal{D}(e^{-Q})$  we arrive at the conclusion that

$$\|\gamma\|^2 = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{J}} \ |(\gamma,e^{-Q/2}\varphi_j)|^2$$

for all  $\gamma = e^{-Q/2} f$  in the set  $\mathcal{R}(e^{-Q/2})$  which is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ . By Christensen (2016: Lemma 5.1.9) the obtained equality can be extended to the whole space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_e = \{e_j = e^{-Q/2}\varphi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  is a Parseval frame in  $\mathcal{H}$  and the relation (3.5) holds.

The definition of  $e_j$  gives us that  $e_j \in \mathcal{D}(e^{Q/2}) \cap \mathcal{D}(e^{-Q/2})$ , since  $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{D}(e^{-Q})$ . Therefore, it belongs to the domain of definition of the operator  $\cosh Q/2 = \frac{1}{2}(e^{Q/2} + e^{-Q/2})$ . Moreover,

$$(I + \tanh Q/2) \cosh Q/2 e_j = (\cosh Q/2 + \sinh Q/2) e_j = e^{Q/2} e_j = \varphi_j \in \mathcal{L}_{\pm}.$$
 (3.6)

Comparing the above relation with (2.2) and taking into account that  $\ker (I + \tanh Q/2) = \{0\}$ (since  $\tanh Q/2$  is a strong contraction) we arrive at the conclusion that

$$\cosh Q/2 e_i \in \mathcal{H}_+ \quad \text{or} \quad \cosh Q/2 e_i \in \mathcal{H}_-.$$
 (3.7)

Since  $\cosh Q/2$  commutes with J, one has

$$J\cosh Q/2 = J\frac{1}{2} \left( e^{Q/2} + e^{-Q/2} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( e^{-Q/2} + e^{Q/2} \right) J = \cosh Q/2 J.$$

Therefore formula (3.7) implies that  $e_j \in \mathcal{H}_+ = \ker (I - J)$  or  $e_j \in \mathcal{H}_- = \ker (I + J)$ .

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) In view of (3.5),

$$\begin{split} [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] &= (Je^{Q/2}e_j, e^{Q/2}e_i) = (e^{-Q/2}Je_j, e^{Q/2}e_i) \\ &= (Je_j,e_i) = \begin{cases} (e_j,e_i), & e_j, e_i \in \mathcal{H}_+, \\ -(e_j,e_i), & e_j, e_i \in \mathcal{H}_-, \\ 0, & e_j \in \mathcal{H}_\pm, e_i \in \mathcal{H}_\mp \end{cases} \end{split}$$

This means that each non-zero vector  $f \in \text{span} \{ \varphi_n = e^{Q/2} e_n : e_n \in \mathcal{H}_+ \}$  is positive, because

$$[f,f] = \left[\sum_{j} c_j \varphi_j, \sum_{k} c_k \varphi_k\right] = \sum_{j,k} c_j \overline{c}_k(e_j, e_k) = \left(\sum_{j} c_j e_j, \sum_{k} c_k e_k\right) = \|e^{-Q/2}f\|^2.$$

Similarly, vectors  $g \in \text{span} \{ \varphi_j = e^{Q/2} e_j : e_j \in \mathcal{H}_- \}$  are negative. Obviously, [f, g] = 0.

Denote by  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  the completion of span  $\{\varphi_j = e^{Q/2}e_j : e_j \in \mathcal{H}_{\pm}\}$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ . By the construction,  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  are dual definite subspaces. Furthermore, for each  $f \in \mathcal{L}_+$ ,

$$[f,\varphi_j] = (Jf, e^{Q/2}e_j) = (f, Je^{Q/2}e_j) = (f, e^{-Q/2}Je_j) = (e^{-Q/2}f, e_j).$$

Taking into account that  $\mathcal{F}_e = \{e_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  is a Parseval frame, we get

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} |[f,\varphi_j]|^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} |(e^{-Q/2}f,e_j)|^2 = ||e^{-Q/2}f||^2 = (f,f)_{-Q} = [f,f], \qquad f \in \mathcal{L}_+.$$

Similarly, for  $f \in \mathcal{L}_{-}, \; [f, \varphi_j] = -(e^{-Q/2}f, e_j)$  and

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} \ |[f,\varphi_j]|^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{J}} \ |(e^{-Q/2}f,e_j)|^2 = \|e^{-Q/2}f\|^2 = (f,f)_{-Q} = -[f,f]$$

This analysis leads to the conclusion that (3.1) holds. To complete the proof, it suffices to verify that the spaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  are quasi-maximal. To this end, we show that  $\mathcal{L}_{+}[\dot{+}]\mathcal{L}_{-}$  is a dense set in  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ .

Taking into account that the spaces  $\mathcal{L}_{\pm}$  are defined as completions of span $\{\varphi_j\}$ , as above, and comparing the formulas (2.5) and (3.6) we arrive at the conclusion that  $\mathcal{M}$  coincides with the completion of span  $\{\cosh Q/2 e_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$ . Hence,

$$\mathcal{H} \ominus \mathcal{M} = \mathcal{H} \ominus \operatorname{span} \left\{ \cosh Q / 2 \, e_j \right\}.$$

Assume that  $\mathcal{L}_+[\dot{+}]\mathcal{L}_-$  is not dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ . Then, in view of Lemma 2.3, there exists a vector  $p = \cosh^{-1} Q/2 \, u \neq 0$ , such that  $p \in \mathcal{H} \ominus \mathcal{M}$ , i.e.,

$$0 = (p, \cosh Q/2 e_j) = (\cosh^{-1} Q/2 u, \cosh Q/2 e_j) = (u, e_j) \quad \text{for all } e_j \in \mathcal{F}_e.$$

Since  $\mathcal{F}_e$  is a Parseval frame in  $\mathcal{H}$ , this means that u = 0 and ,hence, p = 0; a contradiction. Consequently,  $\mathcal{L}_+[\dot{+}]\mathcal{L}_-$  is a dense set in  $\mathcal{H}_{-Q}$ .

## 4 Harmonic oscillator with $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric potential

In the space  $\mathcal{H} = L_2(\mathbb{R})$  we consider the fundamental symmetry  $J = \mathcal{P}$ , where  $\mathcal{P}f(x) = f(-x)$  is the space parity operator. The subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_{\pm}$  of the fundamental decomposition (2.1) coincide with the subspaces of even and odd functions of  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ .

The Hermite functions

$$e_j(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^j j! \sqrt{\pi}}} H_j(x) e^{-x^2/2}, \quad H_j(x) = e^{x^2/2} \left(x - \frac{d}{dx}\right)^j e^{-x^2/2}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$$

are eigenfunctions,  $H_0e_j = (2j+1)e_j$ , of the harmonic oscillator

$$H_0 = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + x^2, \qquad \mathcal{D}(H_0) = \{ f \in W_2^2(\mathbb{R}) : x^2 f \in L_2(\mathbb{R}) \}$$

and they form an orthonormal basis  $\mathcal{F}_e = \{e_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  of  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ . The functions  $e_j$  are even or odd for j being even or odd, respectively. This means that  $e_j \in \mathcal{H}_+$  or  $e_j \in \mathcal{H}_-$ . Since the functions  $e_j(x)$  are entire functions on  $\mathbb{C}$ , their complex shift can be defined:

$$\varphi_j(x) := e_j(x+ia), \qquad a \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}, \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

The set  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi} = \{\varphi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  is complete in  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ , see (Mityagin, Siegl & Viola, 2017: Lemma 2.5); in the following the dependence on a will not be explicitly indicated. Applying the Fourier transform

$$Ff = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-ix\xi} f(x) \, dx$$

to  $\varphi_j$ , we obtain  $F\varphi_j = e^{-a\xi}Fe_j$ . Therefore,  $\varphi_j = F^{-1}e^{-a\xi}Fe_j$ . The last relation can be rewritten as

$$\varphi_j = e^{Q/2} e_j,$$

where  $Q = 2ai \frac{d}{dx}$ ,  $\mathcal{D}(Q) = W_2^1(\mathbb{R})$ , is a self-adjoint operator in  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$  that anticommutes with  $J = \mathcal{P}$  in  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ . By virtue of Theorem 3.3, the set  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is a Parseval *J*-frame.

The set  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  cannot be a Schauder basis in  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ . Indeed, assume that  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  is a Schauder basis. Then, by Heil (2011: Theorem 4.13),

$$1 \le \|\varphi_j\| \, \|\psi_j\| \le C, \qquad j \in \mathbb{J}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_{\psi} = \{\psi_j : j \in \mathbb{J}\}$  is the bi-orthogonal sequence for  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$ . It is easy to see that

$$\psi_j = \operatorname{sgn}([\varphi_j, \varphi_j]) J \varphi_j.$$

Hence, the last inequalities take the form  $1 \le \|\varphi_j\|^2 \le C$ . On the other hand, by (Mityagin, Siegl & Viola, 2017: Theorem 2.6)

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{j}} \log \|\varphi_j\|^2 = 2^{3/2} |a|,$$

which contradicts the inequality  $\|\varphi_j\|^2 \leq C$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  cannot be a Schauder basis.

The functions of the Parseval J-frame  $\mathcal{F}_{\varphi}$  are simple eigenfunctions,  $H\varphi_j = (2j + 1 + a^2)\varphi_j$ , of

the non-self-adjoint operator:

$$H = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + x^2 + 2iax, \qquad \mathcal{D}(H) = \mathcal{D}(H_0),$$

see (Mityagin, Siegl & Viola, 2017: Lemma 2.4). The operator H can be considered as a perturbation of the harmonic oscillator  $H_0$  by a  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetric potential V(x) = 2iax, i.e.,  $H = H_0 + V$ . The  $\mathcal{PT}$ -symmetry of V(x) means that  $\mathcal{PTV}(x) = V(x)\mathcal{PT}$ , where  $\mathcal{T}$  is the complex conjugation operator, i.e.,  $\mathcal{T}f = \overline{f}$ .

## References

Acosta-Humánez, P., Esmeral, K. & Ferrer, O. (2015). Frames of subspaces in Hilbert spaces with W-metrics. An. Stiint. Univ. "Ovidius" Constanța Ser. Mat. 23, 5–22.

Albeverio, S. & Kuzhel, S. (2015). *PT*-symmetric operators in quantum mechanics: Krein spaces methods. In *Non-Selfadjoint Operators in Quantum Physics*. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

Arlinskii, Y.M., Hassi, S., Sebestyén, Z. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2001). On the class of extremal extensions of a nonnegative operator. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 127, 41–81.

Christensen, O. (2016). An Introduction to Frames and Riesz Bases. Second edition. Boston: Birkhäuser.

Escobar, G., Esmeral, K. & Ferrer, O. (2016). Construction and coupling of frames in Hilbert spaces with *W*-metrics. *Rev. Integr. Temas Mat.* 34, 81–93.

Esmeral, K., Ferrer, O. & Lora, B. (2016). Dual and similar frames in Krein spaces. *I. J. Math. Anal.* 10, 932–952.

Esmeral, K., Ferrer, O. & Wagner, E. (2015). Frames in Krein spaces arising from a non-regular *W*-metric. *Banach J. Math. Anal.* 9, 1–16.

Giribet, J.I., Maestripieri, A. & Martínez Pería, F. (2018). Duality for frames in Krein spaces. *Math. Nachr.* 291, 879–896.

Giribet, J. I., Maestripieri, A., Martínez Pería, F. & Massey, P. G. (2012). On frames for Krein spaces. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 393, 122–137.

Heil, C. (2011). A Basis Theory Primer. Boston, Mass.: Birkhäuser.

Kamuda, A. & Kużel, S. (2019). On J-frames related to maximal definite subspaces. Ann. Funct. Anal. 10, 106–121.

Kamuda, A. & Kużel, S. (2020). On description of dual frames. arXiv:2007.09216.

Kamuda, A., Kuzhel, S. & Sudilovskaja, V. (2019). On dual definite subspaces in Krein space. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 13, 1011–1032.

Langer, H. (1970). Maximal dual pairs of invariant subspaces of *J*-self-adjoint operators. *Mat. Za-metki* 7, 443–447. (In Russian: English translation in *Math. Notes* 7 (1970), 269–271.)

Mallat, S. (1999). A Wavelet Tour of Signal Processing. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Mityagin, B., Siegl, P. & Viola, J. (2017). Differential operators admitting various rates of spectral projection growth. *J. Funct. Anal.* 272, 3129–3175.

Phillips, R.S. (1961). The extension of dual subspaces invariant under an algebra. *Proc. of the International Symposium on Linear Spaces*, Jerusalem 1960, 366–398. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Department of Applied Mathematics, AGH University of Science and Technology, 30-059 Kraków, Poland *E-mail address*: kuzhel@agh.edu.pl, kamuda@agh.edu.pl

## IDEMPOTENT RELATIONS, SEMI-PROJECTIONS, AND GENERALIZED INVERSES

Jean-Philippe Labrousse, Adrian Sandovici, Henk de Snoo, and Henrik Winkler

Dedicated to our friend Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his sixtieth birthday

## 1 Introduction

As a motivation for this paper, consider the identities

$$ABA = A$$
 and  $BAB = B$ , (1.1)

where  $A \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{K})$  and  $B \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{H})$  for Hilbert spaces  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$ , which have been studied in the literature in much detail. Clearly, if (1.1) holds, then the operators  $BA \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{H})$  and  $AB \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{K})$  are both idempotent. If A is invertible, i.e.,  $A^{-1} \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{H})$ , then  $B = A^{-1}$  makes (1.1) valid. However, given any  $A \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{K})$  with ran A closed in  $\mathfrak{K}$ , there are also candidates for  $B \in \mathbf{B}(\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{H})$ , so that (1.1) is satisfied and so that, in addition,

$$(BA)^* = BA \quad \text{and} \quad (AB)^* = AB;$$
 (1.2)

thus BA and AB are orthogonal projections. In the matrix case, all this goes back to E.H. Moore (1920), A. Bjerhammar (1951), and R. Penrose (1955); see also, for instance, (Ben-Israel & Greville, 2003; Campbell & Meyer, 1991; Nashed, 1976; Rao & Mitra, 1971). An extension to the case that the operators A and B are unbounded can be found in Labrousse & M'Bekhta (1992) and Labrousse (1992). The purpose of the present paper is to look at the formal aspects of the identities in (1.1) and (1.2) in the wider context of linear relations, but in the absence of any topology, and to give a survey of the characteristic results.

In order to consider the identities (1.1) in an algebraic setting, let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Products of linear relations will be in the sense of relations. When the identities (1.1) are satisfied by linear relations A and B, then it is clear that the products BA and AB are idempotent relations in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$ , respectively; cf. Definition 5.1. In the present general context the conditions in (1.2) are replaced by

$$\operatorname{ran} BA \subset \operatorname{dom} BA \quad \operatorname{and} \quad \operatorname{ran} AB \subset \operatorname{dom} AB, \tag{1.3}$$

i.e., BA and AB are semi-projections; cf. Definition 5.3. The notions of idempotent relation and semi-projection go back to Labrousse (2003). Note, in particular, that if  $B = A^{-1}$ , the formal inverse of A, then the linear relations  $A^{-1}A$  and  $AA^{-1}$  are indeed semi-projections; cf. (2.1). There are various other possibilities to satisfy (1.1) and (1.3) by considering, instead of  $A^{-1}$ , specific choices for an algebraic operator part of  $A^{-1}$ .

Here is an outline of the contents of this paper. Some useful properties are recalled in Section 2. As a preparation there are several modifications of the notion of idempotent relation that will be

considered in Section 3 and Section 4. Idempotent relations and semi-projections are discussed in Section 5. Also the geometric meaning of semi-projections is explained there. Section 6 contains a resolvent identity for semi-projections. In Sections 7, 8, and 9 the cases  $A \subset ABA$ ,  $ABA \subset A$ , and A = ABA are considered, respectively; they serve as illustrations for the earlier sections. In Section 10 the previous cases are characterized in terms of set inclusions between A and  $B^{-1}$ . The notion of generalized inverse for linear relations is introduced in Section 11. It is shown in Section 12 that one may choose an operator part for  $A^{-1}$ , so that it serves as a generalized inverse. In Section 13 the results from Sections 3 and Section 4 are augmented.

## 2 Preliminaries

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces and let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Recall that a linear relation A is defined as a linear subspace of the product space  $\mathfrak{H} \times \mathfrak{K}$ , with dom A, ran A, ker A, and mul A being the domain, range, kernel, and multivalued part of A; cf. (Arens, 1961; Sandovici, de Snoo & Winkler, 2007); see also (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020). The inverse of a relation A is given by

$$A^{-1} := \{\{g, f\} : \{f, g\} \in A\},\$$

which is a linear relation from  $\Re$  to  $\Re$ . It is not difficult to see that the following componentwise sum decompositions hold

$$A^{-1}A = I_{\operatorname{dom} A} + (\{0\} \times \ker A) = I_{\operatorname{dom} A} + (\ker A \times \{0\}),$$
  

$$AA^{-1} = I_{\operatorname{ran} A} + (\operatorname{mul} A \times \{0\}) = I_{\operatorname{ran} A} + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A),$$
(2.1)

cf. (Behrndt, Hassi & de Snoo, 2020). Here, and in the following, all such products are meant in the sense of linear relations. In particular, it is useful to observe that for any linear relation A one has the identities

$$AA^{-1}A = A$$
 and  $A^{-1}AA^{-1} = A^{-1}$ , (2.2)

as can be easily verified by means of the identities in (2.1). Note that (2.1) shows that the terminology of inverse relation is a rather formal way of speaking.

Let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  such that  $L \subset R$ . If C is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}'$ , then  $CL \subset CR$ , while if C is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}'$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ , then  $LC \subset RC$ ; cf. (Arens, 1961).

Next a number of useful statements will follow.

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $L \subset R$  and dom  $L \supset \text{dom } R$ ;
- (ii)  $R = L + (\{0\} \times \text{mul } R)$ .

Moreover, the following statements are equivalent:

- (iii)  $L \subset R$  and ran  $L \supset ran R$ ;
- (iv)  $R = L \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker R \times \{0\}).$

Proof. By symmetry it suffices to show the equivalence between (i) and (ii).

(i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) It suffices to show that  $R \subset L + (\{0\} \times \text{mul } R)$ . For this purpose, let  $\{h, h'\} \in R$ . Since  $h \in \text{dom } R \subset \text{dom } L$ , there exists an element  $k' \in \mathfrak{K}$  such that  $\{h, k'\} \in L$ . Hence, with  $\varphi' = h' - k'$ , it follows that

$$\{h, h'\} = \{h, k'\} + \{0, \varphi'\},\$$

and thus  $\{0, \varphi'\} \in R$  or  $\varphi' \in \text{mul } R$ . Hence (ii) follows.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) This implication is trivial.

**Corollary 2.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) L = R;
- (ii)  $L \subset R$ , dom  $L \supset$  dom R, and mul  $L \supset$  mul R;
- (iii)  $L \subset R$ , ran  $L \supset$  ran R, and ker  $L \supset$  ker R.

**Corollary 2.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then the following statements hold:

- (a) If  $L \subset R$ , dom  $L = \mathfrak{H}$ , and mul  $R = \{0\}$ , then L = R.
- (b) If  $L \subset R$ , ran  $L = \Re$ , and ker  $R = \{0\}$ , then L = R.

**Definition 2.4.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . The relation L is said to be an *algebraic operator part* of R if

- (a)  $L \subset R$ ;
- (b) dom L = dom R;
- (c) mul  $L = \{0\}.$

As a consequence of Lemma 2.1 (ii), the following characterization of the algebraic operator part holds.

**Corollary 2.5.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let L and R be linear relations from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then L is an algebraic operator part of R if and only if

$$R = L + (\{0\} \times \text{mul } R), \text{ direct sum.}$$

**Definition 2.6.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let R be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . The relation R is said to be *decomposable* if there exists an algebraic operator part L of R.

In order to characterize the notion of a decomposable relation, it is helpful to introduce projections.

**Definition 2.7.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be a linear space with linear subspaces  $\mathfrak{X}$ ,  $\mathfrak{Y}$ , and  $\mathfrak{Z}$ , and assume the direct sum decomposition

$$\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{Y} + \mathfrak{Z}.$$

The projection P from  $\mathfrak{X}$  onto  $\mathfrak{Z}$ , parallel to  $\mathfrak{Y}$ , associated with this decomposition, is defined by Px := z, when x = y + z,  $x \in \mathfrak{X}$ ,  $y \in \mathfrak{Y}$ , and  $z \in \mathfrak{Z}$ .

Clearly, P is a well-defined linear operator in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , which is idempotent. Moreover, one sees that

dom 
$$P = \mathfrak{X}$$
, ran  $P = \mathfrak{Z}$ , and ker  $P = \mathfrak{Y}$ .

It is clear that a relation R is decomposable if and only if there exists a projection P such that

$$P: \operatorname{ran} R \to \operatorname{mul} R.$$

Let *L* be an algebraic operator part of *R*, in other words,  $R = L + (\{0\} \times \text{mul } R)$ , direct sum. Then the projection  $\mathbb{P}$  from *R* onto  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } R$  has the property ker  $\mathbb{P} = L$ . Conversely, any projection  $\mathbb{P}$  from *R* onto  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } R$  leads to an algebraic operator part of *R*.

**Lemma 2.8.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let R be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let P be a projection from ran R onto mul R. Then

$$\mathbb{P}\{x, y\} = \{0, Py\}, \qquad \{x, y\} \in R, \tag{2.3}$$

*defines a projection*  $\mathbb{P}$  *from* R *onto*  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } R$ *.* 

**Lemma 2.9.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let  $\mathbb{P}$  be a projection from R onto  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } R$ . Then  $\mathbb{P}$  is of the form (2.3), for some projection P from ran R to mul R, if and only if

$$\mathbb{P}\{x,0\} = \{0,0\}, \qquad \{x,0\} \in R.$$
(2.4)

*Proof.* Assume that the projection  $\mathbb{P}$  is of the form (2.3). Then the property (2.4) follows from property (2.3).

For the converse, let  $\mathbb{P}$  be the projection from R onto  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } R$ . Then for  $\{x, y\} \in R$  one has

$$\{x,y\} = \{u,v\} + \{0,\varphi\} \quad \text{with} \quad \{u,v\} \in \ker \mathbb{P} \quad \text{and} \quad \{0,\varphi\} = \mathbb{P}\{x,y\}.$$

It is clear that with this decomposition

$$P = \{\{y, \varphi\} : \{u, v\} \in R, \{0, \varphi\} \in \{0\} \times \text{mul } R\}$$

defines a linear relation from ran R onto mul R. Moreover, P is the graph of a linear operator, in fact of a projection, if the projection  $\mathbb{P}$  satisfies (2.4). In this case  $\varphi = Py$  and  $\mathbb{P}$  is of the form (2.3).

The discussion of operator parts in the presence of topologies is interesting. For the case of Hilbert spaces, see, for instance, (Hassi, de Snoo & Szafraniec, 2009).

## 3 Linear relations included in a product

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . If Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , then one can consider the product relation PQ, while if Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$  one can consider the product relation QP.

First consider the case that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then PQ is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and it is clear that dom  $PQ \subset \text{dom } Q$  and ran  $PQ \subset \text{ran } P$ . Hence, the following implication holds

$$P \subset PQ \quad \Rightarrow \quad \begin{cases} \operatorname{dom} P \subset \operatorname{dom} PQ \subset \operatorname{dom} Q, \\ \operatorname{ran} P = \operatorname{ran} PQ. \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

Therefore, Lemma 2.1 shows that

$$P \subset PQ \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad PQ = P + (\ker PQ \times \{0\}). \tag{3.2}$$

Such relations have some useful properties.

**Lemma 3.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Assume that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$  such that  $P \subset PQ$ . Then

$$\operatorname{dom} P \subset \ker P + \operatorname{ran} Q. \tag{3.3}$$

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

$$\ker P \subset \operatorname{ran} Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{dom} P \subset \operatorname{ran} Q, \tag{3.4}$$

and

$$\operatorname{dom} P = \ker P + \operatorname{ran} Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{ran} Q \subset \operatorname{dom} P. \tag{3.5}$$

*Proof.* To see (3.3), let  $x \in \text{dom } P$ . Then  $\{x, y\} \in P$  for some  $y \in \mathfrak{K}$ . Since  $P \subset PQ$  there exists an element  $z \in \mathfrak{H}$  such that  $\{x, z\} \in Q$  and  $\{z, y\} \in P$ . Hence

$$\{x - z, 0\} = \{x, y\} - \{z, y\} \in P,$$

which shows that  $x - z \in \ker P$ . Thus one concludes  $x = (x - z) + z \in \ker P + \operatorname{ran} Q$ . This shows (3.3). Clearly, the equivalences in (3.4) and (3.5) are consequences of (3.3).

Next consider the case that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then QP is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and it is clear that dom  $QP \subset \text{dom } P$  and ran  $QP \subset \text{ran } Q$ . Hence, it follows that

$$P \subset QP \quad \Rightarrow \quad \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{ran} P \subset \operatorname{ran} QP \subset \operatorname{ran} Q, \\ \operatorname{dom} P = \operatorname{dom} QP. \end{array} \right.$$

Therefore, Lemma 2.1 shows that

$$P \subset QP \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad QP = P \widehat{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} QP). \tag{3.6}$$

Such relations have some useful properties; cf. Lemma 3.1.

**Lemma 3.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Assume that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$  such that  $P \subset QP$ . Then

ran  $P \subset \text{mul } P + \text{dom } Q$ .

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

$$\operatorname{mul} P \subset \operatorname{dom} Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{ran} P \subset \operatorname{dom} Q,$$

and

$$\operatorname{ran} P = \operatorname{mul} P + \operatorname{dom} Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{dom} Q \subset \operatorname{ran} P.$$

## 4 Linear relations containing a product

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . As in the previous section the interplay between P and another linear relation Q is considered.

First consider the case that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then PQ is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and it is clear that ker  $Q \subset \ker PQ$  and mul  $P \subset \operatorname{mul} PQ$ . Hence it follows that

$$PQ \subset P \quad \Rightarrow \quad \begin{cases} \ker Q \subset \ker PQ \subset \ker P, \\ \operatorname{mul} PQ = \operatorname{mul} P. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1)$$

The relations that satisfy  $PQ \subset P$  have some useful properties.

**Lemma 4.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Assume that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$  such that  $PQ \subset P$ . Then

dom 
$$P \cap \operatorname{mul} Q \subset \ker P.$$
 (4.2)

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

$$\operatorname{mul} Q \subset \operatorname{dom} P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{mul} Q \subset \ker P, \tag{4.3}$$

and

dom 
$$P \cap \operatorname{mul} Q = \ker P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \ker P \subset \operatorname{mul} Q.$$
 (4.4)

*Proof.* To see (4.2), let  $x \in \text{dom } P \cap \text{mul } Q$ . Then  $\{x, y\} \in P$  for some  $y \in \mathfrak{K}$ , and  $\{0, x\} \in Q$ . Hence  $\{0, y\} \in PQ \subset P$  and therefore  $\{x, 0\} = \{x, y\} - \{0, y\} \in P$ , which shows that  $x \in \ker P$ . This shows (4.2). Clearly, the equivalences in (4.3) and (4.4) are consequences of (4.2).

Next consider the case that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then QP is a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and it is clear that ker  $P \subset \ker QP$  and mul  $Q \subset \operatorname{mul} QP$ . Hence it follows that

$$QP \subset P \quad \Rightarrow \quad \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{mul} Q \subset \operatorname{mul} QP \subset \operatorname{mul} P, \\ \ker QP = \ker P. \end{array} \right.$$

The linear relations that satisfy  $QP \subset P$  have some useful properties; cf. Lemma 4.1.

**Lemma 4.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Assume that Q is a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$  such that  $QP \subset P$ . Then

$$\operatorname{ran} P \cap \ker Q \subset \operatorname{mul} P.$$

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

 $\ker Q \subset \operatorname{ran} P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \ker Q \subset \operatorname{mul} P,$ 

and

$$\operatorname{ran} P \cap \ker Q = \operatorname{mul} P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{mul} P \subset \ker Q.$$

## 5 Idempotent linear relations and semi-projections

In this section the notions of idempotent linear relation and semi-projection are introduced. These definitions and corresponding lemmas go back to Labrousse (2003). The main aim of this section is to characterize semi-projections in terms of various equivalent conditions.

**Definition 5.1.** Let P be a linear relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then P is said to be *idempotent* if  $P^2 = P$ .

**Lemma 5.2.** Let P be a linear relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then P is idempotent if and only if I - P is idempotent.

*Proof.* It suffices to assume that P is idempotent and to prove that I - P is idempotent, i.e., to show that  $(I - P) = (I - P)^2$ .

 $(\subset)$  Let  $\{x, y\} \in I - P$ , then  $\{x, x - y\} \in P = P^2$ , so that  $\{x, z\} \in P$  and  $\{z, x - y\} \in P$  for some  $z \in H$ . Hence  $\{x + z, x + z - y\} \in P$  or  $\{x + z, y\} \in I - P$ , so that

$$\{x - z, y\} = \{2x, 2y\} - \{x + z, y\} \in I - P$$

Together with  $\{x, x - z\} \in I - P$ , this gives  $\{x, y\} \in (I - P)^2$ . Thus  $I - P \subset (I - P)^2$ .

 $(\supset)$  Let  $\{x, y\} \in (I - P)^2$ , then  $\{x, z\} \in I - P$  and  $\{z, y\} \in I - P$  for some  $z \in H$ . Consequently,  $\{x, x - z\} \in P$  and  $\{z, z - y\} \in P$ , so that  $\{x - z, x + y - 2z\} \in P$ . Thus one also has  $\{x, x + y - 2z\} \in P^2 = P$ , so that  $\{x, 2z - y\} \in I - P$ . This leads to

$$\{x, y\} = \{2x, 2z\} - \{x, 2z - y\} \in I - P.$$

Thus  $(I - P)^2 \subset I - P$ .

**Definition 5.3.** Let P be a linear relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then P is said to be a *semi-projection* if P is idempotent and ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$ .

**Lemma 5.4.** Let P be a linear relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then P is a semi-projection if and only if I - P is a semi-projection.

*Proof.* It suffices to show that with P also I - P is a semi-projection. For this purpose, assume that P is a semi-projection; thus P is idempotent and satisfies ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$ . Consequently I - P is idempotent by Lemma 5.2 and from the inclusion ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$  follows that

$$\operatorname{ran}(I-P) \subset \operatorname{dom} P + \operatorname{ran} P = \operatorname{dom} P = \operatorname{dom}(I-P).$$

Thus I - P is a semi-projection.

Observe that P is idempotent if and only if  $P \subset P^2$  and  $P^2 \subset P$ . Hence the results from Section 3 and Section 4 (with Q = P) may be applied.

**Proposition 5.5.** Let P be an idempotent relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) dom  $P = \ker P + \operatorname{ran} P$ ;
- (ii) ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$ ;
- (iii) mul  $P \subset \ker P$ ;
- (iv)  $\ker P \cap \operatorname{ran} P = \operatorname{mul} P$ .

Consequently, P is a semi-projection if and only if one of the preceding conditions holds.

*Proof.* (i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii) This follows from Lemma 3.1 with  $\Re = \mathfrak{H}$  and Q = P.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) The assumption ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$  implies mul  $P \subset \text{dom } P$ . Consequently, the equivalence in (4.3) of Lemma 4.1 with  $\mathfrak{K} = \mathfrak{H}$  and Q = P yields that mul  $P \subset \ker P$ .

(iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) The assumption mul  $P \subset \ker P$  implies mul  $P \subset \operatorname{dom} P$ . Consequently, the first equivalence in Lemma 3.2 with  $\mathfrak{K} = \mathfrak{H}$  and Q = P yields that ran  $P \subset \operatorname{dom} P$ .

(iii)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (iv) This follows from Lemma 4.2 with  $\Re = \Re$  and Q = P.

Furthermore, it is useful to note that with P also  $P^{-1}$  is idempotent, which leads to the following proposition.

**Proposition 5.6.** Let P be an idempotent relation in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) ran P = mul P + dom P;
- (ii) dom  $P \subset \operatorname{ran} P$ ;
- (iii) ker  $P \subset \text{mul } P$ ;
- (iv) dom  $P \cap \text{mul } P = \ker P$ .

Consequently,  $P^{-1}$  is a semi-projection if and only if one of the preceding conditions holds.

*Proof.* Since with P also the inverse  $P^{-1}$  is idempotent, the equivalence of the items (i)–(iv) follows from applying Proposition 5.5 to the relation  $P^{-1}$ .

The notion of semi-projection has a simple geometric interpretation; cf. Definition 2.7. This geometric explanation goes back to discussions with Seppo Hassi.

**Proposition 5.7.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be a linear space. Let  $\mathfrak{X}$ ,  $\mathfrak{Y}$ , and  $\mathfrak{Z}$  be linear subspaces of  $\mathfrak{H}$ , and assume that

$$\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{Y} + \mathfrak{Z}. \tag{5.1}$$

Then the linear relation P in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , defined by

$$P = \{\{x, z\} : x = y + z, x \in \mathfrak{X}, y \in \mathfrak{Y}, z \in \mathfrak{Z}\},$$
(5.2)

is a semi-projection with the properties

dom 
$$P = \mathfrak{X}$$
, ran  $P = \mathfrak{Z}$ , ker  $P = \mathfrak{Y}$ , and mul  $P = \mathfrak{Y} \cap \mathfrak{Z}$ . (5.3)

Moreover, every semi-projection in  $\mathfrak{H}$  is of this form.

*Proof.* Assume that (5.1) is satisfied. Then it is clear that P in (5.2) is a well-defined linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Furthermore, P is idempotent. To see that  $P \subset P^2$ , observe that  $\{x, z\} \in P$  implies  $\{x, z\} \in P^2$ , since  $\{z, z\} \in P$ . Likewise, to see that  $P^2 \subset P$ , let  $\{x, z\} \in P^2$ . Then  $\{x, \psi\} \in P$  and  $\{\psi, z\} \in P$  for some  $\psi \in \mathfrak{Z}$ , and consequently, with some  $\varphi \in \mathfrak{Y}$  and  $\rho \in \mathfrak{Y}$  one has

$$x = \varphi + \psi$$
 and  $\psi = \rho + z$ .

Therefore  $x = \varphi + \rho + z$  with  $\varphi + \rho \in \mathfrak{Y}$  and, hence,  $\{x, z\} \in P$ . Consequently, P is idempotent. In addition, one sees that (5.3) is satisfied. Thus, it follows from Proposition 5.5 that P in (5.2) is a semi-projection.

Now let P be any semi-projection in  $\mathfrak{H}$ , so that P is idempotent and dom  $P = \ker P + \operatorname{ran} P$ ; cf. Proposition 5.5. Let  $\{x, z\} \in P$ . Then, by assumption,  $x = \alpha + \beta$  with  $\alpha \in \ker P$  and  $\beta \in \operatorname{ran} P$ , i.e.,  $\{\alpha, 0\} \in P$  and  $\{\gamma, \beta\} \in P$  for some  $\gamma \in \mathfrak{H}$ . Note that

$$\{x, z\} = \{\alpha, 0\} + \{\beta, z\},\$$

which implies that  $\{\beta, z\} \in P$ . As  $\{\gamma, \beta\} \in P$ , one also sees that  $\{\gamma, z\} \in P^2 = P$ , so that  $\beta - z \in \text{mul } P$ . Since  $\text{mul } P = \ker P \cap \operatorname{ran} P \subset \ker P$  by Proposition 5.5, it follows that

$$x = \alpha + \beta = \alpha + \beta - z + z$$
, where  $\alpha + \beta - z \in \ker P$ .

Thus the assertion follows with  $\mathfrak{X} = \operatorname{dom} P, \mathfrak{Y} = \ker P$ , and  $\mathfrak{Z} = \operatorname{ran} P$ .

In the context of Proposition 5.7 one can view P as a multivalued projection from  $\mathfrak{X}$  onto  $\mathfrak{Z}$ , parallel to  $\mathfrak{Y}$ , associated with the not necessarily direct decomposition (5.1).

## 6 A resolvent formula for semi-projections

This section contains a formula for the resolvent relation of a semi-projection in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . It may be convenient to first remember that for any linear relation P in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  the linear relation  $(\lambda I - P)^{-1}$  is called the *resolvent relation* of P

$$(\lambda I - P)^{-1} = \{\{\lambda x - y, x\} : \{x, y\} \in P\}.$$

Then it is clear that

$$\{x, y\} \in P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \{\lambda x - y, x\} \in (\lambda I - P)^{-1},$$
(6.1)

and setting  $y = \lambda x$  in (6.1) gives the equivalence

$$\{x, \lambda x\} \in P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \{0, x\} \in (\lambda I - P)^{-1}. \tag{6.2}$$

Now let P be a semi-projection in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , so that ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$  or, equivalently, mul  $P \subset \text{ker } P$ , see Proposition 5.5. Then the following observations are straightforward.

**Lemma 6.1.** Let P be a semi-projection in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$ 

$$\{x, \lambda x\} \in P \quad \Rightarrow \quad x \in \text{mul } P, \tag{6.3}$$

*while for all*  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$x \in \operatorname{mul} P \quad \Rightarrow \quad \{x, \lambda x\} \in P.$$
 (6.4)

*Proof.* Assume that  $\{x, \lambda x\} \in P$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then, since P is idempotent,  $\{x, \lambda^2 x\} \in P$ , and hence  $\{0, \lambda(\lambda - 1)x\} \in P$ . Thus (6.3) has been verified. Since mul  $P \subset \ker P$ , it is clear that  $x \in \operatorname{mul} P$  implies that  $\{x, \lambda x\} \in P$ . Thus (6.4) has been verified.  $\Box$ 

As a consequence of (6.4), it can be noted that semi-projections, that are not operators, have nontrivial singular chains; cf. (Sandovici, de Snoo & Winkler, 2004) and (Berger, de Snoo, Trunk & Winkler, 2021). In the general case of semi-projections, the resolvent identity in the following proposition is an identity between linear relations.

**Proposition 6.2.** Let P be a semi-projection in a linear space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . Then

$$(\lambda I - P)^{-1} = \left(\frac{1}{\lambda}I + \frac{1}{\lambda(\lambda - 1)}P\right) + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} P).$$
(6.5)

*Proof.* Assume that P is a semi-projection and that  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . If  $x \in \text{mul } P$ , then  $\{x, \lambda x\} \in P$  by Lemma 6.1. Hence, by (6.2), it follows that  $\{0, x\} \in (\lambda I - P)^{-1}$ . Consequently, one sees that

mul 
$$P \subset \operatorname{mul}(\lambda I - P)^{-1}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$
 (6.6)

Moreover, by (6.1), every element in  $(\lambda I - P)^{-1}$  is of the form  $\{\lambda x - y, x\}$  for some  $\{x, y\} \in P$ . Thus, thanks to ran  $P \subset \text{dom } P$ , it therefore follows that

$$\operatorname{dom}\left(\lambda I - P\right)^{-1} \subset \operatorname{dom} P, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(6.7)
Now the restriction  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$  will be assumed and the following inclusion will be established:

$$((\lambda - 1)I + P) \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \text{mul } P) \subset \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda I - P)^{-1}.$$
(6.8)

Observe that (6.6) gives mul  $P \subset \text{mul } \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda I - P)^{-1}$ , and thus

$$(\{0\} \times \text{mul } P) \subset \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda I - P)^{-1}.$$

Hence, in order to establish (6.8), it remains to show that

$$((\lambda - 1)I + P) \subset \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda I - P)^{-1}.$$

For this, observe that every element in  $(\lambda - 1)I + P$  is of the form  $\{x, (\lambda - 1)x + y\}$  for some  $\{x, y\} \in P$ . Hence, the required inclusion follows, once it is recalled that  $\{x, y\} \in P$  implies that  $x - y \in \ker P$ . Thus the inclusion (6.8) has been established.

The inclusion in (6.7) guarantees that in (6.8) the domain of the right-hand side is contained in the domain of the left-hand side when  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . Thanks to the equivalence (i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii) in Lemma 2.1, one concludes that there is equality in (6.8). It is clear that equality in (6.8) is equivalent to (6.5).

#### 7 The inclusion $A \subset ABA$

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Observe that the inclusion  $A \subset ABA$  can be written as

$$A \subset A(BA)$$
 or  $A \subset (AB)A$ . (7.1)

Hence, the inclusion  $A \subset ABA$  leads to some automatic identities.

**Lemma 7.1.** *Assume that*  $A \subset ABA$ *. Then* 

- (a) dom A = dom ABA = dom BA;
- (b) ran  $A = \operatorname{ran} ABA = \operatorname{ran} AB$ .

*Proof.* To see (a) apply the first conclusion in (3.1) with P = A and Q = BA, then

dom 
$$A \subset \text{dom } ABA \subset \text{dom } BA$$
,

and note that dom  $BA \subset \text{dom } A$ . To see (b) apply the second conclusion in (3.1) with P = A and Q = BA, then

$$\operatorname{ran} A = \operatorname{ran} ABA$$

and note that ran  $ABA \subset \operatorname{ran} AB \subset \operatorname{ran} A$ .

Due to the first inclusion in (7.1), Lemma 3.1 implies the following lemma.

**Lemma 7.2.** Assume that  $A \subset ABA$ . Then

dom  $A \subset \ker A + \operatorname{ran} BA$ .

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

 $\ker A \subset \operatorname{ran} BA \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{dom} A \subset \operatorname{ran} BA,$ 

and

dom 
$$A = \ker A + \operatorname{ran} BA \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{ran} BA \subset \operatorname{dom} A.$$

Due to the second inclusion in (7.1), Lemma 3.2 implies the following lemma.

**Lemma 7.3.** Assume that  $A \subset ABA$ . Then

ran  $A \subset \text{mul } A + \text{dom } AB$ .

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

 $\operatorname{mul} A \subset \operatorname{dom} AB \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{ran} A \subset \operatorname{dom} AB,$ 

and

 $\operatorname{ran}\, A = \operatorname{mul}\, A + \operatorname{dom}\, AB \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{dom}\, AB \subset \operatorname{ran}\, A.$ 

### 8 The inclusion $ABA \subset A$

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Observe that the inclusion  $ABA \subset A$  can be written as

$$A(BA) \subset A \quad \text{or} \quad (AB)A \subset A.$$
 (8.1)

Hence, the inclusion  $ABA \subset A$  leads to some automatic identities.

**Lemma 8.1.** *Assume that*  $ABA \subset A$ *. Then* 

- (a)  $\ker BA = \ker A = \ker ABA$ ;
- (b) mul AB = mul A = mul ABA.

*Proof.* To see (a) apply the first conclusion in (4.1) with P = A and Q = BA, then

$$\ker BA \subset \ker ABA \subset \ker A.$$

Hence, (a) holds, because ker  $A \subset \text{ker } BA$ . To see (b) apply the second conclusion in (4.1) with P = A and Q = BA, then

$$\operatorname{mul} ABA = \operatorname{mul} A,$$

and note that mul  $A \subset \text{mul } AB \subset \text{mul } ABA$ .

Due to the first inclusion in (8.1), Lemma 4.1 implies the following lemma.

**Lemma 8.2.** Assume that  $ABA \subset A$ . Then

dom  $A \cap \text{mul } BA \subset \ker A$ .

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

 $\operatorname{mul} BA \subset \operatorname{dom} A \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{mul} BA \subset \ker A,$ 

and

$$\operatorname{dom} A \cap \operatorname{mul} BA = \ker A \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \ker A \subset \operatorname{mul} BA.$$

Due to the second inclusion in (7.1), Lemma 4.2 implies the following lemma.

**Lemma 8.3.** Assume that  $ABA \subset A$ . Then

 $\operatorname{ran} A \cap \ker AB \subset \operatorname{mul} A.$ 

As a consequence the following equivalences hold:

 $\ker AB \subset \operatorname{ran} A \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \ker AB \subset \operatorname{mul} A,$ 

and

 $\operatorname{ran} A \cap \ker AB = \operatorname{mul} A \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{mul} A \subset \ker AB.$ 

#### 9 The identity A = ABA

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . The identity A = ABA leads to some automatic identities, which can be seen by combining Lemma 7.1 and Lemma 8.1 for the inclusions  $A \subset ABA$  and  $ABA \subset A$ , respectively.

**Lemma 9.1.** Assume that A = ABA. Then

- (a) dom BA = dom A;
- (b) ran  $AB = \operatorname{ran} A;$
- (c)  $\ker BA = \ker A;$
- (d) mul AB =mul A.

Furthermore, note that A = ABA implies that the products AB and BA are automatically idempotent relations in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$ , respectively; cf. Definition 5.1. To see this, recall that an identity between relations may be multiplied from the left or from the right remaining an identity; cf. (Arens, 1961). An application of the equivalences in Proposition 5.5 and Proposition 5.6 for the products AB and BA leads to the two following propositions giving necessary and sufficient conditions for AB and BA to be semi-projections; cf. Definition 5.3. Note that the identities from Lemma 9.1 have been used in the formulation of the following descriptions.

**Proposition 9.2.** Assume that ABA = A. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) dom  $AB = \ker AB + \operatorname{ran} A;$
- (ii) ran  $A \subset \text{dom } AB$ ;
- (iii) mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ ;
- (iv)  $\ker AB \cap \operatorname{ran} A = \operatorname{mul} A$ .

Consequently, the idempotent relation AB is a semi-projection if and only if one of the conditions (i)-(iv) holds. Moreover, the following statements are equivalent:

- (v) ran A = dom AB + mul A;
- (vi) dom  $AB \subset \operatorname{ran} A$ ;
- (vii) ker  $AB \subset \text{mul } A$ ;
- (viii) dom  $AB \cap \text{mul } A = \ker AB$ .

Consequently, the idempotent relation  $(AB)^{-1}$  is a semi-projection if and only if one of the conditions (v)-(viii) holds.

**Proposition 9.3.** Assume that ABA = A. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) dom  $A = \ker A + \operatorname{ran} BA$ ;
- (ii) ran  $BA \subset \text{dom } A$ ;
- (iii) mul  $BA \subset \ker A$ ;
- (iv)  $\ker A \cap \operatorname{ran} BA = \operatorname{mul} BA$ .

*Consequently, the idempotent relation BA is a semi-projection if and only if one of the conditions* (i)-(iv) *holds. Moreover, the following statements are equivalent:* 

- (v) ran BA = dom A + mul BA;
- (vi) dom  $A \subset \operatorname{ran} BA$ ;
- (vii) ker  $A \subset \text{mul } BA$ ;
- (viii) dom  $A \cap \text{mul } BA = \ker A$ .

Consequently, the idempotent relation  $(BA)^{-1}$  is a semi-projection if and only if one of the conditions (v)-(viii) holds.

#### 10 Characterizations of inclusions

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . First a simple but useful observation is presented.

**Lemma 10.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following equivalences hold:

$$\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A \subset (\ker A \times \{0\}) \widehat{+} B^{-1} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \operatorname{mul} A \subset \ker AB, \tag{10.1}$$

and

$$\ker A \times \{0\} \subset B^{-1} + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \ker A \subset \operatorname{mul} BA.$$
(10.2)

*Proof.* By symmetry it suffices to show (10.1).

 $(\Rightarrow)$  Let  $\rho \in \text{mul } A$ . Then  $\{0, \rho\} = \{x, 0\} + \{-x, \rho\}$  with  $x \in \ker A$  and  $\{\rho, -x\} \in B$ . Hence, it follows that  $\rho \in \ker AB$ .

(⇐) Let  $\rho \in \text{mul } A$ . Then  $\rho \in \ker AB$  implies  $\{\rho, x\} \in B$  and  $\{x, 0\} \in A$ , which gives that  $\{0, \rho\} = -\{x, 0\} + \{x, \rho\}$ . Therefore  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } A \subset (\ker A \times \{0\}) + B^{-1}$ .  $\Box$ 

Next it will be shown that each of the inclusions  $A \subset ABA$  and  $A \subset ABA$  gives a certain interplay between A and  $B^{-1}$ .

**Lemma 10.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $A \subset ABA$ ;
- (ii)  $A \subset (\ker A \times \{0\}) \widehat{+} B^{-1} \widehat{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A).$

Moreover, the following statements are equivalent:

- (iii)  $A \subset ABA$  and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ ;
- (iv)  $A \subset (\ker A \times \{0\}) \widehat{+} B^{-1}$ .

Finally, the following statements are equivalent:

- (v)  $A \subset ABA$  and ker  $A \subset \text{mul } BA$ ;
- (vi)  $A \subset B^{-1} + (\{0\} \times \text{mul } A)$ .

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Let  $\{u, v\} \in A$ . Then, by assumption,  $\{u, v\} \in ABA$ , and there exist elements  $s \in \mathfrak{K}$  and  $t \in \mathfrak{H}$  such that

$$\{u, s\} \in A, \quad \{s, t\} \in B, \quad \{t, v\} \in A,$$

which, since  $\{u, v\} \in A$ , implies that

 $\{u-t,0\}\in A \quad \text{and} \quad \{0,v-s\}\in A.$ 

Hence, it follows that

$$\{u, v\} = \{u - t, 0\} + \{t, s\} + \{0, v - s\} \in (\ker A \times \{0\}) \widehat{+} B^{-1} \widehat{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A).$$

Thus (ii) has been shown.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Let  $\{u, v\} \in A$ . Then, by assumption, there exist elements  $\alpha \in \ker A$  and  $\beta \in \operatorname{mul} A$ , such that

$$\{u, v\} = \{\alpha, 0\} + \{u - \alpha, v - \beta\} + \{0, \beta\},\$$

where  $\{v-\beta, u-\alpha\} \in B$ . Since  $\{u, v-\beta\} \in A$  and  $\{u-\alpha, v\} \in A$ , it follows that  $\{u, v\} \in ABA$ .

(iii)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (iv) This follows from the equivalence (i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii) and the equivalence (10.1) contained in Lemma 10.1.

(v)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (vi) This follows from the equivalence (i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii) and the equivalence (10.2) contained in Lemma 10.1.

As a direct corollary of the equivalences of (i) and (ii) in Lemma 10.2 one obtains the following characterization.

**Corollary 10.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $A \subset ABA$ , mul  $A \subset \ker B$ , and  $\ker A \subset \operatorname{mul} B$ ;
- (ii)  $A \subset B^{-1}$ .

The converse inclusions lead to a similar result.

**Lemma 10.4.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $ABA \subset A$ , ran  $B \subset \text{dom } A$ , and dom  $B \subset \text{ran } A$ ;
- (ii)  $B^{-1} \subset A$ .

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume the inclusion in (i) and let  $\{u, v\} \in B$ . Then it follows by assumption that there exist elements  $\varphi \in \mathfrak{H}$  and  $\psi \in \mathfrak{K}$  such that  $\{\varphi, u\} \in A$  and  $\{v, \psi\} \in A$ . Therefore one sees that  $\{\varphi, \psi\} \in ABA \subset A$ . As a consequence it follows that  $\{\psi, \varphi\} \in A^{-1}$ , which leads to  $\{v, u\} \in AA^{-1}A \subset A$  by (2.2), so that  $\{u, v\} \in A^{-1}$ . Thus  $B \subset A^{-1}$  or  $B^{-1} \subset A$ .

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Assume the inclusion in (ii). Then also  $B \subset A^{-1}$  which implies that

$$ABA \subset AA^{-1}A = A,$$

by means of (2.1).

Combining Corollary 10.3 and Lemma 10.4 gives the following result.

**Corollary 10.5.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

(i) A = ABA, mul A ⊂ ker B, ker A ⊂ mul B, ran B ⊂ dom A, and dom B ⊂ ran A;
(ii) A = B<sup>-1</sup>.

## 11 Characterization of generalized inverses

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Recall from Lemma 10.2 that

$$A \subset B^{-1} + (\ker A \times \{0\}) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad A \subset ABA \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{mul} A \subset \ker AB, \tag{11.1}$$

and, by symmetry, one obtains

$$B \subset A^{-1} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker B \times \{0\}) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad B \subset BAB \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{mul} B \subset \ker BA. \tag{11.2}$$

It is convenient to have extra conditions in (11.1) and (11.2) that guarantee identities A = ABA and B = BAB, respectively, instead of inclusions.

**Lemma 11.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $A \subset B^{-1} + (\ker A \times \{0\})$  and dom  $A \cap \operatorname{mul} B \subset \ker A$ ;
- (ii) A = ABA and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ .

Similarly, the following statements are equivalent:

- (iii)  $B \subset A^{-1} + (\ker B \times \{0\})$  and dom  $B \cap \operatorname{mul} A \subset \ker B$ ;
- (iv) B = BAB and mul  $B \subset \ker BA$ .

*Proof.* By symmetry, only the first equivalence needs to be verified.

(i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Due to the equivalence in (11.1), the first assumption in (i) implies that  $A \subset ABA$  and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ . To conclude A = ABA, it suffices by Corollary 2.2 to show that

dom  $ABA \subset \text{dom } A$  and  $\text{mul } ABA \subset \text{mul } A$ .

The first inclusion follows from Lemma 7.1. For the second inclusion note that the established inclusion mul  $A \subset \ker AB$  implies the inclusion mul  $ABA \subset \operatorname{mul} AB$ , while the assumption dom  $A \cap \operatorname{mul} B \subset \ker A$  implies the inclusion mul  $AB \subset \operatorname{mul} A$ .

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) The first statement in (i) is a consequence of A = ABA and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$  by the equivalence in (11.1). The assumption A = ABA implies by Lemma 8.2 the following inclusion dom  $A \cap \operatorname{mul} BA \subset \ker A$ . This gives the second statement since mul  $B \subset \operatorname{mul} BA$ .

Note that the consequences of the identity A = ABA can be found in Section 9. In case B = BAB one gets similar results by interchanging A and B. Let it suffice to mention that if A = ABA and B = BAB, then

dom 
$$BA = \text{dom } A$$
, ran  $AB = \text{ran } A$ , ker  $BA = \text{ker } A$ , mul  $AB = \text{mul } A$ ,  
dom  $AB = \text{dom } B$ , ran  $BA = \text{ran } B$ , ker  $AB = \text{ker } B$ , mul  $BA = \text{mul } B$ , (11.3)

as follows from Lemma 9.1; cf. (Labrousse, 1992). One can proceed with Lemma 9.2 and Lemma 9.3 in a similar way. Also recall that both AB and BA are idempotent when A = ABA and B = BAB. This leads to the following definition.

**Definition 11.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then A and B are said to be *generalized inverses (of each other)* if

$$ABA = A, \qquad BAB = B,$$

and, in addition, BA and AB are semi-projections in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$ , respectively.

In the above definition the linear relations A and B play a symmetric role. One also uses the terminology that B is a generalized inverse of A (or vice versa). Note that if  $B = A^{-1}$ , then A and B are generalized inverses. To see this, recall that  $AA^{-1}A = A$  and  $A^{-1}AA^{-1} = A^{-1}$ , while  $A^{-1}A$ and  $AA^{-1}$  are semi-projections; cf. (2.1) and (2.2). In the above mentioned terminology one can say that  $B = A^{-1}$  is a generalized inverse of A. The following theorem incorporates this special situation; see also (Labrousse, 2021).

**Theorem 11.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let B be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{K}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then A and B are generalized inverses of each other if and only if the following statements hold:

$$A + (\{0\} \times \ker B) = B^{-1} + (\ker A \times \{0\}), \tag{11.4}$$

$$\operatorname{mul} B \subset \ker A \quad and \quad \operatorname{mul} A \subset \ker B. \tag{11.5}$$

*Proof.* Assume that A and B are generalized inverses of each other. Then the assumptions that ABA = A and that BA is a semi-projection imply by Proposition 9.3 (iii) that mul  $BA \subset \ker A$ . Likewise, the assumptions that BAB = B and that AB is a semi-projection give mul  $AB \subset \ker B$ . Hence by (11.3) one sees that (11.5) is satisfied, which can also be written as

mul 
$$B \subset \ker AB$$
 and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ .

Together with the assumption ABA = A this gives via Lemma 11.1 that

$$A \subset B^{-1} + (\ker A \times \{0\})$$
 and  $B \subset A^{-1} + (\ker B \times \{0\})$ 

so that also

$$A \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \ker B) \subset B^{-1} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker A \times \{0\}) \text{ and } B \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \ker A) \subset A^{-1} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker B \times \{0\}),$$

which gives (11.4).

Conversely, assume that (11.4) and (11.5) hold. Then

$$A \subset B^{-1} + (\ker A \times \{0\})$$
 and  $\operatorname{mul} B \subset \ker A$ ,

so that by Lemma 11.1 one has A = ABA and mul  $A \subset \ker AB$ . Likewise, one concludes that B = BAB and mul  $B \subset \ker BA$ . Finally, Proposition 9.2 (iii) implies that AB and BA are semi-projections.

As to Definition 11.2, the question arises if for a linear relation A from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  one can choose a generalized inverse with special properties. For instance, does there exist a generalized inverse of A which is an operator?

#### 12 Special generalized inverses

Let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then, in general, its (formal) inverse relation  $A^{-1}$  is not the graph of an operator, since mul  $A^{-1} = \ker A$ . However, any projection from dom A onto ker A leads to an algebraic operator part of the relation  $A^{-1}$ ; cf. Section 2. It will be shown that any such algebraic operator part will serve as a generalized inverse.

Let Q be a projection from dom A onto ker A. Then the following identity holds

$$A(I-Q) = A. \tag{12.1}$$

To see this, observe that  $A(I - Q) = \{\{(I - Q)f, g\} : \{f, g\} \in A\}$  and that  $\{Qf, 0\} \in A$  when  $\{f, g\} \in A$ . As a consequence of (12.1) one obtains

$$A^{-1} = \{\{g, (I-Q)f\} : \{f,g\} \in A\}.$$
(12.2)

Note that if g = 0 in (12.2), then  $f = Qf \in \ker A$  and (I - Q)f = 0. In light of these facts, the following definition is natural.

**Definition 12.1.** Let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and let Q be a projection from dom A onto ker A. Then the linear relation

$$(A^{-1})_s = \{\{g, (I-Q)f\} : \{f,g\} \in A\}$$

is called the algebraic operator part of  $A^{-1}$  (relative to the projection Q).

**Lemma 12.2.** Let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and let  $(A^{-1})_s$  be the algebraic operator part of  $A^{-1}$ . Then

$$(A^{-1})_s A = I - Q \tag{12.3}$$

and

$$A(A^{-1})_s = I_{\operatorname{ran} A} + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A).$$
(12.4)

Proof. In order to verify (12.3) two inclusions will be shown.

 $(\subset)$  Let  $\{h, l\} \in (A^{-1})_s A$ . Then  $\{h, \varphi\} \in A$  and  $\{\varphi, l\} \in (A^{-1})_s$  for some  $\varphi \in \mathfrak{K}$ . Note that

 $\{\varphi,l\}=\{g,(I-Q)f\} \quad \text{for some} \quad \{f,g\}\in A,$ 

so that  $\varphi = g$  and l = (I - Q)f. In particular, it follows that  $\{h, g\} = \{h, \varphi\} \in A$  and thus Q(f - h) = 0. Since l = (I - Q)f, one obtains l = (I - Q)h. Therefore it follows that  $\{h, l\} = \{h, (I - Q)h\} \in I - Q$ . This shows  $(A^{-1})_s A \subset I - Q$ .

 $(\supset)$  Let  $\{h, l\} \in I - Q$ , then  $h \in \text{dom } A$  and l = (I - Q)h. Thus there exists some  $g \in \mathfrak{K}$  so that  $\{h, g\} \in A$  and also  $\{(I - Q)h, g\} \in A$ , i.e.,  $\{g, (I - Q)h\} \in (A^{-1})_s$ . Since l = (I - Q)h this implies that  $\{h, l\} \in (A^{-1})_s A$ . This shows the inclusion  $I - Q \subset (A^{-1})_s A$ .

In order to verify (12.4) two inclusions will be shown.

 $(\subset)$  It follows from (12.2) and (2.1) that

$$A(A^{-1})_s \subset AA^{-1} = I_{\operatorname{ran} A} + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} A).$$

( $\supset$ ) First observe that  $\{0\} \times \text{mul } A \subset A(A^{-1})_s$ . Next it will be shown that  $I_{\text{ran } A} \subset A(A^{-1})_s$ . To see this, let  $k \in \text{ran } A$ . Then there exists  $h \in \mathfrak{H}$  such that  $\{h, k\} \in A$  and also  $\{(I - Q)h, k\} \in A$ . Since  $\{k, (I - Q)h\} \in (A^{-1})_s$ , it follows that  $\{k, k\} \in A(A^{-1})_s$ . Hence  $I_{\text{ran } A} \subset A(A^{-1})_s$ .  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 12.3.** Let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and let  $(A^{-1})_s$  be the algebraic operator part of  $A^{-1}$ . Then

$$A(A^{-1})_s A = A, (12.5)$$

and

$$(A^{-1})_s A(A^{-1})_s = (A^{-1})_s. (12.6)$$

*Proof.* It follows from Lemma 12.2 that  $A(A^{-1})_s A = A(I - Q)$ . The statement in (12.5) now follows from (12.1).

Likewise, it follows from Lemma 12.2 that  $(A^{-1})_s A(A^{-1})_s = (I - Q)(A^{-1})_s$ . In order to show (12.6), it suffices to show that

$$(I-Q)(A^{-1})_s = (A^{-1})_s.$$
(12.7)

However, the identity (12.7) is clear, as it is a direct consequence of Definition 12.1 and the fact that I - Q is an idempotent operator.

A combination of Definition 12.1, Lemma 12.2, and Corollary 12.3 leads to the following theorem.

**Theorem 12.4.** Let A be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$  and let  $B = (A^{-1})_s$  be the algebraic operator part of its inverse. Then A and the operator B are generalized inverses.

In the presence of topologies and under additional condition there exist generalized inverses as in Definition 12.1; this goes beyond the context of this survey.

#### 13 Further characterizations

Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, and let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ . In Section 3 and Section 4 above, one can find results for the interplay with a second relation Q, either in  $\mathfrak{H}$  or  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Recall, in particular, that the inclusions  $P \subset PQ$  and  $P \subset QP$  were characterized in terms of identities in (3.2) and (3.6). In this section the various inclusions  $P \subset PQ$ ,  $P \subset QP$ ,  $PQ \subset P$ , and  $QP \subset P$  will be characterized in terms of inclusions.

**Lemma 13.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let Q be a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $P \subset PQ$ ;
- (ii) dom  $P \subset \text{dom } Q$  and
  - $Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{dom} P} \subset I_{\mathfrak{H}} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker P \times \{0\}) \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} Q).$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume that (i) holds. Then the first inclusion in (ii) is clear. To prove the second inclusion let  $\{x, t\} \in Q \upharpoonright_{\text{dom } P}$ . Since  $x \in \text{dom } P$  it follows that  $\{x, y\} \in P$  for some  $y \in \text{ran } P$  and thus  $\{x, y\} \in PQ$  by (i). Hence  $\{x, z\} \in Q$  and  $\{z, y\} \in P$  for some  $z \in \mathfrak{H}$ . Consequently,  $x - z \in \text{ker } P$  and  $t - z \in \text{mul } Q$ . Therefore one sees that

$$\{x,t\} = \{z,z\} + \{x-z,0\} + \{0,t-z\} \in I_{\mathfrak{H}} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\ker P \times \{0\}) \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} Q).$$

Hence the second inclusion in (ii) has been shown.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Assume that (ii) holds and let  $\{x, y\} \in P$ . Since dom  $P \subset \text{dom } Q$  one observes that  $\{x, t\} \in Q \upharpoonright_{\text{dom } P}$  for some  $t \in \mathfrak{H}$ . Then

$$\{x,t\} = \{v,v\} + \{u,0\} + \{0,m\},\$$

for some  $v \in \mathfrak{H}$ ,  $u \in \ker P$ , and  $m \in \operatorname{mul} Q$ . Then x = u + v, t = v + m so that

$$\{v, y\} = \{x - u, y\} = \{x, y\} - \{u, 0\} \in P,$$

and also,

$$\{x, v\} = \{x, t - m\} = \{x, t\} - \{0, m\} \in Q,$$

Consequently,  $\{x, y\} \in PQ$ . Hence (i) has been shown.

**Lemma 13.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let Q be a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $P \subset QP$ ;
- (ii) dom P = dom QP, mul  $P \subset \text{mul } QP$ , and

$$Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{ran} P} \subset I_{\mathfrak{K}} + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} QP).$$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume that (i) holds. Then, clearly, dom P = dom QP and mul  $P \subset \text{mul } QP$ . It remains to show the last inclusion in (ii). Let

$$\{x, y\} \in Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{ran} P \cap \operatorname{dom} Q},$$

so that  $x \in \operatorname{ran} P \cap \operatorname{dom} Q$ . Hence  $\{z, x\} \in P$  for some  $z \in \operatorname{dom} P$  and thus  $\{z, y\} \in QP$ . Furthermore observe that  $\{z, x\} \in P \subset QP$  by (i). Therefore,  $\{0, y - x\} = \{z, y\} - \{z, x\} \in QP$ , which further shows that

$$\{x, y\} = \{x, x\} + \{0, y - x\} \in I_{\mathfrak{K}} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \text{mul } QP).$$

Hence the last inclusion in (ii) holds.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Assume that (ii) holds. Let  $\{x, y\} \in P$  so that  $x \in \text{dom } P = \text{dom } QP$  by the identity in (ii). Then  $\{x, z\} \in QP$  for some  $z \in \text{ran } QP$ ; and thus  $\{x, t\} \in P$  and  $\{t, z\} \in Q$  for some  $t \in \text{ran } P \cap \text{dom } Q$ . It follows from  $\{t, z\} \in Q$  and the last inclusion in (ii) that  $t - z \in \text{mul } QP$ . This leads to

$$\{x,t\} = \{x,z\} + \{0,t-z\} \in QP.$$

It follows from  $\{x, y\}, \{x, t\} \in P$  that  $y - t \in \text{mul } P \subset \text{mul } QP$ , due to the first inclusion in (ii). Consequently,

$$\{x, y\} = \{x, t\} + \{0, y - t\} \in QP.$$

Thus  $P \subset QP$  and (i) has been shown.

**Lemma 13.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let Q be a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $PQ \subset P$ ,
- (ii) mul PQ = mul P, dom  $PQ \subset$  dom P, and

$$Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{dom} PQ} \subset I_{\mathfrak{H}} + (\ker P \times \{0\}) + (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} Q).$$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume that (i) holds. The identity and the first inclusion in (ii) are clear. Now let  $\{x, y\} \in Q \upharpoonright_{\text{dom } PQ}$ , so that  $\{x, t\} \in PQ$  for some  $t \in \text{ran } PQ$  and  $\{x, t\} \in P$  by (i). Note that  $\{x, z\} \in Q$  and  $\{z, t\} \in P$  for some  $z \in \mathfrak{H}$ . Consequently,  $x - z \in \ker P$  and  $y - z \in \operatorname{mul} Q$ . Therefore one sees that

$$\{x, y\} = \{z, z\} + \{x - z, 0\} + \{0, y - z\} \in I_{\mathfrak{H}} \widehat{+} (\ker P \times \{0\}) \widehat{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} Q).$$

Hence (ii) has been shown.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Assume that (ii) holds and let  $\{x, y\} \in PQ$ . Then  $x \in \text{dom } PQ$ ,  $\{x, \alpha\} \in Q$ , and  $\{\alpha, y\} \in P$  for some  $\alpha \in \mathfrak{H}$ . Since dom  $PQ \subset \text{dom } P$  it follows that  $\{x, \beta\} \in P$  for some  $\beta \in \mathfrak{K}$ . By the second inclusion in (ii) one sees that

$$\{x, \alpha\} = \{u, u\} + \{p, 0\} + \{0, m\},\$$

for some  $u \in \mathfrak{H}$ ,  $p \in \ker P$  and  $m \in \operatorname{mul} Q$ . Then x = p + u,  $\alpha = u + m$ , so that

$$\{m, y - \beta\} = -\{p + u, \beta\} + \{u + m, y\} + \{p, 0\} \in P.$$

Since  $\{0, m\} \in Q$  it follows that  $\{0, y - \beta\} \in PQ$ , so that  $y - \beta \in \text{mul } PQ = \text{mul } P$  by the identity in (ii). This implies that

$$\{x, y\} = \{x, \beta\} + \{0, y - \beta\} \in P.$$

Hence (i) has been shown.

**Lemma 13.4.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{K}$  be linear spaces, let P be a linear relation from  $\mathfrak{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{K}$ , and let Q be a linear relation in  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $QP \subset P$ ;
- (ii)  $Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{ran} P} \subset I_{\mathfrak{K}} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \operatorname{mul} P).$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume that (i) holds. Let  $\{x, y\} \in Q \upharpoonright_{\operatorname{ran} P}$ . Since  $x \in \operatorname{ran} P$  it follows that  $\{z, x\} \in P$  for some  $z \in \operatorname{dom} P$ . Thus,  $\{z, y\} \in QP \subset P$  by (i). This implies that

$$\{0, y - x\} = \{z, y\} - \{z, x\} \in P,$$

so that  $y - x \in \text{mul } P$ . Consequently,

$$\{x, y\} = \{x, x\} + \{0, y - x\} \in I_{\mathfrak{K}} \stackrel{\frown}{+} (\{0\} \times \text{mul } P).$$

Hence (ii) has been shown.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Now assume that (ii) holds. Let  $\{x, y\} \in QP$  so that  $\{x, z\} \in P$  and  $\{z, y\} \in Q$  for some  $z \in \operatorname{ran} P \cap \operatorname{dom} Q$ . It follows from (ii) that

$$\{z, y\} = \{z, z\} + \{0, y - z\},\$$

with  $y - z \in \text{mul } P$ , which further leads to

$$\{x, y\} = \{x, z\} + \{0, y - z\} \in P.$$

Hence  $QP \subset P$  which shows that (i)

Acknowledgement: The authors thank Rudi Wietsma for improvements in the exposition of various results in this paper.

#### References

Arens, R. (1961). Operational calculus of linear relations. Pacific J. Math. 11, 9-23.

Behrndt, J., Hassi, S. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2020). *Boundary Value Problems, Weyl Functions, and Differential Operators*. Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 108. Cham: Birkhäuser.

Ben-Israel, A. & Greville, T.N.E. (2003). *Generalized Inverses: Theory and Applications*. New York: Springer Verlag.

Berger, T., de Snoo, H.S.V., Trunk, C. & Winkler, H. (2021). Linear relations and their singular chains. To appear in *Methods Funct. Anal. Topology*.

Bjerhammar, A. (1951). Application of calculus of matrices to method of least squares; with special references to geodetic calculations. *Trans. Roy. Inst. Tech. Stockholm* 49, 1–86.

Campbell, S.L. & Meyer, C.D., Jr. (1991). *Generalized Inverses of Linear Transformations*. New York: Dover Publications.

Hassi, S., de Snoo, H.S.V. & Szafraniec, F.H. (2009). Componentwise and Cartesian decompositions of linear relations. *Dissertationes Math.* 465, 59 pp.

Labrousse, J.-Ph. (1992). Inverses généralisés d'opérateurs non bornés. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 115, 125–129.

Labrousse, J.-Ph. (2003). Idempotent linear relations. Theta Ser. Adv. Math. 2, 129-149.

Labrousse, J.-Ph. (2021). Representable projections and semi-projections in a Hilbert space. To appear in *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 

Labrousse, J.-Ph. & M'Bekhta, M. (1992). Les opérateurs points de continuité pour la conorme et l'inverse de Moore-Penrose. *Houston J. Math.* 18, 7–23.

Moore, E.H. (1920). On the reciprocal of the general algebraic matrix. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* 26, 394–95.

Nashed, M.Z. (1976). Generalized Inverses and Applications. New York - London: Academic Press.

Penrose, R. (1955). A generalized inverse for matrices. Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 51, 406-13.

Rao, C.R. & Mitra, S.K. (1971). *Generalized Inverse of Matrices and its Applications*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Sandovici, A., de Snoo, H.S.V. & Winkler, H. (2004). The structure of linear relations in Euclidean spaces. *Lin. Alg. Appl.* 397, 141–169.

Sandovici, A., de Snoo, H.S.V. & Winkler, H. (2007). Ascent, descent, nullity, and defect for linear relations in linear spaces. *Lin. Alg. Appl.* 423, 456–497.

63 Avenue Cap de Croix, 06100 Nice, France *E-mail address*: labro@math.unice.fr

Department of Mathematics, "Gheorghe Asachi" Technical University, 700506 Iaşi, Romania *E-mail address*: adrian.sandovici@luminis.ro

Bernoulli Institute for Mathematics, Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence, University of Groningen, 9700 AK Groningen, The Netherlands *E-mail address*: hsvdesnoo@gmail.com

Institut für Mathematik, Technische Universität Ilmenau, 98693 Ilmenau, Germany *E-mail address*: henrik.winkler@tu-ilmenau.de

# LIPSCHITZ PROPERTY OF EIGENVALUES AND EIGENVECTORS OF $2 \times 2$ DIRAC-TYPE OPERATORS

#### Anton Lunyov and Mark Malamud

Dedicated to our friend and colleague Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his sixtieth birthday

### 1 Introduction

Continuing our investigation (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016), this paper is concerned with the stability properties of different spectral characteristics of a boundary value problem associated in  $L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$  with the following first order system of differential equations

$$\mathcal{L}y = -iB^{-1}y' + Q(x)y = \lambda y, \qquad y = \operatorname{col}(y_1, y_2), \qquad x \in [0, 1], \tag{1.1}$$

where

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & 0 \\ 0 & b_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b_1 < 0 < b_2, \quad \text{and} \quad Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & Q_{12} \\ Q_{21} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}).$$

If  $B = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ , then the system (1.1) is equivalent to the Dirac system, see the classical monographs (Levitan & Sargsyan, 1991; Marchenko, 1986). Let us associate with the system (1.1) the following linearly independent boundary conditions (BCs)

$$U_j(y) := a_{j1}y_1(0) + a_{j2}y_2(0) + a_{j3}y_1(1) + a_{j4}y_2(1) = 0, \qquad j \in \{1, 2\}.$$
(1.2)

Moreover, denote by  $L(Q) := L_U(Q)$  the operator in  $L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$  associated with the boundary value problem (BVP) (1.1)–(1.2); its action is defined by the differential expression  $\mathcal{L}$  in (1.1) and its domain is given by

dom 
$$(L_U(Q)) = \{ f \in AC([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^2) : \mathcal{L}f \in L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^2), U_1(f) = U_2(f) = 0 \}.$$
 (1.3)

The above-mentioned stability properties refer to a perturbation of the potential  $Q \to \widetilde{Q}$ .

The completeness property of the system of root vectors (SRV) of BVPs for general  $n \times n$  systems of the form (1.1) with a nonsingular diagonal  $n \times n$  matrix B with complex entries and a potential matrix  $Q(\cdot)$  of the form

$$B = \text{diag}(b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$$
 and  $Q(\cdot) =: (q_{jk}(\cdot))_{j,k=1}^n \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$ 

was established in Malamud & Oridoroga (2012) for a wide class of BVPs; note that for  $2 \times 2$ Dirac systems with  $Q \in C([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$  it was proved earlier in Marchenko (1986: Chapter 1.3). In Malamud & Oridoroga (2012); Lunyov & Malamud (2014a; 2015) the authors also found completeness conditions for non-regular and even degenerate BCs. In Lunyov & Malamud (2015) the Riesz basis property (with and without parentheses) of SRV was also established for different classes of BVPs for  $n \times n$  systems with arbitrary B and  $Q \in L^{\infty}([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$ . Note also that BVPs for the  $2m \times 2m$  Dirac equation, i.e., the case that  $B = \text{diag}(-I_m, I_m)$ , were investigated in Mykytyuk & Puyda (2013) (Bari-Markus property for Dirichlet BVP with  $Q \in L^2([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2m \times 2m})$  and in Kurbanov & Abdullayeva (2018); Kurbanov & Gadzhieva (2020) (Bessel and Riesz basis properties on an abstract level).

The Riesz basis property in  $L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$  of BVP (1.1)–(1.2), i.e., of the operator  $L_U(Q)$  defined above, was investigated with various assumptions on the potential matrix Q in numerous papers, see (Trooshin & Yamamoto, 2001; 2002; Hassi & Oridoroga, 2009; Djakov & Mityagin, 2010; Baskakov, Derbushev & Shcherbakov, 2011; Djakov & Mityagin, 2012a;b;c; 2013; Lunyov & Malamud, 2014b; Savchuk & Shkalikov, 2014; Lunyov & Malamud, 2016; Uskova, 2019) and references therein. At that time the strongest result was obtained by P. Djakov and B. Mityagin (2010; 2012c), and A. Baskakov, A. Derbushev, and A. Shcherbakov (2011). They proved under the assumption  $Q \in L^2([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  that SRV of the BVP (1.1)–(1.2) with strictly regular BCs forms a Riesz basis, and with BCs that are only regular forms a Riesz basis with parentheses. Note, however, that the methods of these papers substantially rely on  $L^2$ -techniques (such as Parseval's equality, Hilbert-Schmidt operators, etc.) and cannot be applied to  $L^1$ -potentials.

Later the case  $Q \in L^1([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$  was treated independently and with different methods by the authors (Lunyov & Malamud, 2014b; 2016) on the one hand, and by A.M. Savchuk and A.A. Shka-likov (2014) on the other hand. It was proved that a BVP (1.1)–(1.2) with  $Q \in L^1([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$  and strictly regular boundary conditions has the Riesz basis property, while a BVP whose BCs are only regular has the property of Riesz basis with parentheses.

Recall in this connection that the boundary conditions (1.2) are called *regular* if and only if they are equivalent to the following conditions

$$\hat{U}_1(y) = y_1(0) + by_2(0) + ay_1(1) = 0, \qquad \hat{U}_2(y) = dy_2(0) + cy_1(1) + y_2(1) = 0,$$
 (1.4)

for certain  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$  satisfying  $ad - bc \neq 0$ . Recall also that regular BCs (1.2) are called *strictly* regular if the sequence  $\lambda_0 = \{\lambda_n^0\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the eigenvalues of the unperturbed BVP (1.1)–(1.2) (of the operator  $L_U(0)$ , i.e., Q = 0) is asymptotically separated. In particular, the eigenvalues  $\{\lambda_n^0\}_{|n|>n_0}$  are geometrically and algebraically simple.

It is well known that non-degenerate separated BCs are always strictly regular. Moreover, the conditions (1.4) are strictly regular for the Dirac operator if and only if  $(a - d)^2 \neq -4bc$ . In particular, antiperiodic (periodic) BC are regular but not strictly regular for Dirac systems, while they become strictly regular for Dirac-type systems if  $-b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $b_2 - b_1$  is odd.

To describe our approach to the Riesz basis property used in Lunyov & Malamud (2014b; 2016), let us denote by  $e_{\pm}(\cdot, \lambda)$  the solutions of the system (1.1) satisfying the initial conditions

$$e_{\pm}(0,\lambda) = \binom{1}{\pm 1}.$$

Our investigation in Lunyov & Malamud (2014b; 2016) substantially relies on the following representation of the solutions  $e_{\pm}(\cdot, \lambda)$  by means of triangular transformation operators:

$$e_{\pm}(x,\lambda) = (I + \mathcal{K}_Q^{\pm})e_{\pm}^0(x,\lambda) = e_{\pm}^0(x,\lambda) + \int_0^x K_Q^{\pm}(x,t)e_{\pm}^0(t,\lambda)\,dt,\tag{1.5}$$

where  $e^0_{\pm}(x,\lambda) = \operatorname{col}\left(e^{ib_1\lambda x}, \pm e^{ib_2\lambda x}\right)$  and  $K^{\pm}_Q = \left(K^{\pm}_{jk}\right)^2_{j,k=1} \in X^{0,2}_{1,1} \cap X^{0,2}_{\infty,1}$ ; see (2.1) and (2.2) for the definitions of these spaces.

Let us denote by  $\Lambda_Q := \Lambda_{U,Q} = \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} := \{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  the spectrum of the operator  $L_U(Q)$ . Our main tool in the investigation of the asymptotic behavior of the eigenvalues is the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot) = \Delta_{Q,U}(\cdot)$ . This function is an entire function whose zeros coincide with the sequence  $\Lambda_Q$  of eigenvalues counting multiplicities, see the formulas (4.1)–(4.4). The representation (1.5) immediately leads to the following key formula for the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  of the problem (1.1)–(1.2):

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) = \Delta_0(\lambda) + \int_0^1 g_{1,Q}(t) e^{ib_1\lambda t} dt + \int_0^1 g_{2,Q}(t) e^{ib_2\lambda t} dt,$$
(1.6)

where  $g_{k,Q}(\cdot) \in L^1[0,1]$ ,  $k \in \{1,2\}$ , are expressed via  $K_{jk}^{\pm}(1,\cdot)$ , see (4.12) and (4.7). Recall that  $\Delta_0(\cdot) = \Delta_{0,U}(\cdot)$  is the characteristic determinant of the problem (1.1)–(1.2) with Q = 0, see the identity (4.5).

Formula (1.6) immediately yields an estimate of the difference  $\Delta_Q(\lambda) - \Delta_0(\lambda)$  from above. Combining this estimate with the classical estimate of  $\Delta_0(\cdot)$  from below and applying the Rouché theorem one arrives at the asymptotic formula

$$\lambda_n = \lambda_n^0 + o(1), \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty, \tag{1.7}$$

relating the eigenvalues  $\Lambda = \{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\Lambda_0 = \{\lambda_n^0\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators  $L_U(Q)$  and  $L_U(0)$  (with regular BCs), respectively; see (Lunyov & Malamud, 2014b; 2016) for details and also (Savchuk & Shkalikov, 2014), where the formula (1.7) was obtained by another method. Note also that the representation (1.6) for the determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  was substantially used in papers by A.S. Makin (2020; 2021).

In Lunyov & Malamud (2014b; 2016) we also applied the representation (1.5) to obtain asymptotic formulas for the solutions of the equation (1.1) as well as for eigenfunctions of the BVP (1.1)–(1.2). In the present paper we continue the investigation from (Lunyov & Malamud, 2014b; 2016) of the BVP (1.1)–(1.2) and the transformation operators for the system (1.1). In Section 2 we prove the Lipschitz property of the mappings  $Q \to K^{\pm}$  on the balls

$$\mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2} := \left\{ F \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}) : \|F\|_p := \|F\|_{L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})} \le r \right\}, \qquad r > 0, \tag{1.8}$$

in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ . Namely, our first main result reads as follows.

**Theorem 1.1.** For any  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and r > 0, there exists C = C(B, p, r) > 0 such that the following uniform estimate holds

$$\|K_{Q}^{\pm} - K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}\|_{X_{\infty,p}^{2}} + \|K_{Q}^{\pm} - K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}\|_{X_{1,p}^{2}} \le C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_{p}, \qquad Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}.$$
(1.9)

Here  $K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}$  are the kernels from the representation (1.5) for the solutions  $\widetilde{e}_{\pm}$  of (1.1), with  $\widetilde{Q}$  in place of Q, and the spaces  $X_{\infty,p}^2$  and  $X_{1,p}^2$  are as introduced in (2.1) and (2.2), respectively.

Combining the uniform estimate (1.9) with the representation (1.6) we obtain the following statement concerning the *Lipschitz property* of the map  $Q \rightarrow g_{l,Q}$  on  $L^p$ -balls. It will play a crucial role in our approach to subsequent estimates. **Proposition 1.2.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$  with  $p \in [1, \infty]$ , and let  $g_k := g_{k,Q} - g_{k,\widetilde{Q}}$ ,  $k \in \{1, 2\}$ , see (4.12). Then  $g_k \in L^p[0, 1]$ ,  $k \in \{1, 2\}$ , and the difference of characteristic determinants of the problem (1.1)–(1.2) admits the following representation

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) - \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\lambda) = \int_0^1 g_1(t) e^{ib_1\lambda t} \, dt + \int_0^1 g_2(t) e^{ib_2\lambda t} \, dt.$$
(1.10)

Moreover, there exists a constant C = C(B, p, r) > 0 such that

$$||g_1||_p + ||g_2||_p = ||g_{1,Q} - g_{1,\widetilde{Q}}||_p + ||g_{2,Q} - g_{2,\widetilde{Q}}||_p \le C ||Q - \widetilde{Q}||_p.$$
(1.11)

As an immediate application of Proposition 1.2 we complete the formula (1.7) by establishing the  $c_0$ -Lipschitz property of the spectrum  $\Lambda_Q = \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  on compact sets: if the boundary conditions (1.2) are regular, then for each compact  $\mathcal{K} (\subset \mathbb{U}_{1,r}^{2\times 2})$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $N_{\varepsilon} > 0$ , not dependent on  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ , such that the following uniform relation holds

$$\sup_{|n|>N_{\varepsilon}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_n^0 \right| \le \varepsilon, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{K}.$$
(1.12)

In the case of Dirac systems this result was established by Sadovnichaya (2016: Theorem 3).

As is evident from the representations (1.5) and (1.10), the stability of eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the operator L(Q) reduces to certain properties of the Fourier transform and the "maximal" Fourier transform

$$F_g(\lambda) := \int_0^1 g(t) e^{i\lambda t} \, dt \quad \text{and} \quad \mathscr{F}_g(\lambda) := \sup_{x \in [0,1]} \left| \int_0^x g(t) e^{i\lambda t} \, dt \right|, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$

To this end, we generalize the classical Hausdorff-Young and Hardy-Littlewood theorems for Fourier coefficients, see (Zigmund, 1959: Theorems XII.2.3 & XII.3.19). Throughout the paper p' will denote p/(p-1), and the following notations with h > 0 and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  will be used for strips in the complex plane:

$$\Pi_h := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |\operatorname{Im} z| \le h \}, \qquad \Pi_{h,n} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : n \le \operatorname{Re} z \le n+1, \, |\operatorname{Im} z| \le h \}.$$
(1.13)

Moreover, note that the concept of an incompressible sequence with density d will be defined in Definition 4.6.

**Proposition 1.3.** Let  $p \in (1,2]$ . Then there exists a constant C = C(p,h,d) > 0 such that the following estimates hold uniformly for  $g \in L^p[0,1]$  and for incompressible sequences  $\Lambda = {\mu_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  with density d contained in the strip  $\Pi_h$  with h > 0:

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |F_g(\mu_n)|^{p'} \le \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{F}_g^{p'}(\mu_n) \le C \, \|g\|_p^{p'},$$
(1.14)

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} |F_g(\mu_n)|^p \le \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \mathscr{F}_g^p(\mu_n) \le C \, \|g\|_p^p.$$
(1.15)

The proof of the inequalities in (1.14)–(1.15) involving the "maximal" Fourier transform  $\mathscr{F}_g$  relies on the deep Carleson-Hunt theorem, while the estimates of ordinary Fourier transforms are elementary in character. Inequality (1.15) generalizes the Hardy-Littlewood theorem and coincides with it for the ordinary Fourier transform when  $\mu_n = 2\pi n$ . In turn, this inequality is an important ingredient in

proving the estimate (1.19) below. By combining Propositions 1.2 and 1.3 we establish the Lipschitz property of the mapping  $Q \to \Lambda_Q$  in different norms.

**Theorem 1.4.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in (1, 2]$  and r > 0, and let the boundary conditions (1.2) be strictly regular. Then there exists an enumeration of the spectra  $\{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{\lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators  $L_U(Q)$  and  $L_U(\widetilde{Q})$ , respectively, and a set  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , such that with certain constants  $C, C_1, C_2, N > 0$ , not dependent on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , the following uniform estimates hold:

$$\operatorname{card}\left(\mathbb{Z}\setminus\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}\right)\leq N,$$
(1.16)

$$C_1 \left| \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}} (\lambda_{Q,n}) \right| \le \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n} \right| \le C_2 \left| \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}} (\lambda_{Q,n}) \right|, \quad n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}, \tag{1.17}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\tilde{Q}}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\tilde{Q},n} \right|^{p'} \le C \left\| Q - \tilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p'},\tag{1.18}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\tilde{Q}}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\tilde{Q},n} \right|^p \le C \, \|Q - \tilde{Q}\|_p^p.$$
(1.19)

On a compact set  $\mathcal{K}$  in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  the subsets  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$  can be chosen independent of the pair  $\{Q,\widetilde{Q}\}$  and, in view of (1.16), the summation in (1.18)–(1.19) takes the form  $\sum_{|n|\geq N_1}$ . Here  $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  does not depend on  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}$ .

Note also that the two-sided estimate (1.17) plays a crucial role in the proof of the estimates in (1.18)–(1.19). On account of the representation (1.10), it reduces the Lipschitz property of the map  $Q \rightarrow \Lambda_Q$  to the property that the generalized Fourier coefficients of  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  belong to certain weighted  $\ell^p$ -spaces.

Observe that in proving (1.18)–(1.19) we use only the evaluation of the ordinary Fourier transform and we do not use the deep Carleson-Hunt result. In particular, the proof of (1.19) relies only on the uniform estimate between the first and third terms in (1.15), i.e., it concerns only the ordinary Fand not the "maximal"  $\mathscr{F}$ . This fact makes the proof of the estimates (1.18)–(1.19) elementary in character.

Relation (1.12) is also valid for regular BCs and extends Theorem 3 from Sadovnichaya (2016) to the case of Dirac-type systems  $(b_1 \neq -b_2)$ . When  $\tilde{Q} = 0$ , then the estimates (1.18)–(1.19) give  $\ell^p$ -estimates (uniform on balls) of the remainder in the asymptotic formula (1.7) for the eigenvalues of the strictly regular problem (1.2) for Dirac-type systems. For the Dirac operator  $(-b_1 = b_2 = 1)$ the estimate (1.18) with  $\tilde{Q} = 0$  generalizes the corresponding result obtained first by Savchuk & Shkalikov (2014: Theorem 4.3 & Theorem 4.5) with a constant C that depends on Q (i.e., for the two points compact set  $\mathcal{K} = \{Q, 0\}$ ) and later in Savchuk & Sadovnichaya (2018) for arbitrary compact sets  $\mathcal{K}$  in  $L^1([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ .

Note in this connection that A. Gomilko and L. Rzepnicki (2020), and A. Gomilko (2020) obtained new, sharp, asymptotic formulas for eigenfunctions of Sturm–Liouville operators with singular potentials, and for eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of Dirichlet BVPs for the Dirac system with  $Q \in L^p([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}), 1 \le p < 2.$ 

The weighted estimate (1.19) is new even for the Dirac system with  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$  and  $\widetilde{Q} = 0$ , and even for the trivial compact set  $\mathcal{K} = \{Q, 0\}$ .

Turning to the stability of the eigenvectors of the operator L(Q), we first investigate the Fourier transform of the kernels  $K_Q^{\pm}$  of the transformation operators in the representation (1.5). Namely, in Theorem 7.3 we estimate deviations

$$\int_0^x \left( K_Q^{\pm} - K_{\tilde{Q}}^{\pm} \right)_{jk}(x,t) e^{ib_k \lambda t} \, dt$$

via "maximal" Fourier transforms of the deviations  $Q - \tilde{Q}$  and  $||Q - \tilde{Q}||_1 \tilde{Q}$ . Furthermore, the representation (1.5) leads to similar estimates for the fundamental matrix solution  $\Phi_Q(x, \lambda)$  of the system (1.1), which in the case of  $\tilde{Q} = 0$  reads as follows.

**Proposition 1.5.** Let  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{1,r}^{2\times 2}$  for some r > 0. Then there exists C = C(B, r) > 0, not dependent on Q, such that the following uniform estimate holds for  $x \in [0, 1]$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ ,

$$\begin{split} |\Phi_Q(x,\lambda) - \Phi_0(x,\lambda)|_{\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}} \\ &\leq 2\sum_{j,k=1}^2 \left| \int_0^x K_{jk}^+(x,t) e^{ib_k\lambda t} \, dt \right| + 2\sum_{j,k=1}^2 \left| \int_0^x K_{jk}^-(x,t) e^{ib_k\lambda t} \, dt \right| \\ &\leq C \, e^{2(b_2 - b_1)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda|x} \sum_{j \neq k} \, \sup_{s \in [0,x]} \left| \int_0^s Q_{jk}(t) e^{i(b_k - b_j)\lambda t} \, dt \right|. \end{split}$$

Now we are ready to state  $\ell^p$ -stability properties of eigenfunctions of the operators  $L_U(Q)$ . Assume the spectrum  $\Lambda_{U,Q} = {\lambda_{Q,n}}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of  $L_U(Q)$  to be asymptotically simple, and introduce a sequence  ${f_{Q,n}}_{|n|>N}$  of the corresponding normalized eigenfunctions:  $L_U(Q)f_{Q,n} = \lambda_{Q,n}f_{Q,n}$ .

**Theorem 1.6.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$ ,  $p \in (1, 2]$ , p' := p/(p-1), and r > 0. Moreover, assume the BCs  $\{U_j\}_1^2$  of the form (1.2) to be strictly regular. Then there exist enumerations of the spectra  $\{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{\lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators  $L_U(Q)$  and  $L_U(\widetilde{Q})$ , respectively, and a set  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , such that for some constants C, N > 0, not dependent on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , the following estimates hold

$$\sum_{n\in\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}}\left\|f_{Q,n}-f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\right\|_{\infty}^{p'}\leq C\left\|Q-\widetilde{Q}\right\|_{p}^{p'},\tag{1.20}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\tilde{Q}}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \left\| f_{Q,n} - f_{\tilde{Q},n} \right\|_{\infty}^{p} \le C \left\| Q - \tilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p}.$$
(1.21)

On compact sets  $\mathcal{K}$  in  $L^p$  the estimates (1.20)–(1.21) are simplified, since the subsets  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\tilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$  can then be chosen to be independent of the pair  $\{Q,\tilde{Q}\}$ . Moreover, in view of (1.16), the summation in (1.18)–(1.21) can in that case be replaced by  $\sum_{|n| \geq N_1}$ . Here  $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  does not depend on Q and  $\tilde{Q}$ . Inequality (1.21) generalizes the classical Hardy-Littlewood inequality for Fourier coefficients (Zigmund, 1959: Theorem XII.3.19), see Remark 7.9.

Recall that antiperiodic boundary conditions could be strictly regular for Dirac-type operators as opposed to the Dirac case. Therefore, all the previous results imply the following surprising statement.

**Corollary 1.7.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$ ,  $p \in (1,2]$ , and let  $-b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $b_2 - b_1$  be odd. Then antiperiodic BCs are strictly regular and, hence, the operator  $L_U(Q)$  has the Riesz basis property. Moreover, the corresponding eigenvalues and eigenvectors satisfy the uniform Lipschitz type estimates (1.18)–(1.19) and (1.20)–(1.21).

This result demonstrates a substantial difference between Dirac and Dirac-type operators.

Observe in conclusion that periodic and antiperiodic (necessarily non-strictly regular) BVPs for  $2 \times 2$  Dirac and Sturm-Liouville equations have also attracted attention during the last decade. For instance, a criterion for SRV of the periodic BVP for  $2 \times 2$  Dirac equation to contain a Riesz basis (without parentheses!) was obtained by P. Djakov and B. Mityagin in (2012b), see also the recent survey (Djakov & Mityagin, 2020) and the recent papers by A.S. Makin (2021; 2020), and the references therein. It is also worth mentioning that F. Gesztesy and V.A. Tkachenko (2009; 2012), for  $q \in L^2[0, \pi]$ , and P. Djakov and B.S. Mityagin (2012b), for  $q \in W^{-1,2}[0, \pi]$ , established by different methods a criterion for SRV to contain a Riesz basis for the Sturm-Liouville operator  $-\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + q(x)$  on  $[0, \pi]$ , see also the survey (Makin, 2012).

The contents of the paper will now be briefly described. In Section 2 the Banach spaces  $X_{1,p}$  and  $X_{\infty,p}$  are studied. Section 3 is concerned with triangular transformation operators. The general properties of a 2 × 2 Dirac-type BVP are discussed in Section 4. In Section 5 one can find Fourier transform estimates. The stability properties of eigenvalues are discussed in Section 6 and the stability properties of eigenfunctions are discussed in Section 7.

### 2 The Banach spaces $X_{1,p}$ and $X_{\infty,p}$

Let  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . Following (Malamud, 1994) denote by  $X_{1,p} := X_{1,p}(\Omega)$  and  $X_{\infty,p} := X_{\infty,p}(\Omega)$ the linear spaces composed of (equivalent classes of) measurable functions defined on the triangular set  $\Omega := \{(x, t) : 0 \le t \le x \le 1\}$  satisfying

$$\|f\|_{X_{1,p}}^{p} := \underset{t \in [0,1]}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} \int_{t}^{1} |f(x,t)|^{p} \, dx < \infty, \qquad p < \infty, \tag{2.1}$$

$$||f||_{X_{\infty,p}}^{p} := \underset{x \in [0,1]}{\operatorname{ess}} \sup \int_{0}^{x} |f(x,t)|^{p} \, dt < \infty, \qquad p < \infty,$$
(2.2)

respectively, and  $||f||_{X_{1,\infty}} = ||f||_{X_{\infty,\infty}} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(x,t)\in\Omega} |f(x,t)|$ . It can easily be shown that the spaces  $X_{1,p}$  and  $X_{\infty,p}$  equipped with the norms (2.1) and (2.2) form Banach spaces that are not separable. Denote by  $X_{1,p}^0 := X_{1,p}^0(\Omega)$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^0 := X_{\infty,p}^0(\Omega)$  the closures of the subspace of continuous functions  $C(\Omega)$  in  $X_{1,p}(\Omega)$  and  $X_{\infty,p}(\Omega)$ , respectively. Clearly, the set  $C^1(\Omega)$  of smooth functions is also dense in both spaces  $X_{1,p}^0$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^0$ . Note also that the following embeddings hold and are continuous

$$X_{1,p_1} \subset X_{1,p_2} \subset X_{1,1}$$
 and  $X_{\infty,p_1} \subset X_{\infty,p_2} \subset X_{\infty,1}$ ,  $p_1 > p_2 \ge 1$ .

The following simple property of the spaces  $X_{1,p}^0$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^0$  will be important in the sequel.

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $p \ge 1$ . For each  $a \in [0, 1]$  the trace mappings

$$\begin{split} i_{a,\infty}: \ C(\Omega) \to C[0,a], \qquad & i_{a,\infty} \big( N(x,t) \big) := N(a,t), \\ i_{a,1}: \ C(\Omega) \to C[a,1], \qquad & i_{a,1} \big( N(x,t) \big) := N(x,a), \end{split}$$

admit continuous extensions, which are also denoted by  $i_{a,\infty}$  and  $i_{a,1}$ , to mappings from  $X^0_{\infty,p}(\Omega)$ onto  $L^p[0,a]$  and  $X^0_{1,p}(\Omega)$  onto  $L^p[a,1]$ , respectively. Going over to the vector case we denote for  $u = col(u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ 

$$|u|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} := |u_1|^{\alpha} + \ldots + |u_n|^{\alpha}, \quad 0 < \alpha < \infty, \qquad |u|_{\infty} = \max\{|u_1|, \ldots, |u_n|\}.$$

Furthermore, for  $A = (a_{jk})_{j,k=1}^n \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  we define

$$|A|_{\alpha \to \beta} := \sup \{ |Au|_{\beta} : u \in \mathbb{C}^n, |u|_{\alpha} = 1 \}, \qquad \alpha, \beta \in (0, \infty].$$

Now we are ready to introduce the Banach spaces

$$X_{1,p}^n := X_{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}) \qquad \text{and} \qquad X_{\infty,p}^n := X_{\infty,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$$

consisting of  $n \times n$  matrix-functions  $F = (F_{jk})_{j,k=1}^n$  with  $X_{1,p}$ - and  $X_{\infty,p}$ -entries, respectively, equipped with the norms

$$\|F\|_{X_{1,p}^n}^p := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{t \in [0,1]} \int_t^1 |F(x,t)|_{1 \to p}^p \, dx < \infty, \qquad p \in [1,\infty),$$
$$\|F\|_{X_{\infty,p}^n}^p := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in [0,1]} \int_0^x |F(x,t)|_{p' \to \infty}^p \, dt < \infty, \qquad p \in [1,\infty).$$

Moreover,  $||F||_{X_{1,\infty}^n} = ||F||_{X_{\infty,\infty}^n} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{(x,t)\in\Omega} |F(x,t)|_{1\to\infty}$ . Besides, we introduce the subspaces

$$X_{1,p}^{0,n} := X_{1,p}^0(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}) \quad \text{and} \quad X_{\infty,p}^{0,n} := X_{\infty,p}^0(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}),$$

which are separable parts of  $X_{1,p}^n$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^n$ , respectively.

Furthermore, for brevity, throughout the section we use the following notation

$$L^s := L^s([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^n), \qquad s \in [1,\infty].$$

With each measurable matrix kernel  $N(\cdot, \cdot) = (N_{jk}(\cdot, \cdot))_{j,k=1}^n$  on  $\Omega$  one associates a Volterra type operator  $\mathcal{N}$  as follows

$$\mathcal{N}: f \mapsto \int_0^x N(x,t)f(t) \, dt. \tag{2.3}$$

Denote by  $\|\mathcal{N}\|_{\alpha \to \beta} := \|N\|_{L^{\alpha} \to L^{\beta}}, \alpha, \beta \in [1, \infty]$ , the norm for bounded operators  $\mathcal{N}$  acting from  $L^{\alpha}$  to  $L^{\beta}$ .

The following result demonstrates the natural occurrence of the spaces  $X_{1,p}^n$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^n$  in the study of the integral operators acting from  $L^{\alpha}$  to  $L^{\beta}$  for special  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . In particular, the third statement sheds light on the interpolation role of these spaces, cf. (Malamud, 1994). This result substantially complements Lemma 2.3 from (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016).

Recall that a Volterra operator on a Banach space is a compact operator with zero spectrum.

**Proposition 2.2.** Let  $\mathcal{N}$  be a Volterra type operator given by (2.3) for a measurable matrix-function  $N(\cdot, \cdot)$  and let  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . Then the following statements hold:

(i) The inclusion  $\mathcal{N} \in \mathcal{B}(L^1, L^p)$  holds if and only if  $N \in X^n_{1,p}$ , in which case

$$\|\mathcal{N}\|_{1\to p} = \|N\|_{X_{1,p}^n}.$$

Moreover, if  $N \in X_{1,p}^{0,n}$ , then the operator  $\mathcal{N}$  is compact from  $L^1$  to  $L^p$  and the following relation holds

$$-\mathcal{N}(I+\mathcal{N})^{-1} =: \mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{B}(L^1, L^p), \quad \text{where } \ \mathcal{S}: f \mapsto \int_0^x S(x, t) f(t) \, dt \text{ with } S \in X^{0, n}_{1, p};$$

here  $(I + \mathcal{N})^{-1}$  is treated as an operator from  $\mathcal{B}(L^1, L^1)$ .

(ii) The inclusion  $\mathcal{N} \in \mathcal{B}(L^{p'}, L^{\infty})$  holds if and only if  $N \in X^n_{\infty, p}$ , in which case

$$\|\mathcal{N}\|_{p'\to\infty} = \|N\|_{X^n_{\infty,p}}.$$

Moreover, if  $N \in X^{0,n}_{\infty,p}$ , then  $\mathcal{N}$  maps  $L^{p'}$  to  $\mathcal{C} := C([0,1];\mathbb{C}^n)$  and is compact. Let  $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{C}}: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$  be a restriction of  $\mathcal{N}$  to  $\mathcal{C}$ , then  $(I + \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{C}})^{-1} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{C})$  and the following relation holds

$$-(I+\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{C}})^{-1}\mathcal{N}=:\mathcal{S}\in\mathcal{B}(L^{p'},\mathcal{C}),\quad\text{where }\mathcal{S}:f\mapsto\int_{0}^{x}S(x,t)f(t)\,dt\,\,\text{with}\,\,S\in X^{0,n}_{\infty,p}.$$

(iii) Let  $N \in X_{1,1}^n \cap X_{\infty,1}^n \subset X_{1,p}^n \cap X_{\infty,p}^n$ . Then  $\mathcal{N} \in \mathcal{B}(L^s, L^s)$  for each  $s \in [1, \infty]$ , and

$$\|\mathcal{N}\|_{s \to s} \le \|N\|_{X_{1,1}^n}^{1/s} \|N\|_{X_{\infty,1}^n}^{1-1/s}.$$

(iv) Let  $N \in X_{1,p}^{0,n} \cap X_{\infty,p}^{0,n}$ . Then  $\mathcal{N}$  is a Volterra operator in  $L^s$  for each  $s \in [1,\infty]$ , and the inverse operator  $(I + \mathcal{N})^{-1}$  is given by

$$(I+\mathcal{N})^{-1}=:I+\mathcal{S}, \quad \textit{where } \mathcal{S}: f\mapsto f+\int_0^x S(x,t)f(t)\,dt \textit{ with } S\in X^{0,n}_{1,p}\cap X^{0,n}_{\infty,p}.$$

**Remark 2.3.** In connection with Proposition 2.2, let us recall Theorems XI.1.5 and XI.1.6 from Kantorovich & Akilov (1977) concerning integral representations of bounded linear operators. Namely, let  $p \in (1, \infty]$ , and let  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  be bounded linear operators from  $L^1[0, 1]$  to  $L^p[0, 1]$  and  $L^{p'}[0, 1]$ to C[0, 1], respectively. Then they admit the following integral representations:

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{R}f)(x) &= \int_0^1 R(x,t)f(t)\,dt, \qquad \|\mathcal{R}\|_{1\to p}^p = \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{t\in[0,1]} \int_0^1 |R(x,t)|^p\,dx < \infty, \\ (\mathcal{S}f)(x) &= \int_0^1 S(x,t)f(t)\,dt, \qquad \|\mathcal{S}\|_{p\to\infty}^p = \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{x\in[0,1]} \int_0^1 |S(x,t)|^p\,dt < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

### 3 Triangular transformation operators

The existence of a triangular transformation operator for the system (1.1) with summable potential matrix  $Q \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  was established in our previous paper (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016). Moreover, the case  $B = B^* \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  and  $Q \in L^{\infty}([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$  was treated earlier in Malamud (1999).

The purpose of this section is to prove the Lipschitz property (in respective norms) for the kernels of the transformation operators of  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ . We start with the following result from Lunyov & Malamud (2016).

**Theorem 3.1** (Lunyov & Malamud (2016: Theorem 2.5)). Let  $Q = \operatorname{codiag}(Q_{12}, Q_{21})$  belong to  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ . Assume that  $e_{\pm}(\cdot, \lambda)$  are the solutions of the system (1.1) satisfying the initial conditions  $e_{\pm}(0, \lambda) = \binom{1}{\pm 1}$ . Then the solutions  $e_{\pm}(\cdot, \lambda)$  admit the following representation by means of the triangular transformation operators  $K_Q^{\pm} = (K_{jk}^{\pm})_{j,k=1}^2 \in X_{1,1}^{0,2} \cap X_{\infty,1}^{0,2}$ 

$$e_{\pm}(x,\lambda) = e_{\pm}^{0}(x,\lambda) + \int_{0}^{x} K_{Q}^{\pm}(x,t) e_{\pm}^{0}(t,\lambda) dt, \qquad e_{\pm}^{0}(x,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{ib_{1}\lambda x} \\ \pm e^{ib_{2}\lambda x} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.1)

It was shown in Malamud (1999) that if  $Q = \text{codiag}(Q_{12}, Q_{21}) \in C^1([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$ , then the matrix kernel in the triangular representation (3.1) is smooth,  $K^{\pm} = K_Q^{\pm} = (K_{jk}^{\pm})_{j,k=1}^2 \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$ , and it is the unique solution of the following boundary value problem

$$B^{-1}D_xK^{\pm}(x,t) + D_tK^{\pm}(x,t)B^{-1} + iQ(x)K^{\pm}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$K^{\pm}(x,x)B^{-1} - B^{-1}K^{\pm}(x,x) = iQ(x), \qquad x \in [0,1],$$
(3.3)

$$K^{\pm}(x,0)B^{-1}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}1\\\pm1\end{smallmatrix}\right) = 0, \qquad x \in [0,1].$$
 (3.4)

The proof of this result in Malamud (1999) was divided into two steps. First it was proved that there exists the smooth unique solution  $R_Q = (R_{jk})_{j,k=1}^2 \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  of the problem (3.2)–(3.3), satisfying, instead of (3.4), the following conditions:

$$R_{11}(x,0) = R_{22}(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in [0,1].$$
(3.5)

As the second step we defined the kernels  $K_Q^{\pm}$  via the auxiliary matrix function  $R_Q$  by formula (3.7) and showed that they have the required properties. By means of this result, the following proposition was proved in Lunyov & Malamud (2016); it is the starting point of our investigation here. Note also that for smooth kernels relation (3.7) was already exploited in Malamud (1999).

**Proposition 3.2** (Lunyov & Malamud (2016)). Let  $Q \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let  $K_Q^{\pm}$  be the kernels of the corresponding transformation operators from the representation (3.1). Then there exist

$$R_Q = (R_{jk})_{j,k=1}^2 \in X_{1,1}^{0,2} \cap X_{\infty,1}^{0,2} \quad and \quad P_Q^{\pm} = \operatorname{diag}(P_1^{\pm}, P_2^{\pm}) \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}),$$
(3.6)

such that

$$K_Q^{\pm}(x,t) = R_Q(x,t) + P_Q^{\pm}(x-t) + \int_t^x R_Q(x,s) P_Q^{\pm}(s-t) \, ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le x \le 1.$$
(3.7)

Moreover,  $R_Q(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the unique solution of the following system for  $0 \le t \le x \le 1$ ,

$$R_{kk}(x,t) = -ib_k \int_{x-t}^x Q_{kj}(\xi) R_{jk}(\xi,\xi-x+t) d\xi,$$
(3.8)

$$R_{jk}(x,t) = -ib_j\alpha_j Q_{jk}(\alpha_k x + \alpha_j t) - ib_j \int_{\alpha_k x + \alpha_j t}^x Q_{jk}(\xi) R_{kk}\left(\xi, \frac{b_j}{b_k}(\xi - x) + t\right) d\xi, \quad (3.9)$$

where  $\alpha_k := \frac{b_j}{b_j - b_k}$  with j = 2/k for  $k \in \{1, 2\}$ .

Note that for smooth Q, i.e., for  $Q \in C^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ , the system (3.8)–(3.9) is equivalent to the system (3.2)–(3.3), (3.5). To refine Theorem 3.1 in the  $L^p$ -case, we start by refining properties of the auxiliary kernel  $R_Q$  appearing in Proposition 3.2. In the following result we show that the (non-

linear) mapping  $Q \to R = R_Q$  is Lipschitz in  $X_{1,p}^2$  and  $X_{\infty,p}^2$  on each ball of radius r in  $L^p$ . Proposition 2.2 can be used to establish part (ii) thereof.

**Proposition 3.3.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \ge 1$  and r > 0. Then the following statements hold:

(i) The solutions R<sub>Q</sub> and R<sub>Q̃</sub> of the system of integral equations (3.8)–(3.9) for Q and Q̃ respectively, unique in X<sup>0,2</sup><sub>1,1</sub> ∩ X<sup>0,2</sup><sub>∞,1</sub>, belong to X<sup>0,2</sup><sub>1,p</sub> ∩ X<sup>0,2</sup><sub>∞,p</sub> and the following uniform estimate holds

$$||R_Q - R_{\widetilde{Q}}||_{X^2_{1,p}} + ||R_Q - R_{\widetilde{Q}}||_{X^2_{\infty,p}} \le C_0 ||Q - \widetilde{Q}||_p,$$

where the constant  $C_0 > 0$  does not depend on  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$ .

(ii) The operator

$$\mathcal{R}_Q: f \mapsto \int_0^x R_Q(x,t) f(t) \, dt, \qquad f \in L^s([0,1], \mathbb{C}^2),$$

is a Volterra operator in every space  $L^s([0,1], \mathbb{C}^2)$ ,  $s \in [1,\infty]$ . Moreover, there exists a constant  $C_1 = C_1(B, p, r) > 0$ , not dependent on  $s \in [1,\infty]$  and  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$ , such that the following uniform estimate holds

$$||(I + \mathcal{R}_Q)^{-1} - (I + \mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{Q}})^{-1}||_{s \to s} \le C_1 ||Q - \widetilde{Q}||_p$$

Combining these properties of the kernel  $R_Q(\cdot, \cdot)$  with the convolution identity (3.7) allows us to prove the main result of this section: the Lipschitz property of the mapping  $Q \mapsto K_Q^{\pm}$  on the balls in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ .

**Theorem 3.4.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and r > 0. Moreover, let  $K_{Q}^{\pm}$  and  $K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}$  be the kernels of the corresponding transformation operators from the representation (3.1) for Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , respectively. Then

$$K_Q^{\pm}, K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm} \in X_{1,p}^{0,2} \cap X_{\infty,p}^{0,2},$$

and there exists a constant C = C(B, p, r) that does not depend on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , such that the following estimate holds

$$\|K_Q^{\pm} - K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}\|_{X_{\infty,p}^2} + \|K_Q^{\pm} - K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}\|_{X_{1,p}^2} \le C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_p.$$

**Remark 3.5.** (i) For  $2 \times 2$  Dirac systems (B = diag(-1, 1)) with continuous potential Q the triangular transformation operators have been constructed in Levitan & Sargsyan (1991: Chapter 10.3) and Marchenko (1986: Chapter 1.2). For  $Q \in L^1$  these transformation operators were constructed in Albeverio, Hryniv & Mykytyuk (2005) by an appropriate generalization of Marchenko's method.

(ii) Let  $J : f \to \int_0^x f(t) dt$  denote the Volterra integration operator on  $L^p[0, 1]$ . Note that the similarity of the integral Volterra operators given by (2.3) to the simplest Volterra operator of the form  $B \otimes J$  acting in the spaces  $L^p([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$  has been investigated in Malamud (1999); Romaschenko (2008). The technique of investigating integral equations for the kernels of the transformation operators in the spaces  $X_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$  and  $X_{1,1}(\Omega)$  goes back to the paper (Malamud, 1994).

### 4 General properties of a $2 \times 2$ Dirac-type BVP

Consider the  $2 \times 2$  Dirac-type equation (1.1) subject to the general boundary conditions (1.2) and the corresponding operator L(Q) defined in (1.3). In this section we recall and extend some properties

of this BVP from (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016). Let us set

$$A := \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} & a_{14} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} & a_{24} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{jk} := \begin{pmatrix} a_{1j} & a_{1k} \\ a_{2j} & a_{2k} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J_{jk} := \det(A_{jk}), \tag{4.1}$$

where  $j, k \in \{1, \ldots, 4\}$ . Moreover, let

$$\Phi(\cdot,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_{11}(\cdot,\lambda) & \varphi_{12}(\cdot,\lambda) \\ \varphi_{21}(\cdot,\lambda) & \varphi_{22}(\cdot,\lambda) \end{pmatrix} =: \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1(\cdot,\lambda) & \Phi_2(\cdot,\lambda) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \Phi(0,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.2)$$

be a fundamental matrix solution of the system (1.1). The eigenvalues of the problem (1.1)–(1.2) (counting multiplicity) are the zeros (counting multiplicity) of the characteristic determinant

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) := \det \begin{pmatrix} U_1(\Phi_1(\cdot,\lambda)) & U_1(\Phi_2(\cdot,\lambda)) \\ U_2(\Phi_1(\cdot,\lambda)) & U_2(\Phi_2(\cdot,\lambda)) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.3)

Inserting (4.2) and (1.2) into (4.3), setting  $\varphi_{jk}(\lambda) := \varphi_{jk}(1,\lambda)$ , and taking the notations in (4.1) into account, we arrive at the following expression for the characteristic determinant

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) = J_{12} + J_{34} e^{i(b_1 + b_2)\lambda} + J_{32}\varphi_{11}(\lambda) + J_{13}\varphi_{12}(\lambda) + J_{42}\varphi_{21}(\lambda) + J_{14}\varphi_{22}(\lambda).$$
(4.4)

Alongside the problem (1.1)–(1.2) we consider the same problem with  $\tilde{Q}$  in place of Q. Denote the corresponding fundamental matrix solution, its entries, and the corresponding characteristic determinant as  $\tilde{\Phi}(\cdot, \lambda)$ ,  $\tilde{\varphi}_{jk}(\cdot, \lambda)$ ,  $j, k \in \{1, 2\}$ , and  $\tilde{\Delta}(\lambda)$ , respectively. If Q = 0, then we denote a fundamental matrix solution as  $\Phi^0(\cdot, \lambda)$ . Clearly

$$\Phi^{0}(x,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{ib_{1}x\lambda} & 0\\ 0 & e^{ib_{2}x\lambda} \end{pmatrix} =: \begin{pmatrix} \Phi^{0}_{1}(x,\lambda) & \Phi^{0}_{2}(x,\lambda) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad x \in [0,1], \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$$

Here  $\Phi_k^0(\cdot, \lambda)$  is the *k*th-column of  $\Phi^0(\cdot, \lambda)$ . In particular, the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_0(\cdot)$  becomes

$$\Delta_0(\lambda) = J_{12} + J_{34}e^{i(b_1 + b_2)\lambda} + J_{32}e^{ib_1\lambda} + J_{14}e^{ib_2\lambda}.$$
(4.5)

In the case of Dirac systems, i.e., when B = diag(-1, 1), this formula simplifies to

$$\Delta_0(\lambda) = J_{12} + J_{34} + J_{32}e^{-i\lambda} + J_{14}e^{i\lambda}.$$

#### 4.1 Representation of the characteristic determinant

Our investigation of the perturbation determinant relies on the following result, clarifying our Proposition 3.1 from Lunyov & Malamud (2016) and coinciding with it for  $Q \in L^1([0, 1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$ .

**Lemma 4.1.** Let  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  for some  $p \in [1,\infty)$ . Then the functions  $\varphi_{jk}(\cdot, \lambda)$ , with  $j, k \in \{1,2\}$ , admit the following representations for  $x \in [0,1]$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\varphi_{jk}(x,\lambda) = \delta_{jk} e^{ib_k \lambda x} + \int_0^x K_{j1,k}(x,t) e^{ib_1 \lambda t} dt + \int_0^x K_{j2,k}(x,t) e^{ib_2 \lambda t} dt, \qquad (4.6)$$

where

$$K_{jl,k} := 2^{-1} \left( K_{jl}^+ + (-1)^{l+k} K_{jl}^- \right) \in X_{1,p}^0(\Omega) \cap X_{\infty,p}^0(\Omega), \qquad j,k,l \in \{1,2\}.$$
(4.7)

Our study of the Lipschitz property of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions is based on the following simple corollary of Theorem 3.4.

**Lemma 4.2.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and r > 0. Then the following representation holds for  $x \in [0, 1]$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\varphi_{jk}(x,\lambda) - \widetilde{\varphi}_{jk}(x,\lambda) = \int_0^x \widehat{K}_{j1,k}(x,t) e^{ib_1\lambda t} dt + \int_0^x \widehat{K}_{j2,k}(x,t) e^{ib_2\lambda t} dt, \qquad (4.8)$$

where

$$\widehat{K}_{jl,k} := K_{jl,k} - \widetilde{K}_{jl,k} \in X^0_{1,p}(\Omega) \cap X^0_{\infty,p}(\Omega), \qquad j,k,l \in \{1,2\}.$$
(4.9)

Moreover, for some C = C(p, r, B) the following uniform estimate holds

$$\|\widehat{K}_{jl,k}\|_{X_{\infty,p}(\Omega)} + \|\widehat{K}_{jl,k}\|_{X_{1,p}(\Omega)} \le C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_p, \qquad j,k,l \in \{1,2\}.$$
(4.10)

Considering next the properties of the characteristic determinant, we first refine (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016: Lemma 4.1) in the  $L^p$  case. Note that the existence of trace values  $K_{jk}^{\pm}(1, \cdot)$  is implied by Lemma 2.1 and the inclusions

$$K_{jk}^{\pm} \in X_{1,p}^0 \cap X_{\infty,p}^0$$

The later inclusions are important, because the weaker inclusions

$$K_{jk}^{\pm} \in (X_{1,p} \cap X_{\infty,p}) \setminus (X_{1,p}^0 \cap X_{\infty,p}^0)$$

do not ensure the existence of such traces.

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  for some  $p \in [1,\infty)$ . Then the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  of the problem (1.1)–(1.2) is an entire function of exponential type and admits the following representation

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) = \Delta_0(\lambda) + \int_0^1 g_{1,Q}(t) e^{ib_1\lambda t} dt + \int_0^1 g_{2,Q}(t) e^{ib_2\lambda t} dt,$$
(4.11)

*where for*  $l \in \{1, 2\}$ 

$$g_{l,Q}(\cdot) = J_{32}K_{1l,1}(1,\cdot) + J_{42}K_{2l,1}(1,\cdot) + J_{13}K_{1l,2}(1,\cdot) + J_{14}K_{2l,2}(1,\cdot) \in L^p[0,1].$$
(4.12)

The next result is immediate by combining Lemma 4.3 with the estimate (4.10).

**Lemma 4.4.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and r > 0. Then the following representation holds

$$\Delta_Q(\lambda) - \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\lambda) = \int_0^1 \widehat{g}_1(t) e^{ib_1\lambda t} \, dt + \int_0^1 \widehat{g}_2(t) e^{ib_2\lambda t} \, dt, \tag{4.13}$$

where  $\hat{g}_l := g_{Q,l} - g_{\tilde{Q},l} \in L^p[0,1]$ ,  $l \in \{1,2\}$ . Moreover, for some  $\hat{C} = \hat{C}(p,r,B,A)$ , the following uniform estimate holds

$$\|\widehat{g}_1\|_p + \|\widehat{g}_2\|_p = \|g_{Q,1} - g_{\widetilde{Q},1}\|_p + \|g_{Q,2} - g_{\widetilde{Q},2}\|_p \le \widehat{C} \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_p, \qquad Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}.$$

#### 4.2 Regular and strictly regular boundary conditions

Recall that  $J_{jk} = \det A_{jk}$ , see (4.1), and recall the following definitions.

Definition 4.5. The boundary conditions (1.2) are called *regular* if

$$J_{14}J_{32} \neq 0.$$

**Definition 4.6** (cf. (Katsnel'son, 1971)). The sequence  $\Lambda := {\lambda_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset \mathbb{C}$  is called an *incompress-ible sequence of density*  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , if every rectangle  $[t - 1, t + 1] \times \mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{C}$  contains at most d entries of the sequence, i.e., if

$$\operatorname{card}\{n \in \mathbb{Z} : |\operatorname{Re} \lambda_n - t| \le 1\} \le d, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let us recall certain important properties of the characteristic determinant  $\Delta(\cdot)$  in the case of regular boundary conditions from Lunyov & Malamud (2016). Recall that  $\mathbb{D}_r(z) \subset \mathbb{C}$  denotes the disc of radius r with center z.

**Proposition 4.7** (Lunyov & Malamud (2016: Proposition 4.6)). Let the boundary conditions (1.2) be regular and let  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  be the characteristic determinant of the problem (1.1)–(1.2), given by (4.4). Then the following statements hold:

- (i) The characteristic determinant Δ<sub>Q</sub>(·) is a sine-type function with h<sub>Δ</sub>(π/2) = −b<sub>1</sub> and h<sub>Δ</sub>(−π/2) = b<sub>2</sub>. In particular, the function Δ<sub>Q</sub>(·) has infinitely many zeros Λ := {λ<sub>n</sub>}<sub>n∈ℤ</sub> counting multiplicities and Λ ⊂ Π<sub>h</sub> for some h ≥ 0, see (1.13).
- (ii) The sequence  $\Lambda$  is incompressible.
- (iii) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$  such that the determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  admits the following estimate from below

$$|\Delta_Q(\lambda)| \ge C_{\varepsilon}(e^{-b_1 \operatorname{Im} \lambda} + e^{-b_2 \operatorname{Im} \lambda}), \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{D}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n).$$

Clearly, the conclusions of Proposition 4.7 are valid for the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_0(\cdot)$  given by (4.5). Let  $\Lambda_0 = {\lambda_n^0}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be the sequence of its zeros counting multiplicity. From now on, let us order  $\Lambda_0$  in a (possibly non-unique) way such that

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda_n^0 \le \operatorname{Re} \lambda_{n+1}^0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Let us recall an important result from Lunyov & Malamud (2014b; 2016) and Savchuk & Shkalikov (2014) concerning the asymptotic behavior of eigenvalues.

**Proposition 4.8** (Lunyov & Malamud (2016: Proposition 4.7)). Let  $Q \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let the boundary conditions (1.2) be regular. Then the sequence  $\Lambda = {\lambda_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of zeros of  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  can be ordered in such a way that the following asymptotic formula holds

$$\lambda_n = \lambda_n^0 + o(1), \quad as \quad |n| \to \infty, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.14)

Let us refine this ordering to have some additional important properties.

**Proposition 4.9.** Let  $Q \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let the boundary conditions (1.2) be regular. Then the following statements hold:

(i) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist  $M_{\varepsilon} = M_{\varepsilon}(Q, B, A) > 0$  and  $C_{\varepsilon} = C_{\varepsilon}(B, A) > 0$ , such that

$$|\Delta_Q(\lambda) - \Delta_0(\lambda)| < |\Delta_0(\lambda)|, \qquad \lambda \notin \widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}, \tag{4.15}$$

$$|\Delta_Q(\lambda)| > C_{\varepsilon} \left( e^{-b_1 \operatorname{Im} \lambda} + e^{-b_2 \operatorname{Im} \lambda} \right), \qquad \lambda \notin \widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}, \tag{4.16}$$

where

$$\widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon} := \mathbb{D}_{M_{\varepsilon}}(0) \cup \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{0}, \qquad \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{0} := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{D}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{n}^{0}).$$
(4.17)

(ii) The sequence  $\Lambda = \{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  can be ordered such that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  the values  $\lambda_n$  and  $\lambda_n^0$  belong to the same connected component of  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$ . In addition, the relation (4.14) also holds for this ordering.

**Definition 4.10.** Let  $\Lambda = \{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be the sequence of zeros of the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  of the Dirac-type operator  $L_U(Q)$  with summable potential and regular boundary conditions. Let  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$  be defined in (4.17). The ordering of  $\Lambda$  for which  $\lambda_n$  and  $\lambda_n^0$  belong to the same connected component of  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , is called a *canonical ordering*.

Observe that Proposition 4.9 implies the existence of a canonical ordering for each sequence of zeros of the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  of the Dirac-type operator  $L_U(Q)$  with summable potential and regular boundary conditions.

In the sequel we need the following definitions.

**Definition 4.11.** A sequence  $\Lambda := {\lambda_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of complex numbers is said to be *separated* if for some  $\tau > 0$  the inequality  $|\lambda_j - \lambda_k| > 2\tau$  holds whenever  $j \neq k$ . In particular, all entries of a separated sequence are distinct. Furthermore, the sequence  $\Lambda$  is said to be *asymptotically separated* if for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  the subsequence  ${\lambda_n}_{|n|>N}$  is separated.

**Definition 4.12.** The boundary conditions (1.2) are called *strictly regular* if they are regular, i.e.,  $J_{14}J_{32} \neq 0$ , and the sequence of zeros  $\lambda_0 = {\lambda_n^0}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the characteristic determinant  $\Delta_0(\cdot)$  is asymptotically separated.

In particular, if the boundary conditions (1.2) are strictly regular, then there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that zeros  $\{\lambda_n^0\}_{|n|>n_0}$  of its characteristic determinant are geometrically and algebraically simple.

Observe that it follows from Proposition 4.8 that the sequence  $\Lambda = {\lambda_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of zeros of  $\Delta_Q(\cdot)$  is asymptotically separated if the boundary conditions are strictly regular.

Assuming the boundary conditions (1.2) to be regular, let us rewrite them in a more convenient form. Since  $J_{14} \neq 0$ , the inverse matrix  $A_{14}^{-1}$  exists. Therefore writing down the boundary conditions (1.2) as the vector equation  $\binom{U_1(y)}{U_2(y)} = 0$  and multiplying it by the matrix  $A_{14}^{-1}$ , they are transformed into the following conditions

$$\begin{cases} \hat{U}_1(y) = y_1(0) + by_2(0) + ay_1(1) = 0, \\ \hat{U}_2(y) = dy_2(0) + cy_1(1) + y_2(1) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

for some  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ . Now  $J_{14} = 1$  and the boundary conditions (4.18) are regular if and only if  $J_{32} = ad - bc \neq 0$ . Thus, the characteristic determinants  $\Delta_0(\cdot)$  and  $\Delta(\cdot)$  take the form

$$\Delta_0(\lambda) = d + ae^{i(b_1 + b_2)\lambda} + (ad - bc)e^{ib_1\lambda} + e^{ib_2\lambda},$$
$$\Delta(\lambda) = d + ae^{i(b_1 + b_2)\lambda} + (ad - bc)\varphi_{11}(\lambda) + \varphi_{22}(\lambda) + c\varphi_{12}(\lambda) + b\varphi_{21}(\lambda)$$

**Remark 4.13.** Let us list some types of strictly regular boundary conditions (4.18). In all of these cases, except 4 (b), the set of zeros of  $\Delta_0$  is a union of a finite number of arithmetic progressions.

- 1. Regular BCs (4.18) for the Dirac operator  $(-b_1 = b_2 = 1)$  are strictly regular if and only if  $(a d)^2 \neq -4bc$ .
- 2. Separated BCs ( $a = d = 0, bc \neq 0$ ) are always strictly regular.
- 3. Let  $b_1/b_2 \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $-b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  and that  $gcd(-b_1, b_2) = 1$ . It is clear that the BCs (4.18) are strictly regular if and only if a certain polynomial of degree  $b_2 b_1$  does not have multiple roots. In addition, if  $ad \neq 0$  and bc = 0, then the BCs (4.18) are strictly regular if and only if

$$b_1 \ln |d| + b_2 \ln |a| \neq 0$$
 or  $b_1 \arg(-d) + b_2 \arg(-a) \notin 2\pi \mathbb{Z}$ .

In particular, antiperiodic BCs (a = d = 1, b = c = 0) are strictly regular if and only if  $b_1 - b_2$  is odd. Note that these BCs are not strictly regular in the case of a Dirac system.

4. Let  $\alpha := -b_1/b_2 \notin \mathbb{Q}$ . Then the problem of strict regularity of BCs is generally much more complicated. Let us list some known cases:

(a) Let  $ad \neq 0$  and bc = 0. Then the BCs (4.18) are strictly regular if and only if

$$b_1 \ln |d| + b_2 \ln |a| \neq 0$$

(b) Let a = 0 and  $bc, d \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ . Then the BCs (4.18) are strictly regular if and only if

$$d \neq -(\alpha+1) \left( |bc| \alpha^{-\alpha} \right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}},$$

see (Lunyov & Malamud, 2016: Proposition 5.6).

### 5 Fourier transform estimates

#### 5.1 Generalizations of the Hausdorff-Young and Hardy-Littlewood theorems

To evaluate deviations of eigenvalues of the operators L(Q) and L(Q), we extend here the classical Hausdorff-Young and Hardy-Littlewood interpolation theorems for Fourier coefficients (see (Zigmund, 1959: Theorem XII.2.3) and (Zigmund, 1959: Theorem XII.3.19), respectively) to the case of arbitrary incompressible sequences  $\Lambda = \{\mu_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  instead of  $\Lambda = \{2\pi n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ . For an efficient estimate of eigenvectors deviations in Section 7 we will use the following (sublinear) Carleson transform (the maximal version of the classical Fourier transform)

$$\mathcal{E}_f(\lambda) := \sup_{N>0} \left| \int_{-N}^N F_f(t) e^{-i\lambda t} dt \right|, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$$

where  $F_f$  denotes the classical Fourier transform,

$$F_f(\lambda) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{-N}^{N} f(t) e^{i\lambda t} dt.$$
(5.1)

Its most important property is contained in the following Carleson-Hunt theorem, see (Grafakos, 2009: Theorems 6.2.1 & 6.3.3).

**Theorem 5.1.** For any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  the Carleson operator  $\mathcal{E}$  is a bounded operator from  $L^p(\mathbb{R})$  to itself, i.e., there exists a constant  $C_p > 0$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_f\|_{L^p} \le C_p \|f\|_{L^p}, \qquad f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}).$$

For our considerations it is more convenient to consider the following version of  ${\cal E}$ 

$$\mathscr{F}_g(\lambda) := \sup_{x \in [0,1]} \left| \int_0^x g(t) e^{i\lambda t} dt \right|, \qquad g \in L^p[0,1], \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$

For brevity we put  $\mathscr{F}_g^{\theta}(\lambda) := (\mathscr{F}_g(\lambda))^{\theta}$ . Also recall that p' = p/(p-1).

Combining the Carleson-Hunt theorem (Theorem 5.1) and the Hausdorff-Young theorem leads to the following result, see, e.g., (Savchuk, 2019) for details.

**Proposition 5.2.** For any  $p \in (1, 2]$  the maximal Fourier transform  $\mathscr{F}$  maps  $L^p[0, 1]$  boundedly into  $L^{p'}[0, 1]$ , i.e., the following estimate holds

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathscr{F}_g^{p'}(x) \, dx \le \gamma_p \, \|g\|_p^{p'}, \qquad g \in L^p[0,1], \tag{5.2}$$

where  $\gamma_p > 0$  does not depend on  $g \in L^p[0, 1]$ .

In the sequel we will need the following lemma whose proof substantially relies on the estimate (5.2). Recall the definition of  $\Pi_{h,n}$  in (1.13).

**Lemma 5.3.** Let  $g \in L^{p}[0, 1]$  for some  $p \in (1, 2]$  and  $h \ge 0$ , and let

$$g_n := \sup \left\{ \mathscr{F}_g(\lambda) : \lambda \in \Pi_{h,n} \right\}.$$

Then the following inequality holds

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} g_n^{p'} \le C_{p,h} \, \|g\|_p^{p'}, \qquad C_{p,h} := \gamma_p \, e^{p'(h+1)}.$$

The proof of Lemma 5.3 extends the classical reasoning about estimates of Hardy space functions and  $L^p_{\sigma}$ -classes of entire functions, see (Levin, 1996: Lectures 20-21) and (Katsnel'son, 1971: Lemma 2) for the case of the maximal Fourier transform. Now we are ready to state the main result of this section which is a generalization of the Hausdorff-Young and Hardy-Littlewood theorems to the case of non-harmonic series with exponents forming an incompressible sequence  $\Lambda = {\mu_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  instead of  $\Lambda = {2\pi n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ .

**Theorem 5.4.** Let  $p \in (1, 2]$ . Let  $\Lambda = {\mu_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be an incompressible sequence of density  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  lying in the strip  $\Pi_h$ , and let  $g \in L^p[0, 1]$ . Then there exists C = C(p, h, d) > 0 that does not depend on  $\Lambda$  and g, such that the following estimates hold uniformly with respect to g and  $\Lambda$ :

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}|F_g(\mu_n)|^{p'} \le \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\mathscr{F}_g^{p'}(\mu_n) \le C \, \|g\|_p^{p'},\tag{5.3}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} |F_g(\mu_n)|^p \le \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \mathscr{F}_g^p(\mu_n) \le C \, \|g\|_p^p.$$
(5.4)

Estimate (5.3) is an immediate consequence of Lemma 5.3. The proof of (5.4) is based on the Marcinkiewicz theorem (Zigmund, 1959: Theorem XII.4.6). Note also that the parts of the inequalities (5.3)–(5.4) involving the classical Fourier transform  $F_g$  defined in (5.1) can be proved in a direct way, which is elementary in character, because it does not involve the Carleson-Hunt theorem.

**Corollary 5.5.** Let  $\Lambda = {\mu_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be a sequence of zeros of a sine-type function  $\Phi(\cdot)$ . Then for any  $p \in (1, 2]$  the estimates (5.3) and (5.4) hold uniformly in  $g \in L^p[0, 1]$ .

*Proof.* The proof is immediate from Theorem 5.4 if one notes that the null set of a sine-type function  $\Phi(\cdot)$  is always incompressible, see (Levin, 1961), (Katsnel'son, 1971), and Proposition 4.7(ii).

Inverse statements for the Hausdorff-Young and Hardy-Littlewood theorems also hold in the case of non-harmonic exponential series with exponents  $\Lambda = {\mu_n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  forming the null set of a sine-type entire function instead of  $\Lambda = {2\pi n}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ .

#### 5.2 Uniform versions of the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma

Lemma 5.6, needed in the sequel, easily follows by combining Lemma 5.3 with Chebyshev's inequality. It can be understood as a uniform version of the classical Riemann-Lebesgue lemma.

**Lemma 5.6.** Let  $g \in U_{p,r}$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$  and r > 0. Moreover, let  $b \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , let  $h \ge 0$ , and let p' be such that 1/p' + 1/p = 1. Then for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists a set  $\mathcal{I}_{g,\delta} \subset \mathbb{Z}$  such that the following inequalities hold uniformly with respect to  $g \in U_{p,r}$ 

$$\operatorname{card}(\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathcal{I}_{g,\delta}) \le N_{\delta} := C \left( r/\delta \right)^{p'},$$
(5.5)

$$\left| \int_{0}^{1} g(t) e^{ib\lambda t} dt \right| \leq \sup_{x \in [0,1]} \left| \int_{0}^{x} g(t) e^{ib\lambda t} dt \right| < \delta, \qquad \lambda \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{g,\delta}} \Pi_{h,n}, \tag{5.6}$$

where  $\Pi_{h,n}$  is given by (1.13). Here C = C(p, h, b) > 0 does not depend on  $g, r, and \delta$ .

Let us emphasize that "uniformity" in Lemma 5.6 does not relate to the set  $\mathcal{I}_{g,\delta}$ , but only to the "size" of its complement, see (5.5). Note also that the part of estimate (5.6) involving the regular Fourier transform  $\int_0^1 g(t)e^{ib\lambda t} dt$  can be proved in an easier way without using the Carleson-Hunt theorem.

Next we investigate the "maximal" Fourier transform defined on the space  $X_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$  by

$$\mathcal{F}[G](\lambda) := \sup_{x \in [0,1]} \left| \int_0^x G(x,t) e^{ib\lambda t} dt \right|, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \qquad G \in X_{\infty,1}(\Omega).$$
(5.7)

The results in the rest of this section do not use the deep Carleson-Hunt theorem. First we present the following "uniform" version of the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma for the space  $X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$ . To this end for any  $h \ge 0$  we set

$$C_0(\Pi_h) := \{ \varphi \in C(\Pi_h) : \lim_{t \to \pm\infty} \varphi(t \pm iy) = 0 \text{ uniformly in } y \in [-h, h] \}.$$

**Proposition 5.7.** Let  $h \ge 0$  and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be given by (5.7). Then the following statements hold:

(i) The nonlinear mapping  $\mathcal{F}: X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega) \to C(\Pi_h)$  is well-defined and is Lipschitz

$$\|\mathcal{F}[G] - \mathcal{F}[\widetilde{G}]\|_{C(\Pi_h)} \le e^{|b|h} \|G - \widetilde{G}\|_{X_{\infty,1}(\Omega)}, \qquad G, \widetilde{G} \in X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega).$$

- (ii) For any  $h \ge 0$  the mapping  $\mathcal{F}$  maps  $X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$  continuously into  $C_0(\Pi_h)$ .
- (iii) For any compact set  $\mathcal{X}$  in  $X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$  the following relation holds

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{F}[G](\lambda) = 0, \tag{5.8}$$

uniformly in  $G \in \mathcal{X}$  and  $\lambda \in \Pi_h$ .

Proposition 5.7 (iii) contains as a special case the following "uniform" version of the classical Riemann-Lebesgue lemma: for any compact set  $\mathcal{K}$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$  one has

$$\sup_{g \in \mathcal{K}} \left| \int_0^1 g(t) e^{i\lambda t} \, dt \right| = o(1) \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to \infty, \quad \text{uniformly in } g \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \lambda \in \Pi_h.$$

Next we complete Proposition 5.7 by evaluating the "maximal" Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}[G](\cdot)$  in the plane instead of a strip.

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a compact set in  $X^0_{\infty,1}(\Omega)$ , let  $b \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , and let  $\delta > 0$ . Then there exists a constant  $C = C(\mathcal{X}, b, \delta) > 0$ , such that the following estimate holds

$$\mathcal{F}[G](\lambda) \le \delta(e^{-b\operatorname{Im}\lambda} + 1), \qquad |\lambda| > C, \quad G \in \mathcal{X},$$

uniformly in  $G \in \mathcal{X}$ .

Finally, we apply Proposition 5.7 (i), Theorem 3.4, and Lemma 5.8 to transformation operators.

**Corollary 5.9.** Let  $K_Q^{\pm}$  be the kernel of the transformation operator from representation (3.1). Then the composition

$$Q \to K_Q^{\pm} \to \mathcal{F}[K_Q^{\pm}]$$

maps  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  continuously into  $C_0(\Pi_h; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ ,  $h \ge 0$ , and it is a Lipschitz mapping on balls in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ ,  $p \in [1,\infty)$ 

$$\|\mathcal{F}[K_Q^{\pm}] - \mathcal{F}[K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}]\|_{C(\Pi_h)} \le e^{|b|h} C(B,p,r) \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_{L^p}, \qquad Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}.$$
(5.9)

The following statement will be useful in Section 6 when applying Rouché's theorem; it is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.4 and Lemma 5.8.

**Lemma 5.10.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a compact set in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ , let  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ , and let  $K_Q^{\pm} = (K_{jk}^{\pm})_{j,k=1}^2$  be the kernel of the transformation operator from representation (3.1). Then for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists a constant  $M = M(\mathcal{K}, B, \delta) > 0$  such that the following estimate holds uniformly in  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ 

$$\mathcal{F}[K_{jk}^{\pm}](\lambda) = \sup_{x \in [0,1]} \left| \int_0^x K_{jk}^{\pm}(x,t) e^{ib_k \lambda t} dt \right| \le \delta(e^{-b_k \operatorname{Im} \lambda} + 1), \qquad |\lambda| > M,$$
(5.10)

where  $j, k \in \{1, 2\}$ . In particular, for any  $h \ge 0$ , one has

$$\sup_{Q \in \mathcal{K}} \mathcal{F}[K_{ik}^{\pm}](\lambda) \to 0 \quad as \quad |\lambda| \to \infty \quad and \quad \lambda \in \Pi_h.$$

Let us demonstrate Corollary 5.9 and Lemma 5.10 for concrete examples of compacts.

**Corollary 5.11.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a ball either in the Sobolev spaces  $W_1^s[0,1]$  with  $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , in the Lipschitz space  $\Lambda_{\alpha}[0,1]$  with  $\alpha \in (0,1]$ , or in the space V[0,1] of functions of bounded variation. Then the relations (5.9) and (5.10) hold true uniformly in  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ .

**Remark 5.12.** Let us present a simple example of a non-compact set in  $L^p[0,1]$  for which the uniform relation (5.8) is violated. Define the following set of functions

$$\mathcal{G} := \{ g_{\mu}(x) := g_0(x) e^{-i\mu x} : \ \mu \in \mathbb{R} \},$$

where  $g_0 \in L^p[0,1]$  is such that  $c_0 := \int_0^1 g_0(t) dt > 0$ . It is clear that

$$\mathcal{F}[g_{\mu}](\mu) \ge \left| \int_{0}^{1} g_{0}(t) e^{-i\mu t} e^{i\mu t} dt \right| = c_{0} \neq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{|\lambda| \to \infty} \mathcal{F}[g_{\mu}](\lambda) = 0.$$
 (5.11)

The last relation in (5.11) is satisfied not uniformly on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Moreover, inequality (5.6) holds on sets  $\mathcal{I}_{g_{\mu},\delta} = \mathbb{Z} \setminus (\mu - N_{\delta}, \mu + N_{\delta})$  that depend on  $g_{\mu}$ , and their complements "tend to infinity" when  $\mu \to \infty$ , but have uniformly bounded "sizes":  $\operatorname{card}(\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathcal{I}_{g_{\mu},\delta}) \leq 2N_{\delta}$ . We are indebted to V.P. Zastavnyi who informed us about this example.

### 6 Stability property of eigenvalues

#### 6.1 Uniform localization of spectrum

In this subsection we will obtain a version of the asymptotic formula (4.14) which is uniform with respect to  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ , where  $\mathcal{K}$  is either a compact set in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  or  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$  for  $p \in (1,2]$ . Recall that A is the matrix defined in (4.1) and composed from the coefficients of the linear forms  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  as in (1.2) and that  $B = \text{diag}(b_1, b_2)$ .

First, we enhance Proposition 4.8 to obtain uniform estimates for  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ , where  $\mathcal{K}$  is compact in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ . The following result generalizes (Sadovnichaya, 2016: Theorem 3) to the case of Dirac-type systems with regular boundary conditions. Its proof is substantially based on the representation (4.11), Lemma 5.10, and Rouché's theorem.

**Proposition 6.1.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be compact in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let  $Q \in \mathcal{K}$ . Let the boundary conditions (1.2) be regular, let  $\Delta(\cdot) := \Delta_Q(\cdot)$  be the corresponding characteristic determinant, and let  $\Lambda := \Lambda_Q := \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be the canonically ordered sequence of its zeros. Moreover, let  $\Lambda_0 = \{\lambda_n^0\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be the sequence of  $\lambda_0$ . Then the following estimates hold:

(i) There exists  $M = M(\mathcal{K}, B, A) > 0$ , that does not depend on Q, such that

 $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_n^0 \right| \le M, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{K}.$ 

In particular, there exist  $h = h(\mathcal{K}, B, A) > 0$  and  $d = d(\mathcal{K}, B, A)$ , that do not depend on Q, such that  $\Lambda_Q$  is an incompressible sequence of density d and lying in the strip  $\Pi_h$ .

(ii) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a constant  $N_{\varepsilon} = N_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{K}, B, A) \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that

$$\sup_{|n|>N_{\varepsilon}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_n^0 \right| \le \varepsilon, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{K}$$

If, in addition, the boundary conditions (1.2) are strictly regular, then there exists a constant  $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_0(B, A)$ , such that for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$  the discs  $\mathbb{D}_{2\varepsilon}(\lambda_{Q,n})$ ,  $|n| > N_{\varepsilon}$ , are disjoint and there exists a constant  $\widetilde{C}_{\varepsilon} = \widetilde{C}_{\varepsilon}(B, A) > 0$ , such that

$$\min_{|\lambda - \lambda_{Q,n}| = 2\varepsilon} |\Delta_Q(\lambda)| \ge \widetilde{C}_{\varepsilon}, \qquad |n| > N_{\varepsilon}, \quad Q \in \mathcal{K}.$$

Next we extend Proposition 6.1 to the case  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$ ,  $p \in (1,2]$ . Part (i) remains valid but the assumption p > 1 is important. Part (ii) is based on Lemma 5.6 that involves only the classical Fourier transform  $F_g$  without the use of the deep Carleson-Hunt theorem. It remains valid if we replace the inequality  $|n| > N_{\varepsilon}$  by an inclusion  $n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\varepsilon}$ , assuming that the complements of the sets  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\varepsilon}$  have uniformly bounded cardinalities for  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$ .

**Proposition 6.2.** Let  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$  and some r > 0. Moreover, let the boundary conditions (1.2) be regular, let  $\Delta(\cdot) := \Delta_Q(\cdot)$  be the corresponding characteristic determinant, and let  $\Lambda := \Lambda_Q = \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be a canonically ordered sequence of its zeros. Then the following statements hold:

(i) There exists a constant M = M(p, r, B, A) > 0, not dependent on Q, such that

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_n^0 \right| \le M, \qquad Q \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}.$$

In particular, there exist  $h = h(p, r, B, A) \ge 0$  and d = d(p, r, B, A) > 0, not dependent on Q, such that  $\Lambda_Q$  is an incompressible sequence of density d lying in the strip  $\Pi_h$ .

(ii) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $N_{\varepsilon} = N_{\varepsilon}(p, r, B, A) \in \mathbb{N}$ , that does not depend on Q, and a set  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\varepsilon} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , such that

$$|\lambda_n - \lambda_n^0| < \varepsilon, \quad n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\varepsilon}, \quad and \quad \operatorname{card}\left(\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathcal{I}_{Q,\varepsilon}\right) \le N_{\varepsilon}.$$

Proposition 6.1 combined with the maximum and minimum principles imply the following uniform version of the relation  $|\lambda_n - \tilde{\lambda}_n| \approx |\tilde{\Delta}(\lambda_n)|$  that is pivotal for establishing the stability property of the mapping  $Q \to \Lambda_Q := \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ .

**Proposition 6.3.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a compact set in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}$ . Moreover, let the boundary conditions (1.2) be strictly regular, and let  $\Lambda_Q = \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\Lambda_{\widetilde{Q}} = \{\lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  be canonically ordered sequences of zeros of characteristic determinants  $\Delta := \Delta_Q$  and  $\widetilde{\Delta} := \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}$ , respectively. Then there exist constants  $N = N(\mathcal{K}, A, B) \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $C = C(\mathcal{K}, A, B) \geq 1$ , that do not depend on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , such that the following uniform estimate holds

$$|C^{-1}|\Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\lambda_{Q,n})| \le |\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}| \le C |\Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\lambda_{Q,n})|, \qquad |n| > N.$$

#### 6.2 Stability property of eigenvalues for $Q \in L^p$

In this section we apply the abstract results from Section 5 to establish the stability of the mapping  $Q \to \Lambda_Q := \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  in different norms. Proposition 6.3 shows that to this end, it suffices to evaluate the sequences  $\{\widetilde{\Delta}(\lambda_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} = \{\Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\lambda_{Q,n})\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  when Q runs through either the ball  $\mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  or a compact  $\mathcal{K}$  in  $L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2})$ . In turn, these sequences can be easily evaluated by combining the representation (4.13) and the results of Section 5. For example, the estimate (5.3) implies that

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}} \left( \lambda_{Q,n} \right) \right|^{p'} \leq C_{p,r,B} \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p'}, \qquad Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}.$$

Next we enhance and complete Proposition 4.8 in the case of  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  with  $p \in [1,2]$ . Our first result restricts the set  $\mathcal{K}$  of potential matrices to be a compact.

**Theorem 6.4.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be compact in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  for some  $p \in [1,2]$ , and let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}$ . Moreover, let the boundary conditions (1.2) be strictly regular, and let  $\Lambda_Q := \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\Lambda_{\widetilde{Q}} := \{\lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  be canonically ordered sequences of zeros of the characteristic determinants  $\Delta(\cdot) := \Delta_Q(\cdot)$  and  $\widetilde{\Delta}(\cdot) := \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}(\cdot)$ , respectively. Then there exist constants  $N = N(\mathcal{K}, A, B) \in \mathbb{N}$ and  $C = C(p, \mathcal{K}, A, B) > 0$ , not dependent on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , such that the following estimates hold:

$$\sum_{|n|>N} |\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}|^{p'} \le C \, \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_p^{p'}, \qquad p \in (1,2],$$
(6.1)

$$\sum_{|n|>N} (1+|n|)^{p-2} |\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}|^p \le C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_p^p, \qquad p \in (1,2].$$
(6.2)

If p = 1, then

 $\sup_{Q,\widetilde{Q}\in\mathcal{K}} |\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}| \to 0 \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$ 

In other words, the set of sequences  $\left\{\left\{|\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}|\right\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}\right\}_{Q,\widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}}$  forms a compact set in  $c_0(\mathbb{Z})$ .

Applying Theorem 6.4 with a compact set  $\mathcal{K} = \{Q, 0\}$ , we can complete Proposition 4.8.

**Corollary 6.5.** Let  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$ . Moreover, let the boundary conditions (1.2) be strictly regular and let  $\Delta(\cdot)$  be the corresponding characteristic determinant. Then the sequence  $\Lambda = \{\lambda_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of its zeros can be ordered such that the following inequality holds

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \lambda_n - \lambda_n^0 \right|^{p'} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( 1 + |n| \right)^{p-2} \left| \lambda_n - \lambda_n^0 \right|^p < \infty.$$

Note that the inclusion  $\{\lambda_n - \lambda_n^0\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{p'}(\mathbb{Z})$  in the case of  $2 \times 2$  Dirac systems  $(-b_1 = b_2 = 1)$  was first obtained in Savchuk & Shkalikov (2014: Theorems 4.3 & 4.5).
**Remark 6.6.** Let p = 3/2 and p' = 3. Moreover, assume that  $\tilde{Q} = 0$  and let  $Q \in L^p$  be fixed. Note that

$$\alpha_n := \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n} = \left( (1+|n|) \ln^2 (1+|n|) \right)^{-1/3}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

satisfies (6.1), but does not satisfy (6.2). Hence, this sequence cannot be a sequence of eigenvalue deviations of operators L(Q) and L(0) for some  $Q \in L^p$ . Note that the results of Savchuk & Shkalikov (2014) do allow it. In fact, inequality (6.2) is generally more restrictive and, hence, leads to a sharper estimate of the sequence  $\{\lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  than (6.1). For example, inequality (6.2) implies (6.1) under the general assumption  $\alpha_n = o(n^{-1/p'})$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Next we extend Theorem 6.4 to the case  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2\times 2}$ . As in Proposition 6.2, we cannot select a universal constant N serving all potentials. Instead, we need to sum over the sets of integers whose complements have uniformly bounded cardinality.

**Theorem 6.7.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in (1, 2]$  and r > 0. Let the boundary conditions (1.2) be strictly regular, and let  $\Lambda_Q = \{\lambda_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\Lambda_{\widetilde{Q}} = \{\lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be canonically ordered sequences of zeros of characteristic determinants  $\Delta := \Delta_Q$  and  $\widetilde{\Delta} := \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}}$ , respectively. Then there exist constants  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $C_1, C_2, C > 0$ , not dependent on Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , and a set  $\mathcal{I} := \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , such that the following estimates hold:

$$\operatorname{card}\left(\mathbb{Z}\setminus\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}\right)\leq N,$$
(6.3)

$$C_1 \left| \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}} \left( \lambda_{Q,n} \right) \right| \le \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n} \right| \le C_2 \left| \Delta_{\widetilde{Q}} \left( \lambda_{Q,n} \right) \right|, \qquad n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}, \tag{6.4}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\widetilde{Q},n} \right|^{p'} \le C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p'},\tag{6.5}$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\tilde{Q}}} \left(1 + |n|\right)^{p-2} \left| \lambda_{Q,n} - \lambda_{\tilde{Q},n} \right|^p \le C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_p^p.$$
(6.6)

**Remark 6.8.** (i) Observe that the proofs of all results in this section, including the proofs of Theorems 6.4 and 6.7, rely on the Bessel type inequalities (5.3)–(5.4) for the ordinary Fourier transform, not for its maximal version described in Theorem 5.4, whose proof relies on Theorem 5.1.

(ii) The case of Dirac systems  $(b_1 = -b_2 = 1)$  and  $\tilde{Q} = 0$  has extensively been studied in many recent papers of Sadovnichaya, Savchuk, and Shkalikov by applying a different method. In particular, the estimate (6.1) was established earlier in Savchuk & Shkalikov (2014: Theorems 4.3 & 4.5) with a constant C that depends on Q, while estimate (6.5) of Theorem 6.4 with  $\tilde{Q} = 0$  was established in Savchuk & Sadovnichaya (2018).

(iii) The weighted estimates (6.2) and (6.6), as well as the estimate (6.1), which establish stability properties of the spectrum under the perturbation  $Q \to \tilde{Q}$ , are new even for Dirac system.

(iv) L. Rzepnicki (2020) obtained sharp asymptotic formulas for deviations  $\lambda_n - \lambda_n^0 = \delta_n + \rho_n$  in the case of Dirichlet BVPs for the Dirac system with  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ ,  $1 \le p < 2$ . Namely,  $\delta_n$  is explicitly expressed via Fourier coefficients and Fourier transforms of  $Q_{12}$  and  $Q_{21}$ , while  $\{\rho_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{p'/2}(\mathbb{Z})$ , i.e., the convergence to zero is "twice" better than what formula (6.1) guarantees for  $\lambda_n - \lambda_n^0$ . A similar result was obtained for eigenfunctions.

(v) We mention also the papers (Cascaval et al., 2004), (Clark & Gesztesy, 2006), and (Brown et al., 2019), where different spectral properties of j-selfadjoint Dirac operators were investigated.

## 7 Stability property of eigenfunctions

#### 7.1 Estimates of Fourier transforms of transformation operators

In this subsection we study "Fourier" transforms of the kernels of the corresponding transformation operators from the representation (3.1) of the form

$$\int_0^x K_{jk}^{\pm}(x,t) e^{i\lambda b_k t} \, dt.$$

Our investigation is motivated by the representation (4.6) for the entries of the fundamental matrix  $\Phi(\cdot, \lambda)$ . As distinguished from the considerations of Section 6, here our proofs substantially involve the deep Carleson-Hunt theorem via the corresponding results of Section 5.

As a first step we study "Fourier" transforms of the auxiliary kernels  $R_Q$  from the representation (3.7) for the kernels of the transformation operators  $K_Q^{\pm}$ . Below, we first estimate generalized "Fourier" transforms with an arbitrary bounded function, instead of the exponential function in the integral. Recall that  $\alpha_k := \frac{b_j}{b_j - b_k}, j = 2/k, k \in \{1, 2\}.$ 

**Proposition 7.1.** Let  $Q \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  and let

$$R_Q = (R_{jk})_{j,k=1}^2 \in \left(X_{1,1}^0(\Omega) \cap X_{\infty,1}^0(\Omega)\right) \otimes \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$$

be the (unique) solution of the system of integral equations (3.8)–(3.9). Moreover, let  $x \in [0,1]$  be fixed, let  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  be such that f(t) = 0 for  $t \notin [0, x]$ , and set

$$F_{jk}(s;f) := \sup_{\substack{u \in [0,s]\\v \in [-u,x]}} \left| \int_0^u R_{jk}(s,t) f(t+v) \, dt \right|, \qquad s \in [0,x], \quad j,k \in \{1,2\}.$$

Then the following estimates hold for  $s \in [0, x]$ ,  $k \in \{1, 2\}$ , and j = 2/k:

$$F_{kk}(s;f) \le |b_k| \int_0^s |Q_{kj}(t)| F_{jk}(t;f) dt,$$
  

$$F_{jk}(s;f) \le |b_j| \sup_{\substack{u \in [0,s]\\v \in [-u,x]}} \left| \alpha_j \int_0^u Q_{jk}(\alpha_k s + \alpha_j t) f(t+v) dt \right|$$
  

$$+ 2|b_j b_k| \|Q_{jk}\|_{L^1[0,s]} \int_0^s |Q_{kj}(t)| F_{jk}(t;f) dt.$$

In particular, one has that the following uniform estimate holds for  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{1,r}^{2\times 2}$ ,  $x \in [0,1]$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , and  $j, k \in \{1,2\}$ 

$$\sup_{s \in [0,x]} \left| \int_0^s R_{jk}(x,t) e^{i\lambda b_k t} \, dt \right| \le C e^{(b_2 - b_1)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda|x} \sup_{s \in [0,x]} \left| \int_0^s Q_{jk}(t) e^{i(b_k - b_j)\lambda t} \, dt \right|,$$
(7.1)

where j = 2/k and C = C(B, r) > 0 does not depend on Q, x, and  $\lambda$ .

Note that (7.1) follows by taking  $f(t) = e^{ib_k \lambda t}$ ,  $t \in [0, x]$ , and f(t) = 0,  $t \notin [0, x]$ , in the formulas preceding (7.1). The estimate (7.1) allows us to obtain a similar estimate for the Fourier transforms of the auxiliary functions  $P_k^{\pm}$  from the representation (3.6)–(3.7). Combining them, we arrive at the following important estimate of the Fourier transforms of the kernels  $K_Q^{\pm}$ .

**Theorem 7.2.** Let  $Q \in \mathbb{U}_{1,r}^{2\times 2}$  for some r > 0 and let  $K_Q^{\pm}$  be the kernels of the corresponding transformation operators from representation (3.1). Then the following uniform estimate holds for  $x \in [0,1]$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{2} \left| \int_{0}^{x} K_{jk}^{\pm}(x,t) e^{ib_{k}\lambda t} \, dt \right| \leq C \, e^{2(b_{2}-b_{1})|\operatorname{Im}\lambda|x} \sum_{j\neq k} \, \sup_{s\in[0,x]} \left| \int_{0}^{s} Q_{jk}(t) e^{i(b_{k}-b_{j})\lambda t} \, dt \right|.$$

This estimate is uniform in the sense that C = C(B, r) > 0 does not depend on Q, x, and  $\lambda$ .

#### 7.2 Stability property of the fundamental matrix

Alongside equation (1.1) we consider similar Dirac-type equations with the same matrix B but with a different potential matrix  $\widetilde{Q} \in L^1([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ . Recall that  $\Phi_Q(x,\lambda)$  and  $\Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(x,\lambda)$  denote the fundamental matrix solutions of the system (1.1) for Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , that satisfy the initial conditions  $\Phi_Q(0,\lambda) = \Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(0,\lambda) = I$ .

We can extend Theorem 7.2 to obtain the stability of "Fourier" transforms of the kernel differences of the corresponding transformation operators from the representation (3.1). Combining it with the representations (4.8)–(4.9) in Lemma 4.2 for entries of the deviation  $\Phi_Q(\cdot, \lambda) - \Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(\cdot, \lambda)$  of the fundamental matrices, we obtain the following uniform estimate that plays an important role in studying deviations of root vectors and which is of independent interest.

**Theorem 7.3.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{1,r}^{2\times 2}$  for some r > 0, and let  $K_Q^{\pm}$  and  $K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm}$  be the kernels of the corresponding transformation operators from representation (3.1) for Q and  $\widetilde{Q}$ , respectively. Then with some C = C(B, r) > 0 the following uniform estimate holds for  $x \in [0, 1]$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\begin{split} \left| \Phi_Q(x,\lambda) - \Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(x,\lambda) \right| &\leq 2 \sum_{j,k=1}^2 \sum_{\pm} \left| \int_0^x \left( K_Q^{\pm} - K_{\widetilde{Q}}^{\pm} \right)_{jk}(x,t) e^{ib_k \lambda t} dt \right| \\ &\leq C e^{2(b_2 - b_1) |\operatorname{Im} \lambda| x} \sum_{j \neq k} \left( \sup_{s \in [0,x]} \left| \int_0^s (Q_{jk}(t) - \widetilde{Q}_{jk}(t)) e^{i(b_k - b_j) \lambda t} dt \right| \\ &+ \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_1 \sup_{s \in [0,x]} \left| \int_0^s \widetilde{Q}_{jk}(t) e^{i(b_k - b_j) \lambda t} dt \right| \end{split}$$

Combining Theorems 7.3 and 5.4, we arrive at an important stability (Lipschitz) property of the fundamental matrix.

**Proposition 7.4.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$  and r > 0, and let  $\Lambda = \{\mu_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  be an incompressible sequence of density d lying in the strip  $\Pi_h$ . Then for some C = C(p, r, B, h, d) > 0, not dependent on  $Q, \widetilde{Q}$ , and  $\Lambda$ , the following uniform estimates hold:

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \Phi_Q(\cdot, \mu_n) - \Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(\cdot, \mu_n) \right\|_{\infty}^{p'} \leq C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p'},$$
$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1 + |n|)^{p-2} \left\| \Phi_Q(\cdot, \mu_n) - \Phi_{\widetilde{Q}}(\cdot, \mu_n) \right\|_{\infty}^{p} \leq C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p}.$$

#### 7.3 Stability property of the eigenfunctions

Now the main results of this section are formulated. The following result for p = 1 generalizes (Sadovnichaya, 2016: Theorem 4) to the case of Dirac-type systems and extends it for  $p \in (1, 2]$ . It can be proved by combining results of the previous subsection with Theorem 6.4.

**Theorem 7.5.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be compact in  $L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$  for some  $p \in [1,2]$  and let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}$ . Let the BCs (1.2) be strictly regular and let  $s \in (0,\infty]$ . Then there exist SRVs  $\{f_{Q,n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators L(Q) and  $L(\widetilde{Q})$ , respectively, such that  $||f_{Q,n}||_s = ||f_{\widetilde{Q},n}||_s = 1$ , |n| > N, and that the following relations hold uniformly for  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathcal{K}$ :

$$\sup_{Q,\tilde{Q}\in\mathcal{K}} \left\| f_{Q,n} - f_{\tilde{Q},n} \right\|_{\infty} \to 0 \quad as \quad |n| \to \infty,$$
(7.2)

$$\sum_{|n|>N} \left\| f_{Q,n} - f_{\widetilde{Q},n} \right\|_{\infty}^{p'} \le C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p'}, \qquad p \in (1,2],$$
(7.3)

$$\sum_{|n|>N} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \left\| f_{Q,n} - f_{\widetilde{Q},n} \right\|_{\infty}^{p} \le C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_{p}^{p}, \qquad p \in (1,2].$$
(7.4)

*Here the constants*  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  *and* C > 0 *do not depend on* Q*,*  $\widetilde{Q}$ *, and s.* 

Next we extend Theorem 7.5 to the case  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$ . As in Theorem 6.7, we cannot select a universal constant N serving all potentials. Instead, we need to sum over the sets of integers, whose complements have uniformly bounded cardinality.

**Theorem 7.6.** Let  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$  and some r > 0. Let the BCs (1.2) be strictly regular and let  $s \in (0,\infty]$ . Then there exist SRVs  $\{f_{Q,n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators L(Q) and  $L(\widetilde{Q})$ , respectively, and a set  $\mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ , such that the following uniform relations hold for  $Q, \widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{U}_{p,r}^{2 \times 2}$ :

$$\|f_{Q,n}\|_{s} = \|f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\|_{s} = 1, \quad n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{card}\left(\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}\right) \leq N,$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}} \left\|f_{Q,n} - f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\right\|_{\infty}^{p'} \leq C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_{p}^{p'},$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{I}_{Q,\widetilde{Q}}} (1 + |n|)^{p-2} \left\|f_{Q,n} - f_{\widetilde{Q},n}\right\|_{\infty}^{p} \leq C \|Q - \widetilde{Q}\|_{p}^{p}.$$

*Here the constants*  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  *and* C > 0 *do not depend on* Q*,*  $\tilde{Q}$ *, and s.* 

Applying Theorem 7.5 with a two-point compact  $\mathcal{K} = \{Q, 0\}$ , we arrive at the following stability property of eigenfunctions demonstrating the core of both Theorems 7.5 and 7.6.

**Corollary 7.7.** Let  $Q \in L^p([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^{2\times 2})$ ,  $p \in (1,2]$ , and let the BCs (1.2) be strictly regular. Then SRVs  $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{f_n^0\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of the operators L(Q) and L(0) can be chosen asymptotically normalized in  $L^{p'}([0,1]; \mathbb{C}^2)$  and satisfying the following uniform estimates

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| f_n - f_n^0 \right\|_{\infty}^{p'} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1 + |n|)^{p-2} \left\| f_n - f_n^0 \right\|_{\infty}^p < \infty.$$

The following case shows that in some cases we can relax the compactness condition and even boundedness of  $\mathcal{K}$  and sum over all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  in (7.3)–(7.4).

**Proposition 7.8.** Let  $Q_{12} = \tilde{Q}_{12} = 0$  and  $Q_{21}, \tilde{Q}_{21} \in L^p[0,1]$  for some  $p \in (1,2]$ . Let the BCs (4.18) be strictly regular with b = 0. Then the eigenvalues of the operators L(Q) and  $L(\tilde{Q})$  are simple and separated, and there exist systems  $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $\{\tilde{f}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of their eigenfunctions, both normalized in  $C([0,1];\mathbb{C}^2)$ , such that the following uniform estimates hold:

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| f_n - \widetilde{f}_n \right\|_{\infty}^{p'} \le C \left\| Q - \widetilde{Q} \right\|_p^p,$$
(7.5)

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (1+|n|)^{p-2} \left\| f_n - \tilde{f}_n \right\|_{\infty}^p \le C \left\| Q - \tilde{Q} \right\|_p^{p'}.$$
(7.6)

These estimates are uniform in the sense that C = C(p, B, A) > 0 does not depend on Q and Q.

**Remark 7.9.** If  $Q_{12} = 0$ , b = 0, and a = 1 in the BCs (4.18), then the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator L(Q) is the union of two arithmetic progressions with one of them being the sequence  $\mu_n = 2(1 - b_2/b_1)\pi n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The corresponding eigenfunctions can be expressed explicitly via the Fourier coefficients

$$\int_0^x Q_{21}(t) e^{i\mu_n t} dt \quad \text{and} \quad \int_0^1 Q_{21}(t) e^{i\mu_n t} dt.$$

Hence Proposition 7.8 shows that the stability properties (7.5)–(7.6) of the eigenfunctions of the operator L(Q) are equivalent to the abstract inequalities (5.3)–(5.4) from Theorem 5.4 with the sequence  $\{\mu_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  being an arithmetic progression.

Acknowledgement: This paper has been supported by the RUDN University Strategic Academic Leadership Program.

### References

Albeverio, S., Hryniv, R. & Mykytyuk, Ya. (2005). Inverse spectral problems for Dirac operators with summable potentials. *Russian J. Math. Physics* 12, 406–423.

Baskakov, A.G., Derbushev, A.V. & Shcherbakov, A.O. (2011). The method of similar operators in the spectral analysis of non-self-adjoint Dirac operators with non-smooth potentials. *Izv. Math.* 75, 445–469.

Brown, B.M., Klaus, M., Malamud, M., Mogilevskii, V. & Wood, I. (2019). Weyl solutions and j-selfadjointness for Dirac operators. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 480, 33 pp.

Cascaval, R.C., Gesztesy, F., Holden, H. & Latushkin, Y. (2004). Spectral analysis of Darboux transformations for the focusing NLS hierarchy. *J. Anal. Math.* 93, 139–197.

Clark, S. & Gesztesy, F. (2006). On self-adjoint and *J*-self-adjoint Dirac type operators. A case study. *Contemp. Math.* 412, 103–140.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2010). Bari-Markus property for Riesz projections of 1D periodic Dirac operators. *Math. Nachr.* 283, 443–462.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2012). 1D Dirac operators with special periodic potentials. *Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci. Math.* 60, 59–75.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2012). Criteria for existence of Riesz bases consisting of root functions of Hill and 1D Dirac operators. *J. Funct. Anal.* 263, 2300–2332.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2012). Unconditional convergence of spectral decompositions of 1D Dirac operators with regular boundary conditions. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 61, 359–398.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2013). Riesz bases consisting of root functions of 1D Dirac operators. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 141, 1361–1375.

Djakov, P. & Mityagin, B. (2020). Spectral triangles of non-selfadjoint Hill and Dirac operators. *Russ. Math. Surv.* 75, 587–626.

Gesztesy, F. & Tkachenko, V. (2009). A criterion for Hill operators to be spectral operators of scalar type. *J. Anal. Math.* 107, 287–353.

Gesztesy, F. & Tkachenko, V. (2012). A Schauder and Riesz basis criterion for non-selfadjoint Schrödinger operators with periodic and anti-periodic boundary conditions. *J. Differential Equations* 253, 400–437.

Gomilko, A.M. & Rzepnicki, L. (2020). On asymptotic behaviour of solutions of the Dirac system and applications to the Sturm-Liouville problem with a singular potential. *J. Spectr. Theory* 10, 747–786.

Grafakos, L. (2009). *Modern Fourier Analysis*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 250. New York, NY: Springer.

Hassi, S. & Oridoroga, L. (2009). Theorem of completeness for a Dirac-type operator with generalized  $\lambda$ -depending boundary conditions. *Integral Equations Operator Theory* 64, 357–379.

Kantorovich, L.V. & Akilov, G.P. (1977). Functional Analysis. Moscow: Nauka. (In Russian.)

Katsnel'son, V.É. (1971). Exponential bases in L<sup>2</sup>. Funct. Anal. Appl. 5, 31–38.

Kurbanov, V.M. & Abdullayeva, A.M. (2018). Bessel property and basicity of the system of root vector-functions of Dirac operator with summable coefficient. *Oper. Matrices* 12, 943–954.

Kurbanov, V.M. & Gadzhieva, G.R. (2020). Bessel inequality and the basis property for  $2m \times 2m$ Dirac type system with an integrable potential. *Differ. Equ.* 56, 573–584.

Levin, B.Ya. (1961). Exponential bases in L<sup>2</sup>. Zapiski Matem. Otd. Fiz.-Matem. F-ta Khar'kovskogo Un-ta i Khar'kovskogo Matem. Ob-va 27, 39–48.

Levin, B.Ya. (1996). *Lectures on Entire Functions*. Transl. Math. Monographs, vol. 150. Providence, RI: Amer. Math. Soc. (In collaboration with Yu. Lyubarskii, M. Sodin, and V. Tkachenko.)

Levitan, B.M. & Sargsyan, I.S. (1991). *Sturm-Liouville and Dirac Operators*. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series), vol. 59. Dordrecht: Kluwer.

Lunyov, A.A. & Malamud, M.M. (2014). On spectral synthesis for dissipative Dirac type operators. *Integral Equations Operator Theory* 80, 79–106.

Lunyov, A.A. & Malamud, M.M. (2014). On the Riesz basis property of the root vector system for Dirac-type  $2 \times 2$  systems. *Dokl. Math.* 90, 556–561.

Lunyov, A.A. & Malamud, M.M. (2015). On the completeness and Riesz basis property of root subspaces of boundary value problems for first order systems and applications. *J. Spectr. Theory* 5, 17–70.

Lunyov, A.A. & Malamud, M.M. (2016). On the Riesz basis property of root vectors system for  $2 \times 2$  Dirac type operators. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 441, 57–103.

Makin, A.S. (2012). On summability of spectral expansions corresponding to the Sturm-Liouville operator. *Int. J. Math. Math. Sci.* 2012, 843562, 13 pp.

Makin, A.S. (2020). Regular boundary value problems for the Dirac operator. *Dokl. Math.* 101, 214–217.

Makin, A.S. (2021). On convergence of spectral expansions of Dirac operators with regular boundary conditions. *arXiv*:1902.02952. To appear in *Math. Nachr*.

Malamud, M.M. (1994). Similarity of Volterra operators and related questions of the theory of differential equations of fractional order. *Trans. Moscow Math. Soc.* 55, 57–122.

Malamud, M.M. (1999). Questions of uniqueness in inverse problems for systems of differential equations on a finite interval. *Trans. Moscow Math. Soc.* 60, 173–224.

Malamud, M.M. & Oridoroga, L.L. (2012). On the completeness of root subspaces of boundary value problems for first order systems of ordinary differential equations. *J. Funct. Anal.* 263, 1939–1980.

Marchenko, V.A. (1986). *Sturm-Liouville Operators and Applications*. Operator Theory: Advances and Appl., vol. 22. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag.

Mykytyuk, Ya.V. & Puyda, D.V. (2013). Bari-Markus property for Dirac operators. *Mat. Stud.* 40, 165–171.

Rzepnicki, L. (2020). Asymptotic behavior of solutions of the Dirac system with an integrable potential. *arXiv*:2011.06510.

Romaschenko, G.S. (2008). Similarity of Volterra operators in Lebesgue spaces of vector functions. *Ukr. Math. Bull.* 5, 219–242.

Sadovnichaya, I.V. (2016). Uniform asymptotics of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the Dirac system with an integrable potential. *Differ. Equ.* 52, 1000–1010.

Savchuk, A.M. (2019). Uniform estimates of remainders in spectral analysis of linear differential systems. *Differ. Equ.* 55, 609–619.

Savchuk, A.M. & Sadovnichaya, I.V. (2018). Uniform basisness of the root vectors system of the Dirac operator. *Sovr. Mat. Fund. Naprav.* 64, 180–193. (In Russian.)

Savchuk, A.M. & Shkalikov, A.A. (2014). The Dirac operator with complex-valued summable potential. *Math. Notes* 96, 777–810.

Trooshin, I. & Yamamoto, M. (2001). Riesz basis of root vectors of a non-symmetric system of firstorder ordinary differential operators and application to inverse eigenvalue problems. *Appl. Anal.* 80, 19–51.

Trooshin, I. & Yamamoto, M. (2002). Spectral properties and an inverse eigenvalue problem for non-symmetric systems of ordinary differential operators. *J. Inverse Ill-Posed Probl.* 10, 643–658.

Uskova, N.B. (2019). Spectral properties of the Dirac operator with a nonsmooth potential of the general form and operator groups. *Differ. Equ.* 55, 1120–1124.

Zygmund, A. (1959). Trigonometric Series, vol. II. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Facebook, Inc., 1 Hacker Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025, United States of America *E-mail address*: A.A.Lunyov@gmail.com

Peoples Friendship University of Russia (RUDN University), 6 Miklukho-Maklaya St., Moscow, 117198, Russian Federation *E-mail address*: malamud3m@gmail.com

#### COMPLETENESS AND MINIMALITY OF EIGENFUNCTIONS AND ASSOCIATED FUNCTIONS OF ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS

Manfred Möller

Dedicated to Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

## 1 Introduction

One of the oldest and most important results in operator theory is that a selfadjoint operator with compact resolvent in a Hilbert gives rise to an orthogonal basis of eigenvectors. This property is extensively used in the Sturm-Liouville theory. If the operator is not selfadjoint, then there may be biorthogonal bases of the operator and its adjoint, but such bases are not guaranteed. There is some substantial literature especially regarding Sturm-Liouville problems, including operators with eigenvalue parameter dependent boundary conditions.

Often, properties of the spectra of quite special cases are considered in detail, see, e.g., (Aliyev & Guliyeva, 2018; Aliyev & Namazov, 2017; Binding & Browne, 1995; Guliyev, 2019). Such properties of spectra are then used to prove minimality or basisness of a subsystem of eigenfunctions and associated functions, see, e.g., (Aliyev, 2007; Aliev & Dun'yamalieva, 2015; Kerimov & Mirzoev, 2003; Namazov, 2017). Expansion theorems predate these results, see Schneider (1974), Walter (1973), or the more recent result on completeness in Allahverdiev (2005). Shkalikov (1983) devised a linearization method for differential operator polynomials in the eigenvalue parameter and he proved completeness and minimality of the eigenvectors and associated vectors of the linearized system. However, the degree of this operator polynomial equals the order of the differential equation and his method is therefore not applicable to the differential operators studied in the current note.

For a Banach space H, Shkalikov (2019) starts with bases or complete and minimal systems in  $H \oplus \mathbb{C}^N$  to give conditions when co-finite subsystems of projections onto H are bases or complete and minimal systems in H. In Möller (2020) and in this note B-biorthogonality for a bounded linear operator from a Banach space E to a Banach space F will be used, where E is densely and continuously embedded in the space H, see Section 2 for more details. This has the advantage that the general results of Mennicken & Möller (2003) for arbitrary Birkhoff regular n-th order differential operators can be applied. In particular, Birkhoff regularity guarantees the existence of co-finite systems which are minimal and complete in H, and more or less explicit criteria for the choice of such systems can be given.

For the sake of completeness, the preparation needed and presented in Möller (2020) will be repeated here. The outline of the contents is as follows. In Section 2 notation is introduced and the abstract functional analytic theorem on completeness and minimality is proved. In Section 3 it is shown how the main result, Theorem 2.6, can be applied to an *n*-th order ordinary Birkhoff regular differential operator with boundary conditions which may depend on  $\lambda$  linearly. In Section 4 the case of second order differential equations with separable boundary conditions is discussed. A general result is obtained when exactly one boundary condition depends on  $\lambda$ , whereas a positive result is also provided for a special case when both boundary conditions depend on  $\lambda$ .

### 2 Complete and minimal systems

#### 2.1 Minimality

Let E, F, and H be infinite-dimensional Banach spaces such that E is a dense subset of H with continuous embedding  $E \hookrightarrow H$ . The dual spaces of E, F, H are denoted by E', F', H' with corresponding bilinear forms  $\langle , \rangle$ . The notation  $\langle , \rangle_E$  for the bilinear form in  $E \times E'$ , for example, may also be used.

**Definition 2.1.** A sequence  $(w_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  in the Banach space H is called *minimal* in H if

$$w_j \notin \overline{\operatorname{span} \{w_i : i \in \mathbb{N}, i \neq j\}}$$
 for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ .

The sequence  $(w_i)_{i=1}^n$  in H is called *complete* in H if

span 
$$\{w_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\} = H$$

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $B \in L(E, F)$ . Two sequences  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  in E and  $(v_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  in F' are called *B*biorthogonal if

$$\langle By_i, v_j \rangle_F = \delta_{ij}, \qquad i, j \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (2.1)

When the operator B is clear from the context, the notion B-biorthogonal may be shortened to biorthogonal.

Let F be decomposed as  $F_1 \times F_2$  where  $F_1$  is a Banach space and  $F_2$  is a finite-dimensional space of dimension  $\kappa$ , where  $\kappa = 0$  is allowed. Then the operator B from E to F can be decomposed as

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $B_l \in L(E, F_l)$ , l = 1, 2. Furthermore it is assumed that  $B_1$  has a continuous extension  $B_0 \in L(H, F_1)$ . With respect to the decomposition  $F' = F'_1 \times F'_2$ , let  $v_i =: (v_{i,1}, v_{i,2})$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem 2.3** (Möller (2020: Theorem 1)). Assume that the sequences  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$ ,  $y_i \in E$ , and  $(v_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$ ,  $v_i \in F'$ , are B-biorthogonal. If span  $\{v_{1,2}, \ldots, v_{\kappa,2}\} = F'_2$ , then  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is minimal in H.

#### 2.2 Completeness

For an operator S in a Banach space, its adjoint will be denoted by  $S^*$ .

**Proposition 2.4.** Assume that span  $\{v_{1,2}, \ldots, v_{\kappa,2}\} = F'_2$  and that  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is complete in H. Then there is an integer N with  $1 \le N \le \kappa + 1$  such that, after possibly permutating the indices  $1, \ldots, \kappa$ , the system  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in H.

*Proof.* If  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is complete in H, then the statement holds for  $N = \kappa + 1$ , since  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is also minimal in H by Theorem 2.3. If  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is not complete in H, then

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}\left\{y_{i}: i \in \mathbb{N}, i \geq \kappa + 1\right\}}^{H} \subsetneqq H = \overline{\operatorname{span}\left\{y_{i}: i \in \mathbb{N}\right\}}^{H}.$$

Therefore it may be assumed without loss of generality that

$$y_{\kappa} \notin \overline{\operatorname{span}\left\{y_{i} : i \in \mathbb{N}, \ i \geq \kappa + 1\right\}}^{H}.$$

It is clear that also  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa}^{\infty}$  is minimal in H. If  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa}^{\infty}$  is not complete in H, then this procedure is repeated up to an index N with  $2 \le N \le \kappa + 1$  which gives that  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in H, or up to N = 1 which gives that  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is minimal in H. But for N = 1 the system  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is complete in H by assumption, and the proof is complete.

Proposition 2.4 states a sufficient condition under which the removal of at most  $\kappa$  terms from the sequence results in the remaining sequence to be minimal and complete. However, the number of terms to be removed is not known, and therefore sufficient conditions will be found such that this number is exactly  $\kappa$ . Let

$$\widetilde{E} := \overline{\operatorname{span} \{y_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\}}^E$$
,  $\widetilde{B}_1 := B_1|_{\widetilde{E}}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_2 := B_2|_{\widetilde{E}}$ , and  $\widetilde{B} := \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{B}_1\\ \widetilde{B}_2 \end{pmatrix}$ .

**Proposition 2.5.** Let the assumptions of Proposition 2.4 be satisfied and let N be the number in the statement of that proposition. Then  $\widetilde{B}_2^*$  is injective on span  $\{v_{1,2}, \ldots, v_{N-1,2}\}$ .

*Proof.* Of course, we only need to consider the case N > 1. Assume the statement to be false. Replacing  $y_1, \ldots, y_{N-1}$  and  $v_1, \ldots, v_{N-1}$  with suitable linear combinations thereof such that (2.1) remains true, it may be assumed without loss of generality that  $\tilde{B}_2^* v_{1,2} = 0$ . Then

$$\langle \widetilde{B}_2 y_i, v_{1,2} \rangle = \langle y_i, \widetilde{B}_2^* v_{i,2} \rangle = 0, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N},$$

and (2.1) would give

$$\delta_{i,1} = \langle \widetilde{B}y_i, v_1 \rangle = \langle y_i, \widetilde{B}_0^* v_{1,1} \rangle_{\widetilde{E}} = \langle y_i, \widetilde{B}_0^* v_{1,1} \rangle_H, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N}$$

But, since  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is complete in H, this would lead to  $\tilde{B}_0^* v_{1,1} = 0$  and  $1 = \langle y_1, \tilde{B}_0^* v_{1,1} \rangle_H$ , a contradiction.

Consequently, under the assumptions of Proposition 2.4, for N in Proposition 2.4 to be  $\kappa + 1$  it is necessary that  $\tilde{B}_2^*$  is injective or, equivalently, that  $\tilde{B}_2$  is surjective.

Since  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in H, there exists a unique sequence  $(w_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  in H' such that

$$\langle y_i, w_j \rangle_H = \delta_{i,j}, \qquad i, j \ge N.$$
 (2.2)

**Theorem 2.6.** Assume that span  $\{v_{1,2}, \ldots, v_{\kappa,2}\} = F'_2$ , that the sequence  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is complete in H, that  $B_2(\text{span } \{y_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\}) = F_2$ , and that  $R(B_2^*) \cap H' = \{0\}$ . Then  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is complete in H.

*Proof.* By Proposition 2.4, the system  $(y_i)_{i=N}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in H. In particular,  $\tilde{E}$  is dense in H. Then it is clear that with  $B_1$  also  $\tilde{B}_1$  has a continuous extension  $\tilde{B}_0$  to H and that  $\tilde{B}_0 = B_0$ . Furthermore,  $\tilde{B}_2$  and  $B_2$  are surjective, which implies that  $\tilde{B}_2^*$  and  $B_2^*$  are injective. Hence there is a one-to-one identification of elements in  $R(\tilde{B}_2^*)$  with elements in  $R(B_2^*)$ . But since H' is a subspace of  $\tilde{E}'$  as well as E', the assumption  $R(B_2^*) \cap H' = \{0\}$  gives that  $R(\tilde{B}_2^*) \cap H' = \{0\}$ .

From (2.1) and (2.2) it follows that

$$\langle y_i, \widetilde{B}^* v_j - w_j \rangle = 0, \qquad i, j \ge N.$$

The completeness of  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\widetilde{E}$  and the biorthogonality (2.1) imply that  $\widetilde{B}^* v_j - w_j$  is a linear combination of  $\widetilde{B}^* v_l, l = 1, ..., N - 1$ . Therefore

$$\widetilde{B}^* v_j - w_j = \sum_{l=1}^{N-1} \langle y_l, \widetilde{B}^* v_j - w_j \rangle \widetilde{B}^* v_l = -\sum_{l=1}^{N-1} \langle y_l, w_j \rangle \widetilde{B}^* v_l, \qquad j \ge N,$$

which gives

$$\widetilde{B}_2^* v_{j,2} + \sum_{l=1}^{N-1} \langle y_l, w_j \rangle \widetilde{B}_2^* v_{l,2} = w_j - \widetilde{B}_0^* v_{j,1} - \sum_{l=1}^{N-1} \langle y_l, w_j \rangle \widetilde{B}_0^* v_{l,1} \in H', \qquad j \ge N.$$

Then  $R(\widetilde{B}_2^*)\cap H'=\{0\}$  and the injectivity of  $\widetilde{B}_2^*$  show that

$$v_{j,2} + \sum_{l=1}^{N-1} \langle y_l, w_j \rangle v_{l,2} = 0,$$

which is impossible when  $N \leq j \leq \kappa$  because  $v_{1,2}, \ldots, v_{\kappa,2}$  are linearly independent. Therefore  $N = \kappa + 1$ .

## 3 The differential operator

Let a < b be real numbers. Recall the Sobolev space

$$W_p^k(a,b) = \{ y \in L_p(a,b) : y^{(i)} \in L_p(a,b), \ i = 1, \dots, k \}, \qquad p \in (1,\infty), \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$

where the derivative is taken in the sense of distributions, see, e.g., (Mennicken & Möller, 2003: Section 2.1). The vector space  $W_p^k(a, b)$  becomes a Banach space when equipped with the norm  $\| \|_{p,k}$ , defined by

$$||y||_{p,k} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} ||y^{(i)}||_{p}, \qquad y \in W_{p}^{k}(a,b),$$

where  $\| \|_p$  is the norm in  $L_p(a, b)$ . The dual of the Banach space  $W_p^k(a, b)$  will be identified with a space of distributions  $W_{p'}^{-k}[a, b]$ , where 1/p + 1/p' = 1, and the corresponding bilinear form will be denoted by  $\langle , \rangle_{p,k}$ , see, e.g., (Mennicken & Möller, 2003: Section 2.1).

Now let  $n \geq 2$  and define

$$\mathbf{K}y = \sum_{i=0}^{n} k_i y^{(i)}$$

with  $k_i \in W^i_{p'}(a, b)$  for i = 1, ..., n - 1 and  $k_0 \in L_{\min(p,p')}(a, b)$ . It will always be assumed that  $k_n$  is a non-zero constant. The differential operator

$$L^{D}(\lambda)y := \mathbf{K}\eta - \lambda y, \qquad y \in W_{p}^{n}(a,b),$$
(3.1)

satisfies  $L^D(\lambda) \in L(W_p^n(a, b), L_p(a, b))$ . Together with (3.1) two-point boundary conditions

$$L^{R}(\lambda)y := \left(\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} w_{ki}^{(0)}(\lambda)y^{(i-1)}(a) + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} w_{ki}^{(1)}(\lambda)y^{(i-1)}(b)\right)_{k=1}^{n} = 0$$
(3.2)

are considered, where the  $w_{ki}^{(j)}$  are polynomials of degree at most 1, i. e., they are constant or polynomials of degree 1. It is assumed that for each  $k = 1, \ldots, n$  at least one of the 2n polynomials  $w_{ki}^{(0)}, w_{ki}^{(1)}, i = 1, \ldots, n$ , is not the zero polynomial. Clearly,  $L^R(\lambda) \in L(W_p^n(a, b), \mathbb{C}^n)$ .

For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  define

$$L(\lambda) := (L^D(\lambda), L^R(\lambda)).$$
(3.3)

It is clear that there are bounded operators

$$A, B \in L(W_p^n(a, b), L_p(a, b) \times \mathbb{C}^n) \quad \text{such that} \quad L(\lambda) = A + \lambda B, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(3.4)

Since the dual spaces are defined via sesquilinear forms, the adjoint operator has the representation

$$L(\lambda)^* = A^* + \lambda B^*, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$

In order to define Birkhoff regularity some notation is introduced first. For positive integers r let  $M_r(\mathbb{C})$  be the set of  $r \times r$  matrices with entries in  $\mathbb{C}$  and put

$$W^{(j)}(\lambda) = (w_{ki}^{(j)}(\lambda))_{k,i=1}^{n}, \quad j = 0, 1,$$
  

$$W(\lambda) = (W^{(0)}(\lambda), W^{(1)}(\lambda)),$$
  

$$C_{0}(\mu) = \operatorname{diag}(1, \mu, \dots, \mu^{n-1}) \in M_{n}(\mathbb{C}),$$
  

$$l_{\nu} = \operatorname{deg}\left[e_{\nu}^{\mathrm{T}}\left(W^{(0)}(\mu^{n})C_{0}(\mu), W^{(1)}(\mu^{n})C_{0}(\mu)\right)\right], \quad \nu = 1, \dots, n,$$
(3.5)

where deg denotes the degree as a vector polynomial in the variable  $\mu$  and  $e_{\nu}$  is the  $\nu$ -th standard basis vector in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Furthermore, let

$$C_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \dots & 1 \\ k_{n}^{-1/n} \omega_{1} & \dots & k_{n}^{-1/n} \omega_{n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ k_{n}^{(n-1)/n} \omega_{1}^{n-1} & \dots & k_{n}^{(n-1)/n} \omega_{n}^{n-1} \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.6)

where

$$\omega_j = \exp\left\{\frac{2\pi i(j-1)}{n}\right\}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n.$$

Then

diag
$$(\mu^{-l_1}, \dots, \mu^{-l_n})W^{(j)}(\mu^l)C_0(\mu)C_1 = W_0^{(j)} + O(\mu^{-1}), \qquad j = 0, 1$$

Clearly, the constants  $l_{\nu}$  defined in (3.5) satisfy  $0 \le l_{\nu} \le 2n - 1$ . Without loss of generality it will be assumed that  $l_{\nu} \le l_{\nu+1}$  for  $\nu = 1, \ldots, n - 1$ . Let

$$\kappa := \#\{\nu \in \{1, \dots, n\} : l_{\nu} \ge n\}.$$
(3.7)

This means that for  $\nu > n - \kappa$  at least one entry of the  $\nu$ -th row of the  $n \times 2n$  matrix  $W(\lambda)$  is not constant, whereas for  $\nu \leq n - \kappa$ , all entries of the  $\nu$ -th row of  $W(\lambda)$  are constant. Let

 $\hat{l}_{\nu} \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  be such that

$$l_{\nu} = \overline{l_{\nu}} \mod (n), \qquad \nu = 1, \dots, n.$$

Clearly,  $l_{\nu} = \hat{l}_{\nu}$  for  $\nu \leq n - \kappa$  and  $l_{\nu} = \hat{l}_{\nu} + n$  for  $\nu > n - \kappa$ .

If n = 2m is even, then let  $\mathfrak{L}$  be the set of all  $n \times n$  diagonal matrices with m consecutive entries 1 in the diagonal, in a cyclic arrangement, whereas the remaining entries are 0. If n = 2m + 1 is odd, then let  $\mathfrak{L}$  be the set of all  $n \times n$  diagonal matrices with m or m + 1 consecutive entries 1 in the diagonal, in a cyclic arrangement, whereas the remaining entries are 0. Let

$$\mathfrak{B} := \{W_0^{(0)}\Lambda + W_0^{(1)}(I_n - \Lambda) : \Lambda \in \mathfrak{L}\}.$$
(3.8)

The problem (3.1)-(3.2) is called *Birkhoff regular* if det  $\Phi \neq 0$  for all  $\Phi \in \mathfrak{B}$ . This definition of Birkhoff regularity is a special case of the characterization of Birkhoff regularity in Mennicken & Möller (2003: Theorem 7.3.2). Then it follows from Mennicken & Möller (2003: Theorem 4.3.9) that the resolvent set of *L* is not empty, which implies the following result.

**Proposition 3.1.** If the problem (3.1)-(3.2) is Birkhoff regular, then the spectrum  $\sigma(L)$  of L consists of a sequence  $(\lambda_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of eigenvalues of finite multiplicity.

**Definition 3.2.** (i) An ordered set  $\{y_0, y_1, \ldots, y_h\}$  in *E* is called a *chain of an eigenvector and* associated vectors (CEAV) of *L* at  $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  if  $y_0 \neq 0$  and if the vector polynomial

$$y := \sum_{l=0}^{h} \left( \cdot - \lambda_0 \right)^l y_l$$

is such that the vector polynomial Ly has a zero at  $\lambda_0$  of multiplicity  $\nu(y) \ge h + 1$ . (ii) Let  $y_0 \in N(L(\lambda_0)) \setminus \{0\}$ . Then  $\overline{\nu}(y_0)$  denotes the maximum of all multiplicities  $\nu(y)$ , where y is as in part (i) with  $y(\lambda_0) = y_0$ .

(iii) A system  $\{y_l^{(j)} : 1 \le j \le r, 0 \le l \le \overline{m}_j - 1\}$  is called a *canonical system of eigenvectors and* associated vectors (CSEAV) of L at  $\lambda_0$  if

- (a)  $\{y_0^{(1)}, \dots, y_0^{(r)}\}$  is a basis of  $N(L(\lambda_0));$
- (b)  $\{y_0^{(j)}, \dots, y_{\overline{m}_j-1}^{(j)}\}$  is a CEAV of L at  $\lambda_0, j = 1, \dots, r;$
- (c)  $\overline{m}_j = \max\{\overline{\nu}(y) : y \in N(L(\lambda_0)) \setminus \operatorname{span}\{y_0^{(k)} : k < j\}\}, j = 1, \dots, r.$

The following two propositions are special cases of results in Mennicken & Möller (2003: Section 1.10).

**Proposition 3.3.** Assume that L is Birkhoff regular and let  $\lambda_0 \in \sigma(L)$ . Let  $y_0, \ldots, y_k$  be a CEAV of L at  $\lambda_0$ . Then

$$(A + \lambda_0 B)y_0 = 0,$$
  $(A + \lambda_0 B)y_{l+1} = -By_l,$   $l = 0, \dots, k-1.$ 

For each eigenvalue there exist biorthogonal canonical systems of eigenvectors and associated vectors of L and  $L^*$ .

Proposition 3.4. Assume that the differential operator L is Birkhoff regular and let the CSEAV

$$\{y_l^{(j)}: 1 \le j \le r, \ 0 \le l \le m_j - 1\}$$

of L at  $\lambda_0$  be given. Then there exists a CSEAV

$$\{v_l^{(j)}: 1 \le j \le r, 0 \le l \le m_j - 1\}$$

of  $L^*$  at  $\lambda_0$  such that these two systems are biorthogonal, i.e.,

$$\langle By_l^{(i)}, v_{m_j-1-k}^{(j)} \rangle = \delta_{ij} \,\delta_{lk}, \qquad 1 \le i \le r, \ 0 \le l \le m_i - 1, \ 1 \le j \le r, \ 0 \le k \le m_j - 1.$$

Before formulating the main result for differential operators, more notation is needed. Writing

$$W(\lambda) =: W_0 + \lambda W_1, \tag{3.9}$$

see (3.5), let  $\widehat{W}_1$  be the  $\kappa \times 2n$  submatrix of  $W_1$  consisting of the last  $\kappa$  rows of  $W_1$ . Furthermore, for  $y \in W_p^n(a, b)$  let  $\widehat{Y}$  be the 2n-vector

$$\widehat{Y} := (y(a), \dots, y^{(n-1)}(a), y(b), \dots, y^{(n-1)}(b)).$$

The obvious modification for indexed functions applies. A representation of the adjoint operator  $L^*(\lambda)$  is given in Mennicken & Möller (2003: Theorem 6.5.1), namely,

$$L^{*}(\lambda)(u,d) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{i} (k_{i}u)_{e}^{(i)} - \lambda u_{e} + L^{R^{*}}(\lambda)d, \qquad u \in L_{p'}(a,b), \ d \in \mathbb{C}^{n},$$

where  $u_e$  is the canonical extension of u to  $\mathbb{R}$  by defining u = 0 on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus [a, b]$ , and where

$$L^{R^*}(\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^n (-1)^{i-1} \left( \left( W^{(0)}(\lambda) e_i \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \delta_a^{(i-1)} + \left( W^{(1)}(\lambda) e_i \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \delta_b^{(i-1)} \right)$$

with the Dirac distributions  $\delta_c$  at c for c = a and c = b.

**Theorem 3.5.** Assume that the differential operator L defined by (3.3) with the representation (3.4) is Birkhoff regular and that  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of elements in  $W_p^n(a, b)$  which consists of CSEAVs at all eigenvalues of L. Let  $(v_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be a corresponding sequence of CSEAVs (at all eigenvalues of  $L^*$ ) such that, under suitable indexing, the biorthogonality relation (2.1) holds. With respect to the decomposition  $L_p(a, b) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{n-\kappa} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{\kappa}$  write  $v_i = (u_i, d_{i,1}, d_{i,2})$ . Further assume that

span  $\{d_{1,2},\ldots,d_{\kappa,2}\} = \mathbb{C}^{\kappa}$  and span  $\{\widehat{W}_1\widehat{Y}_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\} = \mathbb{C}^{\kappa}$ .

Then the system  $(y_i)_{i=\kappa+1}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in  $L_p(a, b)$ .

*Proof.* Note first that the existence of the sequence  $(v_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  in the statement of the theorem is guaranteed by Proposition 3.4.

Putting  $E = W_p^k(a, b)$ ,  $F = L_p(a, b) \oplus \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $F_1 = L_p(a, b) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{n-\kappa}$ ,  $F_2 = \mathbb{C}^{\kappa}$ , and  $H = L_p(a, b)$ , it follows in the notation of Section 2 that  $B_1y = (-y, 0)$ ,  $y \in E$ , has a continuous extension  $B_0$ onto H given by  $B_0y = (-y, 0)$ . By (Mennicken & Möller, 2003: Theorem 8.8.3 & Remark 8.8.4) each function in  $f \in L_p(a, b)$  can be represented by a series  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_j$ , where each  $f_j$  is a finite linear combination of eigenfunctions and associated functions of L. Therefore the eigenfunctions and associated functions of L form a complete system in  $L_p(a, b)$ . The operator  $B_2$  is represented by  $B_2 y = \widehat{W}_1 \widehat{Y}, y \in E$ . Thus the operator  $B_2^*$  is represented by the coefficient of  $\lambda$  in  $(L^R)^*(\lambda)$ restricted to the last  $\kappa$  components of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Then (3.11) shows that  $R(B_2^*)$  consists of linear combinations of Dirac distributions and their derivatives, and therefore  $R(B_2^*) \cap H' = \{0\}$ . An application of Theorems 2.3 and 2.6 completes the proof.

The condition span  $\{\widehat{W}_1\widehat{Y}_i: i \in \mathbb{N}\} = \mathbb{C}^{\kappa}$  is a very technical one and it will not be considered any further in this note in the general case. The case n = 2 will be discussed in the next section.

# 4 Completeness and minimality for second order differential operators

In general, the assumptions of Theorem 3.5 are not easy to verify. Here we consider the case n = 2 with separable boundary conditions. For convenience, and possibly deviating from the arrangement of the rows of  $W(\lambda)$  in Section 3, it will be assumed that the first boundary condition is at a, whereas the second boundary condition is at b. Therefore

$$W^{(0)}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} w_{11}^{(0)}(\lambda) & w_{12}^{(0)}(\lambda) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad W^{(1)}(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ w_{21}^{(1)}(\lambda) & w_{22}^{(1)}(\lambda) \end{pmatrix},$$

where neither  $W^{(0)}$  nor  $W^{(1)}$  is identically zero. If, say,  $W^{(0)}(\lambda_0) = 0$  for some  $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ , then one could factor out  $\lambda - \lambda_0$  from  $W^{(0)}$ , which would be a rather artificial factor in the boundary matrix. Hence it is reasonable to require that  $W^{(0)}(\lambda) \neq 0$  and  $W^{(1)}(\lambda) \neq 0$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . In particular, the boundary condition at a is an initial condition, and therefore each eigenvalue has geometric multiplicity 1. Furthermore, with the notation as in (3.9),

$$W_0^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{0,0} & \alpha_{0,1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} C_1, \qquad W_0^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1,0} & \alpha_{1,1} \end{pmatrix} C_1,$$

for complex numbers  $\alpha_{i,j}$  such that  $(\alpha_{i,0}, \alpha_{i,1}) \neq (0,0)$  for i = 0, 1. Assuming the Sturm-Liouville equation, i.e.,  $k_2 = -1$ , for simplicity and taking  $k_2^{-1/2} = i$ , it follows that

$$C_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ i & -i \end{pmatrix},$$

see (3.6). Therefore,

$$W_0^{(0)}C_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{0,0} + i\alpha_{0,1} & \alpha_{0,0} - i\alpha_{0,1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad W_0^{(1)}C_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{1,0} + i\alpha_{1,1} & \alpha_{1,0} - i\alpha_{1,1} \end{pmatrix},$$

and  $\mathcal{L} = \{ \operatorname{diag}(1,0), \operatorname{diag}(0,1) \}$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{B}$  as defined in (3.8) consists of the two matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{0,0} + i\alpha_{0,1} & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha_{1,0} - i\alpha_{1,1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \alpha_{0,0} - i\alpha_{0,1} \\ \alpha_{1,0} + i\alpha_{1,1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Assuming further for simplicity that all coefficients of  $w_{ki}$  are real, it follows that all problems in this section are Birkhoff regular. For general  $k_2$  and  $\alpha_{i,j}$  it is obviously easy to determine when the problem is Birkhoff regular.

Now the cases  $\kappa = 0$ ,  $\kappa = 1$ , and  $\kappa = 2$  will be considered separately; for notation see Theorem 3.5 and (3.7). It will always be assumed that  $k_2 = -1$  and that all  $w_{ki}$  have real coefficients.

4.1 The case  $\kappa = 0$ 

This case is well known, it is just included for completeness. Here the assumption on the span is void, and therefore

**Theorem 4.1.** If L is Birkhoff regular and if the boundary conditions are independent of the eigenvalue parameter, then the system  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in  $L_p(a, b)$ .

4.2 The case  $\kappa = 1$ 

Since the geometric multiplicity of each eigenvalue is 1, each CSEAV consist of one CEAV, whose length is the algebraic multiplicity of the corresponding eigenvalue. Hence each  $y_i$  is therefore an element in such a chain, and we call  $y_i$  a *terminal function* if it is the last element of such a CEAV. Note that a terminal function  $y_i$  is an eigenfunction if the eigenvalue is simple, and an associated function otherwise.

**Theorem 4.2.** Assume that  $k_2 = -1$ , that  $k_1 = 0$ , and that L is Birkhoff regular. If  $y_1$  is a terminal function or if  $d_{1,2} \neq 0$ , then the system  $(y_i)_{i=2}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in  $L_p(a, b)$ .

*Proof.* The minimality has been shown in Möller (2020: Theorem 4). Since  $\kappa = 1$ , it therefore suffices to prove that  $\widehat{W}_1 Y \neq 0$  whenever y is an eigenfunction. Hence by proof of contradiction, assume that  $\widehat{W}_1 \widehat{Y} = 0$ . Then  $\widehat{W}_1 = e_\iota^T W_1$ , where  $\iota = 1$  if the  $\lambda$ -dependent boundary condition is at a and  $\iota = 2$  otherwise. Furthermore,  $W(\lambda)\widehat{Y} = 0$  for the eigenfunction y implies that also  $e_\iota^T W_0 \widehat{Y} = 0$ . But  $e_\iota^T W_0$  and  $e_\iota^T W_1$  are linearly independent by the feasibility assumption, which means that  $e_\iota^T W_0 \widehat{Y}$  and  $e_\iota^T W_1 \widehat{Y}$  would be linearly independent linear combinations of y and y' at the corresponding endpoint. Hence both y and y' would be 0 at that endpoint, which contradicts  $y \neq 0$ .

#### 4.3 The case $\kappa = 2$

Since this note is a continuation of the work in Möller (2020), only the special case

$$y'' + \lambda y = 0, \tag{4.1}$$

$$\alpha y'(0) - \lambda y(0) = 0,$$
 (4.2)

$$\beta y(1) - \lambda y'(1) = 0,$$
 (4.3)

with  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  will be considered.

**Theorem 4.3.** Let  $(y_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of elements in  $W_p^n(a, b)$  which consists of CSEAVs at all eigenvalues of (4.1)–(4.3). If  $y_1$  and  $y_2$  are terminal functions corresponding to sufficiently large real eigenvalues, then the system  $(y_i)_{i=3}^{\infty}$  is minimal and complete in  $L_p(a, b)$ .

*Proof.* The minimality statement is Möller (2020: Theorem 5). It was also shown there, and it is easy to see, that solutions of (4.1) and (4.2) are multiples of

$$u(x,\lambda) = \alpha \cos \sqrt{\lambda}x + \sqrt{\lambda} \sin \sqrt{\lambda}x$$

and that  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of (4.1)–(4.3) if and only if  $\lambda$  satisfies

$$(\alpha\beta - \lambda^2)\cos\sqrt{\lambda} + (\beta + \alpha\lambda)\sqrt{\lambda}\sin\sqrt{\lambda} = 0.$$
(4.4)

It is clear that

$$\widehat{W}_1\widehat{Y} = -\begin{pmatrix} y(0)\\y'(1) \end{pmatrix}.$$

It has also been shown that

$$u'(1,\lambda) = -\alpha\sqrt{\lambda}\sin\sqrt{\lambda} + \lambda\cos\sqrt{\lambda} = \beta\frac{\alpha^2 + \lambda}{\beta + \alpha\lambda}\cos\sqrt{\lambda}$$

whereas clearly  $u(0, \lambda) = \alpha$ . From (4.4) we conclude for eigenvalues  $\lambda$  that

$$[(\alpha\beta - \lambda^2)^2 + \lambda(\beta + \alpha\lambda)^2]\cos^2\sqrt{\lambda} = \lambda(\beta + \alpha\lambda)^2,$$

and therefore

$$(u'(1,\lambda))^2 = \frac{\beta^2 \lambda (\alpha^2 + \lambda)^2}{(\alpha\beta - \lambda^2)^2 + \lambda (\beta + \alpha\lambda)^2},$$

which shows that  $\widehat{W}_1 Y_i$  and  $\widehat{W}_1 Y_j$  are linearly independent for infinitely many pairs of eigenfunctions  $y_i$  and  $y_j$ . In particular, span  $\{\widehat{W}_1 \widehat{Y}_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\} = \mathbb{C}^2$ .

### References

Aliyev, Y.N. (2007). Minimality of the system of root functions of Sturm–Liouville problems with decreasing affine boundary conditions. *Colloq. Math.* 109, 147–162.

Aliev, Z.S. & Dun'yamalieva, A.A. (2015). Defect basis property of a system of root functions of a Sturm-Liouville problem with spectral parameter in the boundary conditions. *Differ. Equ.* 51, 1249–1266.

Aliyev, Z.S. & Guliyeva, S.B. (2018). Spectral properties of a fourth order eigenvalue problem with spectral parameter in the boundary conditions. *Filomat* 32, 2421–2431.

Aliyev, Z.S. & Namazov, F.M. (2017). Spectral properties of a fourth-order eigenvalue problem with spectral parameter in the boundary conditions. *Electron. J. Differential Equations* 307, 11 pp.

Allahverdiev, B.P. (2005). A nonself-adjoint singular Sturm-Liouville problem with a spectral parameter in the boundary condition. *Math. Nachr.* 278, 743–755.

Binding, P.A. & Browne, P.J. (1995). Application of two parameter eigencurves to Sturm-Liouville problems with eigenparameter-dependent boundary conditions. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 125, 1205–1218.

Guliyev, N.J. (2019). Schrödinger operators with distributional potentials and boundary conditions dependent on the eigenvalue parameter. *J. Math. Phys.* 60, 063501, 23 pp.

Kerimov, N.B. & Mirzoev, V.S. (2003). On the basis properties of a spectral problem with a spectral parameter in the boundary condition. *Sibirsk. Mat. Zh.* 44, 1041–1045.

Mennicken, R. & Möller, M. (2003). *Non-self-adjoint Boundary Eigenvalue Problems*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Möller, M. (2020). Minimality of eigenfunctions and associated functions of ordinary differential operators. *Adv. Oper. Theory* 5, 1014–1025.

Namazov, F.M. (2017). Basis properties of the system of eigenfunctions of a fourth order eigenvalue problem with spectral and physical parameters in the boundary conditions. *Trans. Natl. Acad. Sci. Azerb. Ser. Phys.-Tech. Math. Sci.* 37, 142–149.

Schneider, A. (1974). A note on eigenvalue problems with eigenvalue parameter in the boundary conditions. *Math. Z.* 136, 163–167.

Shkalikov, A.A. (1983). Boundary value problems for ordinary differential equations with a parameter in the boundary conditions. *Trudy Sem. Petrovsk.* 9, 190–229. (In Russian, with English summary.)

Shkalikov, A.A. (2019). Basis properties of root functions of ordinary differential operators with spectral parameter in the boundary conditions. *Differ. Equ.* 55, 631–643.

Walter, J. (1973). Regular eigenvalue problems with eigenvalue parameter in the boundary condition. *Math. Z.* 133, 301–312.

School of Mathematics, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, WITS 2050, South Africa *E-mail address*: manfred.moller@wits.ac.za

### PARTIALLY OVERLAPPING EVENT WINDOWS AND TESTING CUMULATIVE ABNORMAL RETURNS IN FINANCIAL EVENT STUDIES

Seppo Pynnönen

Dedicated to Professor Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

## 1 Introduction

In financial event studies the interest is to evaluate the effect of an economic event on the value of a firm. For this evaluation data available from financial markets can be successfully used with appropriate statistical testing methodology. The analyses are mainly based on stock or other asset returns. Campbell, Lo & MacKinlay (1997: Chapter 4) is an excellent introduction to financial event studies and related statistical methods.

Instead of using returns as such, standardizing them by respective standard deviations homogenizes data and improves testing performance. Because of this improvement, standardized return based tests by Patel (1976) and Boehmer, Musumeci & Poulsen (1991) (BMP) have gained popularity over conventional non-standardized tests in testing event effects on mean security price performance. Harrington & Shrider (2007) found that in a short-horizon testing of abnormal returns (i.e., systematic deviation from expected behavior), one should always use methods that are robust to cross-sectional variation in the true abnormal returns; for a discussion of true abnormal returns, see (Harrington & Shrider, 2007). They found that BMP is a good candidate for a robust, parametric test in conventional event studies.\*

However, a major problem in statistical tests of returns is that the returns are not normally distributed, see (Fama, 1976). Therefore, not surprisingly, non-parametric rank tests introduced by Corrado (1989; 2011), Corrado & Zivney (1992), Campbell & Wasley (1993), and Kolari & Pynnonen (2011), among others, dominate parametric tests both in terms of better size and power, see e.g., (Corrado, 1989; Corrado & Zivney, 1992; Campbell & Wasley, 1993; Kolari & Pynnonen, 2010; 2011; Luoma, 2011). Furthermore, the rank tests of Corrado & Zivney (1992) and Kolari & Pynnonen (2011) that utilize event period re-standardized returns have proven to be robust to eventinduced volatility (Kolari & Pynnonen, 2010; 2011), cross-correlation due to event day clusterings (Kolari & Pynnonen, 2010), and autocorrelation (Kolari & Pynnonen, 2011). These are consistent with the view stated in the epilogue of Lehmann (2006: p. v): "Rank tests apply often to relatively simple solutions, such as one-, two-, and *s*-sample problems, and testing for independence and randomness, but for these situations they are often the method of choice." Moreover, the results of rank tests are invariant to monotone transformations of the underlying returns, that is, whether the returns are defined as simple, continuously compounded (log-returns), or gross-returns. The existing rank based tests, however, are not robust to cross-sectional correlation if the event days are partially over-

<sup>\*</sup>We define conventional event studies as those focusing only on mean stock price effects. Other types of event studies include (for example) the examination of return variance effects (Beaver, 1968; Patel, 1976), trading volume (Beaver, 1968; Campbell & Wasley, 1996), accounting performance (Barber & Lyon, 1997), and earnings management procedures (Dechow, Sloan & Sweeney, 1995; Kothari, Leone & Wasley, 2005).

lapping. That is, when events in calendar time are scattered within an event window more or less randomly rather than clustered on the same calendar day, see (Kolari & Pynnonen, 2010). The current paper aims to fill this gap in the non-parametric event study testing. Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018) have generalized existing parametric cross-sectional correlation robust testing towards this direction.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews some related key literature. Section 3 defines the main concepts and derives some distributional properties of rank statistics. Section 4 introduces the new transformed rank test. Section 5 reports simulation results and Section 6 contains conclusions.

# 2 Review of related literature

Patell and BMP parametric tests apply straightforwardly for testing cumulative abnormal returns (CARs) over multiple day windows. With the correction suggested by Kolari & Pynnonen (2010) these tests are useful also in the case of completely clustered event days, and with the correction suggested by Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018) when the event days are partially clustered. By construction the Corrado (1989) rank test applies for testing single day event returns. Testing for CARs with the same logic implies the need for defining multiple-day returns that match the number of days in the CARs, see Corrado (1989: p. 395) and Campbell & Wasley (1993: footnote 4). In practice this can be carried out by dividing the estimation period and event period into intervals matching the number of days in the CAR. Unfortunately, this procedure is not useful for a number of reasons. Foremost, it does not necessarily lead to a unique testing procedure. Also, the abnormal return model should be re-estimated for each multiple-day CAR definition. Furthermore, for a fixed estimation period, as the number of days accumulated in a CAR increases, the number of multiple-day estimation period observations reduces quickly to an impractically low number and thus, would weaken the abnormal return model estimation, cf. (Kolari & Pynnonen, 2010). Kolari & Pynnonen (2011) solve these issues in their generalized rank test approach.

On the other hand, for example, Campbell & Wasley (1993) suggest to use the Corrado (1989) rank test for testing cumulative abnormal returns by simply accumulating the respective ranks to constitute cumulative ranks. This is also the practice adopted in the Eventus<sup>®</sup> software (Cowan Research L.C., www.eventstudy.com) and is probably, for the time being, the most popular practice in multiple day applications of rank tests.

In spite of these attractive properties, the cumulative ranks test does not account for the crosssectional correlation due to partially overlapping event windows. The correlation biases the standard errors downwards, leading to over-rejection of the null hypothesis of no event effect. This paper proposes an adjustment for the standard errors that corrects the bias.

# 3 Distributional properties of ranks

We begin by fixing some notations and an underlying assumption to facilitate our theoretical discussion. Assumption 1. Stock returns  $r_{it}$  for firm *i* are weak white noise continuous random variables and are cross-sectionally independent over non-overlapping calendar days *t*, or,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[r_{it}\right] &= \mu_i & \text{ for all } t, \\ & \operatorname{var}\left[r_{it}\right] &= \sigma_i^2 & \text{ for all } t, \\ & \operatorname{cov}\left[r_{it}, r_{iu}\right] &= 0 & \text{ for all } t \neq u, \\ & r_{it} \text{ and } r_{ju} \text{ are independent whenever } i \neq j \text{ and } t \neq u. \end{split}$$

Note that it is a stylized fact that the variances of the returns are time varying and that there is mild autocorrelation. The time varying volatility problem can be partially captured in terms of generalized autoregressive conditional heteroskedasticity (GARCH) modeling. It is notable that under typical assumptions, GARCH-processes satisfy the weak stationary properties of Assumption 1.

Let  $AR_{it} = r_{it} - \mathbb{E}[r_{it}]$  denote the abnormal return of security *i* on day *t*, and let day t = 0 indicate the event day. Days from  $t = T_0 + 1$  to  $t = T_1$  represent the estimation period relative to the event day, and days from  $t = T_1 + 1$  to  $t = T_2$  represent the event window. The cumulative abnormal return (CAR) from  $\tau_1$  to  $\tau_2$  with  $T_1 < \tau_1 \leq \tau_2 \leq T_2$ , is defined as

$$\operatorname{CAR}_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}) = \sum_{t=\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \operatorname{AR}_{it}.$$
(3.1)

The time period from  $\tau_1$  to  $\tau_2$  is called in the following a CAR window or CAR period.

Standardized abnormal returns are defined as

$$\mathrm{SAR}_{it} = \frac{\mathrm{AR}_{it}}{S(\mathrm{AR}_i)},$$

where

$$S(AR_i) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{T_1 - T_0 - 1} \sum_{t=T_0+1}^{T_1} AR_{it}^2}$$

Moreover, for the purpose of accounting for the possible event induced volatility, the re-standardized abnormal returns are defined in the manner of Boehmer, Musumeci & Poulsen (1991), see also (Corrado & Zivney, 1992), as

$$SAR'_{it} = \begin{cases} SAR_{it}/S_{SAR_t}, & T_1 < t \le T_2, \\ SAR_{it}, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$S_{\text{SAR}_t} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^n (\text{SAR}_{it} - \overline{\text{SAR}}_t)^2}$$

is the time t cross-sectional standard deviation of the SAR<sub>it</sub>s. In the preceding formula n is the number of stocks in the portfolio and  $\overline{\text{SAR}}_t = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \text{SAR}_{it}$ . Furthermore, let  $K_{it}$  denote the rank number of abnormal returns, where  $K_{it} \in \{1, \ldots, T\}$ ,  $t = T_0 + 1, \ldots, T_2$ ,  $T = T_2 - T_0$ , and  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ .

In particular, if the available observations on the estimation period vary from one series to another, then it is more convenient to deal with standardized ranks with zero mean and unit variance. For the purpose we use the known results of rank statistics, e.g., Lehmann (2006: Appendix, Section 1),

$$\mathbb{E}[K_{it}] = (T+1)/2, \quad \text{var}[K_{it}] = (T^2 - 1)/12, \quad \text{cov}[K_{is}, K_{it}] = -(T+1)/12, \quad s \neq t,$$

and define, cf. Hagnäs & Pynnonen (2014),

Definition 3.1. Standardized ranks are defined as

$$U_{it} = \frac{K_{it} - \frac{1}{2}(T+1)}{\sqrt{(T^2 - 1)/12}}.$$

Thus,  $\mathbb{E}[U_{it}] = 0$ , var  $[U_{it}] = 1$ , and cov  $[U_{is}, U_{it}] = -1/(T-1)$ .

Next we define cumulative standardized ranks for individual stocks.

**Definition 3.2.** The *cumulative standardized ranks* of a stock *i* over the event days window from  $\tau_1$  to  $\tau_2$  are defined as

$$U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \sum_{t=\tau_1}^{\tau_2} U_{it}, \quad \text{where } T_1 < \tau_1 \le \tau_2 \le T_2.$$
(3.2)

Then immediately  $\mu_i(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \mathbb{E}\left[U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)\right] = 0$ , and the variance equation

$$\operatorname{var}[U_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})] = \sum_{t=t_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \operatorname{var}[U_{it}] + \sum_{s \neq t} \operatorname{cov}[U_{is},U_{it}]$$

implies that

$$\sigma_i^2(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \operatorname{var}\left[U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)\right] = \frac{\tau(T - \tau)}{T - 1},$$
(3.3)

where i = 1, ..., n,  $T_1 < \tau_1 \le \tau_2 \le T_2$ , and  $\tau = \tau_2 - \tau_1 + 1$ .

Rather than investigating individual (cumulative) returns, the practice in event studies is to aggregate individual returns into equally weighted portfolios.

**Definition 3.3.** The *average cumulative standardized ranks* are defined as the equally weighted portfolio of individual cumulative standardized ranks defined in (3.2), i.e.,

$$\bar{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \sum_{t=\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \bar{U}_t, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $T_1 < \tau_1 \leq \tau_2 \leq T_2$ , and

$$\bar{U}_t = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n U_{it}$$

is the time t average of standardized ranks.

The expected value of the average cumulative standardized ranks is the same as that of the cumulative ranks of individual securities, or

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\bar{U}(\tau_1,\tau_2)\right] = \frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^n \mathbb{E}\left[U_i(\tau_1,\tau_2)\right] = 0.$$

If the event days are not clustered, then the cross-sectional correlations of the return series are zero, or at least negligible. Under the assumption of independence, the variance of  $\bar{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  is

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \operatorname{var}\left[\bar{U}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right] = \frac{\tau(T-\tau)}{(T-1)n}$$

and by the central limit theorem asymptotically as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$Z = \left(\frac{(T-1)n}{\tau(T-\tau)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2) \sim N(0, 1).$$
(3.5)

The situation is more complicated if the event days are partially overlapping in calendar time, which implies cross-correlation. Recalling that the variances of  $U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  given in equation (3.3) are constants (independent of *i*), we can write the cross-covariance of  $U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  and  $U_j(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  as

$$\operatorname{cov}\left[U_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}),U_{j}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right] = \frac{\tau(T-\tau)}{T-1}\,\rho_{ij}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}),\tag{3.6}$$

where  $\rho_{ij}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  is the cross-sectional correlation of  $U_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  and  $U_j(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ , i, j = 1, ..., n. Utilizing this and the variance-of-the-sum formula, the variance of  $\overline{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  in (3.4) becomes

$$\operatorname{var}\left[\bar{U}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right] = \frac{1}{n^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{var}\left[U_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right] + \frac{1}{n^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j\neq i}^{n} \operatorname{cov}\left[U_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}), U_{j}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right]$$
$$= \frac{\tau(T-\tau)}{(T-1)n} \left(1 + (n-1)\bar{\rho}_{n}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right), \qquad (3.7)$$

where

$$\bar{\rho}_n(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \frac{1}{n(n-1)} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^n \rho_{ij}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$$

is the average cross-sectional correlation of cumulated ranks.

Cross-sectional dependence affects the asymptotic distribution of the statistic in (3.5). However, as discussed in Lehmann (1999: Section 2.8), it is frequently true that the asymptotic normality holds, provided that the average correlation,  $\bar{\rho}_n(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ , tends to zero rapidly enough such that

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i\neq j}^n \rho_{ij}(\tau_1,\tau_2) = (n-1)\bar{\rho}_n(\tau_1,\tau_2) \to \gamma \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty,$$

where  $\gamma$  is some finite constant. Under this condition the limiting distribution of the Z-statistic in (3.5) becomes  $N(0, 1 + \gamma)$ .

Otherwise, from a practical point of view, the crucial result of (3.7) is that the only unknown parameter to be estimated is the average cross-sectional correlation  $\bar{\rho}_n(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ . Hagnäs & Pynnonen (2014) discuss approaches to implicitly account for this average correlation in cumulated ranks tests when all events share the same calendar day, i.e., the case of complete overlapping (clustering) event periods. These implicit approaches, however, do not work when the event periods are partially overlapping. Therefore, by utilizing the procedure developed in Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018), this paper proposes a method to estimate explicitly the cross-sectional correlation  $\bar{\rho}_n(\tau_1, \tau_2)$ , and thereby solves the cross-sectional correlation problem also in cases with partially overlapping event periods.

### 4 Correlation robust test for cumulated ranks

Following Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018), let  $\tau_{ij}$ ,  $0 \le \tau_{ij} \le \tau$ , denote the number of calendar days that stocks *i* and *j* have overlapping calendar days within the event windows. By the independence in Assumption 1 the correlation cor  $[U_{iu}, U_{jv}]$  of the standardized ranks  $U_{iu}$  and  $U_{jv}$  is zero whenever the underlying calendar days of the relative event days, *u* and *v*, differ, and can be non-zero when the calendar days are the same. Denoting these non-zero correlations, which are also covariances, by  $\rho_{ij}$ , we obtain

$$\operatorname{cov}\left[U_{i}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2}),U_{j}(\tau_{1},\tau_{2})\right] = \sum_{u=\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \sum_{v=\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \operatorname{cor}\left[U_{iu},U_{ju}\right] = \tau_{ij}\rho_{ij}$$

Combining this with (3.6) we obtain

$$\rho_{ij}(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \left(\frac{T-1}{T-\tau}\right) \frac{\tau_{ij}}{\tau} \rho_{ij}.$$

We can assume that the overlapping window lengths  $\tau_{ij}$  and the cross-sectional correlations  $\rho_{ij}$  are not dependent on each other so that  $\sum_{i\neq j} \tau_{ij}\rho_{ij} = n(n-1)\overline{\tau}\overline{\rho}$ , where  $\overline{\tau}$  is the average number of overlapping calendar days and  $\overline{\rho}$  is the average cross-sectional correlation of  $U_i$  and  $U_j$ .<sup>†</sup> As a result, we can rewrite (3.7) as

$$\operatorname{var}\left[\bar{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2)\right] = \frac{\tau(T - \tau)}{(T - 1)n} \left(1 + (n - 1)\delta\bar{\rho}\right),\tag{4.1}$$

where  $\delta = \bar{\tau}(T-1)/(\tau(T-\tau))$  adjusts the average correlation by the fraction of overlapping calendar days within the event window.

It is notable that even though the average cross-sectional correlation  $\bar{\rho}$  in (4.1) is based on n(n-1)/2 correlations, it can be computed without estimating individual correlations by utilizing the method introduced by Edgerton & Toops (1928). Instead of the n(n-1)/2 individual correlations, it turns out that we need to compute only n+1 variances, which is a computational problem of order n viz-a-viz of order  $n^2$  when averaging the correlations. To illustrate this idea, consider n random variables  $x_j, j = 1, \ldots, n$ , and define the standardized variables  $z_j = x_j/\sigma_j$ . Next let  $\bar{z} = \sum_j z_j/n$  denote the average of the variables. Then the variance of  $\bar{z}$  is

$$\sigma_{\bar{z}}^2 = \operatorname{var}\left[\bar{z}\right] = \frac{1 + (n-1)\bar{\rho}}{n},$$

because var  $[z_j] = 1$  and cov  $[z_j, z_k] = cor [z_j, z_k] = \rho_{jk}$ . From this result we obtain

$$\bar{\rho} = \frac{n\sigma_{\bar{z}}^2 - 1}{n - 1}.$$

Thus, for large  $n, \bar{\rho} \approx \sigma_{\bar{z}}^2$ . In order to estimate the average cross-sectional correlation, all we need are estimates of n standard deviations of the x-variables and the variance of  $\bar{z}$ .

Since in our case the calendar days of different stocks are only partially overlapping, we estimate the variance of the average utilizing the clustering robust estimation technique, see, e.g., (Cameron,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>The equation follows by setting  $\sum (x - \bar{x})(y - \bar{y}) = \sum xy - n\bar{x}\bar{y}$  to zero, so that  $\sum xy = n\bar{x}\bar{y}$ .

Gelbach & Miller, 2011), suggested in Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018).

Following Kolari, Pape & Pynnonen (2018), denote the calendar days of the returns in the combined estimation and event window as t = 1, ..., L. In other words, L is the number of clusters which equals the number of separate calendar days on which returns are available in the combined estimation and event windows. Let  $n_t$  denote the number of stocks having returns on calendar day t and define

$$U_t = \sum_{k=1}^{n_t} U_{kt}.$$

Then

$$U_t^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{n_t} U_{kt}^2 + \sum_{i \neq j}^{n_t} U_{it} U_{jt},$$

which can be rearranged as

$$\sum_{i \neq j}^{n_t} U_{it} U_{jt} = U_t^2 - \sum_{k=1}^{n_t} U_{kt}^2.$$

Summing these up over the calendar days in the combined estimation and event window, we have

$$\sum_{t=1}^{L} \sum_{i \neq j}^{n_t} U_{it} U_{jt} = \sum_{t=1}^{L} U_t^2 - \sum_{t=1}^{L} \sum_{k=1}^{n_t} U_{kt}^2.$$
(4.2)

Taking the average, we get an estimator for the average correlation

$$\hat{\rho} = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{t=1}^{L} \sum_{i \neq j}^{n_t} U_{it} U_{jt},$$

where

$$M = \sum_{t=1}^{L} n_t (n_t - 1)$$

is the number of cross-product terms. It is notable that days for which there is available only one return drop out automatically: if  $n_t = 1$  for all t, then  $\hat{\rho} = 0$ . The potentially tedious computation over all cross-products can be materially simplified by utilizing the right-hand side of (4.2) and observing that by rearranging the terms of the rightmost sum it becomes equal to nT, i.e., the number of stocks n multiplied by the combined estimation and event period T. The reason for this is that the sample variances of standardized ranks are all equal to one, see the discussion below Definition 3.1. Therefore, the only component we need is the first sum of squares on the right-hand side. As a result, we can estimate the average correlation efficiently by

$$\hat{\bar{\rho}} = \frac{N}{M}(s_U^2 - 1),$$

where  $N = \sum_{t=1}^{L} n_t$  is the total number of returns, which equals nT if the combined estimation and event windows are of the same length T for all stocks, and  $s_U^2$  is the clustering robust estimator of the variance of standardized ranks in the presence of intra-cluster correlation, i.e.,

$$s_U^2 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^L U_t^2.$$

Given the estimator of the average cross-sectional correlation,  $\hat{\rho}$ , we can define an appropriate cross-sectional correlation robust test for the null hypothesis of zero cumulative abnormal returns

$$H_0: \mu(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{CAR}(\tau_1, \tau_2)\right] = 0$$

in terms of the cumulated ranks using the z-ratio

$$z_{\tau} = \frac{U(\tau_1, \tau_2)}{\sigma_{\tau} \sqrt{1 + \delta(n-1)\hat{\bar{\rho}}}},\tag{4.3}$$

where  $\sigma_{\tau}$  is the square root of the variance

$$\sigma_{\tau}^2 = \frac{\tau(T-\tau)}{(T-1)n}$$

of  $\overline{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  for completely non-overlapping event windows in calendar time (i.e., when  $\overline{\rho} = 0$  in (4.1)), and  $\tau = \tau_2 - \tau_1 + 1$  is the length of the window of cumulated abnormal returns.

### 5 Simulation results

We generate artificial returns utilizing the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model (FF5),

$$(r_{it} - r_f)_t = \alpha_i + \beta_{i,\text{mkt}} (r_m - r_f)_t + \beta_{i,\text{smb}} \text{SMB}_t + \beta_{i,\text{hml}} \text{HML}_t + \beta_{i,\text{rmw}} \text{RMW}_t + \beta_{i,\text{cmw}} \text{CMW}_t + \epsilon_{it},$$
(5.1)

where  $r_m - r_f$  is the market excess return over the risk-free rate  $r_f$ , SMB, HML, RMW, and CMW are common market factors proposed by Fama and French. We utilize daily data from January 2, 1990 through October 30, 2020 (7,770 daily returns) to generate 20,000 initial daily return series for this sample period. The regression coefficients for each stock are generated from multivariate normal distribution with mean vector (0, 1, 0.5, 0.5, 0.5, 0.5) and covariance matrix  $\sigma_i^2 (X'X)^{-1}$ , in which  $\sigma_i^2$  is the variance of the error term  $\epsilon$ , with  $\sigma_i$ , the standard deviation, generated from the uniform distribution U(1,3) that corresponds to a range of annual volatilities varying roughly from 10 percent to 48 percent, and X'X is the cross-product matrix of the Fama-French 5-factor regression model.<sup>‡</sup> The 7,770 error terms  $\epsilon_{it}$  for stock *i* are generated independently from the normal distribution  $N(0, \sigma_i^2)$ .

In the simulations we define the abnormal returns with respect to the market model, that is

$$AR_{it} = (r_i - r_f)_t - (\hat{\alpha}_i + \beta_i (r_m - r_f)_t),$$

where  $\hat{\alpha}_i$  and  $\hat{\beta}_i$  are ordinary least squares (OLS) estimates. Therefore missing common factors introduce cross-sectional correlation between the abnormal returns. The event period is  $\pm 10$  trading days around the event day t = 0 and the estimation period consist of 250 days prior the event periods, i.e., relative days  $-260, \ldots, -11$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>Factor returns have been downloaded from French's data library:

http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data\_library.html.

In the experiments we focus on the effect of cross-sectional correlation on the size of the test. Other issues, like event induced volatility, are well reported for example by Kolari & Pynnonen (2010; 2011). Utilizing the base design initiated by Brown & Warner (1985), we generate 1,000 samples of 50 randomly selected stocks (the returns of which are generated by the FF5 model in (5.1)) with four overlapping event days scenarios. In the first case of non-overlapping event days, the returns are cross-sectionally independent. In the second case of completely overlapping events, all firms share the same event day (calendar time), and in the third and fourth scenarios the event days are randomly scattered across 5 and 10 adjacent calendar days, i.e., one and two weeks of trading days, respectively.

We report two-tailed rejection rates for the null hypothesis of no event-effect across different event windows of  $0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 5$ , and  $\pm 10$  around the event day, i.e., window lengths  $\tau = 1, 3, 5, 11$ , and 21 days. In addition to the statistic  $z_{\tau}$  in (4.3), we also report results for the more traditional rank based test proposed by Campbell & Wasley (1993: p. 85)

$$z_{cw} = \frac{\sum_{t=\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \bar{k}_t}{\sqrt{\tau} s_{\bar{k}}},$$
(5.2)

where, with  $\mathbb{E}[K_{it}] = (T+1)/2$ ,

$$\bar{k}_t = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{T_2} (K_{it} - \mathbb{E}[K_{it}]) \text{ and } s_{\bar{k}}^2 = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=T_0+1}^{T_2} \bar{k}_t^2$$

Moreover, we also report results for a traditional parametric (cross-sectional correlation non-robust) *t*-statistics popular in event studies, see, e.g., (Campbell, Lo & MacKinlay, 1997: Chapter 4),

$$t_{\tau} = \frac{\overline{\text{CAR}}(\tau_1, \tau_2)}{\text{s.e(CAR)}},$$
(5.3)

where  $\overline{\text{CAR}}(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  is the sample average of  $\text{CAR}_i(\tau_1, \tau_2)$  defined in (3.1) and s.e(CAR) is the related standard error. Under independence the null distribution of  $t_{\tau}$  is asymptotically standard normal.

Table 1 summarizes the test statistics and their major features.

			Robustness due to		
			event correlation caused by		
Statistic		Type	volatility	complete ovrl	partial ovrl
$z_{\tau} = \frac{\bar{U}(\tau_1, \tau_2)}{\sigma_{\tau} \sqrt{1 + \delta(n-1)\hat{\rho}}},$	eq. (4.3)	non-parametric	yes	yes	yes
$z_{cw} = \frac{\sum_{t=\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \bar{k}_t}{\tau s_{\bar{k}}},$	eq. (5.2)	non-parametric	no	yes	no
$t_{\tau} = \frac{\overline{\mathrm{CAR}}(\tau_1, \tau_2)}{\mathrm{s.e(CAR)}},$	eq. (5.3)	parametric	yes	no	no

**Table 1.** Test statistics and their key features.

Table 2 reports the simulation results of the two-tailed rejection rates of the null hypothesis of no abnormal return at the 5% nominal rejection rate. The results are clear-cut. Panel A of the table

reports the non-overlapping case with zero cross-sectional correlation. All statistics reject close to the nominal rate as would be expected. Panel B reports results of complete overlapping. That is, all events share the same calendar day, and, hence, returns are prone to cross-sectional correlation. The new  $z_{\tau}$  and the more traditional cumulative ranks statistic  $z_{cw}$ , that both account for cross-sectional correlation, reject reasonably close to the nominal rate up to event windows  $\pm 5$  and exhibit some over-rejection on the longest event window  $\pm 10$ , i.e., 21 days. As expected, the parametric, non cross-correlation robust statistic  $t_{\tau}$  incrementally over-rejects as the event windows grows longer. Panel C reports partial overlapping with events clustered randomly within 5 trading days (about a week). For the event day testing also the a priori non-robust statistics in this regard are doing fine by rejecting at the nominal rate. However, they start to incrementally over-reject as the event window gets longer. The a priori partial overlapping robust statistic  $z_{\tau}$  rejects close to the nominal rate up to the event windows of 5 days and over-rejects to some extend on the longest event windows of 11 and 21 days; albeit far less than the, in this regard, non-robust statistics  $z_{cw}$  and  $t_{\tau}$ . The results are pretty much similar with the decreased overlapping in Panel D. Thus, we conclude that accounting for cross-sectional correlation is crucial to avoid biased inferences in statistical testing, not only in the case of complete overlapping of event windows but also in the case of partially overlapping cases. For the latter cases this paper has introduced a new test statistics to account for the dependence.

	CAR window length								
	1	3	5	11	21				
	Event day	(-1, +1)	(-2, +2)	(-5, +5)	(-10, +10)				
Panel A: Non-clustered events									
$z_{\tau}(\text{SCAR})$	0.048	0.054	0.049	0.052	0.063				
$z_{cw}(SCAR)$	0.052	0.050	0.051	0.052	0.063				
$t_{\tau}(\text{CAR})$	0.045	0.035	0.049	0.052	0.048				
Panel B: Events clustered on the same trading day									
$z_{\tau}(\text{SCAR})$	0.059	0.052	0.060	0.064	0.075				
$z_{cw}(SCAR)$	0.059	0.052	0.061	0.064	0.075				
$t_{\tau}(\text{CAR})$	0.087	0.091	0.096	0.085	0.110				
Panel C: Events clustered on 5 adjacent trading days									
$z_{\tau}(\text{SCAR})$	0.056	0.055	0.058	0.087	0.080				
$z_{cw}(SCAR)$	0.050	0.075	0.093	0.127	0.129				
$t_{\tau}(\text{CAR})$	0.045	0.063	0.077	0.112	0.102				
Panel D: Events clustered on 10 adjacent trading days									
$z_{\tau}(\text{SCAR})$	0.063	0.051	0.062	0.058	0.080				
$z_{cw}(SCAR)$	0.059	0.062	0.091	0.116	0.133				
$t_{\tau}(\text{CAR})$	0.065	0.057	0.056	0.089	0.105				

**Table 2.** Rejection rates of the null hypothesis of no event effect at the nominal 5% level when the events are non-overlapping, partially overlapping, and completely overlapping.

# 6 Conclusion

This paper proposes a new non-parametric rank based test statistic for testing cumulative abnormal returns in short run event studies. The statistic is robust with respect to event induced volatility and cross-sectional correlation due to complete or partially overlapping event windows. This latter source of cross-sectional correlation is not accounted for by the existing non-parametric test statistics. Simulation results indicate that, unlike typically utilized test statistics, the proposed statistic rejects the null hypothesis of no event effect close to the nominal significant level also in the partially overlapping case.

**Acknowledgement:** The author wants to thank the editors for their valuable comments and edits that greatly improved readability of the paper. The remaining errors and inconsistencies are the sole responsibility of the author.

# References

Barber, B.M. & Lyon, J.D. (1997). Detecting long-run abnormal returns: The empirical power and specification test statistics. *J. Financial Economics* 81, 175–213.

Beaver, W.H. (1968). The information content of annual announcements. J. Accounting research Supplement 6, 67–92.

Boehmer, E., Musumeci, J. & Poulsen, A.B. (1991). Event-study methodology under conditions of event-induced variance. *J. Financial Economics* 30, 253–272.

Brown, S.J. & Warner, J.B. (1985). Using daily stock returns: The case of event studies. *J. Financial Economics* 14, 3–31.

Cameron, A.C., Gelbach, J.B. & Miller, D.L. (2011). Robust inference with multiway clustering. J. Business & Economic Statistics 29, 238–249.

Campbell, J.Y., Lo, A.W. & MacKinlay, A.C. (1997). *The Econometrics of Financial Markets*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Campbell, C.J. & Wasley, C.E. (1993). Measuring security performance using daily NASDAQ returns. *J. Financial Economics* 33, 73–92.

Campbell, C.J. & Wasley, C.E. (1996). Measuring abnormal trading volume for samples of NYSE/ASE and NASDAQ securities using parametric and non-parametric test statistics. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting* 6, 309–326.

Corrado, C.J. (1989). A nonparametric test for abnormal security price performance in event studies. *J. Financial Economics* 23, 385–395.

Corrado, C.J. (2011). Event studies: A methodology review. Accounting and Finance 51, 207-234.

Corrado, C.J. & Zivney, T.L. (1992). The specification and power of the sign test in event study hypothesis test using daily stock returns. *J. Financial Quantitative Analysis* 27, 465–478.

Dechow, P., Sloan, R.G. & Sweeney, A.P. (1995). Detecting earnings management. Accounting Review 70, 3–42.

Edgerton, H.A. & Toops, H.A. (1928). A formula for finding the average intercorrelation coefficient of unranked raw scores without solving any of the individual correlations. *J. Educational Psychology* 19, 131–138.

Fama, E.F. (1976). Foundations of Finance. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Fama, E.F. & French, K.R. (2015). A five-factor asset pricing model. J. Financial Economics 116, 1–22.

Hagnäs, T. & Pynnonen, S. (2014). Testing for cumulative abnormal returns in event studies with the rank test. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2479228 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2479228.

Harrington, S.E. & Shrider, D.G. (2007). All events induce variance: Analyzing abnormal returns when effects vary across firms. *J. Financial Quantitative Analysis* 42, 229–256.

Kolari, J.W., Pape, B. & Pynnonen, S. (2018). Event study testing with cross-sectional correlation due to partially overlapping event windows. *Mays Business School Research Paper* No. 3167271. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3167271 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3167271.

Kolari, J.W. & Pynnönen, S. (2010). Event study testing with cross-sectional correlation of abnormal returns. *Review of Financial Studies* 23, 3996–4025.

Kolari, J.W. & Pynnonen, S. (2011). Nonparametric rank tests for event studies. *J. Empirical Finance* 18, 953–971.

Kothari, S.P., Leone, A.J. & Wasley, C.W. (2005). Performance-matched discretionary accruals. *J. Accounting Economics* 39, 163–197.

Lehmann, E.L. (1999). Elements of Large-Sample Theory. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

Lehmann, E.L. (2006). *Nonparametrics: Statistical Methods Based on Ranks*, Revised First Edition. New York, NY: Springer.

Luoma, T. (2011). Nonparametric Event Study Tests for Testing Cumulative Abnormal Returns. *Acta Wasaensia* No 254, Statistics 6, Universitas Wasaensis.

Patell, J.A. (1976). Corporate forecasts of earnings per share and stock price behavior: Empirical test. J. Accounting Research 14, 246–276.

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Vaasa, 65101 Vaasa, Finland *E-mail address*: sjp@uwasa.fi

### ON THE KREIN-VON NEUMANN AND FRIEDRICHS EXTENSION OF POSITIVE OPERATORS

#### Zoltán Sebestyén and Zsigmond Tarcsay

Dedicated to Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

## 1 Introduction

In his profound paper (von Neumann, 1931), J. von Neumann introduced the concept of the adjoint of a densely defined possibly unbounded operator  $J : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  between two Hilbert spaces as the operator  $J^* : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{K}$ , having the domain

dom  $J^* = \{g \in \mathcal{H} : \exists k' \in \mathcal{K} \text{ such that } (Jk \mid g) = (k \mid k') \forall k \in \text{dom } J\},\$ 

by setting

$$J^*g \coloneqq k', \quad g \in \text{dom } J^*.$$

Although the adjoint operator behaves nicer than the original one (because it is always closed), it is not necessarily densely defined. An essential question arises therefore: when is the domain dom  $J^*$ a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ ? Von Neumann himself gave an elegant answer to that question. Namely, he proved that  $J^*$  is densely defined if and only if J is a closable operator. Moreover, in that case the second adjoint  $J^{**}$  of J exists and it is equal to the closure  $\overline{J}$  of J:

$$\overline{J} = J^{**}.$$

At the same time,  $J^{**}J^*$  and  $J^*J^{**}$  are positive self-adjoint operators in the Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$ , respectively. Note also that we have

dom 
$$(J^{**}J^{*})^{1/2}$$
 = dom  $J^{*}$  and dom  $(J^{*}J^{**})^{1/2}$  = dom  $J^{**}$ 

on the domains, and

$$\operatorname{ran}(J^{**}J^{*})^{1/2} = \operatorname{ran} J^{**}$$
 and  $\operatorname{ran}(J^{*}J^{**})^{1/2} = \operatorname{ran} J^{*}$ 

on the ranges. Here, for a given positive self-adjoint operator A,  $A^{1/2}$  denotes the unique positive self-adjoint square root of A; see, e.g., (Sebestyén & Tarcsay, 2017).

However, if J is not closed, then  $J^*J$  and  $JJ^*$  are not self-adjoint operators in general. In fact, it is not even clear whether those operators are densely defined, and therefore it is also a nontrivial question whether they have any positive self-adjoint extensions at all. From classical works by Friedrichs, Kreĭn, and von Neumann, we know that a densely defined positive and symmetric operator may be extended to a positive self-adjoint operator, see, e.g., (Friedrichs, 1934; Kreĭn, 1947; von Neumann, 1931). In that case, there exist two distinguished self-adjoint extensions  $A_N$ and  $A_F$  of any positive symmetric operator A, such that

$$A_N \leq A_F$$

and every positive self-adjoint extension  $\widetilde{A}$  of A is between  $A_N$  and  $A_F$ :  $A_N \leq \widetilde{A} \leq A_F$ . The smallest extension  $A_N$  of A is called the *Krein-von Neumann extension*, while the largest extension  $A_F$  of A is called the *Friedrichs extension*.

The problem of the existence of positive self-adjoint extensions has its relevance even in the nondensely defined case. Although the Friedrichs extension exists only for a densely defined operator, the smallest extension always exists if there exists any extension, see, e.g., (Sebestyén & Stochel, 1991) and also (Sebestyén & Stochel, 2007; Hassi, 2004).

In the present paper we revise the main result Theorem 1 of Sebestyén & Stochel (1991) and give some new characterizations for a not necessarily densely defined positive symmetric operator to admit positive self-adjoint extensions. More specifically, in Section 2 we collect some new properties for an operator to be closable. Based on this new characterization of closability, we establish in Section 3 the correct version of the "duality theorem" stated in Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian (2018: Theorem 5). In Section 4 we give a short proof of the fact that the "modulus square" operator  $T^*T$ of any densely defined operator T always has a positive self-adjoint extension, cf. (Sebestyén & Tarcsay, 2012: Theorem 2.1). At the same time, we shall see that this is not the case with  $TT^*$ ; that operator might be even non-closable. However, we are going to establish necessary and sufficient conditions for the extendibility of  $TT^*$ . In particular, our construction of the Kreĭn-von Neumann extension in Section 4 will be used to exhibit a counterexample to (Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian, 2018: Theorem 5). Finally, in Section 5 we treat the problem of the existence of the Friedrichs extension of a densely defined positive symmetric operator. In particular, we discuss there the case when the Friedrichs extension of the operator  $T^*T$  is identical with  $T^*T^{**}$ .

## 2 Closable operators

Let J be a densely defined operator between the real or complex Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ . Note that J is *closable* if for each sequence  $(g_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{dom } J$ , such that  $g_n \to 0$  and  $Jg_n \to h$ , it follows that h = 0. On the other hand, a profound theorem by von Neumann tells us that J is closable if and only if  $J^*$  is densely defined, that is,

$$(\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp} = \{0\}.$$

In the following theorem, we give an extension of von Neumann's result and collect some new characteristic properties for an operator J to be closable. For further characterizations of closability and closedness, see, e.g., (Popovici & Sebestyén, 2014; Sebestyén & Tarcsay, 2016; 2019; 2020).

**Theorem 2.1.** Let J be a densely defined operator between the real or complex Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then the following properties are equivalent:

(i) J is closable;

- (ii)  $(\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp} = \{0\};$
- (iii)  $(\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp} \cap (\text{ran } J)^{\perp \perp} = \{0\};$
- (iv)  $(\operatorname{dom} J^*)^{\perp} \subseteq \operatorname{ran}(I + JJ^*).$

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Consider a vector  $h \in (\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp}$ , then

$$(0,h) \in \left\{ \{-J^*k,k\} : k \in \text{dom } J^* \right\} = \overline{G(J)}.$$

Since J is closable, this implies h = 0.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) This implication is trivial.

(iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Consider a sequence  $(g_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{dom } J$  such that  $g_n \to 0$ , and  $Jg_n \to h$ . Then  $h \in \overline{\operatorname{ran } J} = (\operatorname{ran } J)^{\perp \perp}$ . On the other hand, for every  $f \in \operatorname{dom } J^*$ 

$$(f \mid h) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (f \mid Jg_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (J^*f \mid g_n) = 0,$$

which means that  $h \in (\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp}$ . Consequently, h = 0 by (ii) and therefore J is closable.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iv) This implication is clear.

(iv)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) We are going to show that dom  $J^*$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ . To this aim, take  $g \in (\text{dom } J^*)^{\perp}$ . By (iv), there exists  $h \in \text{dom } JJ^*$  such that  $g = h + JJ^*h$ . In particular,  $h \in \text{dom } J^*$  and one has

$$0 = (g \mid h) = (h + JJ^*h \mid h) = (h \mid h) + (JJ^*h \mid h) = ||h||^2 + ||J^*h||^2,$$

so that h = 0. This implies that g = 0 and therefore (iv) implies (ii).

#### 

### 3 Duality theorems

Let  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  be Hilbert spaces with a common vector subspace  $\mathcal{D}$ . In Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian (2018: Theorem 5) a necessary and sufficient condition is stated for the existence of a positive and self-adjoint operator  $\Delta$  on  $\mathcal{H}_1$  with the duality property

$$(\Delta \varphi \,|\, \psi)_1 = (\varphi \,|\, \psi)_2, \qquad \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D},$$

cf. also (Jorgensen & Pearse, 2016: Theorem 4.1). Unfortunately, there is a simple but serious error in their proof and the statement itself is not true in that form either (a counterexample will be exhibited in Example 4.2 below). In Theorem 3.3 we are going to establish the correct form of that statement. Its proof depends on the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.1.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  be Hilbert spaces and let  $J : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a densely defined linear operator between them. Then the following three statement are equivalent:

- (i) ran  $J \subseteq \text{dom } J^*$ ;
- (ii) J is closable and dom  $J \subseteq \text{dom } J^*J^{**}$ ;
- (iii) there exists a positive self-adjoint operator A in  $\mathcal{K}$  such that dom  $J \subseteq \text{dom } A$  and

$$(Ag \mid k) = (Jg \mid Jk), \qquad g, k \in \text{dom } J.$$
(3.1)

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Since ran  $J \subseteq$  dom  $J^*$ , it follows that

$$(\operatorname{ran} J)^{\perp \perp} \subseteq (\operatorname{dom} J^*)^{\perp \perp} = \mathcal{H} \ominus (\operatorname{dom} J^*)^{\perp},$$

and, consequently,

$$(\mathrm{dom}\ J^*)^{\perp} \cap (\mathrm{ran}\ J)^{\perp \perp} = \{0\}$$

Applying Theorem 2.1 we see that J is closable. On the other hand, ran  $J \subseteq \text{dom } J^*$  implies that dom  $J = \text{dom } J^*J \subseteq \text{dom } J^*J^{**}$ .

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) If J is closable, then  $A := J^*J^{**}$  is a positive self-adjoint operator in  $\mathcal{H}$ , and by (ii) one has dom  $J \subseteq \text{dom } A$ . On the other hand,

$$(Ag \,|\, k) = (J^*J^{**}g \,|\, k) = (J^{**}g \,|\, J^{**}k) = (Jg \,|\, Jk),$$

for every  $g, k \in \text{dom } J$ .

(iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) Suppose that A is a positive operator with dom  $J \subseteq \text{dom } A$  which satisfies (3.1). Let  $k \in \text{dom } J$  be arbitrary, then for every  $g \in \text{dom } J$ 

$$(Jg \mid Jk) = (Ag \mid k) = (g \mid Ak)$$

which implies  $Jk \in \text{dom } J^*$ . Therefore, ran  $J \subseteq \text{dom } J^*$ .

**Remark 3.2.** Let J be a closed operator. Then the inclusion

$$\operatorname{dom} J \subseteq \operatorname{dom} J^* J^{**} \tag{3.2}$$

is only possible if J is continuous and everywhere defined on  $\mathcal{H}_1$ , see, e.g., (Tarcsay, 2012: Lemma 2.1). This suggests that Lemma 3.1 is only relevant if J is a closable but not a closed operator.

The erroneous observation in the proof of (Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian, 2018: Theorem 5) is that (3.2) holds true provided that both J and  $J^*$  are densely defined. This makes it necessary to provide the following correct version of (Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian, 2018: Theorem 5), which can also be considered as a noncommutative version of the Lebesgue-Radon-Nikodym decomposition theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  be real or complex Hilbert spaces which contain a common linear manifold  $\mathcal{D}$  as a vector space. Suppose that  $\mathcal{D}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and set

$$\mathcal{D}^* \coloneqq \{h \in \mathcal{H}_2 : \exists C_h \ge 0 \text{ such that } |(\varphi \mid h)_2| \le C_h \|\varphi\|_1 \ \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D} \}.$$

Then the following two conditions are equivalent:

- (i)  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathcal{D}^*$  in  $\mathcal{H}_2$ ;
- (ii) there exists a positive self-adjoint operator  $\Delta$  in  $\mathcal{H}_2$  such that  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \text{dom } \Delta$  in  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and

$$(\Delta \varphi \,|\, \psi)_1 = (\varphi \,|\, \psi)_2, \qquad \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}. \tag{3.3}$$

*Proof.* Let J be the operator from  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$  defined by the identification  $J\varphi := \varphi, \varphi \in \mathcal{D}$ . Then J is a densely defined operator such that its adjoint  $J^*$  has domain  $\mathcal{D}^*$ : dom  $J^* = \mathcal{D}^*$ . The desired equivalence follows now from Lemma 3.1.
#### 4 Von Neumann's problem on positive self-adjoint extendibility

Given a positive symmetric operator A in a real or complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ , the question arises whether there exists a positive self-adjoint extension of A. If the operator in question is densely defined, then we know from classical papers by Friedrichs, Kreĭn, and von Neumann that the operator has a positive self-adjoint extension, see (Friedrichs, 1934; Kreĭn, 1947; von Neumann, 1931); cf. also (Ando & Nishio, 1970; Arlinskiĭ et al., 2001; Prokaj & Sebestyén, 1996a;b; Schmüdgen, 2012). However, uniqueness of the extension occurs only in the very special case when the operator in question is essentially self-adjoint. In all other cases, the set of positive self-adjoint extensions is an operator interval  $[A_N, A_F]$ , where  $A_N$  is the smallest (the so-called Kreĭn-von Neumann) extension, while  $A_F$  is the largest (the so-called Friedrichs) extension of A. Recall that the partial ordering among the set of positive self-adjoint operators is given by

$$A \le B \quad \iff \quad (I+B)^{-1} \le (I+A)^{-1}.$$

Equivalently, by means of the square roots, one has  $A \leq B$  if and only if

dom 
$$B^{1/2} \subseteq \text{dom } A^{1/2}$$
 and  $\|A^{1/2}k\|^2 \le \|B^{1/2}k\|^2$ ,  $\forall k \in \text{dom } B^{1/2}$ 

The problem of the existence of positive self-adjoint extensions has its relevance even in the nondensely defined case, and was treated in detail by Sebestyén & Stochel (1991), see also (Sebestyén & Stochel, 2007; Hassi, 2004).

In the next result we revise (Sebestyén & Stochel, 1991: Theorem 1) on the existence of the Kreĭnvon Neumann extension of a positive and symmetric operator A. In this case it is convenient to introduce the linear space  $\mathcal{D}_*(A)$  by

$$\mathcal{D}_*(A) \coloneqq \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \sup\{|(Ag \,|\, k)| : g \in \text{dom } A, \, (Ag \,|\, g) \le 1\} < +\infty\}.$$
(4.1)

**Theorem 4.1.** Let A be a positive and symmetric operator on a real or complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\mathcal{D}_*(A)$  as in (4.1) is dense in  $\mathcal{K}$ ;
- (ii) for every sequence  $(g_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{dom } A$  and  $k \in \mathcal{K}$  such that

$$(Ag_n \mid g_n)_{\mathcal{K}} \to 0 \quad and \quad Ag_n \to k,$$

*it follows that* k = 0*;* 

(iii) there exist a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{E}$  and a densely defined linear operator  $V : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{E}$  such that dom  $A \subseteq \text{dom } V$ ,  $(V(\text{dom } A))^{\perp} = \{0\}$ , and

$$\langle Vg, Vh \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} = (Ag \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A, h \in \text{dom } V;$$

$$(4.2)$$

(iv) there exists a positive self-adjoint extension of A.

If any, and hence all, assertions of (i)-(iv) are satisfied, then there exists the smallest positive extension  $A_N$  of A. *Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii) Assume that (Ag | g) = 0 for some  $g \in \text{dom } A$ . Then  $\sup |(Ag, k)| < \infty$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{D}_*(A)$ , which implies (Ag, k) = 0. Since  $\mathcal{D}_*(A) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  is dense by (i), it follows that Ag = 0.

This means that

$$\langle Ag, Ah \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} \coloneqq (Ag \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad g, h \in \text{dom } A,$$

$$(4.3)$$

defines an inner product on ran A. Denote by  $\mathcal{E}$  the completion of that space and consider the natural inclusion operator  $J_A : \mathcal{E} \supseteq \operatorname{ran} A \to \mathcal{K}$ ,

$$J_A(Ag) \coloneqq Ag \in \mathcal{K}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A.$$
 (4.4)

Clearly, ran A forms a dense linear manifold in  $\mathcal{E}$  by definition, so that  $J_A$  is densely defined. On the other hand, one has

$$\operatorname{dom} J_A^* = \mathcal{D}_*(A), \tag{4.5}$$

thanks to the identities

$$(J_A(Ag) \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}} = (Ag \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A, \ h \in \mathcal{K},$$

and

$$\langle Ag, Ag \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} = (Ag \mid g)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A.$$

From (4.5) and (i) we see that  $J_A^*$  is densely defined and therefore  $J_A$  is closable. From this it follows that A fulfills (ii).

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) Note that the condition in (ii) implies that (4.3) defines an inner product. With the notation as in the proof of the implication (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii), (ii) expresses that the canonical inclusion operator  $J_A : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{K}$  is closable. Its adjoint  $J_A^* : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{E}$  is therefore a densely defined operator such that

$$\langle J_A^*g, Ah \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} = (g \mid J_A(Ah))_{\mathcal{K}} = (g \mid Ah)_{\mathcal{K}} = \langle Ag, Ah \rangle_{\mathcal{E}}, \qquad g, h \in \text{dom } A,$$

whence we conclude that

$$J_A^* g = Ag \in \mathcal{E}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A. \tag{4.6}$$

As a consequence,  $J_A^*$  provides a factorization for A in the sense of (iii):

$$\langle J_A^*g, J_A^*h \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} = \langle Ag, J_A^*h \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} = (Ag \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A, h \in \mathcal{D}_*(A).$$
(4.7)

Moreover, by (4.6) we see that

$$J_A^*(\operatorname{dom} A) = \{Ag : g \in \operatorname{dom} A\},\$$

where the right-hand side is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$  by definition. Hence,  $V := J_A^*$  satisfies all requirements of (iii).

(iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iv) Let  $V : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{E}$  be a densely defined closable operator satisfying the properties in (iii). By (4.2) we conclude that  $Vg \in \text{dom } V^*$  for every  $g \in \text{dom } A$  and that

$$V^*Vg = Ag, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A.$$
 (4.8)

This means that dom  $V^*$  includes the dense set V(dom A), and therefore V is closable. Moreover, by (4.8) we see that  $A \subset V^*V \subset V^*V^{**}$ , i.e., the positive self-adjoint operator  $V^*V^{**}$  extends A.

(iv)  $\Rightarrow$  (i): Let B be a positive self-adjoint extension of A. Then for every  $k \in \text{dom } B^{1/2}$  and  $g \in \text{dom } A$  with  $(Ag | g) \leq 1$ , we obtain that

$$\begin{split} |(Ag \mid k)| &= |(Bg \mid k)| = |(B^{1/2}g \mid B^{1/2}k)| \\ &\leq \|B^{1/2}g\|\|B^{1/2}k\| = (Ag \mid g)^{1/2}\|B^{1/2}k\| \le \|B^{1/2}k\|. \end{split}$$

whence  $k \in \mathcal{D}_*(A)$ . This implies that

dom 
$$B^{1/2} \subseteq \mathcal{D}_*(A),$$
 (4.9)

where the former subspace is dense in  $\mathcal{K}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{D}_*(A)$  is dense in  $\mathcal{K}$ , i.e., (i) holds.

Finally, let any, and hence all, assertions of (i)-(iv) be satisfied. First note that the operator  $J_A$  defined in (4.4) is closable by (i). Hence, from (4.6) and (4.7) it follows that

$$A_N \coloneqq J_A^{**} J_A^* \tag{4.10}$$

is a positive self-adjoint extension of A. Furthermore we have

$$\mathcal{D}_*(A) = \operatorname{dom} \, J_A^* = \operatorname{dom} \, (J_A^{**} J_A^*)^{1/2} \tag{4.11}$$

and the density of ran A in  $\mathcal{H}$  implies for every  $k \in \mathcal{D}_*(A)$  that

$$\begin{split} \| (J_A^{**} J_A^*)^{1/2} k \|_{\mathcal{K}}^2 &= \| J_A^* k \|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \\ &= \sup \left\{ |\langle Ag, J_A^* k \rangle_{\mathcal{E}}|^2 : g \in \text{dom } A, \langle Ag, Ag \rangle_{\mathcal{E}} \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ |(J_A(Ag) \mid k)_{\mathcal{K}}|^2 : g \in \text{dom } A, (Ag \mid g)_{\mathcal{K}} \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ |(Ag \mid k)_{\mathcal{K}}|^2 : g \in \text{dom } A, (Ag \mid g)_{\mathcal{K}} \le 1 \right\}. \end{split}$$

Next we show that  $A_N$  as in (4.10) is the smallest self-adjoint extension of A. Let therefore B be any positive self-adjoint extension of A. Since the positive self-adjoint operator B has no proper self-adjoint extension, applying the above construction for B, we infer that  $B = J_B^{**} J_B^*$ . By the inclusion (4.9) we have dom  $B^{1/2} \subseteq \text{dom } A_N^{1/2}$ , see (4.10) and (4.11), and from the above calculation we obtain that, for every  $k \in \text{dom } B^{1/2}$ ,

$$\begin{split} |A_N^{1/2}k\|^2 &= \|(J_A^{**}J_A^*)^{1/2}k\|^2 = \sup\left\{ |(Ag \,|\, k)|^2 : \, g \in \mathrm{dom} \, A, \, (Ag \,|\, g) \le 1 \right\} \\ &\le \sup\left\{ |(Bg \,|\, k)|^2 : \, g \in \mathrm{dom} \, B, \, (Bg \,|\, g) \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \|(J_B^{**}J_B^*)^{1/2}k\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2 = \|B^{1/2}k\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2. \end{split}$$

Hence  $A_N \leq B$ , as it is stated.

As was mentioned in the previous section, the statement of (Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian, 2018: Theorem 5) is not correct, as with the notation used in Theorem 3.2, they assert that the existence of the positive self-adjoint operator  $\Delta$  satisfying (3.3) is equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^*$  being dense in  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . Based on the preceding theorem and its proof, it will be shown by a counterexample that their assertion is not true in general.

**Example 4.2.** Consider an unbounded positive self-adjoint operator A in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$  and set

$$\mathcal{D} \coloneqq \operatorname{ran} A.$$

Denote by  $\mathcal{E}$  the "energy space" associated with A and by J the corresponding inclusion operator  $J : \mathcal{E} \supseteq \operatorname{ran} A \to \mathcal{K}$  as in the proof of Theorem 4.1. Then  $\mathcal{D}$  is a common vector subspace of  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  such that  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathcal{E}$  is dense. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{D}^* &\coloneqq \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \ \exists C_k \geq 0 \ \text{ such that } \ |(\varphi \mid k)_{\mathcal{K}}^2| \leq C_h \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \ \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D} \} \\ &= \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \ \exists C_k \geq 0 \ \text{ such that } \ |(Ah \mid k)_{\mathcal{H}}^2| \leq C_k (Ah \mid h)_{\mathcal{K}} \ \forall h \in \text{dom } A \}, \end{aligned}$$

from which we conclude that

$$\mathcal{D}^* = \mathcal{D}_*(A) = \mathrm{dom} \ J^*,$$

so  $\mathcal{D}^* \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  is dense. Suppose that the conclusion of (Jorgensen, Pearse & Tian, 2018: Theorem 5) is true, then by that theorem the density of  $\mathcal{D}^*$  in  $\mathcal{K}$  implies that there exists a positive self-adjoint operator  $\Delta : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D} \subseteq \text{dom } \Delta$ , such that

$$\langle \Delta arphi, arphi 
angle_{\mathcal{E}} = (arphi \, | \, arphi)_{\mathcal{K}}, \qquad arphi \in \mathcal{D}.$$

From this we conclude that

$$(J(Ah) | Ak)_{\mathcal{K}} = (Ah | Ak)_{\mathcal{K}} = \langle Ah, \Delta(Ak) \rangle_{\mathcal{E}}, \qquad h \in \text{dom } A,$$

which in turn means that  $Ak \in \text{dom } J^*$  and  $J^*(Ak) = \Delta(Ak)$ . As a consequence we see that ran  $A \subseteq \text{dom } J^*$ , and since dom  $A \subseteq \text{dom } J^*$  holds true as well, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathrm{dom} \ A + \mathrm{ran} \ A \subseteq \mathrm{dom} \ J^*.$$

So  $J^*$  is an everywhere defined bounded operator on  $\mathcal{K}$ , and therefore so is  $A = J^{**}J^*$ . This is in contradiction to the assumption that A is an unbounded operator.

Thanks to a classical result of J. von Neumann (von Neumann, 1931) we know that  $T^*T$  and  $TT^*$  are positive self-adjoint operators whenever T is densely defined and closed. In Sebestyén & Tarcsay (2014) we proved the converse of that statement: if both  $T^*T$  and  $TT^*$  are self-adjoint then T is necessarily closed, see also (Gesztesy & Schmüdgen, 2019) and (Sandovici, 2018) for the case of linear relations. This means that if T is not closed (or not even closable), then either  $T^*T$  or  $TT^*$  (or even both) fail to be self-adjoint. In fact,  $TT^*$  might even be non-closable; however, surprisingly,  $T^*T$  behaves well. Namely, it was proved in Sebestyén & Tarcsay (2012: Theorem 2.1) that  $T^*T$  always has a positive self-adjoint extension. We provide a short proof of that result.

**Theorem 4.3.** Let  $T : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a densely defined linear operator between the real or complex Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then  $T^*T$  has a positive self-adjoint extension.

*Proof.* Consider the positive symmetric operator  $A := T^*T$ . We are going to show that

dom 
$$T \subseteq \mathcal{D}_*(A)$$
.

Indeed, for  $g \in \text{dom } A$  and  $k \in \text{dom } T$ , we have

$$|(Ag | k)|^{2} = |(T^{*}Tg | k)|^{2} = |(Tg | Tk)|^{2} \le (Tg | Tg)(Tk | Tk)$$
  
=  $(T^{*}Tg | g)(Tk | Tk) = (Ag | g)(Tk | Tk).$ 

Hence  $\mathcal{D}_*(A)$  is dense in  $\mathcal{K}$ . Thus A has by Theorem 4.1 a positive self-adjoint extension.

In the next result we deal with the positive extendibility of  $TT^*$ .

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $T : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a densely defined operator between the real or complex Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then the following two statements are equivalent:

- (i) *TT*<sup>\*</sup> has a positive self-adjoint extension;
- (ii)  $T|_{\text{dom }T \cap \text{ran }T^*}$  is a closable operator.

*Proof.* The positive symmetric operator  $A \coloneqq TT^*$  has a positive self-adjoint extension if and only if it satisfies condition (ii) of Theorem 4.1. That is, according to that result,  $T^*T$  has a positive self-adjoint extension if and only if for every sequence  $(h_n) \subset \text{dom } TT^*$  and every vector  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  the conditions

 $(TT^*h_n | h_n) = ||T^*h_n||^2 \to 0$  and  $TT^*h_n \to f$ ,

imply that f = 0. Evidently, this is equivalent to the closability of the restriction of T to the set ran  $T^* \cap \text{dom } T$ .

In the following example, we show that  $TT^*$  may have a bounded positive self-adjoint extension in some cases even if T is not even closable.

**Example 4.5.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a separable Hilbert space and consider two orthonormal bases in it

 $\{e_{n,m}: n, m \in \mathbb{N}\}$  and  $\{f_n: n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$ 

Let us define the operator T on the vectors  $e_{n,m}$  by setting

$$Te_{n,m} := mf_n, \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{N},$$

and then extend it by linearity to dom  $T \coloneqq \text{span} \{e_{n,m} : n, m \in \mathbb{N}\}$ . It follows from this definition that dom  $T^* = \{0\}$ . In order to see this, observe that for  $z \in \text{dom } T^*$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$(z \mid f_n) = \frac{1}{m} (z \mid Te_{n,m}) = \frac{1}{m} (T^* z \mid e_{n,m}),$$

for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Letting  $m \to \infty$  gives that  $(z | f_n) = 0$  and, hence, z = 0. Consequently, T is nonclosable (in fact, T is a maximal singular operator), but A = 0 is a (bounded) positive self-adjoint extension of  $TT^*$ .

The previous example demonstrated that  $TT^*$  can behave nicely even though T is singular. However, as the following example illustrates, there exists an operator T such that  $TT^*$  is non-closable.

**Example 4.6.** Consider a maximal singular operator T in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ , that is, an operator such that dom  $T^* = \{0\}$  (take e.g. the operator T from Example 4.5). Consider the following operator

$$J: \mathcal{K} \supseteq \operatorname{dom} T \to \mathcal{K} \times \mathcal{K}, \qquad Jg \coloneqq \{g, Tg\}.$$

Then it is easy to verify that dom  $J^* = \mathcal{K} \times \text{dom } T^* = \mathcal{K} \times \{0\}$ , and  $J^*\{k, 0\} = k$ . In particular, dom  $JJ^* = \text{dom } T \times \{0\}$ , and

$$JJ^*\{g,0\} = \{g,Tg\}, \quad g \in \text{dom } T.$$

Furthermore, we claim that J is not closable. Indeed, take any nonzero  $k \in \mathcal{K}$ , then there exists a sequence  $(g_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in dom T such that  $g_n \to 0$  and  $Tg_n \to k$ . Then

$$JJ^*\{g_n, 0\} = \{g_n, Tg_n\} \to \{0, k\},\$$

which means that  $JJ^*$  may not be closable.

**Theorem 4.7.** Let  $T : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a densely defined closable linear operator, such that

dom 
$$T \subseteq \operatorname{ran} T^*$$
. (4.12)

Then  $T^{**}T^*$  agrees with the Krein-von Neumann extension of  $TT^*$ .

*Proof.* Denote by  $\mathcal{E}$  the completion of ran  $TT^*$  under the inner product

$$\langle TT^*h, TT^*f\rangle \coloneqq (TT^*h \,|\, f) = (T^*h \,|\, T^*f), \qquad h, f \in \mathrm{dom} \ TT^*.$$

By the construction of the proof of Theorem 4.1, the Kreĭn-von Neumann extension of  $TT^*$  is of the form  $J^{**}J^*$ , where J is the natural inclusion operator from  $\mathcal{E} \supseteq \operatorname{ran} TT^*$  into  $\mathcal{H}$ :

$$J(TT^*h)\coloneqq TT^*h,\qquad h\in \mathrm{dom}\ TT^*.$$

Note that by (4.12) we have the identity dom  $T = \{T^*g : g \in \text{dom } TT^*\}$ . Consequently,

$$dom (J^{**}J^{*})^{1/2} = dom \ J^{*} = \mathcal{D}_{*}(TT^{*})$$
$$= \left\{ h \in \mathcal{H} : \sup \left\{ |(TT^{*}f \mid h)| : f \in dom \ TT^{*}, \ ||T^{*}f||^{2} \le 1 \right\} < +\infty \right\}$$
$$= dom \ T^{*} = dom \ (T^{**}T^{*})^{1/2}.$$

At the same time we have that

$$\begin{split} \| (J^{**}J^*)^{1/2}h \|^2 &= \|J^*h\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \\ &= \sup \left\{ |\langle TT^*f, J^*h \rangle^2| : f \in \text{dom } TT^*, \|T^*f\|^2 \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ |(T^*f | T^*h)|^2 : f \in \text{dom } TT^*, \|T^*f\|^2 \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \|T^*h\|^2, \end{split}$$

for every  $h \in \text{dom } T^*$ . We have therefore proved that  $T^{**}T^* \leq J^{**}J^*$ , and since  $J^{**}J^*$  is the smallest positive self-adjoint extension of  $TT^*$ , we obtain that  $T^{**}T^* = J^{**}J^*$ .

## 5 The Friedrichs extension

A densely defined positive symmetric operator A on a real or complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$  always has a positive self-adjoint extension. Indeed, the generalized Schwarz inequality

$$|(Ag | h)|^2 \le (Ag | g)(Ah | h), \qquad g, h \in \text{dom } A$$

implies that dom  $A \subseteq \mathcal{D}_*(A)$  and, therefore, A admits a positive self-adjoint extension according to Theorem 4.1. In particular, by the same theorem, the Krein-von Neumann extension  $A_N$  of A exists. In that case it is known that the so-called Friedrichs extension, that is, the largest positive self-adjoint extension, exists as well. Using the procedure described in Theorem 4.1, we prove the existence of the Friedrichs extension. Our method is very similar to that of Prokaj & Sebestyén (1996a), but somewhat simpler.

**Theorem 5.1.** Let A be a densely defined positive symmetric operator in the real or complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then there exists the largest positive self-adjoint extension  $A_F$  of A.

*Proof.* Let us recall the construction of the proof of Theorem 4.1 and consider the energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{E}$  and the inclusion operator  $J_A : \mathcal{E} \supseteq \operatorname{ran} A \to \mathcal{K}$  defined by

$$J_A(Ag) \coloneqq Ag, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A.$$

By (4.5) we have dom  $J_A^* = \mathcal{D}_*(A) \supseteq \text{dom } A$ , and therefore we may consider the restriction  $Q_A$  of  $J_A^*$  to dom A, i.e.,

$$Q_A \coloneqq J_A^*|_{\operatorname{dom} A}.$$

By (4.6),

$$Q_A g = A g \in \mathcal{E}, \qquad g \in \text{dom } A.$$

On the other hand, from  $Q_A \subset J_A^*$  we get  $J_A^{**} \subset Q_A^*$  and  $Q_A^{**} \subset J_A^*$ , whence it follows that  $A_F := Q_A^* Q_A^{**}$  is a positive self-adjoint extension of A. We claim that  $A_F$  is the largest among the set of all positive self-adjoint extensions of A. Indeed, let  $B \supset A$  be any positive self-adjoint extension of A. Repeating the above process we apparently have  $B = Q_B^* Q_B^{**}$ . Then

$$\operatorname{dom} (Q_A^* Q_A^{**})^{1/2} = \operatorname{dom} Q_A^{**} = \operatorname{dom} \overline{Q_A}$$
$$= \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \operatorname{dom} A, \, k_n \to k, \, (A(k_n - k_m) \mid k_n - k_m) \to 0\},\$$

and, accordingly,

$$dom (Q_B^* Q_B^{**})^{1/2} = \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset dom \ B, \ k_n \to k, \ (B(k_n - k_m) \mid k_n - k_m) \to 0\}$$
  
$$\supseteq \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset dom \ A, \ k_n \to k, \ (A(k_n - k_m) \mid k_n - k_m) \to 0\}$$
  
$$= dom (Q_A^* Q_A^{**})^{1/2}.$$

Finally, for  $k \in \text{dom} (Q_A^* Q_A^{**})^{1/2} \subseteq \text{dom} (Q_B^* Q_B^{**})^{1/2}$ , take  $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{dom } A$  such that

$$k_n \to k$$
 and  $(A(k_n - k_m) | k_n - k_m) \to 0$ ,

then  $Q_A k_n \to Q_A^{**} k$  in  $\mathcal{E}$ , and hence

$$\|(A_F)^{1/2}k\|^2 = (Q_A^*Q_A^{**})^{1/2}k\|^2 = \|Q_A^{**}k\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|Q_Ak_n\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} (Ak_n | k_n).$$

Moreover, since  $B \supset A$ ,

$$||B^{1/2}k||^2 = ||(Q_B^*Q_B^{**})^{1/2}k||^2 = \lim_{n \to \infty} (Bk_n | k_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (Ak_n | k_n).$$

As a consequence we see that  $A_F \ge B$ , as desired.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let  $T : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a densely defined linear operator satisfying

$$\operatorname{ran} T \subseteq \operatorname{dom} T^*. \tag{5.1}$$

 $\square$ 

Then T is closable and the Friedrichs extension of the positive symmetric operator  $T^*T$  is equal to  $T^*T^{**}$ :

$$(T^*T)_F = T^*T^{**}. (5.2)$$

*Proof.* Condition (5.1) guarantees, according to Lemma 3.1, that T is closable. Hence,  $T^{**}$  exists and  $T^*T^{**}$  is a positive self-adjoint extension of  $T^*T$ , thanks to von Neumann, see (Schmüdgen, 2012: Proposition 3.18). Our duty is therefore to establish identity (5.2). To this end we need only to prove the domain inclusion

$$\dim (T^*T)_F^{1/2} \supseteq \dim (T^*T^{**})^{1/2}, \tag{5.3}$$

because we know that  $\operatorname{dom} (T^*T)_F^{1/2} \subseteq \operatorname{dom} (T^*T^{**})^{1/2}$  and that

$$||(T^*T)_F^{1/2}k||^2 = ||(T^*T^{**})^{1/2}k||^2, \qquad k \in \operatorname{dom}(T^*T)_F^{1/2},$$

see the proof of Theorem 5.1. First we note that

dom 
$$(T^*T^{**})^{1/2}$$
 = dom  $T^{**} = \{k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{dom } T, k_n \to k, Tk_n - Tk_m \to 0\}.$ 

Recalling the proof of Theorem 5.1, let us denote by  $\mathcal{E}$  the "energy space" associated with  $T^*T$ , that is, the completion of ran  $T^*T$  endowed with the inner product

$$\langle T^*Tk, T^*Tf \rangle \coloneqq (Tk \mid Tf), \qquad k, f \in \text{dom } T^*T.$$

Consider the operator  $Q: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{E}$  given by dom  $Q = \text{dom } T^*T = \text{dom } T$ ,

$$Q(T^*Tk) \coloneqq T^*Tk \in \mathcal{E}, \qquad k \in \text{dom } T,$$

then we have  $(T^*T)_F = Q^*Q^{**}$ , again according to the proof of Theorem 5.1. Consequently, the domain dom  $(T^*T)_F^{1/2}$  can be described as follows:

$$dom (T^*T)_F^{1/2} = dom (Q^*Q^{**})^{1/2} = dom Q^{**}$$
  
= { $k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset dom T, k_n \to k, \|T^*Tk_n - T^*Tk_m\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \to 0$ }  
= { $k \in \mathcal{K} : \exists (k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset dom T, k_n \to k, \|Tk_n - Tk_m\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2 \to 0$ }  
= dom  $T^{**} = dom (T^*T^{**})^{1/2}$ .

This proves identity (5.3) and therefore  $(T^*T)_F = T^*T^{**}$ , as is claimed.

**Acknowledgement:** The authors are extremely grateful to Henk de Snoo and Rudi Wietsma for carefully reading the manuscript and for their invaluable suggestions.

Acknowledgement: The corresponding author Zs. Tarcsay was supported by DAAD-TEMPUS Cooperation Project "Harmonic Analysis and Extremal Problems" (grant no. 308015), by the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, and by the ÚNKP–20-5-ELTE-185 New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology. "Application Domain Specific Highly Reliable IT Solutions" project has been implemented with the support provided from the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund of Hungary, financed under the Thematic Excellence Programme TKP2020-NKA-06 (National Challenges Subprogramme) funding scheme.

### References

Ando, T. & Nishio, K. (1970). Positive selfadjoint extensions of positive symmetric operators. *To-hoku Math. J.* 22, 65–75.

Arlinskiĭ, Y.M., Hassi, S., Sebestyén, Z. & de Snoo, H.S.V. (2001). On the class of extremal extensions of a nonnegative operator. *Oper. Theory Adv. Appl.* 127, 41–81.

Friedrichs, K. (1934). Spektraltheorie halbbeschränkter Operatoren und Anwendung auf die Spektralzerlegung von Differentialoperatoren. *Math. Ann.* 109, 465–487.

Gesztesy, F. & Schmüdgen, K. (2019). On a theorem of Z. Sebestyén and Zs. Tarcsay. Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 85, 291–293.

Hassi, S. (2004). On the Friedrichs and the Krein-von Neumann extension of nonnegative relations. *Acta Wasaensia* 122, 37–54.

Jorgensen, P.E.T. & Pearse, E. (2016). Symmetric pairs and self-adjoint extensions of operators, with applications to energy networks. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory* 10, 1535–1550.

Jorgensen, P.E.T., Pearse, E. & Tian, F. (2018). Unbounded operators in Hilbert space, duality rules, characteristic projections, and their applications. *Anal. Math. Phys.* 8, 351–382.

Kreĭn, M. (1947). The theory of self-adjoint extensions of semi-bounded Hermitian transformations and its applications, I. *Mat. Sbornik* 62, 431–495. (In Russian.)

Neumann, J. von (1931). Über Funktionen von Funktionaloperatoren. Ann. of Math. 32, 191-226.

Popovici, D. & Sebestyén, Z. (2014). Operators which are adjoint to each other. *Acta Sci. Math.* (*Szeged*) 80, 175–194.

Prokaj, V. & Sebestyén, Z. (1996). On Friedrichs extensions of operators. *Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged)* 62, 243–246.

Prokaj, V. & Sebestyén, Z. (1996). On extremal positive operator extensions. Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 62, 485–492.

Sandovici, A. (2018). Von Neumann's theorem for linear relations. *Linear and Multilinear Algebra* 66, 1750–1756.

Schmüdgen, K. (2012). *Unbounded Self-adjoint Operators on Hilbert Space*. Springer Science & Business Media: Dordrecht.

Sebestyén, Z. & Stochel, J. (1991). Restrictions of positive self-adjoint operators. Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 55, 149–154.

Sebestyén, Z. & Stochel, J. (2007). Characterizations of positive selfadjoint extensions. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 135, 1389–1397.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2012).  $T^*T$  always has a positive selfadjoint extension. Acta Math. Hungar. 135, 116–129.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2014). A reversed von Neumann theorem. *Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged)* 80, 659–664.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2016). Adjoint of sums and products of operators in Hilbert spaces. *Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged)* 82, 175–191.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2017). On square root of positive selfadjoint operators. *Period. Math. Hungar.* 75, 268–272.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2019). On the adjoint of Hilbert space operators. *Linear and Multilinear Algebra* 67, 625–645.

Sebestyén, Z. & Tarcsay, Zs. (2020). Range-kernel characterizations of operators which are adjoint of each other. *Adv. Oper. Theory* 5, 1026–1038.

Tarcsay, Zs. (2012). Operator extensions with closed range. Acta Math. Hungar. 135, 325-341.

Department of Applied Analysis and Computational Mathematics, Eötvös Loránd University, Pázmány Péter sétány 1/c, Budapest H-1117, Hungary, and Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Reáltanoda utca 13-15, Budapest H-1053, Hungary *E-mail address*: tarcsay@cs.elte.hu

Department of Applied Analysis and Computational Mathematics, Eötvös Loránd University, Pázmány Péter sétány 1/c, Budapest H-1117, Hungary *E-mail address*: sebesty@cs.elte.hu

# THE CHARACTERIZATION OF BROWNIAN MOTION AS AN ISOTROPIC I.I.D.-COMPONENT LÉVY PROCESS

#### Tommi Sottinen

This work is dedicated to Professor Seppo Hassi for his 60th birthday

## 1 Introduction

The Brownian motion is arguably the most important stochastic process there is. It has a long history in particle physics dating back to at least the Roman poet and philosopher Lucretius and his scientific poem *De rerum natura* ca. 50 BC; for a recent English translation, see Slavitt (2008). Since that time the Brownian motion has proven to be central in such diverse fields as physics, economics, quantitative finance, and evolutionary biology, just to mention a few.

The process is christened "Brownian motion" to honor the pioneering work of the Scottish botanist Robert Brown in his work in 1827 on pollen movement in water; although it is obvious that Brown was not the first one to observe the Brownian motion. The first mathematical study of the Brownian motion is apparently by the Danish astronomer Thorvald Nicolai Thiele in 1880, see Lauritzen (1981) for a discussion of Thiele's work.

The Brownian motion is also sometimes called the "Wiener process" in honor of Norbert Wiener for his pioneering contributions to the mathematical study of the process. To honor Wiener, we use the symbol W for the Brownian motion.

From a mathematical and modeling point of view, the Brownian motion is extremely convenient. It belongs to the intersection of many mathematical models: it is Gaussian, it is Markovian, it is a Lévy process, it is a martingale, and it is a self-similar process.

The Brownian motion has many characterizations. It is, for example, the scaling limit of random walks, the independent-increment stationary-increment Gaussian process, the  $\frac{1}{2}$ -self-similar stationary-increment Gaussian process, the Markov process with Laplacian as its generator, the continuous Lévy process, or the continuous local martingale with the (raw) bracket  $[W]_t = t$ . Of all the characterizations of the Brownian motion, let us just give the shortest one here.

**Definition 1.1** (The Brownian motion as a Gaussian process). A *d*-dimensional centered stochastic process  $W = (W^1, \ldots, W^d)$  with  $W_0 = 0$  is the *Brownian motion* if it is Gaussian with variance-covariance matrix given by  $\mathbb{E}[W_t^i W_s^i] = (t \wedge s)\delta_{ij}$ , where  $t \wedge s = \min(t, s)$  and

$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0, & \text{if } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

Definition 1.1 is of course concise and opaque. We will have better definitions later. Nevertheless, let us show that Definition 1.1 is not vacuous, i.e., such a process does indeed exist. We do this by using the Karhunen-Loève type expansion by which the Brownian motion is constructed as the *isonormal Gaussian process* on the separable Hilbert space  $L^2([0, T])$ .

**Theorem 1.2** (Brownian motion series construction). Let  $\xi_k^j$ , j = 1, ..., d,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , be independent and identically distributed standard Gaussian random variables. For every  $t \in [0, T]$  set

$$W_t^j = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_0^t e_k(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \,\xi_k^j, \qquad j = 1, \dots, d,$$
(1.1)

where  $(e_k)_{k\geq 0}$  is your favorite orthonormal basis of  $L^2([0,T])$ . Then the series in (1.1) converges in  $L^2$  and the process  $W = (W^1, \ldots, W^d)$  is the Brownian motion on the time interval [0,T].

To see that (1.1) defines the Brownian motion (in the sense of Definition 1.1), one simply calculates the covariance.

In this paper we provide a new characterization, or a definition if you like, for the *d*-dimensional Brownian motion for  $d \ge 2$  as the isotropic (i.e., rotationally invariant) Lévy process with independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) components. Our proof is short and simple, but not elementary. Moreover, in proving the rise of Gaussianity we do not use, at least not directly, the central limit theorem.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we give some basic results of Lévy processes for the convenience of those readers who are not familiar with Lévy processes, and put our result in context. In particular, we recall the Lévy–Khintchine representation theorem for Lévy processes, and show by using it that the Brownian motion can be characterized as being the continuous Lévy process. In Section 3 we state and prove our new characterization: Theorem 3.1. In Section 4 we discuss our new characterization and its implications. In particular, Remark 4.4 gives an open problem on generalizing our result to the Markovian setting, and its connection to a qualitative characterization of the Laplace operator. Finally, in Remarks 4.5 and 4.6 we discuss the implications of our result for the modeling point of view.

# 2 Brownian motion and Lévy processes

The following is a common textbook definition of the Brownian motion, see, e.g., the recent book on Brownian motion by Mörters & Peres (2010).

**Definition 2.1** (The Brownian motion, a textbook definition). A *d*-dimensional centered stochastic process  $W = (W^1, \ldots, W^d)$  with  $W_0 = 0$  is the *Brownian motion* if:

(i) for all times  $0 \le t_1 \le \cdots \le t_n$  the random vectors

$$W_{t_n} - W_{t_{n-1}}, W_{t_{n-1}} - W_{t_{n-2}}, \dots, W_{t_2} - W_{t_1}$$

are independent; i.e., the process W has independent increments;

- (ii) for every  $t \ge 0$  and  $h \ge 0$ , the distribution of the increment  $W_{t+h} W_t$  does not depend on t; i.e., the process W has stationary increments;
- (iii) the process  $(W_t)_{t\geq 0}$  has almost surely continuous paths;
- (iv) for every  $t \ge 0$  and  $h \ge 0$  the increment  $W_{t+h} W_t$  is multivariate normally distributed with mean zero and variance-covariance matrix h Id, where Id is the  $d \times d$  identity matrix.

**Remark 2.2** (Standard Brownian motion and relaxed definition). Property (iv) of Definition 2.1 states that, in addition to being Gaussian, the process W also has i.i.d.-components  $W^i$ , i = 1, ..., d, and  $\mathbb{E}[(W_1^i)^2] = 1$ . Sometimes one only insists that the process W is Gaussian. Under the assumptions (i)–(iii) of Definition 2.1 this would mean that  $W_{t+h} - W_t$  is a centered Gaussian vector with variance-covariance matrix  $h\Sigma$ , where  $\Sigma$  is the variance-covariance matrix of  $W_1$ . With this more relaxed definition, one usually says that if  $\Sigma = \text{Id}$ , then W is the standard Brownian motion. The connection between the standard Brownian motion and the relaxed definition of the Brownian motion is simple. Indeed, if W is the standard Brownian motion, and we decompose  $\Sigma$  as  $\text{KK}^T$ , then KW is a Brownian motion in the relaxed sense.

The following is a common textbook definition for Lévy processes, see, e.g, Bertoin (1996) or Sato (2013).

**Definition 2.3** (Lévy process, textbook definition). A stochastic process  $L = (L^1, ..., L^d)$  with  $L_0 = 0$  is a *Lévy process* if

- (i) it has independent increments;
- (ii) it has stationary increments;
- (iii) it is stochastically continuous, i.e., for every  $t \ge 0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \mathbb{P}\left[ |L_{t+h} - L_t| > \varepsilon \right] = 0.$$

**Remark 2.4** (Lévy process, càdlàg version). Sometimes one adds the following property to the definition of Lévy processes

(iv) the paths  $(L_t)_{t\geq 0}$  are right-continuous with left limits, i.e., they are càdlàg (continue à droite, limite à gauche).

However, it can be shown that under the assumptions (i)–(iii) of Definition 2.3 a Lévy process admits a version with càdlàg paths. Thus, the continuity-type assumption (iv) is not really necessary. Finally, regarding the mild continuity assumption (iii) in Definition 2.3, it should be noted that due to assumption (ii), the stationarity of the increments, it is actually equivalent to assuming that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \mathbb{P}\left[ |L_h| > \varepsilon \right] = 0.$$

So, the assumption (iii) is mild, indeed.

Thus, Lévy processes are processes with stationary independent increments satisfying a mild continuity assumption. The Brownian motion is a continuous Lévy process that is also Gaussian. Actually, the Gaussianity of the Brownian motion follows from the Lévy property and the continuity. Indeed, property (iv) of Definition 2.1 can be replaced by the following much weaker property

(iv) the process  $W = (W^1, \ldots, W^d)$  has i.d.d.-components with  $\mathbb{E}[(W_1^i)^2] = 1$ .

The fact that Gaussianity follows from continuity is usually not appreciated in the common textbook definitions, such as Definition 2.1 above. That fact follows from the following Lévy–Khintchine

representation theorem for Lévy processes. For that we recall the typical notation

$$\langle x, y \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^d x_j y_j$$

for the Euclidean inner product on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$\|x\| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}$$

for the Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and

$$\mathbf{1}_A(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \in A, \\ 0, & \text{if } x \notin A, \end{cases}$$

for the indicator of the set A. Finally let  $\mathbb{B}_d$  be the closed unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Theorem 2.5** (Levy–Khintchine representation theorem). A stochastic process  $L = (L^1, ..., L^d)$  is a Lévy process if and only if its characteristic function is of the form

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\langle\theta,L_t\rangle}\right] = \mathrm{e}^{-t\Psi(\theta)},$$

where the characteristic exponent is of the form

$$\Psi(\theta) = \mathrm{i}\langle m, \theta \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \theta, \Sigma \theta \rangle + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ 1 - \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\langle \theta, x \rangle} + \mathrm{i}\langle \theta, x \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{B}^d}(x) \right] \nu(\mathrm{d}x).$$

Here  $m \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is the drift parameter, the symmetric non-negative definite matrix  $\Sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  is the diffusion parameter, and  $\nu$ , the so-called Lévy measure, is a measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying

$$u(\{0\}) = 0 \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ \|x\|^2 \wedge 1 \right] \nu(\mathrm{d}x) < \infty.$$

The triplet  $(m, \Sigma, \nu)$  is called the Lévy triplet of the process L.

Now, to see that the Gaussianity of the Brownian motion follows from the Lévy–Khintchine representation, just note that

- 1<sup>st</sup> for continuous Lévy processes one must have  $\nu \equiv 0$ ;
- $2^{nd}$  then, for centered Lévy processes one must have  $m \equiv 0$ ;
- $3^{\text{rd}}$  and finally, for i.i.d.-component Lévy processes one must have  $\Sigma = \sigma$  Id, and since one has  $\mathbb{E}[(W_1^i)^2] = 1$ , it follows that  $\sigma = 1$ .

Thus  $\Psi(\theta) = \frac{1}{2} \|\theta\|^2$ , and the Gaussianity follows from this.

**Remark 2.6.** If we did not assume independence (and identical distribution) of the components in the reasoning above, we would still obtain from the continuity that

$$\Psi(\theta) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \theta, \Sigma \theta \rangle,$$

which would still imply Gaussianity. Thus the (relaxed sense) Brownian motion is characterized as being the continuous Lévy process.

#### 3 A new characterization

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $d \ge 2$ . A Lévy process  $W = (W^1, \ldots, W^d)$  is (a multiple of) the standard Brownian motion if and only if it is centered and isotropic with independent and identically distributed components.

*Proof.* The only if part is clear. For the if part, let  $(m, \Sigma, \nu)$  be the Lévy triplet of W. Since W has independent components,  $\nu$  is concentrated on the coordinate axes. Since W is isotropic,  $\nu$  is also isotropic. Consequently,  $\nu \equiv 0$ . Since W is centered,  $m \equiv 0$ . Finally, since W has i.i.d.-components,  $\Sigma = \sigma \operatorname{Id}$ . Thus  $(m, \Sigma, \nu) = (0, \sigma \operatorname{Id}, 0)$ , proving the claim.

#### 4 Discussion

**Remark 4.1** (The importance of having  $d \ge 2$ ). In Theorem 3.1 it is important that  $d \ge 2$ . Indeed, for d = 1 symmetric processes are isotropic and there are many discontinuous symmetric Lévy processes for d = 1. Indeed, one can construct such Lévy processes by using the Lévy triplet  $(0, 0, \nu)$ , where  $\nu$  is any symmetric measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  satisfying

$$u(\{0\}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ x^2 \wedge 1 \right] \nu(\mathrm{d}x) < \infty.$$

**Remark 4.2** (Gaussianity without the central limit theorem). As stated in the introduction, we did not (directly) invoke the central limit theorem in proving the rise of Gaussianity in our new characterization of the Brownian motion in Theorem 3.1. Instead, we used the Lévy–Khintchine representation of Theorem 2.5. Now, the classical way of proving the Lévy–Khintchine representation theorem does involve the central limit theorem and the so-called infinitely divisible distributions that are closely related to central limit-type theorems. There are, however, ways of proving the Lévy–Khintchine representation without resorting to the central limit theorem. For example, Jacod & Shiryaev (2003: Chapter 4) contains a nice derivation of the Lévy–Khinchine formula that only uses stochastic analysis and "compensator calculus".

**Remark 4.3** (The history of the rise of Gaussianity). It seems that the rise of Gaussianity through independence of the components and the rotational invariance has a long history dating back at least to the works of Herschel and Maxwell in 1850's, see Jaynes (2003: Section 7.2). The key ingredients in the Herschel–Maxwell argument are (looking at a fixed time point and assuming continuous distribution) that the components are i.i.d. and that the process is isotropic. Hereby the first property implies that the distribution takes the form

$$p(x) dx = \prod_{j=1}^{d} f(x_j) dx_j$$
 (4.1)

in Cartesian coordinates, and the second property implies that the distribution takes the form

$$p(x) \,\mathrm{d}x = g(r)r \,\mathrm{d}r\mathrm{d}\theta \tag{4.2}$$

in polar (or hyper-spherical) coordinates.

Equating (4.1) and (4.2) one is given the functional equation

$$\prod_{j=1}^{d} f(x_j) = g(||x||).$$
(4.3)

The solution of the functional equation (4.3) is of the form

$$f(x) = c_1 \mathrm{e}^{-c_2 \|x\|^2},$$

which is the Gaussian density.

Einstein (1905) also used similar arguments in his investigation of the Brownian motion in connection to the existence of atoms and molecules. Of course, neither the Herschel–Maxwell nor the Einstein derivation can be used in our setting of Theorem 3.1, since the distribution of a Lévy process at any fixed time is not *a priori* continuous.

**Remark 4.4** (Open problem: from Lévy to Markov). Lévy processes in general, and Brownian motion in particular, are Markovian processes that admit generators. Indeed, recall that the generator, if it exists, of a Markov process  $X = (X^1, \ldots, X^d)$  is the linear operator given as

$$Af(x) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left[ \mathbb{E}^x \left[ f(X_t) \right] - f(x) \right].$$

Here  $\mathbb{E}^x$  means that the process X is started from x, or, in the case of Lévy processes, we are considering the translated process X + x. The generator of a Lévy process with triplet  $(m, \Sigma, \nu)$  is

$$Af(x) = \langle m, \nabla f(x) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla, \Sigma \nabla f(x) \rangle$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ f(x+y) - f(x) - \langle y, \nabla f(x) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{B}^d}(y) \right] \nu(\mathrm{d}y).$$
(4.4)

Thus the generator of the Brownian motion is the Laplacian up to a factor 1/2. This provides also an alternative proof for Theorem 3.1. Indeed, one only has to show that (a multiple) of the Laplacian is the only linear operator of the form (4.4) with  $d \ge 2$  that satisfies

- (i)  $A_x = A_y$  for any rotation  $y = \mathbf{R}x$  (isotropy);
- (ii)  $A_x = \sum_{j=1}^d A_{x_j}$  (i.i.d.-components).

It would be interesting to know in which class of operators the properties (i)–(ii) above characterize the (multiple of the) Laplacian. For example, could it be possible to extend Theorem 3.1 from Lévy processes to (a larger class of) Markov processes?

**Remark 4.5** (Fractional Laplacian). Recently there has been much interest in models involving the fractional Laplacian  $-(-\Delta)^{\alpha/2}$ , which is a non-local pseudo-differential operator given by the Cauchy principal value integral

$$-(-\Delta)^{\alpha/2}f(x) = \frac{2^{\alpha}\Gamma(\alpha/2+1/2)}{\pi^{1/2}\Gamma(-\alpha/2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{f(x) - f(y)}{\|x - y\|^{1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

From the probabilistic point of view the fractional Laplacian can be understood as the generator of an isotropic  $\alpha$ -stable Lévy process. With  $\alpha = 2$  the fractional Laplacian is just the Laplacian

(actually, with our probabilistic parametrization it is  $\frac{1}{2}\Delta$ ). Now,  $\alpha$ -stable processes X are natural models in the sense that they are Lévy processes satisfying the scaling property

$$(cX_{c^{-\alpha}t})_{t>0} \stackrel{d}{=} (X_t)_{t>0},$$

where  $\stackrel{d}{=}$  means equality in the sense of finite-dimensional distributions. Thus, assuming  $\alpha$ -stability of some given random Lévy *d*-variate time-series *X*, we are faced with two natural (and maybe contradicting) assumptions:

- $(\alpha_1)$  The time-series X is rotationally invariant.
- $(\alpha_2)$  The time-series X has i.i.d.-components.

If  $\alpha = 2$ , then the time-series is generated by a Brownian motion, and the assumptions  $(\alpha_1)$  and  $(\alpha_2)$  are the same. If, however,  $\alpha \neq 2$  (and then necessarily  $\alpha \in (0, 2)$ ), the assumptions  $(\alpha_1)$  and  $(\alpha_2)$  are mutually exclusive. Assumption  $(\alpha_1)$  corresponds to the Lévy process with generator  $-(-\Delta)_x^{\alpha/2}$  that is rotationally invariant, while assumption  $(\alpha_2)$  corresponds to the Lévy process with generator with generator

$$A_x^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=1}^d -(-\Delta_{x_j}^{\alpha/2})$$

that acts coordinatewise.

**Remark 4.6** (Modeling implications). Remark 4.5 above illustrates the message of our new characterization, Theorem 3.1, for the modeling point of view. In the context of *d*-variate Lévy processes for  $d \ge 2$  the two natural assumptions

- rotational invariance;
- independent components,

are mutually exclusive unless your model is the Brownian motion.

#### References

Bertoin, J. (1996). *Lévy Processes*. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 121. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Einstein, A. (1905). Über die von der molekularkinetischen Theorie der Wärme geforderte Bewegung von in ruhenden Flüßigkeiten suspendierten Teilchen. *Annalen der Physik* 322, 549–560.

Jacod, J. & Shiryaev, A.N. (2003). *Limit Theorems for Stochastic Processes*. Second edition. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 288. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Jaynes, E.T. (2003). *Probability Theory: The Logic of Science*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lauritzen, S. (1981). Time series analysis in 1880: A discussion of contributions made by T.N. Thiele. *Internat. Statist. Rev.* 49, 319–331.

Mörters, P. & Peres, Y. (2010). *Brownian Motion*. Cambridge Series in Statistical and Probabilistic Mathematics, vol. 30. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. (With an appendix by Oded Schramm and Wendelin Werner.)

Sato, K.-I. (2013). *Lévy Processes and Infinitely Divisible Distributions*. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 68. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. (Translated from the 1990 Japanese original, revised edition of the 1999 English translation).

Slavitt, D. (2008). *De Rerum Natura (The Nature of Things): A Poetic Translation*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Vaasa, 65101 Vaasa, Finland *E-mail address*: tommi.sottinen@iki.fi

#### THE ROLE OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS IN THE UNIVERSITY OF VAASA; THE FIRST FIVE DECADES

### Ilkka Virtanen

In dedication to Professor Seppo Hassi on the occasion of his 60th birthday

The tragedy of the world is that those who are imaginative have but slight experience, and those who are experienced have feeble imaginations. Fools act on imagination without experience. Pedants act on experience without imagination. The task of the university is to weld together imagination and experience.

Alfred North Whitehead A Cambridge mathematician

# 1 From a business school towards a university with a clearly defined academic profile

#### 1.1 The beginning

The University of Vaasa is one of the four "new universities" founded in Finland in 1966. Practical activities of the new units started two to five years after the foundation decision was made by the state authorities. Three of the new universities were founded in Eastern Finland whereas the University of Vaasa came to be placed on the west coast of Finland. All these new universities had different academic profiles. Vaasa got a private business school which, however, from the beginning – the first students started their studies in 1968 – got the major part of its financing from the state. After ten years the business school became a state university. Thus the University of Vaasa started as a business school, but it was clear from the beginning that the final target was to develop it into a multidisciplinary university. The University of Lappeenranta was a technical university, the University of Joensuu was based on an earlier teacher training college having also natural sciences, humanities, and social sciences in its discipline palette. The Eastern Finland universities were state universities from the beginning.

The post-war baby boom generation was coming to the university in the 1960s and 1970s, and competition for resources between universities was great. So it turned out that the development of the business school towards the multidisciplinary target would be a hard and long-lasting exercise. Step by step the goal was, however, reached, at least to a decent extent.

Today the University of Vaasa is – on the Finnish scale – a small or medium-sized business-oriented and multidisciplinary science university. The strategic focus areas of the university are management and change, energy and sustainable development, as well as financial and economical decision-making. The university has about 5000 students and about 300 of them are international degree students. The total number of employees is about 510 of whom about 100 are international.

The university has been organized into schools. There are four schools for research and teaching: the School of Management, the School of Accounting and Finance, the School of Marketing and Communication, and the School of Technology and Innovations. The unit of mathematical sciences belongs to the School of Technology and Innovations, although it is responsible for all the teaching of mathematics and mathematics-based quantitative methods in the whole university. The teachers and researchers of this unit are in close cooperation with employees of the other schools.

#### 1.2 Strategy and values of the university today

In its strategy for 2030 the university defines itself to be an internationally competitive, productive and specialized research university with a strong focus on impactful basic scientific research. The core competence of the university consists of high-level expertise in business, technology, management, and communications.

The university is focused on responsible business. Its fundamental purpose is to cultivate new knowledge and nurture civilization as a core value of our society. This is why the focus is on global challenges and opportunities. They provide the university with the core source of motivation for its education and research. The university uses its work as a means to advance positive and sustainable development for individuals, communities, and the world at large.

Based on the strategy for 2030, the university has defined its vision, mission and values as follows.

- *Vision:* The University of Vaasa is regarded internationally as a successful and impactful research university.
- *Mission:* The university carries out impactful research and educates experts that address the needs of society today, and in the future. The university advances competitiveness, innovation and sustainable development in business, technology, and society.
- Values: The values of the university are Courage, Community, and Responsibility.

# 2 The role of mathematics and statistics in the university's palette of sciences

#### 2.1 No own degree programme in master level - a recognized role, however

The role of mathematics and statistics in the University of Vaasa is not typical for universities. According to the strategy applied in the university today and during the past decades, these disciplines have never been offered as the main subjects of bachelor and master level degrees. This has not meant, however, that the disciplines were considered as less important for studies and research than the disciplines with their own degree programmes. On the contrary, the methodological disciplines have for example always been represented by professor chairs. It is noteworthy that even the first chair established in the university – a business school in the beginning – and also having got its first office-holder was the combined chair in economic mathematics and statistics.

The holder of the chair in economic mathematics and statistics was also the first rector of the business school. He started his work already one year earlier than the school was opened and received its first students. That is, he had a central role in planning the first year's curriculum for the school. According to the experiential opinion of the author of this article, the result was that the quantitative sciences got a stronger role in the curriculum for the business students than was the case in the other Finnish business schools at that time.

Nowadays the situation has changed. Other business schools have also became aware that modern economic and business education as well as research needs a good comprehension of the quantitative methods as well as the skill to use them. A large number of students graduated as doctors in business economics in the University of Vaasa who, having been recruited as professors and other academic employees to other business schools, have had a marked effect in this process.

#### 2.2 Mathematical sciences - a close and united academic unit

At the beginning the teaching staff consisted of one professor and one lecturer, both posts being combined posts for business mathematics and statistics. As the number of students increased the unit obtained another professorship and an additional lectureship. This made it possible to focus the duties of all the posts only on business mathematics or statistics, respectively. An assistantship was also an important addition to the staff.

In the beginning of the 1990s the university started to enlarge its branch of activities towards technology. This could progress step by step only. First, technical elements were included in the curriculum of two master programs in economics and business administration and an unofficial label "industrial economist" was given to the graduates. The main subject in these programmes was either industrial management or information technology. In the next step the university started to educate civil engineers in co-operation with the Helsinki Technical University. The University of Vaasa recruited the students who carried out half of their studies in Vaasa and graduated from Helsinki Technical University. In the beginning of the 2000s the University of Vaasa was allowed to educate civil engineers completely as its own activity. It was clear that the enlargement of the branch of activities into technology presumed additional resources also for the unit of mathematical sciences. The total number of students increased and the amount, type, and level of mathematics needed in technical studies is different from what is needed in economics, business administration, and in the social sciences. The requirements were resolved by providing the unit with a professorship and a lectureship in mathematics.

Today the permanent staff in the unit (department) consists of three professors, three senior lecturers with doctor degrees, one university teacher, and a varying number (3–5) of doctoral students and post-doctoral researchers. Although administratively the unit is a part of the School of Technology and Innovations, the main sphere of responsibility of business mathematics and statistics has been supporting the School of Accounting and Finance and other business oriented schools by teaching quantitative methods both for education and research purposes.

The unit of mathematical sciences is small. Therefore it is important that the mathematically oriented disciplines form also administratively an integrated own unit. Together the unit's academic subjects are stronger, they can flexibly use common teaching resources, and they create and maintain a high-level and international academic atmosphere in research. This administrative solution guarantees that the department can form a close and united academic society. One example of the manifestation of this coherence is that the unit takes care also of maintaining close contacts with its staff in retirement.

Holders of the professor offices in the department have been mainly recruited from other universities. Statistics is an exception. The last two professor appointments in statistics have been candidates who have done their doctoral studies and qualified for professorship when working at the University of Vaasa. All the senior lecturers of the unit have received their doctor degrees while working at the university. As a result, the staff members represents a high quality group of experts in their own fields, but, at the same time, they possess understanding of and positive attitude towards the needs of quantitative methods appearing among the students and researchers of other disciplines in the university.

# 2.3 The unit's supporting role in undergraduate education, its own intensive postgraduate education, and high-quality international research

As has been mentioned earlier, the unit of mathematical sciences doesn't have and has never had any own master-level education programme in the curriculum of the university. In undergraduate studies the role of mathematical sciences is to contribute as a strong and high-standard supporting discipline offering basic university level knowledge and relevant advanced tools in mathematical and statistical modelling for the students of the other education programmes of the university, especially for students in business and technology. The demand of skills in the use of modern quantitative methods and models is outstandingly high in the postgraduate level of the studies. Besides offering methodological courses the professors of the unit participate as tutors in other subject's doctoral seminars.

Postgraduate studies in mathematics and statistics have been possible in the university from the beginning. Their role has become more and more important during the years. The recruiting of students is challenging due to the non-existing own master level education. The achievements are, however, good and the department is for example a pioneer in the university in recruiting international students for doctoral studies. Today, a majority of the unit's postgraduate students is of foreign origin. As the mathematical sciences are represented on the professor level in the university, scientific research is, of course, strongly on the department's agenda. The research groups in which the department's researchers participate represent the top quality in the university. The researchers have created and maintain one of the university's research programmes with the theme of mathematical modelling. The projects in the programme are both discipline oriented, especially in mathematics, and more application oriented in statistics and business mathematics. The research groups work actively in co-operation with other researchers inside the university and with researchers in other universities, both in Finland and abroad. Visiting foreign scholars are commonly seen working in the department and the staff members work frequently abroad.

The professors and other staff members participate actively in the general management of the University. Two professors in economic mathematics have served as rectors of the University, several professors as faculty deans and as heads of multidisciplinary departments. Professors and other staff members are members of several managerial working groups.

# 3 Discussion

The chosen policy for the mathematical sciences in the University of Vaasa – i.e., to operate as an academic education and research unit without any own undergraduate education programme – is challenging. But the work done during the five first decades has shown that the chosen option has been successful. The main measures for reaching success are:

- Careful attention has been paid when recruiting new members to the staff. Besides competence, the new members must also have an understanding of and a positive attitude towards the other disciplines in the university with which they are expected to co-operate both in education and research.
- Active co-operation with other disciplines inside the university has been a necessity for being able to give relevant and up-to-date methodological support to both students and researchers of other disciplines.
- To reach and maintain a high level competence in the area of everyone's own expertise an active communication and co-operation with the representatives of one's own discipline in other universities in Finland and abroad have been strongly on the agenda.
- The absence of own undergraduate education has not meant absence of postgraduate education. On the contrary, active doctoral programmes have guaranteed continuity in research and have helped in recruiting to the unit new employees who possess a relevant orientation towards the operating principle of the unit. Of course, external recruiting has also been important for guaranteeing high levels of competence.
- Special attention has been paid for activating international co-operation in research and postgraduate education.

A small university like the University of Vaasa must carefully focus its activities on areas about which it has successful experience from the past, which are still relevant today and are also or are expected to become crucial in the future, and which form a coherent entity. In education and research, also the needs of the region and the whole society as well as the region's possibilities to

#### 192 Acta Wasaensia

offer co-operation and support must have a strong role in the agenda. The strategy and values of the university meet these requirements well.

Similarly, the unit of mathematical sciences as a small unit inside the university must have a clear and specific high-standard academic culture in its operations. Conclusions from the scrutiny above show that the unit has been successful in creating this culture.

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Vaasa, 65200 Vaasa, Finland *E-mail address*: ilkka.virtanen@uva.fi